Richard L. Wynne, Esq.

Bennett L. Spiegel, Esq.

Lori Sinanyan, Esq. (admitted *pro hac vice*)

JONES DAY

222 East 41st Street

New York, NY 10017

Tel: (212) 326-3939

Fax: (212) 755-7306

- and -

Craig A. Wolfe, Esq.

Malani J. Cademartori, Esq.

Blanka K. Wolfe, Esq.

SHEPPARD MULLIN RICHTER & HAMPTON LLP

30 Rockefeller Plaza

New York, NY 10112

Tel: (212) 653-8700

Fax: (212) 653-8701

Co-Counsel to the Debtors and Debtors in Possession

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

In re:

Chapter 11

RELATIVITY FASHION, LLC, et al., 1

Case No. 15-11989 (MEW)

Debtors.

(Jointly Administered)

NOTICE OF FILING OF PLAN PROPONENTS' THIRD AMENDED PLAN OF REORGANIZATION AND EXHIBIT J THERETO

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on November 18, 2015, the above-captioned debtors and debtors in possession (collectively, the "Debtors"), along with Ryan C. Kavanaugh ("Kavanaugh"), filed (a) *Plan Proponents' Plan of Reorganization Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code* [Dkt. No. 992] and (b) *Disclosure Statement for Plan Proponents' Plan of Reorganization Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code* [Dkt. No. 991].

NAI-1500796991v1

_

The Debtors in these chapter 11 cases are set forth on page (i).

The Debtors in these chapter 11 cases, along with the last four digits of each Debtor's federal tax identification number, are: Relativity Fashion, LLC (4571); Relativity Holdings LLC (7052); Relativity Media, LLC (0844); Relativity REAL, LLC (1653); RML Distribution Domestic, LLC (6528); RML Distribution International, LLC (6749); RMLDD Financing, LLC (9114); 21 & Over Productions, LLC (7796); 3 Days to Kill Productions, LLC (5747); A Perfect Getaway P.R., LLC (9252); A Perfect Getaway, LLC (3939); Armored Car Productions, LLC (2750); Best of Me Productions, LLC (1490); Black Or White Films, LLC (6718); Blackbird Productions, LLC (8037); Brant Point Productions, LLC (9994); Brick Mansions Acquisitions, LLC (3910); Brilliant Films, LLC (0448); Brothers Productions, LLC (9930); Brothers Servicing, LLC (5849); Catfish Productions, LLC (7728); Cine Productions, LLC (8359); CinePost, LLC (8440); Cisco Beach Media, LLC (8621); Cliff Road Media, LLC (7065); Den of Thieves Films, LLC (3046); Don Jon Acquisitions, LLC (7951); DR Productions, LLC (7803); Einstein Rentals, LLC (5861); English Breakfast Media, LLC (2240); Furnace Films, LLC (3558); Gotti Acquisitions, LLC (6562); Great Point Productions, LLC (5813); Guido Contini Films, LLC (1031); Hooper Farm Music, LLC (3773); Hooper Farm Publishing, LLC (3762); Hummock Pond Properties, LLC (9862); Hunter Killer La Productions, LLC (1939); Hunter Killer Productions, LLC (3130); In The Hat Productions, LLC (3140); J&J Project, LLC (1832); JGAG Acquisitions, LLC (9221); Left Behind Acquisitions, LLC (1367); Long Pond Media, LLC (7197); Madaket Publishing, LLC (9356); Madaket Road Music, LLC (9352); Madvine RM, LLC (0646); Malavita Productions, LLC (8636); MB Productions, LLC (4477); Merchant of Shanghai Productions, LLC (7002); Miacomet Media LLC (7371); Miracle Shot Productions, LLC (0015); Most Wonderful Time Productions, LLC (0426); Movie Productions, LLC (9860); One Life Acquisitions, LLC (9061); Orange Street Media, LLC (3089); Out Of This World Productions, LLC (2322); Paranoia Acquisitions, LLC (8747); Phantom Acquisitions, LLC (6381); Pocomo Productions, LLC (1069); Relative Motion Music, LLC (8016); Relative Velocity Music, LLC (7169); Relativity Development, LLC (5296); Relativity Film Finance II, LLC (9082); Relativity Film Finance III, LLC (8893); Relativity Film Finance, LLC (2127); Relativity Films, LLC (5464); Relativity Foreign, LLC (8993); Relativity India Holdings, LLC (8921); Relativity Jackson, LLC (6116); Relativity Media Distribution, LLC (0264); Relativity Media Films, LLC (1574); Relativity Music Group, LLC (9540); Relativity Production LLC (7891); Relativity Rogue, LLC (3333); Relativity Senator, LLC (9044); Relativity Sky Land Asia Holdings, LLC (9582); Relativity TV, LLC (0227); Reveler Productions, LLC (2191); RML Acquisitions I, LLC (9406); RML Acquisitions II, LLC (9810); RML Acquisitions III, LLC (9116); RML Acquisitions IV, LLC (4997); RML Acquisitions IX, LLC (4410); RML Acquisitions V, LLC (9532); RML Acquisitions VI, LLC (9640); RML Acquisitions VII, LLC (7747); RML Acquisitions VIII, LLC (7459); RML Acquisitions X, LLC (1009); RML Acquisitions XI, LLC (2651); RML Acquisitions XII, LLC (4226); RML Acquisitions XIII, LLC (9614); RML Acquisitions XIV, LLC (1910); RML Acquisitions XV, LLC (5518); RML Bronze Films, LLC (8636); RML Damascus Films, LLC (6024); RML Desert Films, LLC (4564); RML Documentaries, LLC (7991); RML DR Films, LLC (0022); RML Echo Films, LLC (4656); RML Escobar Films LLC (0123); RML Film Development, LLC (3567); RML Films PR, LLC (1662); RML Hector Films, LLC (6054); RML Hillsong Films, LLC (3539); RML IFWT Films, LLC (1255); RML International Assets, LLC (1910); RML Jackson, LLC (1081); RML Kidnap Films, LLC (2708); RML Lazarus Films, LLC (0107); RML Nina Films, LLC (0495); RML November Films, LLC (9701); RML Oculus Films, LLC (2596); RML Our Father Films, LLC (6485); RML Romeo and Juliet Films, LLC (9509); RML Scripture Films, LLC (7845); RML Solace Films, LLC (5125); RML Somnia Films, LLC (7195); RML Timeless Productions, LLC (1996); RML Turkeys Films, LLC (8898); RML Very Good Girls Films, LLC (3685); RML WIB Films, LLC (0102); Rogue Digital, LLC (5578); Rogue Games, LLC (4812); Roguelife LLC (3442); Safe Haven Productions, LLC (6550); Sanctum Films, LLC (7736); Santa Claus Productions, LLC (7398); Smith Point Productions, LLC (9118); Snow White Productions, LLC (3175); Spy Next Door, LLC (3043); Story Development, LLC (0677); Straight Wharf Productions, LLC (5858); Strangers II, LLC (6152); Stretch Armstrong Productions, LLC (0213); Studio Merchandise, LLC (5738); Summer Forever Productions, LLC (9211); The Crow Productions, LLC (6707); Totally Interns, LLC (9980); Tribes of Palos Verdes Production, LLC (6638); Tuckernuck Music, LLC (8713); Tuckernuck Publishing, LLC (3960); Wright Girls Films, LLC (9639); Yuma, Inc. (1669); Zero Point Enterprises, LLC (9558). The location of the Debtors' corporate headquarters is: 9242 Beverly Blvd., Suite 300, Beverly Hills, 90210. CA

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that on November 20, 2015, the Debtors filed Corrected Disclosure Statement for Plan Proponents' Plan of Reorganization Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code [Dkt. No. 1009].

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that on December 14, 2015, the Debtors filed

(a) First Amended Plan Proponents' Plan of Reorganization Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the

Bankruptcy Code [Dkt. No. 1120, Exh A] and (b) First Amended Disclosure Statement for First

Amended Plan Proponents' Plan of Reorganization Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy

Code [Dkt. No. 1120, Exh C].

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that on December 17, 2015, the Bankruptcy Court entered the Order Approving Second Amended Disclosure Statement for Plan Proponents' Second Amended Plan of Reorganization Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code [Dkt. No. 1140].

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that on December 17, 2015, the Debtors,

Kavanaugh and Joe Nicholas (collectively, the "Plan Proponents") filed (a) *Plan Proponents'*Second Amended Plan of Reorganization Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code

[Dkt. No. 1143; Ex. A] (as may be further amended, the "Plan") and (b) Second Amended

Disclosure Statement For Plan Proponents' Second Amended Plan of Reorganization Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code [Dkt No. 1143; Ex. C] (as may be further amended, the "Disclosure Statement").

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that on January 12, 2016, pursuant to the Plan, the Debtors filed (a) Notice of Filing of Plan Supplement for Those Receiving the Solicitation Package Related to the Plan Proponents' Second Amended Plan of Reorganization Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code [Dkt. No. 1238], (b) Notice of Filing of Plan Supplement

Exhibit E Related to the Plan Proponents' Second Amended Plan of Reorganization Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code [Dkt. No. 1239], (c) Notice of Filing of Amended and Restated Exhibit J to the Plan Supplement for Those Receiving the Solicitation Package Related to the Plan Proponents' Second Amended Plan of Reorganization Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code [Dkt. No. 1240] and (d) Notice of Filing of Second Amended and Restated Exhibit J to the Plan Supplement for Those Receiving the Solicitation Package Related to the Plan Proponents' Second Amended Plan of Reorganization Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code [Dkt. No. 1246].

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that on January 26, 2016, the Debtors filed Notice of Filing of Certain Plan Supplement Documents for Those Receiving the Solicitation Package Related to the Plan Proponents' Second Amended Plan of Reorganization Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code [Dkt. No. 1415].

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that attached hereto as: (i) Exhibit 1 is the third amended version of the Plan, (ii) Exhibit 2 is a blackline reflecting changes made to the previously-filed version of the Plan at Dkt. 1143, (iii) Exhibit 3 is the Non-Exclusive Schedule of Retained Causes of Action Exhibit J to the Plan and (iv) Exhibit 4 is a blackline reflecting changes made to the Non-Exclusive Schedule of Retained Causes of Action Exhibit J previously filed version at Dkt. 1246.

15-11989-mew Doc 1499 Filed 01/30/16 Entered 01/30/16 05:34:57 Main Document Pg 5 of 200

Dated: January 30, 2016 /s/ Lori Sinanyan

Bennett L. Spiegel, Esq. Richard L. Wynne, Esq.

Lori Sinanyan, Esq. (admitted pro hac vice)

JONES DAY

222 East 41st Street New York, NY 10017 Tel: (212) 326-3939

Fax: (212) 755-7306

Attorneys For Debtors And Debtors In Possession

EXHIBIT 1

Third Amended & Restated Plan of Reorganization

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

In re:

. 1

RELATIVITY FASHION, LLC, et al. 1

Debtors.

Chapter 11

Case No. 15-11989 (MEW)

(Jointly Administered)

PLAN PROPONENTS' THIRD AMENDED PLAN OF REORGANIZATION PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 11 OF THE BANKRUPTCY CODE

Nothing contained herein shall constitute an offer, acceptance, or a legally binding obligation of the Debtors or any other party in interest. This Plan is subject to approval of the Bankruptcy Court and other customary conditions. This Plan is not an offer with respect to any securities. Acceptances or rejections with respect to this Plan may not be solicited until a disclosure statement has been approved by the Bankruptcy Court in accordance with Bankruptcy Code § 1125. Such a solicitation will only be made in compliance with applicable provisions of securities and bankruptcy laws. YOU SHOULD NOT RELY ON THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN, OR THE TERMS OF, THIS PLAN FOR ANY PURPOSE PRIOR TO THE CONFIRMATION OF THIS PLAN BY THE BANKRUPTCY COURT.

Richard L. Wynne Bennett L. Spiegel

Lori Sinanyan (admitted pro hac vice)

JONES DAY 222 East 41st street

New York, New York 10017 Telephone: (212) 326-3939

Facsimile: (212) 755-7306

ATTORNEYS FOR THE PLAN CO-PROPONENT, DEBTORS AND DEBTORS IN POSSESSION

Van C. Durrer II Shana Elberg SKADDEN, ARPS, SLATE, MEAGHER & FLOM LLP 4 Times Square New York, New York 10036 Telephone: (212) 735-3000

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAN CO-PROPONENT, KAVANAUGH

Facsimile: (212) 735-2000

Craig A. Wolfe

Malani J. Cademartori

Blanka K. Wolfe

SHEPPARD MULLIN RICHTER & HAMPTON LLP

30 Rockefeller Plaza New York, New York Telephone: (212) 653-8700 Facsimile: (212) 653-8701

ATTORNEYS FOR THE PLAN CO-PROPONENT, DEBTORS AND DEBTORS IN POSSESSION

Dated: January 30, 2016

¹ The Debtors in these Chapter 11 Cases are as set forth on Exhibit A.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	DEFINED TERMS, RULES OF INTERPRETATION AND COMPUTATION OF	TIME. 1
A	. Defined Terms	1
В	. Rules of Interpretation and Computation of Time	21
II.	CLASSIFICATION AND TREATMENT OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS	22
A	. Treatment of Unclassified Claims	22
В	. Classification of Claims and Interests	25
(. Treatment of Classified Claims	29
D	. Special Provision Regarding Prepetition Intercompany Claims	34
E	. Special Provision Governing Unimpaired Claims	35
F	. Postpetition Interest on General Unsecured Claims	35
(. Insurance	35
III.	MEANS OF IMPLEMENTATION	35
A	. Issuance of Reorganized Relativity Holdings Preferred Units	35
В	. Issuance of Reorganized Relativity Holdings Common Units	36
(. Issuance of Reorganized Relativity Holdings Warrants	36
D	. Continued Corporate Existence and Vesting of Assets in the Reorganized De	btors 37
E	. Restructuring Transactions	37
F	. Sources of Cash for Plan Distributions	39
(1 7 8 7 1 7	
a	nd Compensation Programs; Other Agreements	
H	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
I.		
J		
K	v i 8	
L	. Cancellation and Surrender of Instruments, Securities and Other Documents	ation 42
N	I. Release of Liens	43
N	. Effectuating Documents; Further Transactions	43
C	. Transfer of Collateral Encumbered by Vine/Verite Secured Claims	43
IV.	TREATMENT OF EXECUTORY CONTRACTS AND UNEXPIRED LEASES	43
A	. Assumption and Rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases	43
В	. Cure of Defaults for Assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases	45
C	. Claims Based on Rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases	45
D	. Contracts and Leases Entered Into After the Petition Date	46

E.	Reservation of Rights	46
F.	Pre-Existing Obligations to the Debtors Under Executory Contracts and Un	_
G.	SesCertain Compensation and Benefit Programs	
Н.	Obligations to Insure and Indemnify Directors, Officers and Employees	
I.	Reservation of Rights	
	PROVISIONS GOVERNING DISTRIBUTIONS	
Α.	Distributions for Allowed Claims as of the Effective Date	
В.	Undeliverable Distributions	
C .	Compliance with Tax Requirements	
D.	Distribution Record Date	
E.	Setoffs	
F.	Distributions to Holders of Disputed Claims	
G.	Allocation Between Principal and Accrued Interest	
VI.	DISPUTED, CONTINGENT AND UNLIQUIDATED CLAIMS	
A.	Allowance of Claims	50
В.	Prosecution of Objections to Claims	50
C.	Estimation of Claims	51
D.	Expungement or Adjustment to Claims Without Objection	51
E.	Deadline to File Objections to Claims	51
F.	Disallowance of Certain Claims	51
G.	Offer of Judgment	51
Н.	Amendments to Claims	52
VII.	CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO CONSUMMATION OF THIS PLAN	52
A.	Conditions to the Effective Date	52
В.	Waiver of Conditions to Effective Date	52
C.	Effects of Nonoccurrence of Conditions to the Effective Date	53
VIII.	NON-CONSENSUAL CONFIRMATION	53
IX.	THE LITIGATION TRUST	53
A.	Litigation Trust Agreement	53
В.	Purpose of the Litigation Trust	53
C.	Litigation Trust Assets	54
D.	Administration of the Litigation Trust	54
E.	The Litigation Trustee	54
\mathbf{F} .	Role of the Litigation Trustee	54

G.	Transferability of Litigation Trust Interests	54
Н.	Cash	54
I.	Distribution of Litigation Trust Assets/Litigation Trust Claims Reserve	55
J.	Costs and Expenses of the Litigation Trust	56
K.	Compensation of the Litigation Trustee	56
L.	Retention of Professionals/Employees by the Litigation Trustee	56
M.	Federal Income Tax Treatment of the Litigation Trust	56
N.	Indemnification of Litigation Trustee	57
Ο.	Privileges and Obligation to Respond to Ongoing Investigations	58
X. E	FFECT OF CONFIRMATION	58
A.	Dissolution of Official Committees	58
В.	Discharge of Claims and Interests	58
C.	Injunctions	58
D.	Exculpation	60
E.	Debtor Release	60
F.	Third Party Release	62
G.	Votes Solicited in Good Faith	63
XI.	RETENTION OF JURISDICTION	63
XII.	MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS	65
A.	Amendment or Modification of this Plan	65
В.	Revocation of this Plan	66
C.	Conversion or Dismissal of Certain of the Chapter 11 Cases	66
D.	Inconsistency	66
E.	Exhibits / Schedules	66
F.	Bankruptcy Code § 1145 Exemption	66
G.	Exemption from Transfer Taxes	67
Н.	Request for Expedited Determination of Taxes	67
I.	Severability	67
J.	Governing Law	67
K.	No Admissions	68
L.	Successors and Assigns	68
M.	Service of Documents	68
XIII.	CONFIRMATION REQUEST	69

TABLE OF EXHIBITS²

- Exhibit A List of Debtors filed at Docket 1143
- Exhibit B Revised Relativity Holdings Certificate of Formation filed at Docket 1238, Exh. B
- Exhibit C Revised Relativity Holdings Operating Agreement filed at Docket 1415, Exh. 3
- Exhibit D New Board of Managers of Reorganized Relativity Holdings filed at Docket 1238, Exh. D
- **Exhibit E-1 Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases to be Rejected** to be filed prior to the Confirmation Hearing
- Exhibit E-2 Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases to be Assumed with a Cure Amount Greater than \$0 to be filed prior to the Confirmation Hearing
- **Exhibit E-3 Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases that are Terminated** to be filed prior to the Confirmation Hearing
- Exhibit F New P&A/Ultimates Facility— to be filed prior to the Confirmation Hearing
- Exhibit G Litigation Trust Agreement to be filed prior to the Confirmation Hearing
- Exhibit H Warrant Agreements filed at Docket 1415
- Exhibit I Proposed Alternative Plan Treatment for RKA filed at Docket 1434, Exhibits 1-5
- Exhibit J Causes of Action to be filed prior to the Confirmation Hearing
- Exhibit K Form of Replacement P&A Note filed at Docket 1297, Exh. B
- Exhibit L Form of Replacement Production Loan Note filed at Docket 1238, Exh. L
- **Exhibit M Form of BidCo Note** to be filed prior to the Confirmation Hearing
- Exhibit N Manchester Library Agreements filed at Docket 1415, Exh. 4
- Exhibit O Form of Mutual Release Agreement filed at Docket 1415, Exh. 5
- Exhibit P Form of Fee Note filed at Docket 1415, Exh. 6
- Exhibit Q Form of Side Letter to be filed prior to the Confirmation Hearing

² The Exhibits not initially appended to the Plan will be Filed as part of the Plan Supplement. All Exhibits will be made available, free of charge, on the Document Website once they are filed. Copies of all Exhibits may be obtained from the Notice and Claims Agent by calling 212.771.1128. The Debtors reserve the right to modify, amend, supplement, restate or withdraw any of the Exhibits after they are Filed and shall promptly make such changes available on the Document Website.

INTRODUCTION

Relativity Fashion, LLC and the other Debtors in the above-captioned Chapter 11 Cases together with Ryan C. Kavanaugh and Joe Nicholas, as the Plan Proponents, respectfully propose the following plan for the resolution of outstanding claims against, and interests in, the Debtors pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code (each undefined term, as defined herein). Holders of claims and interests may refer to the Disclosure Statement for a discussion of the Debtors' history, businesses, assets, liabilities, results of operations, historical financial information, accomplishments during the Chapter 11 Cases, and projections of future operations, as well as a description and summary of this Plan and the distributions to be made thereunder and certain related matters. The Debtors are proponents of this Plan within the meaning of Bankruptcy Code § 1129.

Other agreements and documents supplementing this Plan are appended as Exhibits hereto and have been or will be Filed with the Bankruptcy Court. These supplemental agreements and documents are referenced in this Plan and the Disclosure Statement and will be available for review.

ALL CREDITORS ENTITLED TO VOTE ON THIS PLAN ARE ENCOURAGED TO READ THE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT IN ITS ENTIRETY BEFORE VOTING TO ACCEPT OR REJECT THIS PLAN. SUBJECT TO CERTAIN RESTRICTIONS AND REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN BANKRUPTCY CODE § 1127, IN BANKRUPTCY RULE 3019 AND IN THIS PLAN, THE PLAN PROPONENTS RESERVE THE RIGHT TO ALTER, AMEND, MODIFY, REVOKE OR WITHDRAW THIS PLAN PRIOR TO ITS SUBSTANTIAL CONSUMMATION.

I. DEFINED TERMS, RULES OF INTERPRETATION AND COMPUTATION OF TIME

A. Defined Terms

Capitalized terms used in this Plan and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings set forth below.

Any term that is not defined in this Plan, but that is used in the Bankruptcy Code or the Bankruptcy Rules, shall have the meaning given to that term in the Bankruptcy Code or the Bankruptcy Rules, as applicable.

- 1. "9019 Settlement Order" means the *Stipulation and Agreed Order Approving Settlement Agreement* between the Committee and the Manchester Parties, which shall be in the form of the proposed order filed January 26, 2016 (Docket No. 1426) or otherwise in form and substance acceptable to Manchester Parties in their sole discretion.
- 2. "Additional Effective Date Payments" means payments to be made by the Debtors to the Buyer on the Effective Date to reduce the principal balance of the BidCo Note in amounts equal to (i) one hundred percent (100%) of the first \$2 million of equity contributions received by the Debtors as of the Effective Date in excess of the \$30 million of equity contributions anticipated to be received by such date; and (ii) after taking into account such \$2

million, fifty percent (50%) of any amounts received by the Debtors as of the Effective Date in excess of the \$92.5 million of the aggregate funding (\$30 million in equity; \$60 million in Ultimates debt, \$2.5 million in cash) anticipated to be received by such date; *provided*, *however*, that the aggregate amount of the Additional Effective Date Payments shall not exceed \$30 million.

- 3. "Administrative Claim" means a Claim against a Debtor or its Estate arising on or after the Petition Date and prior to the Effective Date for a cost or expense of administration in the Chapter 11 Cases that is entitled to priority or superpriority under Bankruptcy Code §§ 364(c)(1), 503(b), 503(c), 507(b) or 1114(e)(2), including: (a) the actual and necessary costs and expenses incurred after the Petition Date of preserving the Estates and operating the businesses of the Debtors; (b) compensation for legal, financial advisory, accounting and other services and reimbursement of expenses awarded or allowed under Bankruptcy Code §§ 330(a) or 331, including Fee Claims; and (c) all fees and charges assessed against the Estates under chapter 123 of title 28, United States Code, 28 U.S.C. §§ 1911-1930.
- **4.** "Administrative Claims Bar Date" means the date that is forty-five (45) days after the Effective Date.
- **5.** "Administrative Claims Objection Deadline" means the date that is ninety (90) days after the Effective Date.
 - **6.** "Affiliate" has the meaning set forth in Bankruptcy Code § 101(2).
 - 7. "AFM" means the American Federation of Musicians.
- "Allowed" means with respect to Claims: (a) any Claim (i) for which a Proof of Claim has been timely filed on or before the applicable Claims Bar Date (or that by the Bankruptcy Code or Final Order is not or shall not be required to be filed) or (ii) that is listed in the Schedules as of the Effective Date as not disputed, not contingent and not unliquidated, and for which no Proof of Claim has been timely filed; provided that, in each case, any such Claim shall be considered Allowed only if and to the extent that no objection to the allowance thereof has been interposed within the applicable period of time fixed by this Plan, the Bankruptcy Code, the Bankruptcy Rules or the Bankruptcy Court or such an objection has been interposed and the Claim has been thereafter Allowed by a Final Order; or (b) any Claim Allowed pursuant to this Plan, a Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court (including pursuant to any stipulation approved by the Bankruptcy Court) and any Stipulation of Amount and Nature of Claim; provided, further, that the Claims described in clauses (a) and (b) above shall not include any Claim on account of a right, option, warrant, right to convert or other right to purchase an Equity Interest. Claims allowed solely for the purpose of voting to accept or reject this Plan pursuant to an order of the Bankruptcy Court shall not be considered "Allowed Claims" hereunder. For the avoidance of doubt, no right of setoff shall be preserved and give rise to an Allowed Claim unless such setoff right is set forth in a timely filed proof of claim.
- 9. "Armored Car Loan and Security Agreement" means the Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated August 5, 2014, among Debtor Armored Car Productions, LLC, as borrower, CIT Bank, N.A. as agent, and the lenders party thereto, for loans

up to approximately \$21,586,243 as of October 4, 2015 for the purpose of acquiring, producing, completing, and delivering a motion picture prior to release, and the payment of related financing costs. CIT asserts a different amount outstanding as of the date shown, and the amount is also subject to reconciliation for other obligations under the LSA including, without limitation, attorneys' fees.

- **10.** "Avoidance Claims" means any and all actual or potential claims and causes of action to avoid a transfer of property or an obligation incurred by the Debtors pursuant to any applicable section of the Bankruptcy Code, including Bankruptcy Code §§ 502, 510, 542, 544, 545, and 547-553 or under similar or related state or federal statutes and common law, including fraudulent transfer laws.
- 11. "Ballot" means the applicable form or forms of ballot(s) distributed to Holders of Claims entitled to vote on this Plan and on which the acceptance or rejection of this Plan is to be indicated.
- **12. "Balloting Agent"** means Donlin, Recano & Company, Inc., the Bankruptcy-Court appointed balloting agent for the Debtors.
- **13. "Bankruptcy Code"** means title 11 of the United States Code, as now in effect or hereafter amended.
- 14. "Bankruptcy Court" means the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York having jurisdiction over the Chapter 11 Cases, and, to the extent of the withdrawal of any reference, the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York.
- **15.** "Bankruptcy Rules" means, collectively, the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure and the local rules of the Bankruptcy Court, as now in effect or hereafter amended.
- **16. "Bar Date"** means the bar date by which a Proof of Claim must be or must have been Filed, as established by (a) the Bar Date Order or (b) a Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court.
- Exhibit M, to be issued by Reorganized Relativity Media, LLC, guaranteed by all of the reorganized subsidiaries (subject to certain customary exceptions), to Buyer in satisfaction of the Retained TLA/TLB Secured Claim in the principal amount of \$60.0 million (or such lesser principal amount as may be outstanding on the Retained TLA/TLB Secured Claim on the date of issuance of the BidCo Note) to be issued on the Effective Date, which shall, among other things, (i) have a maturity date of two (2) years, (ii) bear interest at a rate of 8.5% per annum on the first \$30 million and 12.0% per annum on any amount over \$30 million, in each case payable quarterly in Cash, (iii) bear an additional interest of 2% during the occurrence and continuation of an event of default; (iv) be subject to repayment on the term set forth therein, including by virtue of potential Additional Effective Date Payments and out of the proceeds of additional capital raises, whether debt or equity; and (v) be on terms acceptable to the Buyer.

- **18.** "BidCo Note Obligors" means each Subsidiary Debtor, excluding (i) Relativity Fashion, LLC, (ii) Yuma, Inc., (iii) J & J Project, LLC and (iv) any of the Subsidiary Debtors whose assets were sold as part of the sale of the Debtors' television business.
- **19. "Business Day"** means any day, other than a Saturday, Sunday or "legal holiday" (as defined in Bankruptcy Rule 9006(a)).
- **20. "Buyer"** means RM Bidder, LLC, purchaser of certain assets of the TV Business.
- **21.** "Cash" means the lawful currency of the United States of America and equivalents thereof.
- **22.** "Causes of Action" means any Claim, Avoidance Action, cause of action, controversy, right of setoff, cross claim, counterclaim, or recoupment and any claim on contracts or for breaches of duties imposed by law or in equity, demand, right, action, lien, indemnity, guaranty, suit, obligation, liability, damage, judgment, account, defense, power, privilege, license, and franchise of any kind or character whatsoever, known, unknown, fixed or contingent, matured or unmatured, suspected or unsuspected, liquidated or unliquidated, disputed or undisputed, secured or unsecured, assertable directly or derivatively, whether arising before, on, or after the Petition Date, in contract or in tort, in law or in equity, or pursuant to any other theory of law; *excluding*, *however*, (i) RKA Causes of Action, (ii) any settlement of Claims on or prior to the Effective Date, and (iii) Claims or Avoidance Actions against Released Parties, *but including* the Excluded Released Parties.
- 23. "CBA Assumption Agreements" means the assumption agreements for each and every Covered Picture to be entered into by Reorganized Relativity Media LLC on the Effective Date which shall obligate the Reorganized Debtors only for all obligations thereunder that accrue after the Effective Date, and which assumption agreements shall be in the standard form found in the collective bargaining agreement of each Union Entity.
- **24. "Chapter 11 Cases"** means the cases commenced under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code by the Debtors in the Bankruptcy Court.
- **25.** "CIT Bank" means CIT Bank, N.A., formerly known as OneWest Bank, N.A.
- **26.** "Claim" means a claim, as such term is defined in Bankruptcy Code § 101(5), against a Debtor.
- 27. "Claims Bar Date" means, as applicable, the Administrative Claims Bar Date and any other date or dates to be established by an Order of the Bankruptcy Court by which Proofs of Claim must be filed, including the general bar date of December 9, 2015 at 5:00 p.m. (ET) as set forth in the Court's Order Pursuant to 11 U.S.C. §§ 501 and 502(b)(9), Fed. R. Bankr. P. 2002 and 3003(c)(3), and Local Rule 3003-1(I) Establishing Deadline For Filing Proofs of Claim and Procedures Relating Thereto and (II) Approving Form and Manner of Notice Thereof [Dkt. No. 927].

- **28.** "Claims Objection Bar Date" means the deadline for objecting to a Claim, which shall be on the date that is the later of (a) one year after the Effective Date and (b) such later period of limitation as may be specifically fixed by an order of the Bankruptcy Court.
- **29.** "Class" means a class of Claims or Interests, as described in Section II of this Plan.
- **30.** "Class A Litigation Trust Beneficiary Units" means the Litigation Trust Beneficiary Units held by Holders of Allowed Claims in Class J other than Manchester Securities (or any permitted transferee pursuant to the Litigation Trust Agreement).
- 31. "Class B Litigation Trust Beneficiary Units" means the Litigation Trust Beneficiary Units held by Manchester Securities (or any permitted transferee pursuant to the Litigation Trust Agreement) on account of its Allowed Claim in Class J.
- **32.** "Committee DIP Proceeds" means the allocation of \$275,000 in aggregate proceeds from the Debtors' debtor in possession financing to be used to pay fees and expenses of the professionals retained by the Creditors' Committee that are incurred in connection with investigation of certain specified matters pursuant to Paragraph 4(b) of the Initial Final DIP Order.
- **33. "Confirmation"** means the entry of the Confirmation Order on the docket of the Bankruptcy Court.
- **34.** "Confirmation Date" means the date on which the Bankruptcy Court enters the Confirmation Order on its docket, within the meaning of Bankruptcy Rules 5003 and 9021.
- **35.** "Confirmation Hearing" means the hearing held by the Bankruptcy Court to consider Confirmation of this Plan, as such hearing may be continued from time to time.
- **36.** "Confirmation Order" means the order of the Bankruptcy Court confirming this Plan pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1129.
- **37.** "Covered Pictures" means those theatrical or television motion pictures with respect to which: (i) the Debtors were obligated to pay residuals to members of Union Entities as of the Petition Date; and (ii) rights are to be transferred to the Reorganized Debtors.
- **38.** "Creditors' Committee" means the official committee of unsecured creditors appointed in the Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1102.
- **39.** "Cure Cost Savings" means the difference between (a) the cure payment to a creditor paid by the Debtors in connection with the assumption of an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease minus (b) the amount of the claim as scheduled on the Debtors' books and records; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that such savings is achieved with the assistance of the Creditors' Committee or Litigation Trustee, as applicable at the Debtors' or Reorganized Debtors' request.
 - **40.** "days" means calendar days.

- **41. "Debtors"** means, collectively, the debtors listed on Exhibit A attached hereto.
- **42.** "**DGA**" means the Directors Guild of America, Inc., on behalf of itself and the Producer-Directors Guild of America Pension and Health Plans.
- 43. "DIP Credit Agreement" means that certain debtor in possession financing Agreement, dated as of July 30, 2015 (Dkt. No. 48, Ex. 2, as the same was subsequently, amended, supplemented or otherwise revised by the Court's Initial Final DIP Order, previously entered interim orders related thereto, and the Modified DIP Order), among Relativity Media, LLC and each subsidiary thereof (as borrower), Relativity Holdings (as Guarantor), the Initial DIP Agent, the Initial DIP Lenders, the Successor DIP Agent, and/or the Successor DIP Lenders, as the case may be, party thereto.
- 44. "Disclosure Statement" means the *Disclosure Statement for Plan Proponents' Plan of Reorganization Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code*, of even date herewith (including all exhibits and schedules thereto or referenced therein), that has been prepared and distributed by the Plan Proponents, pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1125, as the same may be amended, modified or supplemented, and which is in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Plan Proponents.
- 45. "Disclosure Statement Order" means an order entered by the Bankruptcy Court, which shall be a Final Order and which shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Plan Proponents, approving, among other things, the Disclosure Statement as containing adequate information pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1125, authorizing solicitation of the Disclosure Statement and this Plan and approving related solicitation materials.
- 46. "Disputed Claim" means any portion of a Claim (a) that is neither an Allowed Claim nor a disallowed Claim, (b) that is listed as disputed, contingent or unliquidated on the Schedules or that is otherwise subject to an objection or (c) for which a Proof of Claim has been timely filed with the Bankruptcy Court or a written request for payment has been made, to the extent the Debtors have, or any party in interest entitled to do so has, interposed a timely objection or request for estimation, which objection or request for estimation has not been withdrawn or determined by a Final Order.
- **47.** "Distribution Record Date" means the close of business on the day the Bankruptcy Court enters the order confirming this Plan pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1129.
- **48.** "Document Website" means the internet site address https://www.donlinrecano.com/Clients/rm/Index at which all of the exhibits and schedules to this Plan and the Disclosure Statement will be available to any party in interest and the public, free of charge.
- **49.** "DR Loan and Security Agreement" means a Loan and Security Agreement, dated September 5, 2014, entered into between Debtor DR Productions, LLC, as borrower, and CIT Bank, N.A. as agent and the lenders party thereto, for loans up to approximately \$12,272,477 as of October 4, 2015 for the purpose of acquiring, producing,

completing, and delivering a motion picture prior to release, and the payment of related financing costs. CIT asserts a different amount outstanding as of the date shown, and the amount is also subject to reconciliation for other obligations under the LSA including, without limitation, attorneys' fees.

- 50. "Effective Date" means the day selected by the Debtors that is a Business Day as soon as reasonably practicable after the Confirmation Date on which all conditions to the Effective Date in Section VII.A shall have been satisfied or waived in accordance with Section VII.B and, if a stay of the Confirmation Order is in effect, such stay shall have expired, dissolved, or been lifted.
 - **51. "Entity"** shall have the meaning set forth in Bankruptcy Code § 101(15).
 - **52.** "Equity (UK)" means Equity of Guild House.
- **53. "Estate"** means, as to each Debtor, the estate created for such Debtor in its Chapter 11 Case pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 541.
- **54. "Excluded Released Parties"** shall be those parties included in <u>Exhibit J</u>; <u>provided</u>, that the Excluded Released Parties shall not include any of the Manchester Parties once approved by the Bankruptcy Court.
- **55.** "Exculpated Parties" (i) the Plan Proponents; (ii) the Debtors' respective officers, boards of managers and the members thereof; (iii) the Creditors' Committee; (iv) the Manchester Parties; (v) the Buyer; and (vi) with respect to each of the foregoing entities in clauses (i) through (v), only on or after the Petition Date, their respective Representatives (in their capacities as such).
 - **56.** "Exculpation" means the exculpation provision set forth in Section X.D.
- **57. "Executory Contract"** or "**Unexpired Lease"** means a contract or lease to which a Debtor is a party that is subject to assumption, assumption and assignment or rejection under Bankruptcy Code § 365, including any modifications, amendments, addenda or supplements thereto or restatements thereof.
- **58. "Exhibit"** means an exhibit attached to this Plan or included in the Plan Supplement.
- **59. "Fee Claim"** means a Claim under Bankruptcy Code §§ 328, 330(a), 331, 503 or 1103 for compensation of a Professional or other Entity for services rendered or expenses incurred in the Chapter 11 Cases.
 - **60. "Fee Note"** has the meaning given in Section III.G.5.
- **61. "Fee Order"** means any order establishing procedures for interim compensation and reimbursement of expenses of Professionals that may be entered by the Bankruptcy Court.

- **62. "File," "Filed"** or **"Filing"** means file, filed or filing with the Bankruptcy Court or its authorized designee in the Chapter 11 Cases.
- 63. "Final Order" means an order or judgment of the Bankruptcy Court, or other court of competent jurisdiction, as entered on the docket in the Chapter 11 Cases or the docket of any other court of competent jurisdiction, that has not been reversed, stayed, modified or amended, and as to which the time to appeal or seek certiorari or move for a new trial, reargument, reconsideration or rehearing has expired, and no appeal or petition for certiorari or other proceedings for a new trial, reargument, reconsideration or rehearing has been timely taken, or as to which any appeal that has been taken or any petition for certiorari that has been timely filed has been withdrawn or resolved by the highest court to which the order or judgment was appealed or from which certiorari was sought or the new trial, reargument, reconsideration or rehearing shall have been denied or resulted in no modification of such order.
- **64. "FMSMF"** means Film Musicians Secondary Markets Fund, which operates pursuant to American Federation of Musicians collective bargaining agreements, to collect and distribute residuals under the collective bargaining agreements.
- 65. "General Unsecured Claim" means any Claim that is not a (i) Administrative Claim, (ii) Professional Fee Claim, (iii) Plan Co-Proponent Fee/Expense Claim, (iv) Priority Tax Claim, (v) Priority Non-Tax Claim, (vi) TLA/TLB Secured Claim, (vii) Pre-Release P&A Secured Claim, (viii) Post-Release P&A Secured Claim, (ix) Production Loan Secured Claim, (x) Ultimates Secured Claim, (xi) Secured Guilds Claim, (xii) Vine/Verite Secured Claim, (xiii) Other Secured Claim, or (xiv) Subordinated Claim.
- 66. "Guaranteed GUC Payment" means (i) the \$2.0 million Television Sale Committee Allocation, (ii) an additional \$2.0 million payment within 12 24 months of the Effective Date, and (iii) an additional \$5.0 million within 36 48 months of the Effective Date. In the case of (ii) and (iii), the Reorganized Debtors shall, in their business judgment, determine the timing of such payment based on whether the Reorganized Debtors have sufficient working capital to satisfy their business plan and make such payment, but in each case, the Reorganized Debtors shall make such payment no later than 24 months and 48 months from the Effective Date respectively. Notwithstanding the foregoing, until such time as the \$7.0 million payments in (ii) and (iii) herein are made, in the event that the Reorganized Debtors recover any amount on account of the Reorganized Debtors Causes of Action Interest, such amount shall be paid by the Reorganized Debtors to the Litigation Trust as an acceleration of such payment obligation.
- 67. "GUC Interest" means the beneficial interests in (i) seventy percent (70%) of the litigation recoveries from the Causes of Action, net of litigation cost, (ii) one hundred (100%) of the recoveries of the Avoidance Claims, (ii) twenty-five percent (25%) of the Cure Cost Savings; and (iv) subject to such other terms agreed to by the Plan Proponents and the Creditors' Committee as may be set forth in the Litigation Trust Agreement, payment of five percent (5%) of net operating income on the fifth anniversary of the Effective Date if the Reorganized Debtors achieve \$150.0 million of EBITDA on such anniversary, *provided*, *however*, that such payment set forth in (iv) shall not exceed \$7.5 million.

- **68.** "Guild Payroll Protocols" means payments to the Guilds in connection with the Allowed Secured Guilds Claims, Allowed Guild Administrative Claims, Allowed Guild Priority Claims, or Allowed Guild General Unsecured Claims that shall be payable to each applicable Guild for the benefit of each applicable Guild-represented employee. Payments will be made to counsel for the Guilds. The Reorganized Debtors shall provide a designated payroll service (selected mutually by the Guilds and the Reorganized Debtors) with information concerning such payments. The payroll service shall prepare checks in the form and manner prescribed by each collective bargaining agreement. Guild counsel will forward the payable principal amounts, and the Reorganized Debtors shall fund the payroll process and applicable taxes. As an accommodation to the Reorganized Debtor, the Guilds shall forward such payments to the applicable Guild-represented employee.
- **69. "Guilds"** means the DGA, SAG-AFTRA, and the WGA, with reference to their status as Secured Guilds or as Unsecured Union Entities.
- **70. "Heatherden Fee Claims"** means the Professional Fee Claim, as defined in the 9019 Settlement Order.
- **71. "Holder"** means an Entity holding a Claim or Interest, as the context requires.
- **72.** "Impaired" means, when used in reference to a Claim or an Interest, a Claim or an Interest that is impaired within the meaning of Bankruptcy Code § 1124.
- 73. "Initial DIP Agent" means Cortland Capital Market Services LLC, in its capacity as the initial administrative agent and collateral agent under the DIP Credit Agreement.
- 74. "Initial DIP Lenders" means, collectively, those entities identified as "Lenders" in the DIP Credit Agreement and their respective permitted successors and assigns (solely in their capacity as "DIP Lenders" under the DIP Credit Agreement).
- 75. "Initial Final DIP Order" means the Final Order Pursuant to Sections 105, 361, 362, 363, 364 and 507 of the Bankruptcy Code (I) Authorizing Debtors to Obtain Superpriority Secured Debtor-In- Possession Financing, (II) Authorizing Debtors to Use Cash Collateral, (III) Granting Adequate Protection to the Cortland Parties, and (IV) Granting Related Relief (Dkt. No. 342).
- **76. "Intercompany Claim"** any Allowed Claim of any Debtor against another Debtor.
- 77. "Intercompany Interest" any Interest (a) of any Debtor in another Debtor or (b) of any Non-Debtor Affiliate in a Debtor, in each case, that arose prior to the Petition Date.
- **78.** "Interest" means the rights of the Holders of stock, membership interests or partnership interests issued by a Debtor and outstanding immediately prior to the Petition Date, and any options, warrants or other rights with respect thereto, or any other instruments evidencing an ownership interest in a Debtor and the rights of any Entity to purchase or demand

the issuance of any of the foregoing, including: (a) redemption, conversion, exchange, voting, participation and dividend and other distribution rights (including any rights in respect of accrued and unpaid dividends or other distributions); (b) liquidation preferences; (c) stock options and warrants; (d) interests in profit and loss; and (e) rights to information concerning the business and affairs of a Debtor.

- **79. "Kavanaugh"** means Ryan C. Kavanaugh, as CEO of the Debtors, and as Plan Proponent.
- **80.** "Liabilities" means any and all Claims, obligations, suits, judgments, damages, demands, debts, rights, recovery actions, Causes of Action and liabilities, whether liquidated or unliquidated, fixed or contingent, matured or unmatured, known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, arising in law, equity or otherwise, that are based in whole or in part on any act, event, injury, omission, transaction or agreement.
- **81.** "Litigation Trust" means the litigation trust to be created on or after the Confirmation Date in accordance with the provisions of Article IX hereof and the Litigation Trust Agreement.
- **82.** "Litigation Trust Agreement" means the Litigation Trust Agreement, substantially similar in form as Exhibit G attached hereto, pursuant to which the Litigation Trustee shall manage and administer the Litigation Trust Assets and distribute the net proceeds thereof, if any.
- **83.** "Litigation Trust Assets" means (a) initial funding of \$2.0 million Television Sale Committee Allocation, (b) \$500,000, which amount shall not be subject to repayment, to be funded on the Effective Date and an additional to-be-determined amount, which amount shall be subject to repayment, to be provided by the Reorganized Debtors to fund pursuit of litigation claims by the Litigation Trust, (c) the GUC Interest, and (d) the right to prosecute the Causes of Action in the name of the Reorganized Debtor.
- **84.** "Litigation Trust Beneficiaries" means the Holders of Allowed Claims in Class J receiving Class A Litigation Trust Beneficiary Units or Class B Litigation Trust Beneficiary Units.
- **85.** "Litigation Trust Claims Reserve" means any Litigation Trust Assets allocable to or retained on account of, Disputed General Unsecured Claims, even if held in commingled accounts.
- **86.** "Litigation Trust Interests" means the beneficial interests in the Litigation Trust allocable to certain Holders of Allowed Claims (and any transferee thereof) in accordance with the terms and conditions of Article IX of this Plan.
- **87.** "Litigation Trustee" means the Person or Entity designated as the "Managing Trustee" of the Litigation Trust pursuant to the terms of the Litigation Trust Agreement.

- **88.** "Manchester Claims" means the claims of Manchester Securities against the Debtors under the Manchester Prepetition Credit Facility.
- **89.** "Manchester Library Agreements" means each of the agreements, documents, and other instruments listed on <u>Exhibit N</u> attached hereto, in each case, as the same may have been amended, restated or modified from time to time.
- **90.** "Manchester Parties" means Manchester Securities Corp. ("Manchester Securities"), Manchester Library Company LLC ("MLC"), Heatherden Holdings LLC, Heatherden Securities LLC, Heatherden Securities Corp., Beverly Blvd 2 Holdings LLC, Beverly Blvd 2 LLC, Elliott Management Corporation, Elliott Associates, L.P., Elliott Capital Advisors, L.P., Elliott International, L.P., Braxton Associates, Inc., and Elliott International Capital Advisors, Inc., and with respect to each such entity, such entity's present and former direct or indirect affiliates, parents, subsidiaries, general partners, limited partners, members, managers, investment funds, investment vehicles, investors, beneficiaries, transferees, successors and assigns, management companies, fund advisors, investment bankers, accountants, consultants, financial and other advisors, and the respective managers, partners, members, principals, advisory board members, attorneys, employees, agents, representatives, officers and directors of each of the foregoing in any capacity.
- 91. "Manchester Prepetition Credit Facility" means indebtedness under the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of May 30, 2012, between certain of the Debtors and Manchester Securities (as amended, supplemented, or modified from time to time) with an outstanding amount of approximately \$137.1 million.
- **92.** "Manchester DIP Claims" means any Claim of the Successor DIP Agent or the Successor DIP Lenders against a Debtor under or evidenced by (a) the DIP Credit Agreement and (b) the Modified DIP Order, excluding the Heatherden Fee Claims.
- **93. "Manchester Transactions"** means (i) the Manchester Prepetition Credit Facility pursuant to which the Manchester Parties assert an undersecured claim of \$137,078,557 as of the Petition Date plus accrued interest, and (ii) a May 11, 2011 membership interest transfer agreement among Relativity Holdings LLC, Heatherden Securities Corp., and Heatherden Holdings LLC.
- **94.** "Modified DIP Order" means the *Amended and Restated Final Order* Pursuant to Sections 105, 361, 362, 363, 364, And 507 of the Bankruptcy Code (I) Authorizing Debtors to Obtain Superpriority Secured Debtor-in-Possession Financing, (II) Authorizing Debtors to Use Cash Collateral, (III) Granting Adequate Protection to the Cortland Parties and Manchester Parties and (IV) Granting Related Relief [Dkt No. 931].
 - **95.** "MPIPHP" means the Motion Picture Industry Pension and Health Plans.
- **96.** "Mutual Release Agreement" means the Release Agreement in the form attached as Exhibit O, which form may not be altered, amended or modified absent consent of Manchester Securities, Kavanaugh, and Nicholas.

- **97.** "New Board of Managers" means the board of managers of Reorganized Relativity Holdings composed of individuals as set forth in Section III.G.2 hereof.
- **98.** "New Exit Financing Documents" means, collectively, the definitive documents, statements and filings that evidence the New P&A/Ultimates Facility.
- 99. "New P&A/Ultimates Facility" means a financing facility or debt issuance that is entered into or issued by one or more of the Reorganized Debtors on the Effective Date, substantially similar in form as Exhibit F attached hereto, the proceeds of which shall be utilized to fund the ongoing operations of the Reorganized Debtors and shall not, without the consent of the Buyer, be utilized to refinance any existing indebtedness, including, without limitation, any indebtedness under the DIP Credit Agreement, including without limitation, the Manchester DIP Claims.
- 100. "New Securities and Documents" means the Reorganized Relativity Holdings Preferred Units, Reorganized Relativity Holdings Common Units, the BidCo Note, New Exit Financing Documents, and any and all other securities, notes, stock, instruments, certificates, and other documents or agreements required to be issued, executed or delivered pursuant to or in connection with this Plan.
 - **101.** "Nicholas" means Joseph Nicholas, individually, and as Plan Proponent.
- **102.** "Non-Debtor Affiliate" means any direct or indirect subsidiary of Relativity Holdings that is not a Debtor.
- **103.** "Non-Debtor Affiliate Claim" means any Claim held by a Non-Debtor Affiliate against a Debtor that arose prior to the Petition Date.
- **104.** "Notice and Claims Agent" means Donlin Recano & Company, Inc., in its capacity as noticing, claims and solicitation agent for the Debtors.
- **105.** "Ordinary Course Professionals Order" means any order entered by the Bankruptcy Court authorizing the Debtors to retain, employ and pay professionals and service providers, as specified in such order, which are not materially involved in the administration of the Chapter 11 Cases.
- **106.** "Other Secured Claim" means a Secured Claim that is not a TLA/TLB Secured Claim, Post-Release P&A Secured Claim, Production Loan Secured Claim, Ultimates Secured Claim, Secured Guilds Claim, or Vine/Verite Secured Claim.
- **107.** "P&A Funding Agreement" means the Second Amended and Restated Funding Agreement, dated June 30, 2014, among certain of the Debtors (as borrowers), Macquarie US Trading LLC (as post—release agent), Macquarie Investments US Inc. (as post-release lender by assignment from the original post-release lender), and RKA (as pre-release lender and pre-release lender agent), as amended by the First Amendment, dated August 26, 2014.

- 108. "Participation Agreements" means agreements that provide for, among other things, payments from future revenues to actors, directors, writers, producers and other entities based on prior work performed in connection with the motion pictures in the Debtors' film library, including producer royalties and fees payable for merchandising and music rights. For the avoidance of doubt, unless otherwise provided for herein, participations owed by the Debtors under Participation Agreements executed prior to the Petition Date, whether such participations are owed prior to or on and after the Effective Date, will be treated as prepetition claims against the Debtors because they arise under prepetition agreements and contracts that are not executory contracts.
 - **109.** "Person" shall have the meaning set forth in Bankruptcy Code § 101(41).
 - **110.** "**Petition Date**" means July 30, 2015 for all of the Debtors.
- 111. "Plan" means this plan of reorganization for the Debtors, and all Exhibits attached hereto or referenced herein, supplements, appendices, schedules, and the Plan Supplement, as the same may be amended, modified or supplemented.
 - 112. "Plan Co-Proponents" means Kavanaugh, Nicholas, and the Debtors.
- 113. "Plan Co-Proponent Fee/Expense Claims" means all of the reasonable and documented fees, costs and expenses of Kavanaugh and Nicholas incurred in connection with the Chapter 11 Cases.
- "Plan Supplement" means the compilation of documents and forms of documents that constitute Exhibits to this Plan Filed with the Bankruptcy Court on January 12. 2016 at Docket Nos. 1238 and 1239 (as amended from time to time), including, without limitation, the following: (a) revised Relativity Holdings Certificate of Formation (or comparable constituent document); (b) Revised Relativity Holdings Operating Agreement (or comparable constituent document); (c) Agreement evidencing the New P&A/Ultimates Facility [to be provided by the lender to the New P&A/Ultimates Facility and filed on the docket prior to the Confirmation Hearing]; (d) list of the new board of managers of Reorganized Relativity Holdings; (e) updated list of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases to be rejected by the Debtors; (f) Litigation Trust Agreement; (g) form of Warrant Agreements; (h) form of Replacement P&A Note; (i) form of Replacement Production Loan Note; (j) form of BidCo Note; (k) list of Manchester Library Agreements; (l) form of Mutual Release Agreement; and (m) Restructuring Transactions Exhibit, if any; provided, however, that in no event shall the form of Replacement P&A Note, the form of Replacement Production Loan Note, and form of BidCo Note be modified following the filing of the Plan Supplement without the respective counterparties' consent, or providing such counterparties with the opportunity to change their vote accepting the Plan; provided further that to the extent any Exhibit to this Plan pertains to transactions that directly impact the Manchester Parties, shall be subject to the approval of the Manchester Parties with respect to those transactions only, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed
- 115. "Post-Release P&A Secured Claims" means any Allowed Secured Claim of Macquarie US Trading LLC (as agent) and/or Macquarie Investments US Inc. (as post-

release lender by assignment from the original post-release lender) against a Debtor (i) under or evidenced by the P&A Funding Agreement or (ii) any subsequent post-release print and advertising loans made thereunder or in connection therewith. As of the Petition Date, the amount of the Post-Release P&A Secured Claims totaled \$32,880,208. As of October 31, 2015, the aggregate Post-Release P&A Secured Claim totaled \$26,818,821, plus interest, expenses, fees and professional fees, after taking into account a \$7.2 million paydown in October.

- of RKA (as pre-release lender and pre-release lender agent) against a Debtor (i) under or evidenced by the P&A Funding Agreement or (ii) any subsequent pre-release print and advertising loans made thereunder or in connection therewith. As of the Petition Date, the amount of the Pre-Release P&A Secured Claims totaled \$85,005,933 which was comprised of a \$28,657,280 claim against Armored Car Productions, LLC, a \$18,675,350 claim against DR Productions, LLC, a \$15,045,620 claim against RML Kidnap Films, LLC, a \$21,366,234 claim against RML Somnia Films, LLC, and a \$1,261,450 claim against RML Lazarus Films, LLC.
- 117. "Prepetition Intercompany Claim" means any Claim of any Debtor against any other Debtor that arose prior to the Petition Date.
- 118. "Priority Non-Tax Claim" means a Claim that is entitled to priority in payment pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 507(a) that is not an Administrative Claim or a Priority Tax Claim.
- 119. "Priority Tax Claim" means a Claim that is entitled to priority in payment pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 507(a)(8).
- 120. "Pro Rata" means, when used in reference to a distribution of property to holders of Allowed Claims in a particular Class, a proportionate distribution of property so that the ratio of (a)(i) the amount of property distributed on account of an individual Allowed Claim to (ii) the amount of such individual Allowed Claim is the same as the ratio of (b)(i) the amount of property distributed to all Allowed Claims in the applicable Class to (ii) the total amount of all Allowed Claims in the applicable Class.
- **121. "Production Loan Agreements"** means, collectively, the Armored Car Loan and Security Agreement and the DR Loan and Security Agreement.
- **122.** "Production Loan Settlement" means the assumption of the relevant Production Loan Agreement, as modified to acknowledge that any and all defaults thereunder have been cured and otherwise satisfied, and as further modified to provide for a release date for Masterminds on or before March 31, 2017 and The Disappointments Room on or before September 30, 2016, as applicable.
- **123. "Production Loan Secured Claims"** means any Allowed Secured Claim of either (i) CIT Bank or (ii) Surefire Entertainment Capital, LLC against a Debtor under or evidenced by either of the Production Loan Agreements.
- **124. "Professional"** means any professional employed in the Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to Bankruptcy Code §§ 327, 328, 363 or 1103 or any professional or other Entity

seeking compensation or reimbursement of expenses in connection with the Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 503(b)(4); *provided*, that the term Professional shall exclude the professionals of (i) the Manchester Parties, (ii) the Buyer, and (iii) Cortland and the Cortland Lenders.

- 125. "Professional Fee Segregated Account" means an interest-bearing account to hold and maintain an amount of Cash equal to the Professional Fee Reserve Amount funded by the Debtors on the Effective Date solely for the purpose of paying all Allowed and unpaid Fee Claims.
- **126. "Professional Fee Reserve Amount"** means the aggregate Fee Claims through the Effective Date as estimated in accordance with Section II.A.1.d(3) hereof.
- **127. "Proof of Claim"** means a proof of claim filed with the Bankruptcy Court or the Notice and Claims Agent in connection with the Chapter 11 Cases.
- "Reinstated" means, unless this Plan specifies a particular method 128. pursuant to which a Claim or Interest shall be Reinstated, (a) leaving unaltered the legal, equitable, and contractual rights to which a Claim or Interest so as to render such Claim or Interest Unimpaired; or (b) notwithstanding any contractual provisions or applicable law that entitles the Holder of a Claim or Interest to demand or receive accelerated payment of such Claim or Interest after the occurrence of a default, (i) curing any such default that occurred before or after the commencement of the applicable Chapter 11 Case, other than a default of a kind specified in Bankruptcy Code § 365(b)(2) or of a kind that Bankruptcy Code § 365(b)(2) expressly does not require to be cured; (ii) reinstating the maturity of a Claim or Interest as such maturity existed before such default; (iii) compensating the Holder of a Claim or Interest for any damages incurred as a result of any reasonable reliance by such Holder on such contractual provision or such applicable law; (iv) if such Claim or Interest arises from any failure to perform a nonmonetary obligation, other than a default arising from failure to operate a nonresidential real property lease subject to Bankruptcy Code § 365(b)(1)(A), compensating the Holder of such Claim or Interest for any actual pecuniary loss incurred by such Holder as a result of such failure; and (v) not otherwise altering the legal, equitable or contractual rights to which a Claim or Interest entitles the Holder of such Claim or Interest.
- 129. "Released Parties" means (i) the Debtors; (ii) the Debtors' respective boards of managers and the members thereof each as of the Petition Date; (iii) the Creditors' Committee; (iv) the Manchester Parties; (v) the lenders (the "Cortland Lenders") party to the Financing Agreement, dated as of May 30, 2012, but solely in their capacity as lenders, (vi) the Buyer, and, (vii) Cortland (not individually, but solely in its separate capacities as collateral agent and administrative agent under the Existing DIP Facility and collateral agent and administrative agent under the TLA/TLB Facility), and each of the foregoing's Representatives to the extent permitted under applicable law.
- **130.** "Releasing Parties" means (a) any Released Party, (b) any Holder of a Claim who voted to accept this Plan, and (c) any holder of a Claim who voted to reject this Plan but who affirmatively elected to provide releases by checking the appropriate box on the ballot form; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that (i) any party deemed to accept this Plan by virtue of being

Unimpaired is not a Releasing Party, (ii) the Releasing Parties shall not include the Manchester Parties. On the Effective Date the Manchester Parties, Kavanaugh, and Nicholas shall contemporaneously execute the Mutual Release Agreement.

- 131. "Reorganized Debtors Causes of Action Interest" means the beneficial interests in thirty percent (30%) of the litigation recoveries from the Causes of Action, net of litigation cost.
- **132. "Relativity Holdings"** means Relativity Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
- **133.** "Reorganized" means, (a) when used in reference to a particular Debtor, such Debtor on and after the Effective Date, and (b) when used in reference to the Debtors collectively, then all of the Debtors on and after the Effective Date.
- 134. "Reorganized Relativity Holdings Common Units" means Common Units of Reorganized Relativity Holdings having the rights set forth in the Revised Relativity Holdings Operating Agreement, such Common Units to be initially authorized pursuant to this Plan as of the Effective Date, including such Common Units to be issued pursuant to this Plan.
- 135. "Reorganized Relativity Holdings Preferred Units" means convertible Class A Units of Reorganized Relativity Holdings having the rights set forth in the Revised Relativity Holdings Operating Agreement, such Class A Units to be initially authorized pursuant to this Plan as of the Effective Date, including such Class A Units to be issued pursuant to this Plan.
- 136. "Reorganized Relativity Holdings Warrants" means warrants of Reorganized Relativity Holdings to acquire Reorganized Relativity Holdings Common Units having the rights set forth in the relevant Warrant Agreements, such Warrants to be issued to Joseph Nicholas and Heatherden (or their respective Affiliates) pursuant to this Plan.
- 137. "Replacement P&A Note" means a note bearing interest at a fixed rate equal to the 7 year Treasury Bill rate plus 1.5% payable over three (3) years that will be issued by the Reorganized Debtors on the Effective Date to the holders of the Pre-Release P&A Secured Claims provided that the Pre-Release P&A Lenders vote to accept the Plan. The amount of a Replacement P&A Note shall be based on the amount of the Pre-Release P&A Secured Claim and issued by the Reorganized Debtor responsible therefor. Payment obligations under a Replacement P&A Note shall be: (i) subordinate to the liens of the New P&A/Ultimates Facility, or such other print and advertising facility or Supplemental Funding as defined in Exhibit K attached hereto, which may be used to fund P&A for one or more of the film titles: Masterminds, Kidnap, The Disappointments Room and Somnia, (ii) subject to the terms of the existing intercreditor agreements including with CIT, as Production Lender, with respect to Masterminds and *The Disappointments Room* and Macquarie [provided that RKA's liens shall be deemed valid and perfected notwithstanding the Debtors' default(s) under its prepetition obligations], as Post-Release P&A Lender on Lazarus and (iii) subordinate to any applicable senior secured claims of the Guilds for residuals. Payment pursuant to the Replacement P&A Note shall be crosscollateralized between the four (4) films: Masterminds, Kidnap, The Disappointments Room and

Somnia. To the extent that the Pre-Release P&A Lenders vote to reject the Plan, they will receive a note bearing interest at a fixed rate equal to the 7 year Treasury Bill rate plus 3.0%, but the payment obligations will not be cross-collateralized. A form of the Replacement P&A Note is attached hereto as Exhibit K for each of the 5 Replacement P&A Notes.

- 138. "Replacement Production Loan Note" means a note bearing interest at a fixed rate equal to the 7 Year Treasury Bill rate plus 3.0 % payable over three (3) years that may be issued by the Reorganized Debtors on the Effective Date to the holders of the Production Loan Secured Claims. The amount of a Replacement Production Loan Note shall be based on the amount of the Production Loan Secured Claim and issued by the Debtor responsible therefor. Payment obligations under a Replacement Production Loan Note shall be: (i) subordinate to the liens of the New P&A/Ultimates Facility, or such other print and advertising facility or Supplemental Funding as defined in Exhibit K attached hereto, which may be used to fund P&A for one or more of the film titles: Masterminds and The Disappointments Room, (ii) subject to the terms of any existing intercreditor agreements including with RKA, as Pre-Release Lender, with respect to Masterminds and The Disappointments Room, and (iii) subordinate to any applicable senior secured claims of the Guilds for residuals. A form of the Replacement Production Loan Note is attached hereto as Exhibit L for each of the five (5) Replacement P&A Notes.
- **139.** "Representatives" means, with respect to any Entity, any successor, officer, director, partner, shareholder, manager, member, management company, investment manager, affiliate, employee, agent, attorney, advisor, investment banker, financial advisor, accountant or other Professional of such Entity, and committee of which such Entity is a member, in each case, solely in such capacity, serving on or after the Petition Date.
- **140.** "Restructuring Transactions" means, collectively, those mergers, consolidations, conversions, restructurings, dispositions, liquidations or dissolutions that the Debtors determine to be necessary or appropriate to effect an organizational restructuring of their business or otherwise to simplify the overall organizational structure of the Reorganized Debtors, as described in greater detail in Section III.E.
- **141.** "Retained TLA/TLB Secured Claim" means that portion of the TLA/TLB Secured Claims, in the aggregate amount of \$60.0 million, that is held by the Buyer.
- **142.** "Revised Relativity Holdings Certificate of Formation" means the certificate of formation, substantially similar in form as Exhibit B attached hereto.
- 143. "Revised Relativity Holdings Operating Agreement" means the operating agreement, substantially similar in form as Exhibit C attached hereto, which form, from the date hereof to the Effective Date, may not be altered, amended or modified absent consent of Heatherden, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed and which form, following the Effective Date, may only be modified consistent with its terms.
- **144.** "**RKA**" means RKA Film Financing, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

- 145. "RKA Causes of Action" means any Claim, Avoidance Action, cause of action, controversy, right of setoff, cross claim, counterclaim, or recoupment and any claim on contracts or for breaches of duties imposed by law or in equity, demand, right, action, lien, indemnity, guaranty, suit, obligation, liability, damage, judgment, account, defense, power, privilege, license, and franchise of any kind or character whatsoever, known, unknown, fixed or contingent, matured or unmatured, suspected or unsuspected, liquidated or unliquidated, disputed or undisputed, secured or unsecured, assertable directly or derivatively, whether arising before, on, or after the Petition Date, in contract or in tort, in law or in equity, or pursuant to any other theory of law against RKA.
- **146.** "SAG-AFTRA" means the Screen Actors Guild-American Federation of Television and Radio Artists, on behalf of itself and the Producer- Screen Actors Guild Pension and Health Plans.
- **147. "Schedules"** means, collectively, the (a) schedules of assets, Liabilities and Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases and (b) statements of financial affairs, as each may be amended and supplemented from time to time, Filed by the Debtors pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 521.
- **148.** "Secured Claim" means a Claim that is secured by a lien on property in which an Estate has an interest or that is subject to a valid right of setoff under Bankruptcy Code § 553, to the extent of the value of the Claim Holder's interest in such Estate's interest in such property or to the extent of the amount subject to such valid right of setoff, as applicable, as determined pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 506.
- **149.** "Secured Guilds" means, collectively, (i) the DGA; (ii) the SAG-AFTRA; and (iii) the WGA (and individually, each a "Secured Guild").
- **150.** "Secured Guilds Claims" means any Allowed Secured Claims of a Guild asserted against one or more of the Debtors.
- **151.** "Secured Tax Claim" means an Allowed Secured Claim arising out of a Debtor's liability for any Tax.
- **152. "Securities Act"** means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.
- **153. "Side Letter"** means the side letter entered into between Kavanaugh and certain of the Manchester Parties in the form attached as <u>Exhibit Q</u> hereto, which form may not be altered, amended or modified absent consent of Heatherden in its sole discretion.
- 154. "Stipulation of Amount and Nature of Claim" means a stipulation or other agreement between the applicable Debtor or Reorganized Debtor and a Holder of a Claim or Interest establishing the allowed amount or nature of such Claim or Interest that is (a) entered into in accordance with any Claim settlement procedures established by order of the Bankruptcy Court in these Chapter 11 Cases, (b) expressly permitted by this Plan or (c) approved by order of the Bankruptcy Court.

- **155.** "Subordinated Claim" means any Claim against a Debtor (a) arising from rescission of a purchase or sale of a security of the Debtors or an Affiliate, for damages arising from the purchase or sale of such a security, or for reimbursement or contribution allowed under Bankruptcy Code § 502 on account of such a Claim, (b) any other claim subject to subordination under Bankruptcy Code § 510, or (c) any claim addressed by Bankruptcy Code § 726(a)(3) (a)(4); *provided*, *however*, that Claim Nos. 279, 1539 and 1540, filed by the IRS, shall not be included in the definition of Subordinated Claim.
 - **156.** "Subsidiary Debtor" means any Debtor other than Relativity Holdings.
- **157.** "Successor DIP Agent" means Heatherden Securities LLC ("Heatherden"), in its capacity as administrative agent and collateral agent under the DIP Credit Agreement.
- **158.** "Successor DIP Lenders" means Heatherden, in its capacity as "DIP Lenders" under the DIP Credit Agreement.
- 159. "Tax" means: (a) any net income, alternative or add-on minimum, gross income, gross receipts, sales, use, ad valorem, value added, transfer, franchise, profits, license, property, environmental or other tax, assessment or charge of any kind whatsoever (together in each instance with any interest, penalty, addition to tax or additional amount) imposed by any federal, state, local or foreign taxing authority; or (b) any liability for payment of any amounts of the foregoing types as a result of being a member of an affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary group, or being a party to any agreement or arrangement whereby liability for payment of any such amounts is determined by reference to the liability of any other Entity.
- **160.** "Television Sale Committee Allocation" means the \$2,000,000 held in a segregated account by counsel for the Creditor's Committee funded upon the consummation of the sale of the Debtors' television business.
- **161.** "TLA/TLB Secured Claims" means any Allowed Secured Claim of the collateral and administrative agent or lenders against a Debtor under or evidenced by (a) the TLA/TLB Financing Agreement and (b) TLA/TLB Facility, as such TLA/TLB Secured Claim is now held collectively by (i) the Buyer in the amount of \$60.0 million and (ii) Kavanaugh and Nicholas in the approximate amount of \$165.0 million.
- **162.** "TLA/TLB Facility" means secured indebtedness under the TLA/TLB Financing Agreement, consisting of a tranche A term loan and a tranche B term loan with an aggregate outstanding principal amount of approximately \$361,611,038 as of the Petition Date, plus accrued interest.
- **163.** "TLA/TLB Financing Agreement" means the Financing Agreement, dated as of May 30, 2012, among certain of the Debtors, the lenders party thereto, Cortland Capital Market Services LLC, as Collateral and Administrative Agent, and CB Agency Services, LLC, as origination agent (as amended, supplemented, or modified from time to time).
- **164. "TV Debtors"** means (i) Brant Point Productions, LLC, (ii) Cisco Beach Media, LLC, (iii) Cliff Road Media, LLC, (iv) Einstein Rentals, LLC, (v) English Breakfast

- Media, LLC, (vi) Great Point Productions, LLC, (vii) Hummock Pond Properties, LLC, (viii) Long Pond Media, LLC, (ix) Madaket Publishing, LLC (f/k/a Broad Street Publishing, LLC), (x) Madaket Road Music, LLC (f/k/a Broad Street Music, LLC), (xi) Miacomet Media, LLC, (xii) Orange Street Media, LLC, (xiii) Pocomo Productions, LLC, (xiv) Relativity REAL, LLC d/b/a Relativity Television, (xv) Relativity TV, LLC, (xvi) Smith Point Productions, LLC, (xvii) Straight Wharf Productions, LLC, (xix) Tuckernuck Music, LLC, (xx) Tuckernuck Publishing, LLC and (xxi) Zero Point Enterprises, LLC.
- **165.** "Ultimates Secured Claims" means any Allowed Secured Claim of the administrative agent or lenders against a Debtor under or evidenced by the Ultimates Credit Documents.
- 166. "Ultimates Credit Documents" means the (a) the Credit, Security, Guaranty and Pledge Agreement, dated as of September 25, 2012 (as the same may have been amended, restated, supplemented, or other otherwise modified) with certain of the Debtors as borrowers, CIT Bank, as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto and (b) all other agreements, documents and instruments executed and/or delivered related thereto, including all security agreements, notes, guarantees, mortgages, Uniform Commercial Code financing statements, and all other related agreements, documents and instruments, including any fee letters, executed and/or delivered in connection therewith or related thereto.
- **167.** "Unimpaired" means, when used in reference to a Claim or an Interest, a Claim or an Interest that is not Impaired within the meaning of Bankruptcy Code § 1124.
- **168.** "Union Entities" means the Guilds in their status as Secured Guilds, together with the Unsecured Union Entities.
- 169. "Unsecured Union Entities" means, collectively, (i) the MPIPHP; (ii) the American Federation of Musicians; (iii) the Laborers' International Union of North America; (iv) the Operative Plasterers' and Cement Masons' International Association; (v) the International Alliance of Theatrical Stage Employees, Moving Picture Technicians, Artists and Allied Crafts of the United States, Its Territories and Canada; (vi) the International Brotherhood of Teamsters; (vii) Equity (UK); (viii) FMSMF; and (ix) the Secured Guilds to the extent any such Secured Guild has an Allowed General Unsecured Claim against any of the Debtors (and individually, each an "Unsecured Union Entity").
- **170. "U.S. Trustee"** means the United States Trustee appointed under § 581 of title 28 of the United States Code to serve in the Southern District of New York.
- 171. "Vine/Verite Secured Claims" means any Allowed Secured Claim of Verite Capital Onshore Loan Fund LLC and/or Vine Film Finance Fund II LP against Yuma, Inc. and/or J & J Project, LLC under or evidenced by the Vine/Verite Loan Documents.
- **172.** "Vine/Verite Loan Documents" means certain loan and security agreements entered into between Debtors Yuma, Inc. or J & J Project, LLC, as borrowers, and Verite Capital Onshore Loan Fund LLC, as lender, as were subsequently transferred to Vine Film Finance Fund II LP, in connection with the production of the films 3:10 To Yuma and The Forbidden Kingdom.

- **173.** "Voting Deadline" means 4:00 p.m. (Eastern time) on January ___, 2016, which is the deadline for submitting Ballots to accept or reject this Plan in accordance with Bankruptcy Code § 1126.
- **174.** "Warrant Agreements" means the form of warrant agreements, substantially similar in form as Exhibit H attached hereto, which form may not be altered, amended or modified absent consent of Heatherden in its sole discretion.
- 175. "WGA" means the Writers Guild of America West, Inc., for itself and on behalf of its affiliate Writers Guild of America East, Inc. and both on behalf of the Producer-Writers Guild of America Pension and Health Plans.
- 176. "W&R Agreement" means that certain Waiver and Release dated May 30, 2012, between Kavanaugh, certain Manchester Parties, Relativity Holdings LLC, Relativity Media, LLC, and Colbeck Capital Management, LLC.

B. Rules of Interpretation and Computation of Time

1. Rules of Interpretation

For purposes of this Plan, unless otherwise provided herein: (a) whenever it is appropriate from the context, each term, whether stated in the singular or the plural, includes both the singular and the plural; (b) unless otherwise provided in this Plan, any reference in this Plan to a contract, instrument, release or other agreement or document being in a particular form or on particular terms and conditions means that such document shall be substantially in such form or substantially on such terms and conditions; (c) any reference in this Plan to an existing document or Exhibit Filed or to be Filed means such document or Exhibit, as it may have been or may be amended, modified or supplemented pursuant to this Plan, Confirmation Order or otherwise; (d) any reference to an Entity as a Holder of a Claim or Interest includes that Entity's successors, assigns and affiliates; (e) all references in this Plan to Sections, Articles and Exhibits are references to Sections, Articles and Exhibits of or to this Plan; (f) the words "herein," "hereunder" and "hereto" refer to this Plan in its entirety rather than to a particular portion of this Plan; (g) captions and headings to Articles and Sections are inserted for convenience of reference only and are not intended to be a part of or to affect the interpretation of this Plan; (h) subject to the provisions of any contract, articles or certificates of formation, operating agreement, bylaws, codes of regulation, similar constituent documents, instrument, release or other agreement or document entered into or delivered in connection with this Plan, the rights and obligations arising under this Plan shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, federal law, including the Bankruptcy Code and the Bankruptcy Rules; and (i) the rules of construction set forth in Bankruptcy Code § 102 shall apply to the extent not inconsistent with any other provision of this Section I.B.1.

2. Computation of Time

In computing any period of time prescribed or allowed by this Plan, the provisions of Bankruptcy Rule 9006(a) shall apply.

3. Reference to Monetary Figures

All references in this Plan to monetary figures refer to the lawful currency of the United States of America, unless otherwise expressly provided.

II. CLASSIFICATION AND TREATMENT OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS

All Claims and Interests, except Administrative Claims and Priority Tax Claims, are placed in the Classes set forth below. In accordance with Bankruptcy Code § 1123(a)(1), Administrative Claims and Priority Tax Claims, as described in Section II.A, are not classified herein. A Claim or Interest is classified in a particular Class only to the extent that the Claim or Interest qualifies within the description of that Class and is classified in other Classes to the extent that any remainder of the Claim or Interest qualifies within the description of such other Classes.

A. Treatment of Unclassified Claims

1. Administrative Claims

a. Administrative Claims in General

Except as specified in this Section II.A. 1 and subject to the bar date provisions herein, unless otherwise agreed by the Holder of an Administrative Claim and the applicable Reorganized Debtor, or unless an order of the Bankruptcy Court provides otherwise, each Holder of an Allowed Administrative Claim (other than a Professional's Fee Claim and a Plan Co-Proponent Fee/Expense Claim) shall receive, in full satisfaction of its Administrative Claim, Cash equal to the Allowed amount of such Administrative Claim on either (i) the latest to occur of (A) the Effective Date (or as soon thereafter as practicable), (B) the date such Claim becomes an Allowed Administrative Claim, and (C) such other date as may be agreed upon by the Reorganized Debtors and the Holder of such Claim or (ii) on such other date as the Bankruptcy Court may order. For the avoidance of doubt, the Manchester DIP Claims are Allowed Administrative Claims. With respect to the Heatherden Fee Claims, the Manchester Parties have agreed to accept the Fee Notes, as described in Section III.G.5.

b. Statutory Fees

All fees payable pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1930 after the Effective Date shall be paid by the applicable Reorganized Debtor in accordance therewith until the earlier of the conversion or dismissal of the applicable Chapter 11 Case under Bankruptcy Code § 1112 or the closing of the applicable Chapter 11 Case pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 350(a).

c. Ordinary Course Postpetition Administrative Liabilities

Administrative Claims based on liabilities incurred by a Debtor in the ordinary course of its business, including Administrative Claims arising from or with respect to the sale of goods or provision of services on or after the Petition Date, Administrative Claims of governmental units for Taxes (including Tax audit Claims related to Tax years or portions thereof ending after the Petition Date), Administrative Claims arising under Executory Contracts

and Unexpired Leases, Administrative Claims of the Cortland Lenders and Cortland arising under the TLA/TLB Facility, and Administrative Claims in connection with Union Entity collective bargaining agreements, shall be paid by the applicable Reorganized Debtor without further action by the Holders of such Administrative Claims or further approval by the Bankruptcy Court (i) pursuant to the terms and conditions of the particular transaction giving rise to those Administrative Claims and (ii) in the case of Administrative Claims arising from Union Entity collective bargaining agreements, in accordance with the Guild Payroll Protocols, and, in the case of the Administrative Claims of the Cortland Lenders and Cortland, in accordance with the terms of the Final DIP Order at Dkt. No. 931. Holders of the foregoing Claims shall not be required to File or serve any request for payment of such Administrative Claims.

d. **Professional Compensation**

(1) Final Fee Applications

Professionals or other Entities asserting a Fee Claim for services rendered before the Effective Date must File and serve on the Reorganized Debtors and such other Entities who are designated by the Bankruptcy Rules, the Fee Order, the Confirmation Order or other order of the Bankruptcy Court an application for final allowance of such Fee Claim no later than sixty (60) days after the Effective Date; *provided*, *however*, that any party who may receive compensation or reimbursement of expenses pursuant to the Ordinary Course Professionals Order may continue to receive such compensation and reimbursement of expenses for services rendered before the Effective Date pursuant to the Ordinary Course Professionals Order without further Bankruptcy Court review or approval (except as provided in the Ordinary Course Professionals Order). To the extent necessary, the Confirmation Order shall amend and supersede any previously entered order of the Bankruptcy Court regarding the payment of Fee Claims.

(2) Professional Fee Segregated Account

In accordance with Section II.A.1.d(3) hereof, on the Effective Date, the Debtors shall establish and fund the Professional Fee Segregated Account with Cash equal to the aggregate Professional Fee Reserve Amount for all Professionals. The Professional Fee Segregated Account shall be maintained in trust for the Professionals. Such funds shall not be considered property of the Debtors' Estates. The amount of Fee Claims owing to the Professionals shall be paid in Cash to such Professionals from funds held in the Professional Fee Segregated Account when such Claims are Allowed by a Final Order. When all Allowed Professional Compensation Claims are paid in full in Cash, amounts remaining in the Professional Fee Segregated Account, if any, shall revert to the Reorganized Debtors.

(3) Professional Fee Reserve Amount

To receive payment for unbilled fees and expenses incurred through the Effective Date, the Professionals may estimate their Fee Claims prior to and as of the Effective Date and may deliver such estimate to the Debtors and counsel to the Creditors' Committee no later than five (5) days prior to the anticipated Effective Date; <u>provided</u>, that such estimate shall not be considered an admission with respect to the fees and expenses of such Professional. If a

Professional does not provide an estimate, the Debtors may estimate the unbilled fees and expenses of such Professional. The total amount so estimated as of the Effective Date shall comprise the Professional Fee Reserve Amount.

e. Plan Co-Proponent Fee/Expense Claims

The Reorganized Debtor shall reimburse the Plan Co-Proponent Fee/Expense Claims incurred in connection with the Chapter 11 Cases.

f. Post-Effective Date Professionals' Fees and Expenses

Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Plan, on and after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors shall, in the ordinary course of business and without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court, pay in Cash the reasonable and documented fees and expenses of the Professionals or other fees and expenses incurred by the Reorganized Debtors on or after the Effective Date, in each case, related to implementation and consummation of this Plan. Upon the Effective Date, any requirement that Professionals comply with Bankruptcy Code §§ 327 - 331 and 1103 or any order of the Bankruptcy Court entered before the Effective Date governing the retention of, or compensation for services rendered by, Professionals after the Effective Date shall terminate, and the Reorganized Debtors may employ or pay any Professional in the ordinary course of business without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

g. Bar Dates for Administrative Claims

Except as otherwise provided herein, requests for payment of Administrative Claims (other than Fee Claims, and Administrative Claims based on Liabilities incurred by a Debtor in the ordinary course of its business as described in Section II.A. 1.c) must be Filed and served on the Reorganized Debtors pursuant to the procedures specified in the Confirmation Order and the notice of entry of the Confirmation Order no later than the Administrative Claims Bar Date. Holders of Administrative Claims that are required to, but do not, File and serve a request for payment of such Administrative Claims by such date shall be forever barred, estopped and enjoined from asserting such Administrative Claims against the Debtors or their property and such Administrative Claims shall be deemed discharged as of the Effective Date. Objections to such requests, if any, must be Filed and served on the Reorganized Debtors and the requesting party no later than the Administrative Claims Objection Deadline.

2. Payment of Priority Tax Claims

Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1129(a)(9)(C), and unless otherwise agreed by the Holder of a Priority Tax Claim and the Debtors, each Holder of an Allowed Priority Tax Claim shall receive at the option of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, in full satisfaction of its Allowed Priority Tax Claim, on account of and in full and complete settlement, release and discharge of such Claim, (i) Cash in an amount equal to the amount of such Allowed Priority Tax Claim payable on the Effective Date (or as reasonably practicable thereafter) or (ii) Cash in the aggregate amount of such Allowed Priority Tax Claim payable in annual equal installments commencing on the later of: (a) the Effective Date (or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter) and (b) the date such Priority Tax Claim becomes an Allowed Priority Tax

Claim (or as soon as practicable thereafter); and, in each case, ending no later than five (5) years from the Petition Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Claim on account of any penalty arising with respect to or in connection with an Allowed Priority Tax Claim that does not compensate the Holder for actual pecuniary loss will be treated as a Subordinated Claim, and the Holder may not assess or attempt to collect such penalty from the Reorganized Debtors or their respective property.

B. Classification of Claims and Interests

1. General

Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code §§ 1122 and 1123, Claims and Interests are classified for voting and distribution pursuant to this Plan, as set forth herein. A Claim or Interest shall be deemed classified in a particular Class only to the extent that the Claim or Interest qualifies within the description of that Class and shall be deemed classified in a different Class to the extent that any remainder of such Claim or Interest qualifies within the description of such other Class. Holders of Allowed Claims may assert such Claims against each Debtor obligated with respect to such Claim, and such Claims shall be entitled to share in the recovery provided for the applicable Class of Claims against each obligated Debtor based upon the full Allowed amount of the Claim. Notwithstanding the foregoing, and except as otherwise specifically provided for herein, the Confirmation Order or other order of the Bankruptcy Court, or required by applicable bankruptcy law, in no event shall the aggregate value of all property received or retained under this Plan on account of an Allowed Claim exceed 100% of the underlying Allowed Claim.

Bankruptcy Code § 1129(a)(10) shall be satisfied for the purposes of Confirmation by acceptance of this Plan by an Impaired Class of Claims; *provided*, *however*, that in the event no Holder of a Claim with respect to a specific Class for a particular Debtor timely submits a Ballot in compliance with the Disclosure Statement Order and/or Solicitation Order indicating acceptance or rejection of this Plan, such Class will be deemed to have accepted this Plan. The Plan Proponents may seek Confirmation of this Plan pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1129(b) with respect to any rejecting Class of Claims or Interests.

For administrative convenience, this Plan assigns a number to each of the Debtors and a letter to each of the Classes of Claims against or Interests in the Debtors. For consistency, designated Classes of Claims or Interests are assigned the same letter across each of the Debtors. The numbers assigned to each Debtor are:

Debtor #	Debtor Name
1.	21 & Over Productions, LLC
2.	3 Days to Kill Productions, LLC
3.	A Perfect Getaway P.R., LLC
4.	A Perfect Getaway, LLC
5.	Armored Car Productions, LLC
6.	Best of Me Productions, LLC
7.	Black Or White Films, LLC
8.	Blackbird Productions, LLC

Debtor #	Debtor Name		
9.	Brant Point Productions, LLC		
10.	Brick Mansions Acquisitions, LLC		
11.	Brilliant Films, LLC		
12.	Brothers Productions, LLC		
13.			
14.	Brothers Servicing, LLC		
15.	Catfish Productions, LLC		
16.	Cine Productions, LLC CinePost, LLC		
17.	Cisco Beach Media, LLC		
18.	Cliff Road Media, LLC		
19.	Den of Thieves Films, LLC		
20.	Don Jon Acquisitions, LLC		
21.	DR Productions, LLC		
22.	Einstein Rentals, LLC		
23.	English Breakfast Media, LLC		
24.	Furnace Films, LLC		
25.	Gotti Acquisitions, LLC		
26.	Great Point Productions, LLC		
27.	Guido Contini Films, LLC		
28.	Hooper Farm Music, LLC		
29.	Hooper Farm Publishing, LLC		
30.	Hummock Pond Properties, LLC		
31.	Hunter Killer La Productions, LLC		
32.	Hunter Killer Productions, LLC		
33.	In The Hat Productions, LLC		
34.	J&J Project, LLC		
35.	JGAG Acquisitions, LLC		
36.	Left Behind Acquisitions, LLC		
37.	Long Pond Media, LLC		
38.	Madaket Publishing, LLC		
39.	Madaket Road Music, LLC		
40.	Madvine RM, LLC		
41.	Malavita Productions, LLC		
42.	MB Productions, LLC		
43.	Merchant of Shanghai Productions, LLC		
44.	Miacomet Media LLC		
45.	Miracle Shot Productions, LLC		
46.	Most Wonderful Time Productions, LLC		
47.	Movie Productions, LLC		
48.	One Life Acquisitions, LLC		
49.	Orange Street Media, LLC		
50.	Out Of This World Productions, LLC		
51.	Paranoia Acquisitions, LLC		
52.	Phantom Acquisitions, LLC		

Debtor #	Debtor Name		
53.	Pocomo Productions, LLC		
54.	Relative Motion Music, LLC		
55.	Relative Velocity Music, LLC		
56.	Relativity Development, LLC		
57.	Relativity Development, LLC Relativity Fashion, LLC		
58.			
59.	Relativity Film Finance II, LLC		
60.	Relativity Film Finance III, LLC Relativity Film Finance, LLC		
61.	Relativity Film Finance, LLC Relativity Films, LLC		
62.	Relativity Films, LLC Relativity Foreign, LLC		
63.	Relativity Holdings LLC		
64.	Relativity India Holdings, LLC		
65.	Relativity Jackson, LLC		
66.	Relativity Media LLC		
67.	Relativity Media Distribution, LLC		
68.	Relativity Media Films, LLC		
69.	Relativity Music Group, LLC		
70.	Relativity Music Gloup, EEC Relativity Production LLC		
71.	Relativity REAL, LLC		
72.	Relativity Review Relativity Rogue, LLC		
73.	Relativity Rogue, ELC Relativity Senator, LLC		
74.	Relativity Sky Land Asia Holdings, LLC		
75.	Relativity TV, LLC		
76.	Reveler Productions, LLC		
77.	RML Acquisitions I, LLC		
78.	RML Acquisitions II, LLC		
79.	RML Acquisitions III, LLC		
80.	RML Acquisitions IV, LLC		
81.	RML Acquisitions IX, LLC		
82.	RML Acquisitions V, LLC		
83.	RML Acquisitions VI, LLC		
84.	RML Acquisitions VII, LLC		
85.	RML Acquisitions VIII, LLC		
86.	RML Acquisitions X, LLC		
87.	RML Acquisitions XI, LLC		
88.	RML Acquisitions XII, LLC		
89.	RML Acquisitions XIII, LLC		
90.	RML Acquisitions XIV, LLC		
91.	RML Acquisitions XV, LLC		
92.	RML Bronze Films, LLC		
93.	RML Damascus Films, LLC		
94.	RML Desert Films, LLC		
95.	RML Distribution Domestic, LLC		
96.	RML Distribution International, LLC		
70.	1 Mil Distribution international, EDC		

Dalatan #	Daleton Nome		
Debtor #	Debtor Name		
97.	RML Documentaries, LLC		
98.	RML DR Films, LLC		
99.	RML Echo Films, LLC		
100.	RML Escobar Films LLC		
101.	RML Film Development, LLC		
102.	RML Films PR, LLC		
103.	RML Hector Films, LLC		
104.	RML Hillsong Films, LLC		
105.	RML IFWT Films, LLC		
106.	RML International Assets, LLC		
107.	RML Jackson, LLC		
108.	RML Kidnap Films, LLC		
109.	RML Lazarus Films, LLC		
110.	RML Nina Films, LLC		
111.	RML November Films, LLC		
112.	RML Oculus Films, LLC		
113.	RML Our Father Films, LLC		
114.	RML Romeo and Juliet Films, LLC		
115.	RML Scripture Films, LLC		
116.	RML Solace Films, LLC		
117.	RML Somnia Films, LLC		
118.	RML Timeless Productions, LLC		
119.	RML Turkeys Films, LLC		
120.	RML Very Good Girls Films, LLC		
121.	RML WIB Films, LLC		
122.	RMLDD Financing, LLC		
123.	Rogue Digital, LLC		
124.	Rogue Games, LLC		
125.	Roguelife LLC		
126.	Safe Haven Productions, LLC		
127.	Sanctum Films, LLC		
128.	Santa Claus Productions, LLC		
129.	Smith Point Productions, LLC		
130.	Snow White Productions, LLC		
131.	Spy Next Door, LLC		
132.	Story Development, LLC		
133.	Straight Wharf Productions, LLC		
134.	Strangers II, LLC		
135.	Stretch Armstrong Productions, LLC		
136.	Studio Merchandise, LLC		
137.	Summer Forever Productions, LLC		
138.	The Crow Productions, LLC		
139.	Totally Interns, LLC		
140.	Tribes of Palos Verdes Production, LLC		
140.	THUCS OF FAIOS VCIUCS FROUNCHOII, LLC		

Debtor #	Debtor Name
141.	Tuckernuck Music, LLC
142.	Tuckernuck Publishing, LLC
143.	Wright Girls Films, LLC
144.	Yuma, Inc.
145.	Zero Point Enterprises, LLC

2. Identification of Classes of Claims Against and Interests in the

Debtors

The following table designates the Classes of Claims against and Interests in the Debtors and specifies which Classes are (a) Impaired or Unimpaired by this Plan, (b) entitled to vote to accept or reject this Plan in accordance with Bankruptcy Code § 1126 or (c) deemed to accept or reject this Plan.

Class	Designation	Impairment	Entitled to Vote
A.	Priority Non-Tax Claims	Unimpaired	Deemed to Accept
B.	TLA/TLB Secured Claims	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
C.	Pre-Release P&A Secured	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
	Claims		
D.	Post-Release P&A Secured	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
	Claims		
E.	Production Loan Secured	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
	Claims		
F.	Ultimates Secured Claims	Unimpaired	Deemed to Accept
G.	Secured Guilds Claims	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
H.	Vine/Verite Secured Claims	Unimpaired	Deemed to Accept
I.	Other Secured Claims	Unimpaired	Deemed to Accept
J.	General Unsecured Claim	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
K.	Subordinated Claims	Impaired	Deemed to Reject
L.	Interests	Impaired	Deemed to Reject

C. Treatment of Classified Claims

1. Priority Non-Tax Claims (Class A)

- a. *Classification*: Classes A1 A145 consist of all Priority Non-Tax Claims against the respective Debtors.
- b. *Treatment*: On the later of (a) the Effective Date and (b) the date on which such Priority Non-Tax Claim becomes an Allowed Priority Non-Tax Claim, except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Priority Non-Tax Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, each Holder of an Allowed Priority Non-Tax Claim against a Debtor shall receive on account and in full and complete settlement, release and discharge of such Claim, at the Debtors' election, (i) Cash in the amount of such Allowed Priority Non-Tax Claim in accordance with Bankruptcy Code § 1129(a)(9) and/or (ii) such other treatment required to render such Claim unimpaired pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1124. All Allowed Priority Non-Tax Claims against

the Debtors that are not due and payable on or before the Effective Date shall be paid by the Reorganized Debtors when such Claims become due and payable in the ordinary course of business in accordance with the terms thereof. All Priority Non-Tax Claims payable to the Guilds, if any, will be paid in accordance with the Guild Payroll Protocols.

c. *Voting*: Claims in Classes A1 - A145 are Unimpaired. Each Holder of an Allowed Claim in Classes A1 - A145 shall be deemed to have accepted this Plan and is, therefore, not entitled to vote.

2. TLA/TLB Secured Claims (Class B)

- a. *Classification*: Classes B1 B33, B35 B56, B58 B143, and B145 consist of all TLA/TLB Secured Claims against the respective Debtors.
- b. *Treatment*: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed TLA/TLB Secured Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, on the Effective Date, the Holders of Allowed TLA/TLB Secured Claims are entitled to receive 100% of the equity value of the Debtors. Holders of that portion of the Allowed TLA/TLB Secured Claims comprising the Retained TLA/TLB Secured Claim have agreed to less favorable treatment, and shall receive the BidCo Note in full and final satisfaction, release, and discharge of, and in exchange for, such Retained TLA/TLB Secured Claim. For the avoidance of doubt, the BidCo Note will be subordinated to the New P&A/Ultimates Facility, but subject to potential payments to the Buyer out of the proceeds of debt and equity capital raises, as set forth in the BidCo Note, Kavanaugh and Nicholas have agreed to receive Reorganized Relativity Holdings Preferred Units and such other treatment on account of approximately \$165.0 million of their TLA/TLB Secured Claims, which treatment is included in the Revised Relativity Holdings Operating Agreement as set forth in Section III.B below.
- c. *Voting*: Claims in Classes B1 B33, B35 B56, B58 B143, and B145 are Impaired. Each Holder of an Allowed Claim in Classes B1 B33, B35 B56, B58 B143, and B145 is entitled to vote.

3. Pre-Release P&A Secured Claims (Class C)

- a. *Classification*: Classes C5, C21, C108, C109, and C117 consist of all Pre¬Release P&A Secured Claims against the Debtors.
- b. *Treatment*: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Pre-Release P&A Secured Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, on or as soon as practicable after the Effective Date, RKA, as the Holder of the Allowed Pre-Release P&A Secured Claims, shall receive the following treatment: (i) If RKA votes to accept this Plan, the treatment as provided for in Exhibit I or in Exhibit K; or (ii) if RKA votes to reject this Plan, the five (5) Replacement P&A Notes provided for in Exhibit K at an interest rate equal to the Treasury Bill Rate plus 3.0%, but without the benefit of cross-collateralization, with a present value equal to the respective Allowed Pre-Release P&A Secured Claims.

c. *Voting*: Claims in Classes C5, C21, C108, C109, and C117 are Impaired. Each Holder of an Allowed Claim in Classes C5, C21, C108, C109, and C117 is entitled to vote.

4. Post-Release P&A Claims Secured Claims (Class D)

- a. *Classification*: Classes D8, D95, D109, D121 and D122 consist of all Post-Release P&A Secured Claims against the Debtors.
- *Treatment*: On or as soon as practicable after the Effective Date, b. Reorganized Relativity Holdings shall Allow a claim in the approximately amount of \$26,818,821 (as of October 31, 2015 and as reduced in the ordinary course until the Effective Date, which amount includes postpetition interest through November 24, 2015), plus additional accrued interest after November 24, 2015, legal fees, costs, expenses and other outstanding obligations of Reorganized Relativity Holdings under the P&A Funding Agreement subject to documentation of a replacement credit agreement, which shall provide among other things for an extension of the maturity dates as compared to the pre-petition terms. Subject to and except for any applicable senior Guild lien, the obligation shall be secured by a first-priority security interest originally (i) cross-collateralized against Blackbird Productions, LLC and RML WIB Films, LLC and (ii) individually as against RML Lazarus Films, LLC; provided, however, that once amounts owing by RML Lazarus Films, LLC to RKA under the Pre-Release P&A Secured Claims are paid off in full, the obligation under this Class D shall be fully secured on a crosscollateralized basis against each of the three entities. Reorganized Relativity Holdings shall continue to distribute each Post-Release P&A Picture until the outstanding obligations are satisfied by payment in full in Cash in accordance with the terms of the replacement credit agreement which will make clear that the Classes D8, D109, and D121 lien shall apply only to the proceeds of the post-release films Woman in Black 2, Lazarus and Beyond the Lights, as applicable.
- c. *Voting*: Claims in Classes D8, D95, D109, D121 and D122 are Impaired. Each Holder of an Allowed Claim in Classes D8, D95, D109, D121 and D122 is entitled to vote.

5. Production Loan Secured Claims (Class E)

- a. *Classification*: Classes E5 and E21 consists of all Production Loan Secured Claims against the Debtors.
- b. *Treatment*: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Production Loan Secured Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, on or as soon as practicable after the Effective Date, each Holder of an Allowed Production Loan Secured Claim shall receive the following treatment: (i) If the Holders vote to accept this Plan, the Production Loan Settlement; or (ii) if the Holders vote to reject this Plan, the Replacement Production Loan Note with a present value equal to the respective Allowed Production Loan Secured Claim. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Plan is intended to affect or modify the Allowed Production Secured Claim Holder's rights under ^ H(vi)(D) (I) of Dkt. No. 931 in the Chapter 11 Cases.

c. *Voting*: Claims in Classes E5 and E21 are Impaired. Each Holder of an Allowed Claim in Classes E5 and E21 shall be entitled to vote.

6. Ultimates Secured Claims (Class F)

- a. *Classification*: Classes F1, F2, F6, F7, F8, F10, F20,F24, F41, F47, F51, F77 F83, F87, F95, F96, F99, F103, F109, F111, F112, F116, F119, F121 and F126 consists of all Ultimates Secured Claims against the Debtors.
- b. *Treatment*: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Ultimates Secured Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, on or as soon as practicable after the Effective Date, each Holder of an Allowed Ultimates Secured Claim shall receive payment in full (in Cash) of any such Allowed Ultimates Secured Claim in full and final satisfaction of their claim upon which payment any liens securing such claim shall be immediately released.
- c. *Voting*: Claims in Classes F1, F2, F6, F7, F8, F10, F20, F24, F41, F47, F51, F77-F83, F87, F95, F96, F99, F103, F109, F111, F112, F116, F119, F121 and F126 are Unimpaired. Each Holder of an Allowed Claim in Classes F1, F2, F6, F7, F8, F10, F20, F24, F41, F47, F51, F77 F83, F87, F95, F96, F99, F103, F109, F111, F112, F116, F119, F121 and F126 shall be deemed to have accepted this Plan and is, therefore, not entitled to vote.

7. Secured Guilds Claims (Class G)

- a. *Classification*: Classes G1, G2, G6, G7, G8, G10, G20, G24, G41, G47, G51, G77, G78, G80, G103, G109, G111, G112, G119, G126 and G130 consist of all Secured Guilds Claims against the Debtors.
- b. Treatment: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Secured Guilds Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, each Holder of an Allowed Secured Guilds Claim shall receive (i) on the Effective Date or as soon thereafter as practicable, its pro rata share of \$6.65 million less what is received with respect to the Secured Guilds Claims prior to the Effective Date, and (ii) one (1) year after the Effective Date or as soon as practicable thereafter, payment in full (including applicable interest and collection costs, including but not limited to attorneys fees, as specified in each applicable security agreement) on account of the remaining balance of such Allowed Secured Guilds Claim; provided, however, that if the Guilds and the Reorganized Debtor have not agreed to the amount of remaining Allowed Guild Secured Claims within 180 days after the Effective Date, the parties will refer this issue to arbitration pursuant to the Guild collective bargaining agreements; provided, further however, that the Guilds shall retain any pre-petition liens, but which will continue to secure post-confirmation performance under the CBA Assumption Agreements and the Allowed Secured Guilds Claims. All payments to the Guilds in connection with the Allowed Secured Guilds Claims shall be payable in accordance with the Guild Payroll Protocols.
- c. *Voting:* Claims in Classes G1, G2, G6, G7, G8, G10, G20, G24, G41, G47, G51, G77, G78, G80, G103, G109, G111, G112, G119, G126 and G130 are Impaired. Each Holder of an Allowed Claim in Classes G1, G2, G6, G7, G8, G10, G20, G24, G41, G47, G51, G77, G78, G80, G103, G109, G111, G112, G119, G126 and G130 is entitled to vote.

8. Vine/Verite Secured Claims (Class H)

- a. *Classification*: Classes H34 and H144 and consists of all Vine/Verite Secured Claims against the Debtors.
- b. *Treatment*: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Vine/Verite Secured Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, on or as soon as practicable after the Effective Date, each Holder of an Allowed Vine/Verite Secured Claim shall receive the following treatment at the option of the Plan Proponents: (i) such Allowed Secured Claim shall be Reinstated; or (ii) satisfaction of any such Allowed Secured Claim by delivering the collateral securing any such Allowed Secured Claim.
- c. *Voting*: Claims in Classes H34 and H144 are Unimpaired. Each Holder of an Allowed Claim in Classes H34 and H144 shall be deemed to have accepted this Plan and is, therefore, not entitled to vote.

9. Other Secured Claims (Class I)

- a. *Classification*: Classes I1 I145 consists of all Other Secured Claims against the Debtors.
- b. *Treatment*: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Other Secured Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, on or as soon as practicable after the Effective Date, each Holder of an Allowed Other Secured Claim shall receive the following treatment at the option of the Plan Proponents: (i) such Allowed Secured Claim shall be Reinstated; (ii) payment in full (in Cash) of any such Allowed Secured Claim; or (iii) satisfaction of any such Allowed Secured Claim by delivering the collateral securing any such Allowed Secured Claim.
- c. *Voting*: Claims in Classes I1 I145 are Unimpaired. Each Holder of an Allowed Claim in Classes I1 I145 shall be deemed to have accepted this Plan and is, therefore, not entitled to vote.

10. General Unsecured Claims (Class J)

- a. *Classification*: Classes J1 J145 consist of all General Unsecured Claims against the Debtors.
- b. *Treatment*: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, on the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors shall be deemed substantively consolidated for plan purposes only, and each Holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim in Classes J1 J145 shall receive, subject to the terms of this Plan, in full satisfaction, settlement, release and discharge of, and in exchange for, such Claim, interests representing its Pro Rata share of (i) the Guaranteed GUC Payment and (ii) the GUC Interest; *provided*, *however*, that the sum of the Guaranteed GUC Payment and the GUC Interest shall not exceed par. For the avoidance of doubt, all intercompany claims of the Debtors shall be deemed disallowed as part of the deemed substantive consolidation of the Debtors. In accordance with the 9019 Settlement Order, the Manchester Claims are Allowed in

the amount of \$137,000,000 and are General Unsecured Claims. As part of the 9019 Settlement Order, Manchester Securities has agreed to accept less favorable treatment for the Manchester Claims as provided therein, which less favorable treatment shall consist of Manchester Securities receiving Warrants as set forth in Section III.C. and the waivers of distributions by Manchester Securities set forth in the Settlement Agreement (as defined in the 9019 Settlement Order). The Reorganized Debtors and the Litigation Trust will meet and confer in order to coordinate GUC Distributable Value and Litigation Trust Interests with the Guild Payroll Protocols. In addition, the Guilds agree that notwithstanding the CBA Assumption Agreements and Bankruptcy Code § 1113 and any other applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, any unsecured pre-petition residuals owed by any of the Debtors will be treated as General Unsecured Claims except to the extent, if any, they may constitute Allowed Priority Non-Tax Claims.

c. *Voting*: Claims in Classes J1 - J145 are Impaired. Each Holder of an Allowed Claim in Classes J1 - J145 is entitled to vote.

11. Subordinated Claims (Class K)

- a. *Classification*: Classes K1 K145 consist of all Subordinated Claims.
- b. *Treatment*: No property shall be distributed to or retained by the Holders of Subordinated Claims, and such Claims shall be extinguished on the Effective Date. Holders of Subordinated Claims shall not receive any distribution pursuant to this Plan.
- c. *Voting*: Claims in Classes K1 K145 are Impaired. Each Holder of an Allowed Claim in Classes K1 K145 shall be deemed to have rejected this Plan and, therefore, is not entitled to vote.

12. Treatment of Interests in all Debtors (Class L)

- a. *Classification*: Classes L1 L145 consists of all Interests in the Debtors.
- b. *Treatment*: Holders of Interests in the Debtors shall retain no property under this Plan.
- c. *Voting*: Interests in Classes L1 L145 are Impaired. Each Holder of an Allowed Interest in Relativity Holdings in Classes L1 L145 shall be deemed to have rejected this Plan and, therefore, is not entitled to vote.

D. Special Provision Regarding Prepetition Intercompany Claims

For purposes of distributions under this Plan, Prepetition Intercompany Claims shall be deemed disallowed as part of the deemed substantive consolidation of the Debtors.

E. Special Provision Governing Unimpaired Claims

Except as otherwise provided in this Plan, nothing under this Plan will affect the Debtors' or the Reorganized Debtors' rights regarding any Unimpaired Claim, including all rights regarding legal and equitable defenses to or setoffs or recoupments against any such Unimpaired Claim.

F. Postpetition Interest on General Unsecured Claims

Except as required by applicable bankruptcy law, postpetition interest will not accrue or be payable on account of any General Unsecured Claim.

G. Insurance

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, if any Allowed Claim is covered by an insurance policy, such Claim will first be paid from proceeds of such insurance policy, with the balance, if any, treated in accordance with the provisions of this Plan governing the Class applicable to such Claim.

III. MEANS OF IMPLEMENTATION

A. Issuance of Reorganized Relativity Holdings Preferred Units

On the Effective Date, Reorganized Relativity Holdings Preferred Units shall be authorized as set forth in the Operating Agreement. Reorganized Relativity Holdings shall issue, pursuant to the treatment provided for in this Plan, Reorganized Relativity Holdings Preferred Units to each of Nicholas and Kavanaugh. The rights of holders of Reorganized Relativity Holdings Preferred Units shall be set forth in the Revised Relativity Holdings Operating Agreement.

Each distribution and issuance of the Reorganized Relativity Holdings Preferred Units under this Plan shall be governed by the terms and conditions set forth in this Plan applicable to such distribution or issuance and by the terms and conditions of the instruments evidencing or relating to such distribution or issuance, which terms and conditions shall bind each Entity receiving such distribution or issuance.

On the Effective Date, Reorganized Holdings will be authorized to and shall issue or execute and deliver, as applicable, the Reorganized Relativity Holdings Preferred Units and the New Securities and Documents (including, without limitation, in connection with a new equity raise), in each case, without further notice to or order of the Bankruptcy Court, act or action under applicable law, regulation, order, or rule or the vote, consent, authorization or approval of any Entity.

The issuance or execution and delivery of the New Securities and Documents, as applicable, and the distribution thereof under this Plan shall be exempt from registration under applicable securities laws pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1145(a) and/or any other applicable exemptions. Without limiting the effect of Bankruptcy Code § 1145, all documents, agreements, and instruments entered into and delivered on or as of the Effective Date contemplated by or in

furtherance of this Plan shall become and shall remain effective and binding in accordance with their respective terms and conditions upon the parties thereto, in each case, without further notice to or order of the Bankruptcy Court, act or action under applicable law, regulation, order, or rule or the vote, consent, authorization or approval of any Entity (other than as expressly required by such applicable agreement).

B. Issuance of Reorganized Relativity Holdings Common Units

On the Effective Date, Reorganized Relativity Holdings Common Units shall be authorized as set forth in the Operating Agreement. Reorganized Relativity Holdings shall issue, pursuant to the treatment provided for in this Plan, Reorganized Relativity Holdings Common Units to each of Nicholas and Kavanaugh. Any shares not necessary to satisfy obligations under this Plan shall have the status of authorized but not issued shares of Reorganized Relativity Holdings. The rights of holders of Reorganized Relativity Holdings Common Units shall be set forth in the Revised Relativity Holdings Operating Agreement.

Each distribution and issuance of the Reorganized Relativity Holdings Common Units under this Plan shall be governed by the terms and conditions set forth in this Plan applicable to such distribution or issuance and by the terms and conditions of the instruments evidencing or relating to such distribution or issuance, which terms and conditions shall bind each Entity receiving such distribution or issuance.

On the Effective Date, each of the applicable Reorganized Debtors will be authorized to and shall issue or execute and deliver, as applicable, the Reorganized Relativity Holdings Common Units and the New Securities and Documents (including, without limitation, in connection with a new equity raise), in each case, without further notice to or order of the Bankruptcy Court, act or action under applicable law, regulation, order, or rule or the vote, consent, authorization or approval of any Entity.

The issuance or execution and delivery of the New Securities and Documents, as applicable, and the distribution thereof under this Plan shall be exempt from registration under applicable securities laws pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1145(a) and/or any other applicable exemptions. Without limiting the effect of Bankruptcy Code § 1145, all documents, agreements, and instruments entered into and delivered on or as of the Effective Date contemplated by or in furtherance of this Plan shall become and shall remain effective and binding in accordance with their respective terms and conditions upon the parties thereto, in each case, without further notice to or order of the Bankruptcy Court, act or action under applicable law, regulation, order, or rule or the vote, consent, authorization or approval of any Entity (other than as expressly required by such applicable agreement).

C. Issuance of Reorganized Relativity Holdings Warrants

On the Effective Date, Reorganized Relativity Holdings shall issue Reorganized Relativity Holdings Warrants to each of Nicholas and Heatherden (or their respective Affiliates) with such terms and conditions set forth in their respective Warrant Agreements.

On the Effective Date, Reorganized Relativity Holdings will be authorized to and shall issue or execute and deliver, as applicable, the Reorganized Relativity Holdings Warrants

and the New Securities and Documents (including, without limitation, in connection with a new equity raise), in each case, without further notice to or order of the Bankruptcy Court, act or action under applicable law, regulation, order, or rule or the vote, consent, authorization or approval of any Entity.

The issuance or execution and delivery of the New Securities and Documents, as applicable, and the distribution thereof under this Plan shall be exempt from registration under applicable securities laws pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1145(a) and/or any other applicable exemptions. Without limiting the effect of Bankruptcy Code § 1145, all documents, agreements, and instruments entered into and delivered on or as of the Effective Date contemplated by or in furtherance of this Plan shall become and shall remain effective and binding in accordance with their respective terms and conditions upon the parties thereto, in each case, without further notice to or order of the Bankruptcy Court, act or action under applicable law, regulation, order, or rule or the vote, consent, authorization or approval of any Entity (other than as expressly required by such applicable agreement).

D. Continued Corporate Existence and Vesting of Assets in the Reorganized Debtors

Except as otherwise provided herein (including with respect to the Restructuring Transactions described in Section III.E.1: (1) as of the Effective Date, Reorganized Relativity Holdings shall exist as a separate legal entity, with all organizational powers in accordance with the laws of the state of Delaware and the certificates of formation and operating agreement, appended hereto as Exhibit B and Exhibit C, respectively; (2) subject to the Restructuring Transactions, each of the Debtors shall, as a Reorganized Debtor, continue to exist after the Effective Date as a separate legal entity, with all of the powers of such a legal entity under applicable law and without prejudice to any right to alter or terminate such existence (whether by merger, conversion, dissolution or otherwise) under applicable law; and (3) on the Effective Date, all property of the Estate of a Debtor, the Causes of Action, and any property acquired by a Debtor or Reorganized Debtor under this Plan, shall vest, subject to the Restructuring Transactions, in the applicable Reorganized Debtors, free and clear of all Claims, liens, charges, other encumbrances, Interests and other interests. On and after the Effective Date, each Reorganized Debtor may operate its business and may use, acquire and dispose of property and compromise or settle any Claims, Interests or the RKA Causes of Action without supervision or approval by the Bankruptcy Court and free of any restrictions of the Bankruptcy Code or Bankruptcy Rules, other than those restrictions expressly imposed by this Plan or the Confirmation Order. Without limiting the foregoing, each Reorganized Debtor may pay the charges that it incurs on or after the Effective Date for appropriate Professionals' fees, disbursements, expenses or related support services (including fees relating to the preparation of Professional fee applications) without application to, or the approval of, the Bankruptcy Court.

E. Restructuring Transactions

1. Restructuring Transactions Generally

On or after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors shall undertake such Restructuring Transactions as may be necessary or appropriate to effect, in accordance with applicable non-bankruptcy law, a restructuring of the Debtors' or Reorganized Debtors' respective business or simplify the overall organizational structure of the Reorganized Debtors, including but not limited to resolving intercompany claims, all to the extent not inconsistent with any other terms of this Plan, including any such Restructuring Transactions described in any Restructuring Transactions documents, including the Restructuring Transactions Exhibit, if any, to be filed with this Plan Supplement within the Debtors' discretion.

Without limiting the foregoing, unless otherwise provided by the terms of a Restructuring Transaction, all such Restructuring Transactions will be deemed to occur on the Effective Date and may include one or more mergers, conversions, or consolidations, restructurings, dispositions, liquidations or dissolutions, as may be determined by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors to be necessary or appropriate.

The actions taken by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, to effect the Restructuring Transactions may include: (i) the execution, delivery, adoption, and/or amendment of appropriate agreements or other documents of merger, conversion, consolidation, restructuring, disposition, liquidation or dissolution containing terms that are consistent with the terms of this Plan, the Restructuring Transactions documents, and any ancillary documents and that satisfy the applicable requirements of applicable state law and any other terms to which the applicable Entities may agree; (ii) the execution, delivery, adoption, and/or amendment of appropriate instruments of transfer, assignment, assumption or delegation of any asset, property, right, liability, debt, or obligation on terms consistent with the terms of this Plan, the Disclosure Statement, the Restructuring Transactions documents, and any ancillary documents and having other terms for which the applicable Entities may agree; (iii) the filing of appropriate certificates or articles of incorporation, reincorporation, formation, conversion, merger, consolidation, dissolution or change in corporate form pursuant to applicable state law; (iv) the cancellation of shares, membership interests and warrants; and (v) all other actions that the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, determine to be necessary, desirable, or appropriate to implement, effectuate, and consummate this Plan or the Restructuring Transactions contemplated hereby, including making filings or recordings that may be required by applicable state law in connection with the Restructuring Transactions. Any such transactions may be effected on or subsequent to the Effective Date without any further action by the equityholders or directors of any of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors.

2. Obligations of Any Successor Entity in a Restructuring Transaction

The Restructuring Transactions may result in substantially all of the respective assets, properties, rights, liabilities, duties, and obligations of certain of the Reorganized Debtors vesting in one or more surviving, resulting, or acquiring entities. In any case in which the surviving, resulting, or acquiring entity in any such transaction is a successor to a Reorganized Debtor, such surviving, resulting, or acquiring entity will perform the obligations of the applicable Reorganized Debtor pursuant to this Plan to pay or otherwise satisfy the Allowed Claims against such Reorganized Debtor, except as provided in this Plan or in any contract, instrument or other agreement or document effecting a disposition to such surviving, resulting or acquiring corporation, which may provide that another Reorganized Debtor will perform such obligations. For the avoidance of doubt, no Restructuring Transaction shall have the effect of substantively consolidating the assets and liabilities of any Debtor or Reorganized Debtor that is

party to a Production Loan Agreement (or related agreements) on the one hand with the assets and liabilities of any other Person or Entity on the other hand.

F. Sources of Cash for Plan Distributions

The Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, are authorized to execute and deliver any documents necessary or appropriate to obtain Cash for funding this Plan. All consideration necessary for the Reorganized Debtors to make payments or distributions pursuant hereto shall be obtained through a combination of one or more of the following: (a) Cash on hand of the Debtors, including Cash from business operations, or distributions from Non-Debtor Affiliates; (b) proceeds of the sale of assets; (c) the New P&A/Ultimates Facility; (d) the proceeds of any tax refunds and the RKA Causes of Action; (e) the proceeds of any equity raise; and (f) any other means of financing or funding that the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors determine is necessary or appropriate. Further, the Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors shall be entitled to transfer funds between and among themselves as they determine to be necessary or appropriate to enable the Reorganized Debtors to satisfy their obligations under this Plan. Except as set forth herein, any changes in intercompany account balances resulting from such transfers shall be accounted for and settled in accordance with the Debtors' historical intercompany account settlement practices and shall not violate the terms of this Plan or any orders entered by the Bankruptcy Court with respect to the Debtors' cash management system.

G. Corporate Governance, Managers and Officers, Employment-Related Agreements and Compensation Programs; Other Agreements

1. Certificates of Formation and Operating Agreement

As of the Effective Date, the certificate of formation and the operating agreement (or comparable constituent documents) of Reorganized Relativity Holdings shall be substantially in the forms appended hereto as Exhibit B and Exhibit C, respectively. The certificate of formation and operating agreement (or comparable constituent documents) of each Reorganized Debtor, among other things, shall prohibit the issuance of nonvoting equity securities to the extent required by Bankruptcy Code § 1123(a)(6). After the Effective Date, each Reorganized Debtor may amend and restate its certificate of formation or operating agreement (or comparable constituent documents) as permitted by applicable non-bankruptcy law, subject to the terms and conditions of such constituent documents. On the Effective Date, or as soon thereafter as is practicable, each Reorganized Debtor shall file such certificate of formation (or comparable constituent documents) with the secretary of state or jurisdiction or similar office of the state or jurisdiction in which such Reorganized Debtor is incorporated or organized, to the extent required by and in accordance with the applicable corporate law of such state.

2. Managers and Officers of the Reorganized Debtors

In accordance with Bankruptcy Code § 1129(a)(5), from and after the Effective Date, the initial officers and directors of Reorganized Relativity Holdings shall be comprised of the individuals identified in a disclosure to be Filed as part of the Plan Supplement. The directors for the boards of managers/directors of the direct and indirect subsidiaries of Reorganized Relativity Holdings shall be identified and selected by the New Board of Managers.

3. Employment-Related Agreements and Compensation Programs

Except as otherwise provided herein, as of the Effective Date, each of the Reorganized Debtors shall have authority to: (i) maintain, reinstate, amend or revise existing employment, retirement, welfare, incentive, severance, indemnification and other agreements with its active and retired directors, officers and employees, subject to the terms and conditions of any such agreement and applicable non-bankruptcy law; and (ii) enter into new employment, retirement, welfare, incentive, severance, indemnification and other agreements for active and retired employees.

On the Effective Date, Reorganized Relativity shall assume the existing employment plans and employment agreements, as the same may be modified, other than those identified on Exhibit E as designated for rejection.

On or after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors shall continue to administer and pay the Claims arising before the Petition Date under the Debtors' workers' compensation programs in accordance with their prepetition practices and procedures.

4. Other Matters

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Plan, no provision in any contract, agreement or other document with the Debtors that is rendered unenforceable against the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors pursuant to Bankruptcy Code §§ 541(c), 363(1) or 365(e)(1), or any analogous decisional law, shall be enforceable against the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors as a result of this Plan.

5. Payment of Heatherden Fee Claims

In accordance with the 9019 Settlement Order, the Debtors shall issue to Heatherden on the Effective Date two unsecured notes (each a "Fee Note" and collectively, the "Fee Notes") in the form attached as Exhibit P on account of the Heatherden Fee Claims. Each Fee Note shall be for a principal amount of \$2,875,000. One Fee Note shall have a maturity date of August 17, 2016, and the other Fee Note shall have a maturity date of February 17, 2017. For the avoidance of doubt, the Heatherden Fee Claims shall not be subject to the requirements of Sections II.A.1.d (Professional Compensation), II.A.1.f (Post-Effective Date Professionals' Fees and Expenses), or II.A.1.g (Bar Dates for Administrative Claims).

6. Transactions Effective as of the Effective Date

Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1142 and the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act and any comparable provisions of the business corporation or limited liability company law of any other state or jurisdiction the following shall occur and be effective as of the Effective Date, if no such other date is specified in such other documents, and shall be authorized and approved in all respects and for all purposes without any requirement of further action by the members or managers of the Debtors or any of the Reorganized Debtors: (a) the Restructuring Transactions; (b) the adoption of new or amended and restated certificates of formation and operating agreements (or comparable constituent documents) for each Reorganized Debtor; (c) the initial selection of managers and officers for each Reorganized Debtor; (d) the distribution of

Cash and other property pursuant to this Plan; (e) the authorization and issuance of Reorganized Relativity Holdings Common Units pursuant to this Plan; (f) the entry into and performance of the New Exit Financing Documents; (g) any amendments to any of the credit agreements; (h) the adoption, execution, delivery and implementation of all contracts, leases, instruments, releases and other agreements or documents related to any of the foregoing; (i) the adoption, execution and implementation of employment, retirement and indemnification agreements, incentive compensation programs, retirement income plans, welfare benefit plans and other employee plans and related agreements; and (j) any other matters provided for under this Plan involving the organizational structure of the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors or organizational action to be taken by or required of a Debtor or Reorganized Debtor.

H. New P&A/Ultimates Facility

On the Effective Date, one or more of the Reorganized Debtors shall be authorized to consummate the New P&A/Ultimates Facility and to execute, deliver and enter into the New Exit Financing Documents, and any related agreements or filings without the need for any further corporate or other organizational action and without further action by the Holders of Claims or Interests, and the New Exit Financing Documents and any related agreements or filings shall be executed and delivered and the applicable Reorganized Debtors shall enter into the New P&A/Ultimates Facility and be permitted to incur or issue the indebtedness available thereunder

Any final material terms of the New P&A/Ultimates Facility shall be included in the Plan Supplement.

I. Preservation of Causes of Action

Except as provided in this Plan or in any contract, instrument, release, or other agreement entered into, or delivered in connection with, or assumed by this Plan (including, for the avoidance of doubt, pursuant to Section X.E and X.F), in accordance with Bankruptcy Code § 1123(b) and to the fullest extent possible under applicable law, (i) the Reorganized Debtors will retain the Causes of Action and the RKA Causes of Action, (ii) only the Reorganized Debtors will have the right to enforce and prosecute the RKA Causes of Action, and (iii) the Reorganized Debtors shall grant to the Litigation Trust the sole right to enforce and prosecute the Causes of Action in the name of the Reorganized Debtor, whether such Causes of Action arose before or after the Petition Date, including any actions specifically enumerated in Exhibit J.

The Reorganized Debtors' and Litigation Trust's rights to commence, prosecute, or settle such RKA Causes of Action and Causes of Action, respectively, shall be preserved notwithstanding the occurrence of the Effective Date. The Reorganized Debtors or their successors, and/or the Litigation Trust, may pursue, or not pursue, such RKA Causes of Action and Causes of Action, as applicable, as they deem appropriate in their discretion.

No Person or Entity may rely on the absence of a specific reference in this Plan, the Plan Supplement, or the Disclosure Statement to any Causes of Action against them as any indication that the Litigation Trust will not pursue any and all available Causes of Action against them. Except with respect to Causes of Action as to which the Debtors or the Reorganized

Debtors have released any Person or Entity on or prior to the Effective Date (pursuant to the Debtor Release or otherwise), the Reorganized Debtors and the Litigation Trust, as applicable, expressly reserve all rights to prosecute any and all Causes of Action against any Person or Entity, except as otherwise expressly provided in this Plan.

J. Reinstatement and Continuation of Insurance Policies

From and after the Effective Date, each of the Debtors' insurance policies in existence as of the Effective Date will be reinstated and continued in accordance with their terms and, to the extent applicable, will be deemed assumed by the applicable Reorganized Debtor pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 365 and Section IV.A of this Plan. Nothing in this Plan will affect, impair or prejudice the rights of the insurance carriers or the Reorganized Debtors under the insurance policies in any manner, and such insurance carriers and Reorganized Debtors will retain all rights and defenses under such insurance policies, and such insurance policies shall apply to, and be enforceable by and against, the Reorganized Debtors in the same manner and according to the same terms and practices applicable to the Debtors, as existed prior to the Effective Date.

K. Entry into CBA Assumption Agreements

On the Effective Date, the applicable Reorganized Debtors shall enter into the CB A Assumption Agreements.

L. Cancellation and Surrender of Instruments, Securities and Other Documentation

On the Effective Date and except as otherwise specifically provided for in this Plan, (i) the obligations of the Debtors under any other certificate, share, note, purchase right, or other instrument or document directly or indirectly evidencing or creating any indebtedness or obligation of, or ownership interest, equity, or profits interest in, the Debtors or any warrants, options, or other securities exercisable or exchangeable for, or convertible into, debt, equity, ownership, or profits interests in the Debtors giving rise to any Claim or Interest (except the Intercompany Interests), will be cancelled as to the Debtors, and the Reorganized Debtors will have no continuing obligations thereunder; (ii) the Manchester DIP Claim shall be paid in full in Cash (from sources other than the New P&A/Ultimates Facility) on the Effective Date; and (iii) the obligations of the Debtors pursuant, relating, or pertaining to any agreements, indentures, certificates of designation, bylaws, or certificate or articles of incorporation/formation or similar documents governing the shares, units, certificates, notes, purchase rights, options, warrants, or other instruments or documents evidencing or creating any indebtedness or obligation of the Debtors will be fully released, settled, and compromised except as expressly provided herein.

With respect to any agreement (including, without limitation, any applicable credit agreement) that governs the rights of the Holder of a Claim or Interest and will be cancelled hereunder, and notwithstanding the occurrence of the Effective Date, such agreement will continue in effect solely for purposes of allowing such Holders to receive distributions under this Plan as provided herein.

M. Release of Liens

Except as otherwise provided in this Plan or in any contract, instrument, release or other agreement or document entered into or delivered in connection with this Plan, on the Effective Date and consistent with the treatment provided for Claims and Interests in Section II, all mortgages, deeds of trust, liens or other security interests, including any liens granted as adequate protection against the property of any Estate, shall be fully released and discharged, and all of the right, title and interest of any Holder of such mortgages, deeds of trust, liens or other security interests, including any rights to any collateral thereunder, shall revert to the applicable Reorganized Debtor and its successors and assigns. As of the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors shall be authorized to execute and file on behalf of creditors Form UCC-3 termination statements, mortgage releases or such other forms as may be necessary or appropriate to implement the provisions of this Section III.M.

N. Effectuating Documents; Further Transactions

On and after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors, and the officers and members of the boards of managers or directors thereof, are authorized to and may issue, execute, deliver, file, or record such contracts, securities, instruments, releases, and other agreements or documents and take such actions as may be necessary or appropriate to effectuate, implement and further evidence the terms and conditions of this Plan, the Restructuring Transactions, the Reorganized Relativity Holdings Preferred Units, the Reorganized Relativity Holdings Common Units issued pursuant to this Plan, the New P&A/Ultimates Facility authorized pursuant to this Plan (including, but not limited to, the New Exit Financing Documents), and any amendments to any of the Debtors' credit agreements, in each case, in the name of and on behalf of the Reorganized Debtors, without the need for any approvals, authorization or consents except those expressly required pursuant to this Plan.

O. Transfer of Collateral Encumbered by Vine/Verite Secured Claims

Notwithstanding the treatment of the Allowed Vine/Verite Secured Claims set forth in Section II.C.8 herein and the occurrence of the Effective Date, Debtors J & J Project, LLC and Yuma, Inc. shall make reasonable best efforts for a period of up to sixty (60) days following the Effective Date to work collaboratively with Vine Film Finance Fund II, L.P. to implement a transfer of the collateral encumbered by the Vine/Verite Secured Claims to Vine Film Finance Fund II, L.P., free and clear of any claims, liens, security interests, encumbrances, pledges, or interests of junior creditors or interest holders, including through a potential transfer under Bankruptcy Code § 363 as part of the Chapter 11 Cases or through an agreed upon foreclosure under state law.

IV. TREATMENT OF EXECUTORY CONTRACTS AND UNEXPIRED LEASES

A. Assumption and Rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases

On the Effective Date, except as otherwise provided herein, each of the Debtors' Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases not previously assumed or rejected pursuant to an order of the Bankruptcy Court shall be deemed assumed as of the Effective Date in accordance with the provisions and requirements of Bankruptcy Code §§ 365 and 1123 except any

Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease (1) identified on Exhibit E-1 to this Plan (as may be amended) as an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease designated for rejection or identified on Exhibit E-3 to this Plan (as may be amended) as an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease designated as terminated, (2) which is the subject of a pending objection as to cure or assumability of such Executory Contract(s) or Unexpired Lease(s), (3) which is the subject of a separate motion or notice to assume or reject Filed by the Debtors and pending as of the Effective Date, (4) that previously expired or terminated pursuant to its own terms, or (5) that was previously assumed by any of the Debtors. In the event that an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease is the subject of a pending objection, at any time (i) on or before the Effective Date, the Debtors reserve the right to supplement the list of rejected contracts on Exhibit E-1 or (ii) after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors reserve the right to supplement the list of rejected contracts on Exhibit E-1.

Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 365, Participation Agreements for yet to be released films are executory contracts and, as such, shall be assumed by the Reorganized Debtors as of the Effective Date.

To the extent not previously assumed, the Manchester Library Agreements shall be deemed assumed as of the Effective Date in accordance with the provisions and requirements of Bankruptcy Code §§ 365 and 1123. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan, the Manchester Library Agreements shall be deemed assumed on the Effective Date without determining, but not waiving, Manchester Library's rights to any cure payments for monetary defaults in respect of the Manchester Library Agreements pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 365(b)(1), subject to the following sentence. Manchester Library's rights to seek payment in full of any cure amount against the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors are expressly preserved, and the rights of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors to contest or defend such rights are likewise preserved.

Entry of the Confirmation Order by the Bankruptcy Court shall constitute an order approving the assumptions or rejections of such Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases as set forth in this Plan, all pursuant to Bankruptcy Code §§ 365(a) and 1123. Each Executory Contract and Unexpired Lease assumed pursuant to this Plan or by Bankruptcy Court order, and not assigned to a third party by previous order of the Bankruptcy Court on or prior to the Effective Date, shall revest in, and be fully enforceable by, the applicable contracting Reorganized Debtor in accordance with its terms, except as such terms may have been modified by order of the Bankruptcy Court. To the maximum extent permitted by law, to the extent any provision in any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease assumed pursuant to this Plan restricts or prevents, or purports to restrict or prevent, or is breached or deemed breached by, the assumption of such Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease (including, without limitation, any "change of control" provision), then such provision shall be deemed modified such that the transactions contemplated by this Plan shall not entitle the counterparty thereto to terminate such Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease or to exercise any other default-related rights with respect thereto. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Plan, the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, reserve the right to alter, amend, modify, or supplement Exhibits E-1, E-2 or E-3 hereto in their discretion prior to the Effective Date on no less than five (5) business days' notice to the counterparty thereto.

B. Cure of Defaults for Assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases

Any monetary defaults under each Executory Contract and Unexpired Lease to be assumed pursuant to this Plan shall be satisfied, pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 365(b)(1), by payment of the default amount in Cash on the Effective Date, subject to the limitation described below, or on such other terms as the parties to such Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases may otherwise agree. In the event of a dispute regarding (1) the amount of any payments to cure such a default, (2) the ability of the Reorganized Debtors or any assignee to provide "adequate assurance of future performance" (within the meaning of Bankruptcy Code § 365) under the Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease to be assumed, or (3) any other matter pertaining to assumption, the cure payments required by Bankruptcy Code § 365(b)(1) shall be made following the entry of a Final Order or orders resolving the dispute and approving the assumption.

No later than the date on which the Plan Supplement is Filed, to the extent not previously Filed with the Bankruptcy Court and served on affected counterparties, the Debtors shall provide for notices of proposed assumption and proposed cure amounts to be sent to applicable Executory Contract and Unexpired Lease counterparties, together with procedures for objecting thereto and resolution of disputes by the Bankruptcy Court. Any objection by a contract or lease counterparty to a proposed assumption (but not related to cure amount) must be Filed, served, and actually received by the Debtors by the date on which objections to Confirmation are due (or such other date as may be provided in the applicable assumption notice). Any counterparty to an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease that fails to object timely to the proposed assumption shall be deemed to have assented to such assumption. For the avoidance of doubt, as ordered by the Bankruptcy Court in these Chapter 11 Cases (Dkt. No. 369), failure of the non-Debtor counterparty previously served with a cure notice to have filed an objection or raised an informal objection with Debtors' counsel has resulted in a deemed waiver to object to, contest, condition or otherwise restrict the assumption of the noticed assumed contracts or lease and otherwise forever barred the non-Debtor counterparty from objecting to the amount of the cure payment. Every non-Debtor counterparty may, however, object as to adequate assurance of future performance of the Reorganized Debtors.

Assumption of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease pursuant to this Plan or otherwise shall result in the full release and satisfaction of any Claims or defaults, whether monetary or nonmonetary, including defaults of provisions restricting the change in control or ownership interest composition or other bankruptcy-related defaults, arising under any assumed Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease at any time prior to the effective date of assumption. Any Proofs of Claim filed with respect to an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease that has been assumed shall be deemed disallowed and expunged without further notice to or action, order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

C. Claims Based on Rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases

Unless otherwise provided by a Bankruptcy Court order, any Proofs of Claim asserting Claims arising from the rejection of the Debtors' Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases pursuant to this Plan or otherwise must be filed with the Notice and Claims Agent within 30 days after the date of entry of an order of the Bankruptcy Court (including the Confirmation

Order) approving such rejection. Any Proofs of Claim arising from the rejection of the Debtors' Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases that are not timely filed shall be disallowed automatically, forever barred from assertion, and shall not be enforceable against any Reorganized Debtor without the need for any objection by the Reorganized Debtors or further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court. All Allowed Claims arising from the rejection of the Debtors' Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases shall constitute General Unsecured Claims and shall be treated in accordance with Section II.C.10.

The Plan Proponents reserve the right to object to, settle, compromise or otherwise resolve any Claim Filed on account of a rejected Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease.

D. Contracts and Leases Entered Into After the Petition Date

Contracts and leases entered into after the Petition Date by any Debtor, including any Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases assumed by such Debtor, shall be performed by the Debtor or Reorganized Debtor liable thereunder in the ordinary course of its business. Accordingly, such contracts and leases (including any assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases) shall survive and remain unaffected by entry of the Confirmation Order.

E. Reservation of Rights

Neither the exclusion nor inclusion of any contract or lease in the Plan Supplement, nor anything contained in this Plan, nor the Debtors' delivery of a notice of proposed assumption and proposed cure amount to applicable contract and lease counterparties shall constitute an admission by the Debtors that any such contract or lease is in fact an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease or that any Reorganized Debtor has any liability thereunder. If there is a dispute regarding whether a contract or lease is or was executory or unexpired at the time of assumption or rejection, the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, shall have 30 days following entry of a Final Order resolving such dispute to alter their treatment of such contract or lease.

F. Pre-Existing Obligations to the Debtors Under Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases

Rejection of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease pursuant to this Plan or otherwise shall not constitute a termination of pre-existing obligations owed to the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors under such Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases. Notwithstanding any applicable non-bankruptcy law to the contrary, the Debtors and Reorganized Debtors expressly reserve and do not waive any right to receive, or any continuing obligation of a counterparty to provide, warranties, indemnifications or continued maintenance obligations on goods previously purchased by the contracting Debtors or Reorganized Debtors from counterparties to rejected Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases.

G. Certain Compensation and Benefit Programs

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Plan, all contracts, agreements, policies, programs and plans in existence on the Petition Date that provided for the issuance of

Interests in any of the Debtors to current or former employees or directors of the Debtors are, to the extent not previously terminated or rejected by the Debtors, to be treated as Class K Subordinated Claims and shall be rejected or otherwise terminated as of the Effective Date without any further action of the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors or any order of the Court, any unvested Interests granted under any such agreements, policies, programs and plans in addition to any Interests granted under such agreements previously terminated or rejected by the Debtors to the extent not previously cancelled shall be cancelled pursuant to Section III.K of this Plan. Objections to the treatment of these plans or the Claims for rejection or termination damages arising from the rejection or termination of any such plans, if any, must be submitted and resolved in accordance with the procedures and subject to the conditions for objections to Confirmation. If any such objection is not timely Filed and served before the deadline set for objections to this Plan, each participant in or counterparty to any agreement described in this Section IV.G shall be forever barred from (1) objecting to the rejection or termination provided hereunder, and shall be precluded from being heard at the Confirmation Hearing with respect to such objection; (2) asserting against any Reorganized Debtor, or its property, any default existing as of the Effective Date or any counterclaim, defense, setoff or any other interest asserted or assertable against the Debtors; and (3) imposing or charging against any Reorganized Debtor any accelerations, assignment fees, increases or any other fees as a result of any rejection pursuant to this Section IV G

H. Obligations to Insure and Indemnify Directors, Officers and Employees

Any and all managers/directors and officers liability and fiduciary insurance or tail policies in existence as of the Effective Date shall be reinstated and continued in accordance with their terms and, to the extent applicable, shall be deemed assumed or assumed and assigned by the applicable Debtor or Reorganized Debtor, pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 365 and Section IV.A of this Plan. Each insurance carrier under such policies shall continue to honor their coverage obligation, if any, and administer the policies with respect to the Reorganized Debtors in the same manner and according to the same terms, conditions, and practices applicable to the Debtors prior to the Effective Date.

The applicable Reorganized Debtor shall only be obligated to indemnify any Person who is serving or has served as one of the Debtors' directors, officers, managers, employees or consultants at any time from and after the Petition Date for any losses, claims, costs, damages or Liabilities resulting from such Person's service in such a capacity at any time from and after the Petition Date or as a director, officer, managers or employee of a Non-Debtor Affiliate at any time from and after the Petition Date, to the extent provided in the applicable certificates of incorporation or formation, by-laws or similar constituent documents, by statutory law or by written agreement, policies or procedures of or with such Debtor. Accordingly, such indemnification obligations shall survive and be unaffected by entry of the Confirmation Order.

I. Reservation of Rights

Neither the exclusion nor inclusion of any contract or lease in the Plan Supplement, nor anything contained in this Plan, shall constitute an admission by the Debtors that any such contract or lease is in fact an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease or that the Reorganized Debtors have any liability thereunder.

V. PROVISIONS GOVERNING DISTRIBUTIONS

A. Distributions for Allowed Claims as of the Effective Date

Except as otherwise provided in this Section V, distributions to be made on the Effective Date to Holders of Allowed Claims as provided by Section II or this Section V shall be deemed made on the Effective Date if made on the Effective Date or as promptly thereafter as practicable by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable.

B. Undeliverable Distributions

In the event that any distribution to any Holder is returned as undeliverable, no distribution to such Holder shall be made unless and until the Reorganized Debtors, the Litigation Trust or the Guild counsel (as applicable) has determined the then current address of such Holder, at which time such distribution shall be made to such Holder without interest; provided, however, that such Distribution shall be deemed unclaimed property under Bankruptcy Code § 347(b) at the expiration of the latter of six (6) months from (i) the Effective Date or (ii) Allowance of such claim. After such date, all unclaimed property shall become available cash ("Available Cash") for distribution to all other Holders of Litigation Trust Interests (notwithstanding any applicable federal or state escheat, abandoned, or unclaimed property laws to the contrary), and the Claim of any Holder to such unclaimed property shall be released and forever barred from assertion against such Debtor and its Estate.

C. Compliance with Tax Requirements

In connection with this Plan and all instruments issued in connection herewith and distributed hereunder, to the extent applicable, the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, the Litigation Trust, or any other party issuing any instruments or making any distributions under this Plan shall comply with all applicable Tax withholding and reporting requirements imposed on them by any governmental unit, and all distributions pursuant to this Plan and all related agreements shall be subject to such withholding and reporting requirements. Each of the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, and the Litigation Trust, as applicable, shall be authorized to take any actions that may be necessary or appropriate to comply with such withholding and reporting requirements, including applying a portion of any Cash distribution to be made under this Plan to pay applicable Tax withholding. In the case of a non-Cash distribution that is subject to withholding, the distributing party may withhold an appropriate portion of such distributed property and sell such withheld property to generate Cash necessary to pay over the withholding tax. Any amounts withheld pursuant to the immediately preceding sentence shall be deemed to have been distributed and received by the applicable recipient for all purposes of this Plan. For the avoidance of doubt, the employer shall pay the "employer share" of any applicable employment taxes. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan, each Holder of an Allowed Claim receiving a distribution pursuant to this Plan shall have the sole and exclusive responsibility for the satisfying and paying of any Tax obligations imposed on it by any governmental unit on account of such distribution, including income, withholding and other Tax obligations. Any party issuing any instrument or making any distribution pursuant to this Plan has the right, but not the obligation, to not make a distribution until such Holder has made

arrangements satisfactory to the issuing or disbursing party for the payment of any tax obligations.

Any party entitled to receive any property as an issuance or distribution under this Plan shall be required, if so requested, to deliver to the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, the Litigation Trust or any other party issuing any instruments or making any distributions under this Plan (or such other Entity designated by any of the foregoing), as applicable, an IRS Form W-9 or (if the payee is a foreign Entity) an IRS Form W-8BEN, IRS Form W-8BEN-E, or such other IRS Form W-8, as applicable, unless such Entity is exempt under the Internal Revenue Code and so notifies the making the distribution. If a properly completed IRS Form W-9 or IRS Form W-8, as appropriate, is not delivered to the distributing party (or such other Entity), and the Holder fails to comply with the requirement to deliver the IRS Form W-9 or IRS Form W-8 within the 180 days prescribed in Section IX.B.2 above, such distribution shall be deemed undeliverable.

D. Distribution Record Date

- 1. The Debtor or Reorganized Debtors will have no obligation to recognize the transfer, or the sale, of any participation in, any Claim that occurs after the close of business on the Distribution Record Date and will be entitled for all purposes herein to recognize and make distributions only to those holders of Allowed Claims that are holders of such Claims, or participants therein, as of the close of business on the Distribution Record Date.
- 2. Except as otherwise provided in a Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court, the transferees of Claims that are transferred pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 3001 on or prior to the Distribution Record Date will be treated as the holders of such Claims for all purposes, notwithstanding that any period provided by Bankruptcy Rule 3001 for objecting to such transfer has not expired by the Distribution Record Date.

E. Setoffs

Except with respect to claims of a Debtor or Reorganized Debtor released pursuant to this Plan or any contract, instrument, release or other agreement or document entered into or delivered in connection with this Plan, the Reorganized Debtors or the Litigation Trust, as applicable, may, pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 553 or applicable non-bankruptcy law, set off against any Claim and the payments or distributions to be made on account of the Claims, rights and Causes of Action of any nature that the applicable Reorganized Debtor or Litigation Trust may hold against the Holder of the Claim; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the failure to effect a setoff shall not constitute a waiver or release by the applicable Reorganized Debtor or Litigation Trust of any Claims, rights and Causes of Action that the Reorganized Debtor or Litigation Trust may possess against the Holder of a Claim.

F. Distributions to Holders of Disputed Claims

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan, (1) no payments or distributions will be made on account of a Disputed Claim until such Claim becomes an Allowed Claim, if ever and (2) except as otherwise agreed to by the relevant parties, no partial payments and no partial distributions shall be made with respect to a Disputed Claim until all such disputes in connection with such Disputed Claim have been resolved by settlement or Final Order.

To the extent that a Disputed Claim ultimately becomes an Allowed Claim, distributions (if any) shall be made to the Holder of such Allowed Claim in accordance with the provisions of this Plan. As soon as practicable after the date that the order or judgment of the Bankruptcy Court allowing any Disputed Claim becomes a Final Order, the Holder of such Claim shall receive the distribution (if any) to which such Holder is entitled under this Plan as of the Effective Date, without any interest to be paid on account of such Claim unless required under applicable bankruptcy law. Distributions made after the Effective Date to Holders of Disputed Claims that are not Allowed Claims as of the Effective Date but which later become Allowed Claims shall be deemed to have been made on the Effective Date.

G. Allocation Between Principal and Accrued Interest

Except as otherwise provided in this Plan, the aggregate consideration paid to Holders with respect to their Allowed Claims shall be treated pursuant to this Plan as allocated first to the principal amount of such Allowed Claims (to the extent thereof as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes) and, thereafter, to interest and the remaining portion, if any, of such Allowed Claims.

VI. DISPUTED, CONTINGENT AND UNLIQUIDATED CLAIMS

A. Allowance of Claims

After the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors and/or the Litigation Trust, as applicable, shall have and retain any and all rights and defenses the Debtors had with respect to any Claim immediately prior to the Effective Date, except with respect to any Claim deemed Allowed under this Plan. Except as expressly provided in this Plan or in any order entered in the Chapter 11 Cases prior to the Effective Date (including the Confirmation Order), no Claim shall become an Allowed Claim unless and until such Claim is deemed Allowed under this Plan or the Bankruptcy Code or the Bankruptcy Court has entered a Final Order (including the Confirmation Order) in the Chapter 11 Cases allowing such Claim. All settled Claims approved prior to the Effective Date pursuant to a Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 9019 or otherwise shall be binding on all parties.

Any Claim that has been listed in the Schedules as disputed, contingent or unliquidated, and for which no Proof of Claim has been timely filed, is not considered Allowed and shall be expunged without further action and without any further notice to or action, order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

B. Prosecution of Objections to Claims

Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Plan, the Debtors, prior to the Effective Date, and the Reorganized Debtors or the Litigation Trust, as applicable, after the Effective Date, shall have the sole authority: (1) to File, withdraw or litigate to judgment, objections to Claims; (2) to settle or compromise any Disputed Claim without any further notice to or action, order or approval by the Bankruptcy Court; and (3) to administer and adjust the claims register to reflect any such settlements or compromises without any further notice to or action, order or approval by the Bankruptcy Court.

C. Estimation of Claims

The Debtors, prior to the Effective Date, and the Reorganized Debtors or the Litigation Trust, as applicable, after the Effective Date, may (but are not required to) at any time request that the Bankruptcy Court estimate any Claim that is contingent or unliquidated pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 502(c) for any reason, regardless of whether any party previously has objected to such Claim or whether the Bankruptcy Court has ruled on any such objection. The Bankruptcy Court shall retain jurisdiction to estimate any such Claim, including during the litigation of any objection to any Claim or during the appeal relating to such objection. In the event that the Bankruptcy Court estimates any contingent or unliquidated Claim, that estimated amount shall constitute a maximum limitation on such Claim for all purposes under this Plan (including for purposes of distributions), and the relevant Reorganized Debtor may elect to pursue any supplemental proceedings to object to any ultimate distribution on such Claim or Interest.

D. Expungement or Adjustment to Claims Without Objection

Any Claim that has been paid or satisfied, or any Claim that has been amended or superseded, may be adjusted or expunged on the claims register by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, without a claim objection having to be Filed and without any further notice to or action, order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

E. Deadline to File Objections to Claims

The Reorganized Debtors and/or Liquidating Trust, as applicable, may object to any Claims not previously Allowed by an order of the Bankruptcy Court or pursuant to this Plan prior to the Claims Objection Bar Date.

F. Disallowance of Certain Claims

EXCEPT AS PROVIDED HEREIN, IN AN ORDER OF THE BANKRUPTCY COURT OR OTHERWISE AGREED, ANY AND ALL PROOFS OF CLAIM FILED AFTER THE CLAIMS BAR DATE SHALL BE DEEMED DISALLOWED AND EXPUNGED AS OF THE EFFECTIVE DATE WITHOUT ANY FURTHER NOTICE TO OR ACTION, ORDER OR APPROVAL OF THE BANKRUPTCY COURT, AND HOLDERS OF SUCH CLAIMS MAY NOT RECEIVE ANY DISTRIBUTIONS ON ACCOUNT OF SUCH CLAIMS.

G. Offer of Judgment

The Reorganized Debtors are authorized to serve upon a Holder of a Disputed Claim an offer to allow judgment to be taken on account of such Disputed Claim, and, pursuant to Bankruptcy Rules 7068 and 9014, Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 68 shall apply to such offer of judgment. To the extent the Holder of a Disputed Claim must pay the costs incurred by the Reorganized Debtors after the making of such offer, the Reorganized Debtors are entitled to set off such amounts against the amount of any distribution to be paid to such Holder without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

H. Amendments to Claims

On or after the Effective Date, except as provided herein, a Claim may not be filed or amended without the prior authorization of the Bankruptcy Court or the Reorganized Debtors, and, to the extent such prior authorization is not received, any such new or amended Claim filed shall be deemed disallowed in full and expunged without any further action.

VII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO CONSUMMATION OF THIS PLAN

A. Conditions to the Effective Date

The Effective Date shall not occur, and this Plan shall not be consummated unless and until the following conditions have been satisfied or duly waived pursuant to Section VII.B:

- 1. All documents and agreements necessary to consummate this Plan shall have been effected or executed.
- **2.** The Bankruptcy Court shall have entered the Confirmation Order, and the Confirmation Order shall be (i) a Final Order and (ii) in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Plan Proponents.
- **3.** Receipt of required governmental approvals (if any) and any and all other steps necessary to consummate the Debtors' proposed restructuring in any applicable jurisdictions have been received and/or effectuated.
- 4. All other documents and agreements necessary to implement this Plan on the Effective Date that are required to be in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Plan Proponents shall have been executed and delivered and all other actions required to be taken in connection with the Effective Date shall have occurred.
 - 5. The Manchester DIP Claims shall have been paid in full in Cash.
- **6.** The Fee Notes required by Section III.G.5 on the Effective Date shall have been executed and delivered to Heatherden.
- 7. Kavanaugh shall have executed and delivered the Side Letter to Heatherden.
- **8.** Any Additional Effective Date Payments shall have been paid in full in Cash.
- **9.** All statutory fees and obligations then due and payable to the Office of the United States Trustee shall have been paid and satisfied in full.

B. Waiver of Conditions to Effective Date

The conditions to the Effective Date may be waived in whole or part at any time by the Plan Proponents, without an order of the Bankruptcy Court; *provided*, that (i) the

conditions in VII.A.5, VII.A.6, and VII.A.7 may not be waived absent consent of Manchester Securities in its sole discretion and (ii) the condition in Section VII.A.8 may not be waived absent consent of the Buyer.

C. Effects of Nonoccurrence of Conditions to the Effective Date

If the Effective Date does not occur, then (i) this Plan will be null and void in all respects; (ii) any settlement or compromise embodied in this Plan (including the fixing or limiting to an amount certain of any Claim or Interest or Class of Claims or Interests), assumption or rejection of Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases effected by this Plan, and any document or agreement executed pursuant to this Plan, will be deemed null and void; and (iii) nothing contained in this Plan or the Disclosure Statement will (a) constitute a waiver or release of any Claims or Interests, (b) prejudice in any manner the rights of the Debtors or any other Person or Entity, or (c) constitute an admission, acknowledgement, offer, or undertaking of any sort by the Debtors or any other Person or Entity.

VIII. NON-CONSENSUAL CONFIRMATION

In the event that any Impaired Class of Claims or Interests rejects this Plan, the Plan Proponents reserve the right, without any delay in the occurrence of the Confirmation Hearing or Effective Date, to (A) request that the Bankruptcy Court confirm this Plan in accordance with Bankruptcy Code § 1129(b) with respect to such non-accepting Class, in which case this Plan shall constitute a motion for such relief and/or (B) amend this Plan in accordance with Section XII. A.

IX. THE LITIGATION TRUST

A. Litigation Trust Agreement

On or before the Effective Date, the Plan Proponents and the Litigation Trustee shall execute the Litigation Trust Agreement, and shall take all other necessary steps to establish the Litigation Trust and the Litigation Trust Interests therein, which shall be for the benefit of the Litigation Trust Beneficiaries and the Reorganized Debtors, as provided in Section II.C. 10 herein, whether their Claims are Allowed before, on or after the Effective Date. The Litigation Trust Agreement shall provide that any and all distributions of the Litigation Trust Assets will be made solely by the Litigation Trustee, in accordance with the authority provided to him/her in the Litigation Trust Agreement. The Litigation Trust Agreement may provide powers, duties, and authorities in addition to those explicitly stated herein, but only to the extent that such powers, duties, and authorities do not affect the status of the Litigation Trust as a "liquidating trust," to the extent provided herein, for United States federal income tax purposes.

B. Purpose of the Litigation Trust

The Litigation Trust shall be established for the sole purpose of liquidating and distributing its assets, in accordance with Treasury Regulation § 301.7701-4(d), with no objective to continue or engage in the conduct of a trade or business.

C. Litigation Trust Assets

On the Effective Date, the Debtors shall transfer all of the Litigation Trust Assets, and the Creditors' Committee shall transfer the Television Sale Committee Allocation, to the Litigation Trust. The Litigation Trust Assets may be transferred subject to certain liabilities, as provided in this Plan or the Litigation Trust Agreement. Such transfer shall be exempt from any stamp, real estate transfer, mortgage reporting, sales, use or other similar Tax, pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1146(a). Upon delivery of the Litigation Trust Assets to the Litigation Trust, the Debtors and their predecessors, successors and assigns, and each other Entity released pursuant to Article X herein shall be discharged and released from all liability with respect to the delivery of such distributions.

D. Administration of the Litigation Trust

The Litigation Trust shall be administered by the Litigation Trustee according to the Litigation Trust Agreement and this Plan. In the event of any inconsistency between this Plan and the Litigation Trust Agreement, the Litigation Trust Agreement shall govern.

E. The Litigation Trustee

In the event the Litigation Trustee dies, is terminated, or resigns for any reason, a successor shall be designated in accordance with the Litigation Trust Agreement; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that under no circumstance shall the Litigation Trustee be a director or officer with respect to any Affiliate of the Litigation Trust.

F. Role of the Litigation Trustee

In furtherance of and consistent with the purpose of the Litigation Trust and this Plan, and subject to the terms of the Confirmation Order, this Plan and the Litigation Trust Agreement, the Litigation Trustee shall, among other things, have the following rights, powers and duties: (i) to hold, manage, convert to Cash, and distribute the Litigation Trust Assets, including prosecuting and resolving the Claims belonging to the Litigation Trust, (ii) to hold the Litigation Trust Assets for the benefit of the Litigation Trust Beneficiaries and the Reorganized Debtors, whether their Claims are Allowed on or after the Effective Date, (iii) in the Litigation Trustee's reasonable business judgment, to investigate, prosecute, settle and/or abandon rights, any litigation that may constitute Litigation Trust Assets, or the Causes of Action, and (iv) to file all tax and regulatory forms, returns, reports, and other documents required with respect to the Litigation Trust.

G. Transferability of Litigation Trust Interests

The Litigation Trust Interests shall not be transferable or assignable except by will, intestate succession or operation of law.

H. Cash

The Litigation Trustee may invest Cash (including any earnings thereon or proceeds therefrom) as permitted by Bankruptcy Code § 345; *provided*, *however*, that such

investments are investments permitted to be made by a liquidating trust within the meaning of Treasury Regulation § 301.7701-4(d), as reflected therein, or under applicable IRS guidelines, rulings, or other controlling authorities.

I. Distribution of Litigation Trust Assets/Litigation Trust Claims Reserve

The Litigation Trustee shall make distributions from the net proceeds of the Litigation Trust Assets to the Litigation Trust Beneficiaries on account of their Litigation Trust Interests, at such time and in such amounts as determined by the Litigation Trustee in accordance with the authority provided to him/her in the Litigation Trust Agreement; provided that once the aggregate distributions to the Class A Litigation Trust Beneficiaries reach \$35,000,000 (which amounts shall include all amounts allocable to or retained on account of Disputed General Unsecured Claims), the Class B Litigation Trust Beneficiaries will receive, pro rata with the Class A Litigation Trust Beneficiaries, any distributions from the Litigation Trust thereafter. The proceeds of the Litigation Trust Assets to be distributed will not include (i) Cash reserved pursuant to the Litigation Trust Agreement to fund the activities of the Litigation Trust, (ii) such amounts as are allocable to or retained on account of Disputed General Unsecured Claims in accordance with this Section IX.I, and (iii) such additional amounts as are reasonably necessary to (A) meet contingent liabilities and to maintain the value of the Litigation Trust Assets during liquidation, (B) pay reasonable incurred or anticipated expenses (including, but not limited to, any Taxes imposed on or payable by the Litigation Trust or in respect of the Litigation Trust Assets), or (C) as are necessary to satisfy other liabilities incurred or anticipated by the Litigation Trust in accordance with this Plan, or the Litigation Trust Agreement.

Each such distribution in the aggregate shall be in an amount not less than \$100,000 of Available Cash. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Litigation Trustee may determine, in its sole discretion (i) that a disbursing agent shall make a distribution that is less than \$100,000 in the aggregate of Available Cash, or (ii) that a disbursing agent shall not make a distribution to the Holder of a Claim on the basis that the Litigation Trustee has not yet determined whether to object to such Claim and such Claim shall be treated as a Disputed Claim for purposes of distributions under this Plan until the Litigation Trustee (x) determines not to object to such Claim (or the Claims Objection Bar Date has passed), (y) agrees with the Holder of such Claim to Allow such Claim in an agreed upon amount or (z) objects to such Claim, or objects to the Holder of such Claim's request for allowance of such Claim, and such Claim is Allowed by a Final Order.

On each date of distribution, the Litigation Trustee shall only distribute Cash to the Litigation Trust Beneficiary if the amount of Cash to be distributed on account of such Claim is greater than or equal to \$100 in the aggregate unless a request therefor is made in writing to the Litigation Trustee. Any distributions withheld because they are below \$100 with respect to any particular holder of an Allowed Claim will be aggregated and distributed when the aggregate amount exceeds \$100 or on the final distribution date of the Litigation Trust.

1. Amounts Retained on Account of Disputed Claims

From and after the Effective Date, and until such time as all Disputed Claims have been compromised and settled or determined by order of the Bankruptcy Court, the

Litigation Trustee shall retain for the benefit of each holder of a Disputed Claim, Litigation Trust Interests (and the Cash attributable thereto), in an amount equal to the distributions which would have been made to the holder of such Disputed Claim if it were an Allowed Claim in an amount equal to the lesser of (i) the Disputed Claim Amount, (ii) the amount in which the Disputed Claim shall be estimated by the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 502 for purposes of allowance, which amount, unless otherwise ordered by the Bankruptcy Court, shall constitute and represent the maximum amount in which such Claim may ultimately become an Allowed Claim or (iii) such other amount as may be agreed upon by the holder of such Disputed Claim and the Reorganized Debtors. Except as otherwise provided in this Plan, Holders of Claims shall not be entitled to interest, dividends, or accruals on the distributions provided for in this Plan, regardless of whether such distributions are delivered on or at any time after the Effective Date. No payments or distributions shall be made with respect to all or any portion of any Disputed Claim pending the entire resolution thereof by Final Order.

2. Allowance of Disputed Claims

At such time as a Disputed Claim becomes an Allowed Claim, the Litigation Trustee shall distribute to the Holder thereof the distributions, if any, to which such Holder is then entitled under this Plan together, with any interest that has accrued on the amount of Cash, but only to the extent that such interest is attributable to the amount of the Allowed Claim. Such distribution, if any, shall be made as soon as practicable after an order or judgment of the Bankruptcy Court is entered allowing such Disputed Claim becomes a Final Order but in no event more than sixty (60) days thereafter (net of any expenses, including any taxes imposed on or with respect to the Litigation Trust Claims Reserve relating to such Claim).

J. Costs and Expenses of the Litigation Trust

The reasonable costs and expenses of the Litigation Trust, including the fees and expenses of the Litigation Trustee and its retained professionals and any applicable insurance policies required by the Litigation Trust, shall be paid solely from the Litigation Trust Assets.

K. Compensation of the Litigation Trustee

The individual(s) serving as or comprising the Litigation Trustee shall be entitled to reasonable compensation in an amount consistent with that of similar functionaries in similar roles, the payment of which shall not be subject to the approval of the Bankruptcy Court and be made solely from the assets of the Litigation Trust.

L. Retention of Professionals/Employees by the Litigation Trustee

The Litigation Trustee may retain and compensate attorneys, other professionals, and employees to assist in its duties as Litigation Trustee on such terms as the Litigation Trustee deems appropriate without Bankruptcy Court approval.

M. Federal Income Tax Treatment of the Litigation Trust

The Litigation Trust generally is intended to be treated for United States federal income Tax purposes, (i) in part as a grantor trust that is a liquidating trust within the meaning of

Treasury Regulations § 301.7701-4(d), with no objective to continue or engage in the conduct of a trade or business, and (ii) in part as one or more disputed ownership funds within the meaning of Treasury Regulations § 1.468B-9(b)(1). For United States federal income tax purposes, the transfer of the Litigation Trust Assets to the Litigation Trust will be treated as a transfer of the Litigation Trust Assets from the Debtors to the Litigation Trust Beneficiaries, followed by the Litigation Trust Beneficiaries' transfer of the Litigation Trust Assets to the Litigation Trust. The Litigation Trust Beneficiaries will thereafter be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as the grantors and deemed owners of their respective shares of the Litigation Trust Assets. The Litigation Trust Beneficiaries shall include in their annual taxable incomes, and pay tax to the extent due on, their allocable shares of each item of income, gain, deduction, loss and credit, and all other such items shall be allocated by the Litigation Trustee to the Litigation Trust Beneficiaries using any reasonable allocation method.

The Litigation Trustee will be required by the Litigation Trust Agreement to file income Tax returns for the Litigation Trust as a grantor trust of the Litigation Trust Beneficiaries (and file separate returns for the disputed ownership fund(s) pursuant to Treasury Regulations § 1.468B-9(b)(1) and pay all Taxes owed on any net income or gain of the disputed ownership fund(s), on a current basis from Litigation Trust Assets). In addition, the Litigation Trust Agreement will require consistent valuation by the Litigation Trustee and the Litigation Trust Beneficiaries, for all federal income Tax and reporting purposes, of any property held by the Litigation Trust. The Litigation Trust Agreement will provide that termination of the trust will occur no later than five years after the Effective Date, unless the Bankruptcy Court approves an extension based upon a finding that such an extension is necessary for the Litigation Trust to complete its liquidating purpose. The Litigation Trust Agreement also will limit the investment powers of the Litigation Trustee in accordance with IRS Rev. Proc. 94-45 and will require the Litigation Trust to distribute at least annually to the Litigation Trust Beneficiaries (as such may have been determined at such time) its net income (net of any payment of or provision for Taxes), except for amounts retained as reasonably necessary to maintain the value of the Litigation Trust Assets.

N. Indemnification of Litigation Trustee

The Litigation Trustee or the individual(s) comprising the Litigation Trustee, as the case may be, and the Litigation Trustee's employees, agents and professionals, shall not be liable to the Litigation Trust Beneficiaries or the Reorganized Debtor for actions taken or omitted in their capacity, except those acts that are determined in a Final Order to have constituted willful misconduct or gross negligence, and each shall be entitled to indemnification and reimbursement for fees and expenses in defending any and all actions or inactions in their capacity, except for any actions or inactions involving willful misconduct or gross negligence. Any indemnification claim of the Litigation Trustee (and the other parties entitled to indemnification under this subsection) shall be satisfied solely from the Litigation Trust Assets and shall be entitled to a priority distribution therefrom, ahead of the Litigation Trust Interests and any other claim to or interest in such assets. The Litigation Trustee shall be entitled to rely, in good faith, on the advice of their retained professionals.

O. Privileges and Obligation to Respond to Ongoing Investigations

All attorney-work privileges, work product protections and other immunities or protections from disclosure held by the Debtors shall be transferred, assigned, and delivered to the Litigation Trust, without waiver, and shall vest in the Litigation Trustee solely in its capacity as such (and any other individual the Litigation Trustee may designate, as well as any other individual designated in the Litigation Trust Agreement). Pursuant to Federal Rule of Evidence 502(d), no Privileges shall be waived by disclosure to the Litigation Trustee of the Debtors' information subject to attorney-client privileges, work product protections, or other immunities or protections from disclosure.

X. EFFECT OF CONFIRMATION

A. Dissolution of Official Committees

Except to the extent provided herein, upon the Effective Date, the current and former members of the Creditors' Committee and any other creditor, equity or other committee appointed in the Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1102, and their respective officers, employees, counsel, advisors and agents, shall be released and discharged of and from all further authority, duties, responsibilities and obligations related to and arising from and in connection with the Chapter 11 Cases; provided, however, that following the Effective Date the Creditors' Committee shall continue in existence and have standing and a right to be heard for the following limited purposes: (1) Claims and/or applications for compensation by Professionals and requests for allowance of Administrative Claims for substantial contribution pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 503(b)(3)(D); (2) any appeals to which the Creditors' Committee is a party; (3) any adversary proceedings or contested matters as of the Effective Date to which the Creditors' Committee is a party; and (4) responding to creditor inquiries for sixty (60) days following the Effective Date. Following the completion of the Creditors' Committee's remaining duties set forth above, the Creditors' Committee shall be dissolved, and the retention or employment of the Creditors' Committee's respective attorneys, accountants and other agents shall terminate. As discussed in Section III.I above, the Litigation Trust shall have the authority to prosecute and settle the Causes of Action after the Effective Date.

B. Discharge of Claims and Interests

Except as provided in this Plan or in the Confirmation Order, the rights afforded under this Plan and the treatment of Claims and Interests under this Plan shall be in exchange for and in complete satisfaction, discharge and release of all Claims and Interests arising or existing on or before the Effective Date, including any interest accrued on Claims from and after the Petition Date. From and after the Effective Date, the Debtors shall be discharged from any and all Claims and Interests that arose or existed prior to the Effective Date, subject to the obligations of the Debtors under this Plan.

C. Injunctions

AS OF THE EFFECTIVE DATE, EXCEPT WITH RESPECT TO THE OBLIGATIONS OF THE REORGANIZED DEBTORS UNDER THIS PLAN OR THE CONFIRMATION ORDER, ALL ENTITIES THAT HAVE HELD, CURRENTLY HOLD

OR MAY HOLD ANY CLAIMS OR INTERESTS, OBLIGATIONS, SUITS, JUDGMENTS, DAMAGES, DEMANDS, DEBTS, RIGHTS, CAUSES OF ACTION OR LIABILITIES THAT ARE WAIVED, DISCHARGED OR RELEASED UNDER THIS PLAN SHALL BE PERMANENTLY ENJOINED FROM TAKING ANY OF THE FOLLOWING ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS AGAINST THE DEBTORS, THE REORGANIZED DEBTORS, THE RELEASED PARTIES (TO THE EXTENT THE RELEASED PARTIES ARE RELEASED BY A RELEASING PARTY) OR ANY OF THEIR RESPECTIVE ASSETS OR PROPERTY ON ACCOUNT OF ANY SUCH WAIVED, DISCHARGED OR RELEASED CLAIMS, OBLIGATIONS, SUITS, JUDGMENTS, DAMAGES, DEMANDS, DEBTS, RIGHTS, CAUSES OF ACTION OR LIABILITIES: (1) COMMENCING OR CONTINUING IN ANY MANNER ANY ACTION OR OTHER PROCEEDING; (2) ENFORCING, LEVYING, ATTACHING, COLLECTING OR RECOVERING IN ANY MANNER ANY JUDGMENT, AWARD, DECREE OR ORDER; (3) CREATING, PERFECTING OR ENFORCING ANY LIEN OR ENCUMBRANCE; (4) ASSERTING ANY RIGHT OF SETOFF, SUBROGATION OR RECOUPMENT OF ANY KIND AGAINST ANY DEBT, LIABILITY OR OBLIGATION DUE TO ANY DEBTOR, REORGANIZED DEBTOR OR RELEASED PARTY; AND (5) COMMENCING OR CONTINUING ANY ACTION, IN ANY MANNER, IN ANY PLACE TO ASSERT ANY CLAIM WAIVED, DISCHARGED OR RELEASED UNDER THIS PLAN OR THAT DOES NOT OTHERWISE COMPLY WITH OR IS INCONSISTENT WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THIS PLAN.

EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY PROVIDED IN THIS PLAN, THE CONFIRMATION ORDER, OR A SEPARATE ORDER OF THE BANKRUPTCY COURT, OR AS AGREED TO BY A HOLDER OF A CLAIM OR INTEREST AND THE REORGANIZED DEBTORS (ON BEHALF OF THE TV DEBTORS), ALL ENTITIES (OTHER THAN THE DEBTORS) WHO HAVE HELD, HOLD OR MAY HOLD CLAIMS AGAINST OR INTERESTS IN ANY OR ALL OF THE TV DEBTORS (WHETHER PROOF OF SUCH CLAIMS OR INTERESTS HAS BEEN FILED OR NOT), ALONG WITH THEIR RESPECTIVE PRESENT OR FORMER EMPLOYEES, AGENTS, OFFICERS, DIRECTORS OR PRINCIPALS, ARE PERMANENTLY ENJOINED, ON AND AFTER THE EFFECTIVE DATE, SOLELY WITH RESPECT TO ANY CLAIMS OR INTERESTS THAT ARE TREATED PURSUANT TO THIS PLAN. FROM (I) COMMENCING, CONDUCTING, OR CONTINUING IN ANY MANNER, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, ANY SUIT, ACTION, OR OTHER PROCEEDING OF ANY KIND (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY PROCEEDING IN A JUDICIAL, ARBITRAL, ADMINISTRATIVE OR OTHER FORUM) AGAINST OR AFFECTING THE PROPERTY OF THE DEBTORS, (II) ENFORCING, LEVYING, ATTACHING (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY PREJUDGMENT ATTACHMENT), COLLECTING, OR OTHERWISE RECOVERING BY ANY MANNER OR MEANS, WHETHER DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, ANY JUDGMENT, AWARD, DECREE, OR ORDER AGAINST THE PROPERTY OF ANY OF THE DEBTORS, (III) CREATING, PERFECTING, OR OTHERWISE ENFORCING IN ANY MANNER DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, ANY ENCUMBRANCE OF ANY KIND AGAINST THE PROPERTY OF ANY OF THE DEBTORS, (IV) ASSERTING ANY RIGHT OF SETOFF, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, AGAINST ANY OBLIGATION DUE OF ANY OF THE DEBTORS, EXCEPT AS CONTEMPLATED OR ALLOWED BY THIS PLAN; (V) ACTING OR PROCEEDING IN ANY MANNER, IN ANY PLACE WHATSOEVER, THAT DOES NOT CONFORM TO OR COMPLY WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THIS PLAN; AND (VI) TAKING ANY ACTIONS TO INTERFERE WITH THE IMPLEMENTATION OR CONSUMMATION OF THIS PLAN.

D. Exculpation

FROM AND AFTER THE EFFECTIVE DATE, THE EXCULPATED PARTIES, THE DEBTORS AND THE REORGANIZED DEBTORS SHALL NEITHER HAVE NOR INCUR ANY LIABILITY TO ANY ENTITY, AND NO HOLDER OF A CLAIM OR INTEREST, NO OTHER PARTY IN INTEREST AND NONE OF THEIR RESPECTIVE REPRESENTATIVES SHALL HAVE ANY RIGHT OF ACTION AGAINST ANY DEBTOR, REORGANIZED DEBTOR, EXCULPATED PARTY OR ANY OF THEIR RESPECTIVE REPRESENTATIVES FOR ANY ACT TAKEN OR OMITTED TO BE TAKEN BEFORE THE EFFECTIVE DATE IN CONNECTION WITH, RELATED TO OR ARISING OUT OF THE CHAPTER 11 CASES, THE DEBTORS IN POSSESSION OR THE NEGOTIATION, CONSIDERATION, FORMULATION, PREPARATION, DISSEMINATION, IMPLEMENTATION, CONFIRMATION OR CONSUMMATION OF THIS PLAN, THE EXHIBITS, THE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT, ANY AMENDMENTS TO ANY OF THE FOREGOING OR ANY OTHER TRANSACTIONS PROPOSED IN CONNECTION WITH THE CHAPTER 11 CASES OR ANY CONTRACT, INSTRUMENT, RELEASE OR OTHER AGREEMENT OR DOCUMENT CREATED OR ENTERED INTO OR ANY OTHER ACT TAKEN OR OMITTED TO BE TAKEN IN CONNECTION THEREWITH OR IN CONNECTION WITH ANY OTHER OBLIGATIONS ARISING UNDER THIS PLAN OR THE OBLIGATIONS ASSUMED HEREUNDER; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT THE FOREGOING PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION X.D SHALL HAVE NO EFFECT ON: (1) THE LIABILITY OF ANY ENTITY THAT WOULD OTHERWISE RESULT FROM THE FAILURE TO PERFORM OR PAY ANY OBLIGATION OR LIABILITY UNDER THIS PLAN OR ANY CONTRACT, INSTRUMENT, RELEASE OR OTHER AGREEMENT OR DOCUMENT PREVIOUSLY ASSUMED OR TO BE ENTERED INTO OR DELIVERED IN CONNECTION WITH THIS PLAN OR (2) THE LIABILITY OF ANY EXCULPATED PARTY THAT WOULD OTHERWISE RESULT FROM ANY ACT OR OMISSION OF SUCH EXCULPATED PARTY TO THE EXTENT THAT SUCH ACT OR OMISSION IS DETERMINED IN A FINAL ORDER TO HAVE CONSTITUTED GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT (INCLUDING FRAUD).

E. Debtor Release

WITHOUT LIMITING ANY OTHER APPLICABLE PROVISIONS OF, OR RELEASES CONTAINED IN, THIS PLAN, AS OF THE EFFECTIVE DATE, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, THE DEBTORS AND THE REORGANIZED DEBTORS, ON BEHALF OF THEMSELVES AND THEIR AFFILIATES, THE ESTATES AND THEIR RESPECTIVE SUCCESSORS, ASSIGNS AND ANY AND ALL ENTITIES WHO MAY PURPORT TO CLAIM BY, THROUGH, FOR OR BECAUSE OF THEM, SHALL FOREVER RELEASE, WAIVE AND

DISCHARGE ALL LIABILITIES THAT THEY HAVE, HAD OR MAY HAVE AGAINST A DEBTOR, THE ESTATES, ANY RELEASED PARTY WITH RESPECT TO THE CHAPTER 11 CASES, THE NEGOTIATION, CONSIDERATION, FORMULATION, PREPARATION, DISSEMINATION, IMPLEMENTATION, CONFIRMATION OR CONSUMMATION OF THIS PLAN, THE EXHIBITS, THE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT, ANY AMENDMENTS THERETO, THE DIP CREDIT AGREEMENT, THE INITIAL DIP ORDER, THE MODIFIED DIP ORDER, ANY OF THE NEW SECURITIES AND DOCUMENTS, THE RESTRUCTURING TRANSACTIONS OR ANY OTHER TRANSACTIONS PROPOSED IN CONNECTION WITH THE CHAPTER 11 CASES OR ANY CONTRACT, INSTRUMENT, RELEASE OR OTHER AGREEMENT OR DOCUMENT CREATED OR ENTERED INTO OR ANY OTHER ACT TAKEN OR OMITTED TO BE TAKEN IN CONNECTION THEREWITH OR IN CONNECTION WITH ANY OTHER OBLIGATIONS ARISING UNDER THIS PLAN OR THE OBLIGATIONS ASSUMED HEREUNDER; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT THE FOREGOING PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION X.E SHALL NOT AFFECT (A) THE LIABILITY OF ANY RELEASED PARTY THAT OTHERWISE WOULD RESULT FROM ANY ACT OR OMISSION TO THE EXTENT THAT ACT OR OMISSION SUBSEQUENTLY IS DETERMINED IN A FINAL ORDER TO HAVE CONSTITUTED GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT (INCLUDING FRAUD), (B) ANY RIGHTS TO ENFORCE THIS PLAN OR THE OTHER CONTRACTS, INSTRUMENTS, RELEASES, AGREEMENTS OR DOCUMENTS PREVIOUSLY ASSUMED OR TO BE TO BE ENTERED INTO OR DELIVERED IN CONNECTION WITH THIS PLAN, (C) EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS PLAN, ANY OBJECTIONS BY THE DEBTORS OR THE REORGANIZED DEBTORS TO CLAIMS OR INTERESTS FILED BY ANY ENTITY AGAINST ANY DEBTOR AND/OR THE ESTATES, INCLUDING RIGHTS OF SETOFF, REFUND OR OTHER ADJUSTMENTS, (D) THE RIGHTS OF THE DEBTORS TO ASSERT ANY APPLICABLE DEFENSES IN LITIGATION OR OTHER PROCEEDINGS WITH THEIR EMPLOYEES (INCLUDING THE RIGHTS TO SEEK SANCTIONS, FEES AND OTHER COSTS) AND (E) ANY CLAIM OF THE DEBTORS OR REORGANIZED DEBTORS, INCLUDING (BUT NOT LIMITED TO) CROSS-CLAIMS OR COUNTERCLAIMS OR OTHER CAUSES OF ACTION AGAINST EMPLOYEES OR OTHER PARTIES, ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO ACTIONS FOR PERSONAL INJURY, WRONGFUL DEATH, PROPERTY DAMAGE, PRODUCTS LIABILITY OR SIMILAR LEGAL THEORIES OF RECOVERY TO WHICH THE DEBTORS OR REORGANIZED DEBTORS ARE A PARTY.

ENTRY OF THE CONFIRMATION ORDER SHALL CONSTITUTE THE BANKRUPTCY COURT'S APPROVAL, PURSUANT TO BANKRUPTCY RULE 9019, OF THE DEBTOR RELEASE, WHICH INCLUDES BY REFERENCE EACH OF THE RELATED PROVISIONS AND DEFINITIONS CONTAINED HEREIN, AND, FURTHER, SHALL CONSTITUTE THE BANKRUPTCY COURT'S FINDING THAT THE DEBTOR RELEASE IS: (1) IN EXCHANGE FOR THE GOOD AND VALUABLE CONSIDERATION PROVIDED BY THE RELEASED PARTIES; (2) A GOOD FAITH SETTLEMENT AND COMPROMISE OF THE CLAIMS RELEASED BY THE DEBTOR RELEASE; (3) IN THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE DEBTORS AND ALL HOLDERS OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS; (4) FAIR, EQUITABLE AND

REASONABLE; (5) GIVEN AND MADE AFTER DUE NOTICE AND OPPORTUNITY FOR HEARING; AND (6) A BAR TO ANY OF THE RELEASING PARTIES ASSERTING ANY CLAIM OR CAUSES OF ACTION RELEASED PURSUANT TO THE DEBTOR RELEASE. NOTHING HEREIN SHALL ABROGATE APPLICABLE ATTORNEY DISCIPLINARY RULES.

F. Third Party Release

WITHOUT LIMITING ANY OTHER APPLICABLE PROVISIONS OF, OR RELEASES CONTAINED IN, THIS PLAN, AS OF THE EFFECTIVE DATE, IN CONSIDERATION FOR THE OBLIGATIONS OF THE DEBTORS AND THE REORGANIZED DEBTORS UNDER THIS PLAN AND THE CONSIDERATION AND OTHER CONTRACTS, INSTRUMENTS, RELEASES, AGREEMENTS OR DOCUMENTS TO BE ENTERED INTO OR DELIVERED IN CONNECTION WITH THIS PLAN, EACH RELEASING PARTY SHALL BE DEEMED TO HAVE FOREVER RELEASED AND COVENANTED WITH THE RELEASED PARTIES TO FOREVER RELEASE, WAIVE AND DISCHARGE ALL LIABILITIES IN ANY WAY THAT SUCH ENTITY HAS, HAD OR MAY HAVE AGAINST ANY RELEASED PARTY (WHICH RELEASE SHALL BE IN ADDITION TO THE DISCHARGE OF CLAIMS AND TERMINATION OF INTERESTS PROVIDED HEREIN AND UNDER THE CONFIRMATION ORDER AND THE BANKRUPTCY CODE), IN EACH CASE, RELATING TO A DEBTOR, THE ESTATES, THE CHAPTER 11 CASES, THE NEGOTIATION, CONSIDERATION, FORMULATION, PREPARATION, DISSEMINATION, IMPLEMENTATION, CONFIRMATION OR CONSUMMATION THIS PLAN, THE EXHIBITS, THE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT, ANY AMENDMENTS THERETO, THE DIP CREDIT AGREEMENT, THE INITIAL DIP ORDER, THE MODIFIED DIP ORDER, ANY OF THE NEW SECURITIES AND DOCUMENTS. THE RESTRUCTURING TRANSACTIONS OR ANY OTHER TRANSACTIONS IN CONNECTION WITH THE CHAPTER 11 CASES OR ANY CONTRACT, INSTRUMENT, RELEASE OR OTHER AGREEMENT OR DOCUMENT CREATED OR ENTERED INTO OR ANY OTHER ACT TAKEN OR OMITTED TO BE TAKEN IN CONNECTION THEREWITH OR IN CONNECTION WITH ANY OTHER OBLIGATIONS ARISING UNDER THIS PLAN OR THE OBLIGATIONS ASSUMED HEREUNDER; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT THE FOREGOING PROVISION OF THIS SECTION X.F SHALL HAVE NO EFFECT ON: (A) THE LIABILITY OF ANY ENTITY THAT WOULD OTHERWISE RESULT FROM THE FAILURE TO PERFORM OR PAY ANY OBLIGATION OR LIABILITY UNDER THIS PLAN OR ANY CONTRACT, INSTRUMENT, RELEASE OR OTHER AGREEMENT OR DOCUMENT PREVIOUSLY ASSUMED OR TO BE ENTERED INTO OR DELIVERED IN CONNECTION WITH THIS PLAN; (B) THE LIABILITY OF ANY RELEASED PARTY THAT WOULD OTHERWISE RESULT FROM ANY ACT OR OMISSION OF SUCH RELEASED PARTY TO THE EXTENT THAT SUCH ACT OR OMISSION IS DETERMINED IN A FINAL ORDER TO HAVE CONSTITUTED GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT (INCLUDING FRAUD); (C) ANY NON-RELEASING PARTY; (D) [THE UNION ENTITIES SOLELY WITH RESPECT TO MANCHESTER SECURITIES, HEATHERDEN OR OTHER AFFILIATED ENTITIES;

OR (E) THE OBLIGATIONS OF KAVANAUGH TO CERTAIN MANCHESTER PARTIES UNDER THE W&R AGREEMENT.

ENTRY OF THE CONFIRMATION ORDER BY THE BANKRUPTCY COURT SHALL CONSTITUTE AN ORDER APPROVING THE ASSUMPTIONS OR REJECTIONS OF SUCH EXECUTORY CONTRACTS AND UNEXPIRED LEASES AS SET FORTH IN THIS PLAN, ALL PURSUANT TO BANKRUPTCY RULE 9019, OF THE THIRD PARTY RELEASE, WHICH INCLUDES BY REFERENCE EACH OF THE RELATED PROVISIONS AND DEFINITIONS CONTAINED HEREIN, AND, FURTHER, SHALL CONSTITUTE THE BANKRUPTCY COURT'S FINDING THAT THE THIRD PARTY RELEASE IS: (1) IN EXCHANGE FOR THE GOOD AND VALUABLE CONSIDERATION PROVIDED BY THE RELEASED PARTIES; (2) A GOOD FAITH SETTLEMENT AND COMPROMISE OF THE CLAIMS RELEASED BY THE THIRD PARTY RELEASE; (3) IN THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE DEBTORS AND ALL HOLDERS OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS; (4) FAIR, EQUITABLE AND REASONABLE; (5) GIVEN AND MADE AFTER DUE NOTICE AND OPPORTUNITY FOR HEARING; AND (6) A BAR TO ANY OF THE RELEASING PARTIES ASSERTING ANY CLAIM OR CAUSES OF ACTION RELEASED PURSUANT TO THE THIRD PARTY RELEASE. NOTHING HEREIN SHALL ABROGATE APPLICABLE ATTORNEY DISCIPLINARY RULES.

G. Votes Solicited in Good Faith

The Plan Proponents have, and upon confirmation of this Plan shall be deemed to have, solicited acceptances of this Plan in good faith and in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code. The Plan Proponents (and each of their respective affiliates, agents, directors, officers, members, employees, advisors, and attorneys) have participated in good faith and in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code in the offer and issuance of the securities offered and sold under this Plan and therefore have not, and on account of such offer and issuance will not be, liable at any time for the violation of any applicable law, rule, or regulation governing the solicitation of acceptances or rejections of this Plan or the offer or issuance of the securities offered and distributed under this Plan.

XI. RETENTION OF JURISDICTION

Notwithstanding the entry of the Confirmation Order and the occurrence of the Effective Date, the Bankruptcy Court shall retain such jurisdiction over the Chapter 11 Cases after the Effective Date as is legally permissible, including jurisdiction to:

(1) Allow, disallow, estimate, determine, liquidate, reduce, classify, reclassify, estimate or establish the priority or secured or unsecured status of any Claim or Interest, including the resolution of any request for payment of any Administrative Claim and the resolution of any objections to the amount, allowance, priority or classification of Claims or Interests;

- (2) Grant or deny any applications for allowance of compensation or reimbursement of expenses authorized pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code or this Plan for periods ending on or before the Effective Date;
- (3) Resolve any matters related to the assumption, assumption and assignment or rejection of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease to which any Debtor is a party or with respect to which any Debtor or Reorganized Debtor may be liable and to hear, determine and, if necessary, liquidate any Claims arising therefrom;
- (4) Ensure that distributions to Holders of Claims are accomplished pursuant to the provisions of this Plan;
- (5) Decide or resolve any motions, adversary proceedings, contested or litigated matters and any other matters and grant or deny any applications Filed in the Bankruptcy Court involving any Debtor or any Reorganized Debtor that may be pending on the Effective Date or brought thereafter;
- (6) Enter such orders as may be necessary or appropriate to implement or consummate the provisions of this Plan and all contracts, instruments, releases and other agreements or documents entered into or delivered in connection with this Plan, the Disclosure Statement or the Confirmation Order;
- (7) Resolve any cases, controversies, suits or disputes that may arise in connection with the consummation, interpretation or enforcement of this Plan or any contract, instrument, release or other agreement or document that is entered into or delivered pursuant to this Plan or any Entity's rights arising from or obligations incurred in connection with this Plan or such documents, *provided*, *however* that such retention of jurisdiction shall not extend to the New P&A/Ultimates Facility or other indebtedness documents on and after the Effective Date;
- (8) Modify this Plan before or after the Effective Date pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1127; modify the Confirmation Order or any contract, instrument, release or other agreement or document entered into or delivered in connection with this Plan, the Disclosure Statement or the Confirmation Order; or remedy any defect or omission or reconcile any inconsistency in any Bankruptcy Court order, this Plan, the Disclosure Statement, the Confirmation Order or any contract, instrument, release or other agreement or document entered into, delivered or created in connection with this Plan, the Disclosure Statement or the Confirmation Order, in such manner as may be necessary or appropriate to consummate this Plan;
- (9) Hear and determine any matter, case, controversy, suit, dispute, RKA Causes of Action, or Causes of Action regarding the existence, nature and scope of the releases, injunctions, and exculpation provided under this Plan, and issue injunctions, enforce the injunctions contained in this Plan and the Confirmation Order, enter and implement other orders or take such other actions as may be necessary or appropriate to implement, enforce or restrain interference by any Entity with respect to the consummation, implementation or enforcement of this Plan or the Confirmation Order, including the releases, injunctions, and exculpation provided under this Plan;

- (10) Enter and implement such orders as are necessary or appropriate if the Confirmation Order is for any reason or in any respect modified, stayed, reversed, revoked or vacated or distributions pursuant to this Plan are enjoined or stayed;
- (11) Determine any other matters that may arise in connection with or relate to this Plan, the Disclosure Statement, the Confirmation Order or any contract, instrument, release or other agreement or document entered into or delivered in connection with this Plan, the Disclosure Statement or the Confirmation Order;
- (12) Enforce, clarify or modify any orders previously entered by the Bankruptcy Court in the Chapter 11 Cases;
 - (13) Enter a final decree closing the Chapter 11 Cases;
- (14) Determine matters concerning state, local and federal Taxes in accordance with Bankruptcy Code §§ 346, 505 and 1146, including any Disputed Claims for Taxes;
- (15) As contemplated in Article III of the Plan, enter such orders as may be necessary or appropriate to implement or consummate any agreement between Vine Film Finance Fund II, L.P. and Debtors J & J Project, LLC and Yuma, Inc. with respect to a transfer of (including under Bankruptcy Code § 363) or foreclosure on the collateral encumbered by the Vine/Verite Secured Claims.
 - (16) Recover all assets of the Debtors and their Estates, wherever located; and
- (17) Hear any other matter over which with the Bankruptcy Court has jurisdiction.

If the Bankruptcy Court abstains from exercising, or declines to exercise, jurisdiction or is otherwise without jurisdiction over any matter, including the matters set forth in Section XI, the provisions of this Section XI shall have no effect upon and shall not control, prohibit or limit the exercise of jurisdiction by any other court having jurisdiction with respect to such matter.

XII. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

A. Amendment or Modification of this Plan

Subject to the restrictions on modifications set forth in Bankruptcy Code § 1127, the Plan Proponents reserve the right to alter, amend or modify this Plan before its substantial consummation; *provided* any such alterations, amendments or modifications are in form and substance reasonably acceptable to each of the Plan Proponents; *provided*, *further*, that any such alterations, amendments or modifications regarding any Section of this Plan that impacts the Manchester Parties and/or the Buyer, including, without limitation, Sections I (Defined Terms, Rules of Interpretation and Computation of Time), II.A (Treatment of Unclassified Claims), II.C.9 (Other Secured Claims (Class I)), II.C.10 (General Unsecured Claims (Class J)), III.G.5 (Payment of Heatherden Fee Claims), VII (Conditions Precedent to Consummation of this Plan), X.D (Exculpation), X.E (Debtor Release), X.F (Third Party Release), XII.A (Amendment or

Modification of this Plan), and/or XII.I (Severability), are in form and substance acceptable to Manchester Securities or the Buyer, as the case may be, in its sole discretion. Prior to the Effective Date, the Plan Proponents may make appropriate technical adjustments and modifications to this Plan without further order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court. Holders of Claims (other than the Manchester Parties and the Buyer) that have accepted this Plan shall be deemed to have accepted this Plan, as amended, modified, or supplemented, if the proposed amendment, modification, or supplement does not materially and adversely change the treatment of the Claim of such Holder; *provided*, *however*, that any Holders of Claims who were deemed to accept this Plan because such Claims were Unimpaired shall continue to be deemed to accept this Plan only if, after giving effect to such amendment, modification, or supplement, such Claims continue to be Unimpaired.

B. Revocation of this Plan

The Plan Proponents reserve the right to revoke or withdraw this Plan as to any or all of the Debtors prior to the Confirmation Date or at the Confirmation Hearing. If the Plan Proponents revoke or withdraw this Plan as to any or all of the Debtors, or if Confirmation as to any or all of the Debtors does not occur, then this Plan shall be null and void in all respects with respect to such Debtors for whom this Plan has been revoked or withdrawn, and nothing contained in this Plan shall: (1) prejudice in any manner the rights of any such Debtor(s) or any other party in interest with respect to such Debtor(s); or (2) constitute an admission of any sort by any such Debtor(s) or any other party in interest with respect to such Debtor(s). The revocation or withdrawal of this Plan with respect to one or more Debtors shall not require the re-solicitation of this Plan with respect to the remaining Debtors.

C. Conversion or Dismissal of Certain of the Chapter 11 Cases

If the requisite Classes do not vote to accept this Plan or the Bankruptcy Court does not confirm this Plan, the Plan Proponents reserve the right to have any Debtor's Chapter 11 Case dismissed or converted, or to liquidate or dissolve any Debtor under applicable non-bankruptcy procedure or chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code.

D. Inconsistency

In the event of any inconsistency among this Plan, the Disclosure Statement, or any exhibit or schedule to the Disclosure Statement, the provisions of this Plan shall govern.

E. Exhibits / Schedules

All exhibits and schedules to this Plan, including the Plan Supplement, are incorporated into and constitute a part of this Plan as if set forth herein.

F. Bankruptcy Code § 1145 Exemption

To the maximum extent provided by Bankruptcy Code § 1145(a), the Reorganized Relativity Holdings Preferred Units and Reorganized Relativity Holdings Common Units issued under this Plan shall be exempt from registration under the Securities Act and any

state's securities law registration requirements and all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder

G. Exemption from Transfer Taxes

Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1146(a), the issuance, transfer, or exchange of notes or equity securities under or in connection with this Plan, including the Reorganized Relativity Holdings Preferred Units and Reorganized Relativity Holdings Common Units issued pursuant to this Plan, the creation of any mortgage, deed of trust or other security interest, the making or assignment of any lease or sublease, or the making or delivery of any deed or other instrument of transfer under, in furtherance of, or in connection with this Plan, including any merger agreements or agreements of consolidation, deeds, bills of sale or assignments executed in connection with any of the transactions contemplated under this Plan (including, without limitation, the New P&A/Ultimates Facility, the Restructuring Transactions, and the creation of the Litigation Trust), shall not be subject to any stamp, real estate transfer, mortgage recording, or other similar tax.

H. Request for Expedited Determination of Taxes

Reorganized Relativity Holdings or any Reorganized Debtor may request an expedited determination under Bankruptcy Code § 505(b) with respect to tax returns filed, or to be filed, on behalf of the Debtors for any and all taxable periods ending after the Petition Date through, and including, the Effective Date.

I. Severability

If prior to the entry of the Confirmation Order, any term or provision of this Plan is determined by the Bankruptcy Court to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, the Bankruptcy Court may, at the request of the Plan Proponents (such request, to the extent it has a direct impact on Manchester Securities and/or the Buyer, to be made with the approval of Manchester Securities and/or the Buyer, as the case may be, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), alter and interpret such term or provision to the extent necessary to render it valid or enforceable to the maximum extent practicable, consistent with the original purpose of the term or provision held to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, and such term or provision shall then be applicable as so altered or interpreted. Notwithstanding any such holding, alteration or interpretation, the remaining terms and provisions of this Plan shall remain in full force and effect and shall in no way be affected, impaired or invalidated by such holding, alteration or interpretation. The Confirmation Order shall constitute a judicial determination and shall provide that each term and provision of this Plan, as it may have been altered or interpreted in accordance with the foregoing, is valid and enforceable pursuant to its terms.

J. Governing Law

Except to the extent that (1) the Bankruptcy Code or other federal law is applicable or (2) an exhibit or schedule to this Plan or the Disclosure Statement or any agreement entered into with respect to any of the Restructuring Transactions provides otherwise (in which case the governing law specified therein shall be applicable to such exhibit, schedule or agreement), the rights, duties, and obligations arising under this Plan shall be governed by, and

construed and enforced in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to the principles of conflict of laws that would require application of the laws of another jurisdiction.

K. No Admissions

If the Effective Date does not occur, this Plan shall be null and void in all respects, and nothing contained in this Plan shall (1) constitute a waiver or release of any claims by or against, or any interests in, any of the Debtors or any other Entity, (2) prejudice in any manner the rights of any of the Debtors or any other Entity, or (3) constitute an admission of any sort by any of the Debtors or any other Entity.

L. Successors and Assigns

The rights, benefits and obligations of any Entity named or referred to in this Plan shall be binding on, and shall inure to the benefit of, any heir, executor, administrator, successor or assign of such Entity.

M. Service of Documents

To be effective, any pleading, notice or other document required by this Plan or the Confirmation Order to be served on or delivered to counsel to the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors and the Creditors' Committee must be sent by overnight delivery service, facsimile transmission, courier service or messenger to:

Attorneys for the Plan Co-Proponent and	Attorneys for the Manchester Parties
Debtors	
JONES DAY	O'MELVENY & MYERS LLP
Richard L. Wynne, Esq	Evan M. Jones
Bennett L. Spiegel, Esq.	Daniel S. Shamah
Lori Sinanyan, Esq. (admitted pro hac vice)	400 South Hope Street
222 East 41st Street	Los Angeles, CA 90071
New York, NY 10017	Telephone: (213) 430-6236
Tel: (212) 326-3939	Facsimile: (213) 430-6407
Fax: (212) 755-7306	, ,
	- and -
- and -	
CLIEBRA DE LA CLIEBRA DA CALIERRA A	
SHEPPARD MULLIN RICHTER &	ROPES & GRAY LLP
HAMPTON LLP	ROPES & GRAY LLP Keith H. Wofford
HAMPTON LLP	Keith H. Wofford
HAMPTON LLP Craig A. Wolfe, Esq.	Keith H. Wofford James A. Wright III
HAMPTON LLP Craig A. Wolfe, Esq. Malani J. Cademartori, Esq.	Keith H. Wofford James A. Wright III 1211 Avenue of the Americas
HAMPTON LLP Craig A. Wolfe, Esq. Malani J. Cademartori, Esq. Blanka K. Wolfe, Esq.	Keith H. Wofford James A. Wright III 1211 Avenue of the Americas New York, NY 10036-8704
HAMPTON LLP Craig A. Wolfe, Esq. Malani J. Cademartori, Esq. Blanka K. Wolfe, Esq. 30 Rockefeller Plaza	Keith H. Wofford James A. Wright III 1211 Avenue of the Americas New York, NY 10036-8704 Telephone: (212) 596-9000
HAMPTON LLP Craig A. Wolfe, Esq. Malani J. Cademartori, Esq. Blanka K. Wolfe, Esq. 30 Rockefeller Plaza New York, NY 10112	Keith H. Wofford James A. Wright III 1211 Avenue of the Americas New York, NY 10036-8704 Telephone: (212) 596-9000

Attorneys for Plan Co-Proponent Kavanaugh SKADDEN, ARPS, SLATE, MEAGHER & FLOM LLP Van C. Durrer II David C. Eisman 300 South Grand Avenue, Suite 3400 Los Angeles, California 90071 Telephone: (213) 687-5000 Facsimile: (213) 687-5600	SKADDEN, ARPS, SLATE, MEAGHER & FLOM LLP Shana Elberg 4 Times Square New York, New York 10036 Telephone: (212) 735-3000 Facsimile: (212) 735-2000
United States Trustee OFFICE OF THE UNITED STATES TRUSTEE Serene Nakano Susan D. Golden 201 Varick Street, Room 1006 New York, New York 10014 Telephone: (212) 510-0500 Facsimile: (212) 668-2255	Attorneys for the Creditors' Committee TOGUT, SEGAL & SEGAL LLP Albert Togut Frank Oswald One Penn Plaza, Suite 3335 New York, NY 10119 Telephone: (212) 594-5000 Facsimile: (212) 967-4258
Attorneys for Plan Co-Proponent Nicholas Michael A. Cramarosso TAFT STETTINIUS & HOLLISTER LLP 111 E. Wacker Drive, Suite 2800 Chicago, Illinois 60601-3713 Telephone: (312) 527-4000 Facsimile: (312) 275-7558	

XIII. CONFIRMATION REQUEST

The Plan Proponents request Confirmation of this Plan pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1129.

Dated: January 30, 2015 Respectfully submitted,

Relativity Holdings, LLC, on its own behalf and on behalf of each affiliate Debtor

By: /s/ Ryan Kavanaugh

Name: Ryan Kavanaugh

Title: Chief Executive Officer of Relativity

Holdings, LLC.

15-11989-mew Doc 1499 Filed 01/30/16 Entered 01/30/16 05:34:57 Main Document Pg 81 of 200

JONES DAY Richard L. Wynne Bennett L. Spiegel

Lori Sinanyan (admitted pro hac vice)

222 East 41st Street

New York, New York 10017 Telephone: (212) 326-3939 Facsimile: (212) 755-7306

ATTORNEYS FOR THE PLAN CO-PROPONENT, DEBTORS AND DEBTORS IN POSSESSION

SKADDEN, ARPS, SLATE, MEAGHER & FLOM LLP Van C. Durrer II Shana Elberg 4 Times Square New York, New York 10036

Telephone: (212) 735-3000 Facsimile: (212) 735-2000

ATTORNEYS FOR THE PLAN CO-PROPONENT KAVANAUGH SHEPPARD MULLIN RICHTER &

HAMPTON LLP Craig A. Wolfe Malani J. Cademartori Blanka K. Wolfe 30 Rockefeller Plaza New York, New York

Telephone: (212) 653-8700 Facsimile: (212) 653-8701

ATTORNEYS FOR THE DEBTORS AND DEBTORS IN POSSESSION

TAFT STETTINIUS & HOLLISTER LLP Michael A. Cramarosso 111 E. Wacker Drive, Suite 2800 Chicago, Illinois 60601-3713 Telephone: (312) 527-4000 Facsimile: (312) 275-7558

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAN CO-PROPONENT NICHOLAS

EXHIBIT 2

Blackline Against Plan Filed on December 17, 2015

15-11989-mew Doc 1499 Filed 01/30/16 Entered 01/30/16 05:34:57 Main Document Pg 83 of 200

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

In re:

Chapter 11

RELATIVITY FASHION, LLC, et al. ¹

Case No. 15-11989 (MEW)

Debtors.

(Jointly Administered)

PLAN PROPONENTS' SECOND AMENDED PLAN OF REORGANIZATION PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 11 OF THE BANKRUPTCY CODE

PLAN PROPONENTS' THIRD AMENDED PLAN OF REORGANIZATION PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 11 OF THE BANKRUPTCY CODE

Nothing contained herein shall constitute an offer, acceptance, or a legally binding obligation of the Debtors or any other party in interest. This Plan is subject to approval of the Bankruptcy Court and other customary conditions. This Plan is not an offer with respect to any securities. Acceptances or rejections with respect to this Plan may not be solicited until a disclosure statement has been approved by the Bankruptcy Court in accordance with Bankruptcy Code § 1125. Such a solicitation will only be made in compliance with applicable provisions of securities and bankruptcy laws. YOU SHOULD NOT RELY ON THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN, OR THE TERMS OF, THIS PLAN FOR ANY PURPOSE PRIOR TO THE CONFIRMATION OF THIS PLAN BY THE BANKRUPTCY COURT.

Richard L. Wynne

Bennett L. Spiegel

Lori Sinanyan (admitted pro hac vice)

JONES DAY

222 East 41st street

New York, New York 10017

Telephone: (212) 326-3939

Facsimile: (212) 755-7306

ATTORNEYS FOR THE PLAN CO-PROPONENT, DEBTORS

AND DEBTORS IN POSSESSION

Craig A. Wolfe

Malani J. Cademartori

Blanka K. Wolfe

SHEPPARD MULLIN RICHTER &

HAMPTON LLP

30 Rockefeller Plaza

New York, New York

Telephone: (212) 653-8700

Facsimile: (212) 653-8701

ATTORNEYS FOR THE PLAN CO-PROPONENT, DEBTORS AND DEBTORS IN POSSESSION

¹ The Debtors in these Chapter 11 Cases are as set forth on Exhibit A.

Dated: January 30, 2016

Van C. Durrer II

Shana Elberg

SKADDEN, ARPS, SLATE, MEAGHER & FLOM LLP

4 Times Square

New York, New York 10036 Telephone: (212) 735-3000 Facsimile: (212) 735-2000

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAN CO-KAVANAUGH

Richard L. Wynne Craig A. Wolfe Bennett L. Spiegel Malani J. Cademart Lori Sinanyan (admitted pro hac vice) Blanka K. Wolfe JONES DAY SHEPPARD MUI 222 East 41st Street 30 Rockefeller Plaz New York, New York 10017 New York, New Yo Telephone: (212) 326-3939 Telephone: (212) 6 Facsimile: (212) 755-7306 Facsimile: (212) 6:

ATTORNEYS FOR THE PLAN CO-PROPONENT, DEBTORS AND DEBTORS IN POSSESSION DEBTORS AND DEBTORS

Van C. Durrer II Shana Elberg

SKADDEN, ARPS, SLATE, MEAGHER & FLOM LLP

4 Times Square

New York, New York 10036 Telephone: (212) 735-3000 Facsimile: (212) 735-2000

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAN CO PROPONENT, KAVANAUGH

Dated: December 17, 2015

Page

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. I	DEFINED TERMS, RULES OF INTERPRETATION AND COMPUTATION OF T	IME. 1
A.	Defined Terms	1
В.	Rules of Interpretation and Computation of Time	<u>45<mark>21</mark></u>
II. C	CLASSIFICATION AND TREATMENT OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS	4522
A.	Treatment of Unclassified Claims	<u>46<mark>22</mark></u>
В.	Classification of Claims and Interests	<u>48</u> <u>25</u>
C.	Treatment of Classified Claims	<u>21</u> 29
D.	Special Provision Regarding Prepetition Intercompany Claims	<u>26</u> <u>34</u>
	For purposes of distributions under this Plan, Prepetition Intercompany Claims sharmed disallowed as part of the deemed substantive consolidation of the Debtors. Specovision Governing Unimpaired Claims	cial
F.	Postpetition Interest on General Unsecured Claims	<u>26</u> <u>35</u>
G.	Insurance	26 <u>35</u>
III.	MEANS OF IMPLEMENTATION	26 <u>35</u>
A.	Issuance of Reorganized Relativity Holdings Preferred Units	<u>26<mark>35</mark></u>
B.	Issuance of Reorganized Relativity Holdings Common Units	<u>27<u>36</u></u>
C.	Issuance of Reorganized Relativity Holdings Warrants	<u>27</u> <u>36</u>
D.	Continued Corporate Existence and Vesting of Assets in the Reorganized Deb 2737	tors
E.	Restructuring Transactions	<u>28</u> <u>37</u>
F.	Sources of Cash for Plan Distributions	29 <u>39</u>
G. and	Corporate Governance, Managers and Officers, Employment-Related Agreen Compensation Programs; Other Agreements	
Н.	New P&A/Ultimates Facility	<u>3041</u>
I.	Preservation of Causes of Action	<u>3141</u>
J.	Reinstatement and Continuation of Insurance Policies	<u>3142</u>
K.	Entry into CBA Assumption Agreements	<u>31<u>42</u></u>
L.	Cancellation and Surrender of Instruments, Securities and Other Documenta 3142	tion
M.	Release of Liens	<u>3243</u>
N.	Effectuating Documents; Further Transactions	<u>3243</u>
<u>O.</u>	Transfer of Collateral Encumbered by Vine/Verite Secured Claims	<u>43</u>
IV.	TREATMENT OF EXECUTORY CONTRACTS AND UNEXPIRED LEASES	32 43

A.	Assumption and Rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases.	<u>3243</u>
В.	Cure of Defaults for Assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases	33 <u>45</u>
C.	Claims Based on Rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases	33 <u>45</u>
D.	Contracts and Leases Entered Into After the Petition Date	34 <u>46</u>
E.	Reservation of Rights	<u>34<u>46</u></u>
F.	Pre-Existing Obligations to the Debtors Under Executory Contracts and U	Jnexpired
Lea		
G.	Certain Compensation and Benefit Programs	
Н.	Obligations to Insure and Indemnify Directors, Officers and Employees	
I.	Reservation of Rights	
V. P	PROVISIONS GOVERNING DISTRIBUTIONS	<u>3548</u>
A.	Distributions for Allowed Claims as of the Effective Date	<u>3548</u>
В.	Undeliverable Distributions	<u>35<u>48</u></u>
C.	Compliance with Tax Requirements	35 <u>48</u>
D.	Distribution Record Date	36 <u>49</u>
E.	Setoffs	<u>36</u> 49
F.	Distributions to Holders of Disputed Claims	<u>36<u>49</u></u>
G.	Allocation Between Principal and Accrued Interest	37 <u>50</u>
VI.	DISPUTED, CONTINGENT AND UNLIQUIDATED CLAIMS	37 <u>50</u>
A.	Allowance of Claims	37 <u>50</u>
B.	Prosecution of Objections to Claims	37 <u>50</u>
C.	Estimation of Claims	<u>37<u>51</u></u>
D.	Expungement or Adjustment to Claims Without Objection	38 <u>51</u>
E.	Deadline to File Objections to Claims	<u>38<u>51</u></u>
F.	Disallowance of Certain Claims	38 <u>51</u>
G.	Offer of Judgment	38 <u>51</u>
Н.	Amendments to Claims	<u>38<u>52</u></u>
VII.	CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO CONSUMMATION OF THIS PLAN	<u>38<u>52</u></u>
A.	Conditions to the Effective Date	<u>38<u>52</u></u>
В.	Waiver of Conditions to Effective Date	<u>39</u> 52
C.	Effects of Nonoccurrence of Conditions to the Effective Date	<u>39</u> 53
VIII.	NON-CONSENSUAL CONFIRMATION NON-CONSENSUAL CONFIRMA	TION 39 53
IX.	THE LITIGATION TRUST	
A.	Litigation Trust Agreement	<u>39<u>53</u></u>

<u>NAI-1500594528v25</u> -4-

В.	Purpose of the Litigation Trust	3 <u>953</u>
C.	Litigation Trust Assets	40 <u>54</u>
D.	Administration of the Litigation Trust	40 <u>54</u>
E.	The Litigation Trustee	40 <u>54</u>
F.	Role of the Litigation Trustee	40 <u>54</u>
G.	Transferability of Litigation Trust Interests	40 <u>54</u>
Н.	Cash	40 <u>54</u>
I.	Distribution of Litigation Trust Assets/Litigation Trust Claims Reserve	40 <u>55</u>
J.	Costs and Expenses of the Litigation Trust	41 <u>56</u>
K.	Compensation of the Litigation Trustee	42 <u>56</u>
L.	Retention of Professionals/Employees by the Litigation Trustee	42 <u>56</u>
M.	Federal Income Tax Treatment of the Litigation Trust	42 <u>56</u>
N.	Indemnification of Litigation Trustee	42 <u>57</u>
Ο.	Privileges and Obligation to Respond to Ongoing Investigations	43 <u>58</u>
X. E	FFECT OF CONFIRMATION	43 <u>58</u>
A.	Dissolution of Official Committees	43 <u>58</u>
В.	Discharge of Claims and Interests	43 <u>58</u>
C.	Injunctions	4 <u>358</u>
D.	Exculpation	44 <u>60</u>
E.	Debtor Release	45 <u>60</u>
F.	Third Party Release	4 <u>5</u> 62
G.	Votes Solicited in Good Faith	4 <u>663</u>
XI.	RETENTION OF JURISDICTION	47 <u>63</u>
XII.	MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS	48 <u>65</u>
A.	Amendment or Modification of this Plan	48 <u>65</u>
В.	Revocation of this Plan	48 <u>66</u>
C.	Conversion or Dismissal of Certain of the Chapter 11 Cases	48 <u>66</u>
D.	Inconsistency	49 <u>66</u>
E.	Exhibits / Schedules	49 <u>66</u>
F.	Bankruptcy Code § 1145 Exemption	49 <u>66</u>
G.	Exemption from Transfer Taxes	4 <u>967</u>
Н.	Request for Expedited Determination of Taxes	4 <u>967</u>
I.	Severability	4 <u>967</u>
J.	Governing Law	4967

15-11989-mew Doc 1499 Filed 01/30/16 Entered 01/30/16 05:34:57 Main Document Pg 88 of 200

K.	No Admissions	<u>50</u> <u>68</u>
L.	Successors and Assigns	<u>50</u> 68
M.	Service of Documents	<u>50</u> 68
XIII	CONFIRMATION REQUEST	5269

-6-

15-11989-mew Doc 1499 Filed 01/30/16 Entered 01/30/16 05:34:57 Main Document Pg 89 of 200

TABLE OF EXHIBITS²

Exhibit A - List of Debtors - filed at Docket 1143

Exhibit B - Revised Relativity Holdings Certificate of Formation — to be filed with the Plan-Supplement at Docket 1238, Exh. B

Exhibit C - Revised Relativity Holdings Operating Agreement — to be filed with the Plan-Supplement at Docket 1415, Exh. 3

Exhibit D - New Board of Managers of Reorganized Relativity Holdings – to be filed with the Plan Supplement at Docket 1238, Exh. D

Exhibit <u>EE-1</u> – Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases to be Rejected – attached, but to be <u>updated withfiled prior to</u> the <u>Plan SupplementConfirmation Hearing</u>

Exhibit E-2 – Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases to be Assumed with a Cure Amount Greater than \$0 – to be filed prior to the Confirmation Hearing

<u>Exhibit E-3 - Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases that are Terminated – to be filed prior to the Confirmation Hearing</u>

Exhibit F - New P&A/Ultimates Facility _ to be filed with prior to the Plan Supplement Confirmation Hearing

Exhibit G - Litigation Trust Agreement – to be filed with prior to the Plan Supplement Confirmation Hearing

Exhibit H - Warrant Agreements - to be filed with the Plan Supplement at Docket 1415

Exhibit I - Proposed Alternative Plan Treatment for RKA – attached filed at Docket 1434, Exhibits 1-5

Exhibit J - Causes of Action - to be filed with prior to the Plan Supplement Confirmation Hearing

Exhibit K - Form of Replacement P&A Note to be Note - filed with the Plan Supplement at Docket 1297, Exh. B

Exhibit L - Form of Replacement Production Loan Note to be Note — filed with the Plan-Supplementat Docket 1238, Exh. L

Exhibit M – Principal Terms of the Form of BidCo Note – attached to be filed prior to the Confirmation Hearing

NAI-1500594528v2025

.

² The Exhibits not initially appended to the Plan will be Filed as part of the Plan Supplement. All Exhibits will be made available, free of charge, on the Document Website once they are filed. Copies of all Exhibits may be obtained from the Notice and Claims Agent by calling 212.771.1128. The Debtors reserve the right to modify, amend, supplement, restate or withdraw any of the Exhibits after they are Filed and shall promptly make such changes available on the Document Website.

Exhibit N – Manchester Library Agreements – filed at Docket 1415, Exh. 4

Exhibit O – Form of Mutual Release Agreement – filed at Docket 1415, Exh. 5

Exhibit P – Form of Fee Note – filed at Docket 1415, Exh. 6

Exhibit Q – Form of Side Letter – to be filed prior to the Confirmation Hearing

-8-

INTRODUCTION

Relativity Fashion, LLC and the other Debtors in the above-captioned Chapter 11 Cases together with Ryan C. Kavanaugh and Joe Nicholas, as the Plan Proponents, respectfully propose the following plan for the resolution of outstanding claims against, and interests in, the Debtors pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code (each undefined term, as defined herein). Holders of claims and interests may refer to the Disclosure Statement for a discussion of the Debtors' history, businesses, assets, liabilities, results of operations, historical financial information, accomplishments during the Chapter 11 Cases, and projections of future operations, as well as a description and summary of this Plan and the distributions to be made thereunder and certain related matters. The Debtors are proponents of this Plan within the meaning of Bankruptcy Code § 1129.

Other agreements and documents supplementing this Plan are appended as Exhibits hereto and have been or will be Filed with the Bankruptcy Court. These supplemental agreements and documents are referenced in this Plan and the Disclosure Statement and will be available for review.

ALL CREDITORS ENTITLED TO VOTE ON THIS PLAN ARE ENCOURAGED TO READ THE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT IN ITS ENTIRETY BEFORE VOTING TO ACCEPT OR REJECT THIS PLAN. SUBJECT TO CERTAIN RESTRICTIONS AND REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN BANKRUPTCY CODE § 1127, IN BANKRUPTCY RULE 3019 AND IN THIS PLAN, THE PLAN PROPONENTS RESERVE THE RIGHT TO ALTER, AMEND, MODIFY, REVOKE OR WITHDRAW THIS PLAN PRIOR TO ITS SUBSTANTIAL CONSUMMATION.

I. DEFINED TERMS, RULES OF INTERPRETATION AND COMPUTATION OF TIME

A. Defined Terms

Capitalized terms used in this Plan and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings set forth below.

Any term that is not defined in this Plan, but that is used in the Bankruptcy Code or the Bankruptcy Rules, shall have the meaning given to that term in the Bankruptcy Code or the Bankruptcy Rules, as applicable.

- <u>1.</u> <u>"9019 Settlement Order"</u> means the <u>Stipulation and Agreed Order</u> <u>Approving Settlement Agreement</u> between the Committee and the Manchester Parties, which shall be in the form of the proposed order filed January 26, 2016 (Docket No. 1426) or otherwise in form and substance acceptable to Manchester Parties in their sole discretion.
- <u>2.</u> <u>"Additional Effective Date Payments"</u> means payments to be made by the Debtors to the Buyer on the Effective Date to reduce the principal balance of the BidCo Note in amounts equal to (i) one hundred percent (100%) of the first \$2 million of equity contributions received by the Debtors as of the Effective Date in excess of the \$30 million of equity

contributions anticipated to be received by such date; and (ii) after taking into account such \$2 million, fifty percent (50%) of any amounts received by the Debtors as of the Effective Date in excess of the \$92.5 million of the aggregate funding (\$30 million in equity; \$60 million in Ultimates debt, \$2.5 million in cash) anticipated to be received by such date; provided, however, that the aggregate amount of the Additional Effective Date Payments shall not exceed \$30 million.

- "Administrative Claim" means a Claim against a Debtor or its Estate arising on or after the Petition Date and prior to the Effective Date for a cost or expense of administration in the Chapter 11 Cases that is entitled to priority or superpriority under Bankruptcy Code §§ 364(c)(1), 503(b), 503(c), 507(b) or 1114(e)(2), including: (a) the actual and necessary costs and expenses incurred after the Petition Date of preserving the Estates and operating the businesses of the Debtors; (b) compensation for legal, financial advisory, accounting and other services and reimbursement of expenses awarded or allowed under Bankruptcy Code §§ 330(a) or 331, including Fee Claims; and (c) all fees and charges assessed against the Estates under chapter 123 of title 28, United States Code, 28 U.S.C. §§ 1911-1930.
- **24.** "Administrative Claims Bar Date" means the date that is forty-five (45) days after the Effective Date.
- **35. "Administrative Claims Objection Deadline"** means the date that is ninety (90) days after the Effective Date.
 - **46.** "Affiliate" has the meaning set forth in Bankruptcy Code § 101(2).
 - **57. "AFM"** means the American Federation of Musicians.
- "Allowed" means with respect to Claims: (a) any Claim (i) for which a Proof of Claim has been timely filed on or before the applicable Claims Bar Date (or that by the Bankruptcy Code or Final Order is not or shall not be required to be filed) or (ii) that is listed in the Schedules as of the Effective Date as not disputed, not contingent and not unliquidated, and for which no Proof of Claim has been timely filed; provided that, in each case, any such Claim shall be considered Allowed only if and to the extent that no objection to the allowance thereof has been interposed within the applicable period of time fixed by this Plan, the Bankruptcy Code, the Bankruptcy Rules or the Bankruptcy Court or such an objection has been interposed and the Claim has been thereafter Allowed by a Final Order; or (b) any Claim Allowed pursuant to this Plan, a Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court (including pursuant to any stipulation approved by the Bankruptcy Court) and any Stipulation of Amount and Nature of Claim; provided, further, that the Claims described in clauses (a) and (b) above shall not include any Claim on account of a right, option, warrant, right to convert or other right to purchase an Equity Interest. Claims allowed solely for the purpose of voting to accept or reject this Plan pursuant to an order of the Bankruptcy Court shall not be considered "Allowed Claims" hereunder. For the avoidance of doubt, no right of setoff shall be preserved and give rise to an Allowed Claim unless such setoff right is set forth in a timely filed proof of claim.
- **72. "Armored Car Loan and Security Agreement"** means the Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated August 5, 2014, among Debtor Armored Car

Productions, LLC, as borrower, CIT Bank, N.A. as agent, and the lenders party thereto, for loans up to approximately \$21,586,243 as of October 4, 2015 for the purpose of acquiring, producing, completing, and delivering a motion picture prior to release, and the payment of related financing costs. CIT asserts a different amount outstanding as of the date shown, and the amount is also subject to reconciliation for other obligations under the LSA including, without limitation, attorneys' fees.

- **810. "Avoidance Claims"** means any and all actual or potential claims and causes of action to avoid a transfer of property or an obligation incurred by the Debtors pursuant to any applicable section of the Bankruptcy Code, including Bankruptcy Code §§ 502, 510, 542, 544, 545, and 547-553 or under similar or related state or federal statutes and common law, including fraudulent transfer laws.
- **911. "Ballot"** means the applicable form or forms of ballot(s) distributed to Holders of Claims entitled to vote on this Plan and on which the acceptance or rejection of this Plan is to be indicated.
- **1012. "Balloting Agent"** means Donlin, Recano & Company, Inc., the Bankruptcy-Court appointed balloting agent for the Debtors.
- #113. "Bankruptcy Code" means title 11 of the United States Code, as now in effect or hereafter amended.
- **1214. "Bankruptcy Court"** means the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York having jurisdiction over the Chapter 11 Cases, and, to the extent of the withdrawal of any reference, the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York.
- Halfs. "Bankruptcy Rules" means, collectively, the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure and the local rules of the Bankruptcy Court, as now in effect or hereafter amended.
- **1416. "Bar Date"** means the bar date by which a Proof of Claim must be or must have been Filed, as established by (a) the Bar Date Order or (b) a Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court.
- Exhibit M, to be issued by Reorganized Relativity Media, LLC, guaranteed by all of the reorganized subsidiaries (subject to certain customary exceptions), to Buyer in satisfaction of the Retained TLA/TLB Secured Claim in the principal amount of \$60.0 million (or such lesser principal amount as may be outstanding on the Retained TLA/TLB Secured Claim on the date of issuance of the BidCo Note) to be issued on the Effective Date, which shall, among other things, (i) have a maturity date of two (2) years, (ii) bear interest at a rate of 8.5% per annum on the first \$30 million and 12.0% per annum on any amount over \$30 million, in each case payable quarterly in Cash, (iii) bear an additional interest of 2% during the occurrence and continuation of an event of default; (iv) be required to be repaidsubject to repayment on the term set forth therein, including by virtue of potential Additional Effective Date Payments and out of the proceeds of any indebtedness without exception (including the New P&A/Ultimates Facility) until the outstanding principal

amount thereof is not greater than \$30.0 million additional capital raises, whether debt or equity; and (v) be on terms acceptable to the Buyer. The principal terms of the BidCo Note are set forth in Exhibit Mattached hereto.

- **1618. "BidCo Note Obligors"** means each Subsidiary Debtor, excluding (i) Relativity Fashion, LLC, (ii) Yuma, Inc., (iii) J & J Project, LLC and (iv) any of the Subsidiary Debtors whose assets were sold as part of the sale of the Debtors' television business.
- **1719. "Business Day"** means any day, other than a Saturday, Sunday or "legal holiday" (as defined in Bankruptcy Rule 9006(a)).
- **1820. "Buyer"** means RM Bidder, LLC, purchaser of certain assets of the TV Business.
- **1921. "Cash"** means the lawful currency of the United States of America and equivalents thereof.
- **2022.** "Causes of Action" means any Claim, Avoidance Action, cause of action, controversy, right of setoff, cross claim, counterclaim, or recoupment and any claim on contracts or for breaches of duties imposed by law or in equity, demand, right, action, lien, indemnity, guaranty, suit, obligation, liability, damage, judgment, account, defense, power, privilege, license, and franchise of any kind or character whatsoever, known, unknown, fixed or contingent, matured or unmatured, suspected or unsuspected, liquidated or unliquidated, disputed or undisputed, secured or unsecured, assertable directly or derivatively, whether arising before, on, or after the Petition Date, in contract or in tort, in law or in equity, or pursuant to any other theory of law; *excluding*, *however*, (i) RKA Causes of Action, (ii) any settlement of Claims on or prior to the Effective Date, and (iii) Claims or Avoidance Actions against Released Parties, *but including* the Excluded Released Parties.
- 2123. "CBA Assumption Agreements" means the assumption agreements for each and every Covered Picture to be entered into by Reorganized Relativity Media LLC on the Effective Date which shall obligate the Reorganized Debtors only for all obligations thereunder that accrue after the Effective Date, and which assumption agreements shall be in the standard form found in the collective bargaining agreement of each Union Entity.
- 2224. "Chapter 11 Cases" means the cases commenced under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code by the Debtors in the Bankruptcy Court.
- **2325.** "CIT Bank" means CIT Bank, N.A., formerly known as OneWest Bank, N.A.
- 2426. "Claim" means a claim, as such term is defined in Bankruptcy Code § 101(5), against a Debtor.
- 2527. "Claims Bar Date" means, as applicable, the Administrative Claims Bar Date and any other date or dates to be established by an Order of the Bankruptcy Court by which Proofs of Claim must be filed, including the general bar date of December 9, 2015 at 5:00 p.m. (ET) as set forth in the Court's *Order Pursuant to 11 U.S.C. §§ 501 and 502(b)(9), Fed. R.*

- Bankr. P. 2002 and 3003(c)(3), and Local Rule 3003-1(I) Establishing Deadline For Filing Proofs of Claim and Procedures Relating Thereto and (II) Approving Form and Manner of Notice Thereof [Dkt. No. 927].
- 2628. "Claims Objection Bar Date" means the deadline for objecting to a Claim, which shall be on the date that is the later of (a) one year after the Effective Date and (b) such later period of limitation as may be specifically fixed by an order of the Bankruptcy Court.
- **2729. "Class"** means a class of Claims or Interests, as described in Section II of this Plan.
- <u>30.</u> <u>"Class A Litigation Trust Beneficiary Units"</u> means the Litigation Trust Beneficiary Units held by Holders of Allowed Claims in Class J other than Manchester Securities (or any permitted transferee pursuant to the Litigation Trust Agreement).
- <u>31.</u> <u>"Class B Litigation Trust Beneficiary Units"</u> means the Litigation Trust Beneficiary Units held by Manchester Securities (or any permitted transferee pursuant to the Litigation Trust Agreement) on account of its Allowed Claim in Class J.
- 2832. "Committee DIP Proceeds" means the allocation of \$275,000 in aggregate proceeds from the Debtors' debtor in possession financing to be used to pay fees and expenses of the professionals retained by the Creditors' Committee that are incurred in connection with investigation of certain specified matters pursuant to Paragraph 4(b) of the Initial Final DIP Order.
- **2933. "Confirmation"** means the entry of the Confirmation Order on the docket of the Bankruptcy Court.
- **3034. "Confirmation Date"** means the date on which the Bankruptcy Court enters the Confirmation Order on its docket, within the meaning of Bankruptcy Rules 5003 and 9021.
- 3135. "Confirmation Hearing" means the hearing held by the Bankruptcy Court to consider Confirmation of this Plan, as such hearing may be continued from time to time.
- **3236.** "Confirmation Order" means the order of the Bankruptcy Court confirming this Plan pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1129.
- **3337. "Covered Pictures"** means those theatrical or television motion pictures with respect to which: (i) the Debtors were obligated to pay residuals to members of Union Entities as of the Petition Date; and (ii) rights are to be transferred to the Reorganized Debtors.
- 3438. "Creditors' Committee" means the official committee of unsecured creditors appointed in the Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1102.
- **3539.** "Cure Cost Savings" means the difference between (a) the cure payment to a creditor paid by the Debtors in connection with the assumption of an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease minus (b) the amount of the claim as scheduled on the Debtors' books and

records; *provided*, *however*, that such savings is achieved with the assistance of the Creditors' Committee or Litigation Trustee, as applicable at the Debtors' or Reorganized Debtors' request.

- **3640.** "days" means calendar days.
- **3741. "Debtors"** means, collectively, the debtors listed on Exhibit A attached hereto.
- **3842.** "**DGA**" means the Directors Guild of America, Inc., on behalf of itself and the Producer-Directors Guild of America Pension and Health Plans.
- 43. "DIP Credit Agreement" means that certain debtor in possession financing Agreement, dated as of July 30, 2015 (Dkt. No. 48, Ex. 2, as the same was subsequently, amended, supplemented or otherwise revised by the Court's Initial Final DIP Order, previously entered interim orders related thereto, and the Modified DIP Order), among Relativity Media, LLC and each subsidiary thereof (as borrower), Relativity Holdings (as Guarantor), the Initial DIP Agent, the Initial DIP Lenders, the Successor DIP Agent, and/or the Successor DIP Lenders, as the case may be, party thereto.
- Proponents' Plan of Reorganization Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code, of even date herewith (including all exhibits and schedules thereto or referenced therein), that has been prepared and distributed by the Plan Proponents, pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1125, as the same may be amended, modified or supplemented, and which is in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Plan Proponents.
- 4045. "Disclosure Statement Order" means an order entered by the Bankruptcy Court, which shall be a Final Order and which shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Plan Proponents, approving, among other things, the Disclosure Statement as containing adequate information pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1125, authorizing solicitation of the Disclosure Statement and this Plan and approving related solicitation materials.
- 4146. "Disputed Claim" means any portion of a Claim (a) that is neither an Allowed Claim nor a disallowed Claim, (b) that is listed as disputed, contingent or unliquidated on the Schedules or that is otherwise subject to an objection or (c) for which a Proof of Claim has been timely filed with the Bankruptcy Court or a written request for payment has been made, to the extent the Debtors have, or any party in interest entitled to do so has, interposed a timely objection or request for estimation, which objection or request for estimation has not been withdrawn or determined by a Final Order.
- 4247. "Distribution Record Date" means the close of business on the day the Bankruptcy Court enters the order confirming this Plan pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1129.
- 4348. "Document Website" means the internet site address https://www.donlinrecano.com/Clients/rm/Index at which all of the exhibits and schedules to this Plan and the Disclosure Statement will be available to any party in interest and the public, free of charge.

- 44<u>9</u>. "DR Loan and Security Agreement" means a Loan and Security Agreement, dated September 5, 2014, entered into between Debtor DR Productions, LLC, as borrower, and CIT Bank, N.A. as agent and the lenders party thereto, for loans up to approximately \$12,272,477 as of October 4, 2015 for the purpose of acquiring, producing, completing, and delivering a motion picture prior to release, and the payment of related financing costs. CIT asserts a different amount outstanding as of the date shown, and the amount is also subject to reconciliation for other obligations under the LSA including, without limitation, attorneys' fees.
- 45<u>50</u>. "Effective Date" means the day selected by the Debtors that is a Business Day as soon as reasonably practicable after the Confirmation Date on which all conditions to the Effective Date in Section VII.A shall have been satisfied or waived in accordance with Section VII.B and, if a stay of the Confirmation Order is in effect, such stay shall have expired, dissolved, or been lifted.
 - **4651. "Entity"** shall have the meaning set forth in Bankruptcy Code § 101(15).
 - 4752. "Equity (UK)" means Equity of Guild House.
- **4853. "Estate"** means, as to each Debtor, the estate created for such Debtor in its Chapter 11 Case pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 541.
- 49<u>54</u>. "Excluded <u>Released Released Parties</u>" shall be those parties included in <u>Exhibit J; provided</u>, that the <u>Excluded Released Parties shall not include any of the Manchester Parties once approved by the Bankruptcy Court</u>.
- **5055. "Exculpated Parties"** (i) the Plan Proponents; (ii) the Debtors' respective officers, boards of managers and the members thereof; (iii) the Creditors' Committee; and (iv) the Manchester Parties; (v) the Buyer; and (vi) with respect to each of the foregoing entities in clauses (i) through (iiiv), only on or after the Petition Date, their respective Representatives (in their capacities as such).
 - **5156.** "Exculpation" means the exculpation provision set forth in Section X.D.
- **5257. "Executory Contract"** or "**Unexpired Lease"** means a contract or lease to which a Debtor is a party that is subject to assumption, assumption and assignment or rejection under Bankruptcy Code § 365, including any modifications, amendments, addenda or supplements thereto or restatements thereof.
- **5358. "Exhibit"** means an exhibit attached to this Plan or included in the Plan Supplement.
- **5459. "Fee Claim"** means a Claim under Bankruptcy Code §§ 328, 330(a), 331, 503 or 1103 for compensation of a Professional or other Entity for services rendered or expenses incurred in the Chapter 11 Cases.
 - **60. "Fee Note"** has the meaning given in Section III.G.5.

- **5561.** "Fee Order" means any order establishing procedures for interim compensation and reimbursement of expenses of Professionals that may be entered by the Bankruptcy Court.
- 5662. "File," "Filed" or "Filing" means file, filed or filing with the Bankruptcy Court or its authorized designee in the Chapter 11 Cases.
- 5763. "Final Order" means an order or judgment of the Bankruptcy Court, or other court of competent jurisdiction, as entered on the docket in the Chapter 11 Cases or the docket of any other court of competent jurisdiction, that has not been reversed, stayed, modified or amended, and as to which the time to appeal or seek certiorari or move for a new trial, reargument, reconsideration or rehearing has expired, and no appeal or petition for certiorari or other proceedings for a new trial, reargument, reconsideration or rehearing has been timely taken, or as to which any appeal that has been taken or any petition for certiorari that has been timely filed has been withdrawn or resolved by the highest court to which the order or judgment was appealed or from which certiorari was sought or the new trial, reargument, reconsideration or rehearing shall have been denied or resulted in no modification of such order.
- **5864. "FMSMF"** means Film Musicians Secondary Markets Fund, which operates pursuant to American Federation of Musicians collective bargaining agreements, to collect and distribute residuals under the collective bargaining agreements.
- Secured Claim, (ii) Professional Fee Claim, (iii) Plan Co-Proponent Fee/Expense Claim, (iv) Priority Tax Claim, (v) Priority Non-Tax Claim, (vi) TLA/TLB Secured Claim, (vii) Pre-Release P&A Secured Claim, (viii) Post-Release P&A Secured Claim, (ix) Production Loan Secured Claim, (x) Ultimates Secured Claim, (xi) Secured Guilds Claim, (xii) Vine/Verite Secured Claim, (xiii) Other Secured Claim, or (xiv) Subordinated Claim.
- Committee Allocation, (ii) an additional \$2.0 million payment within 12 24 months of the Effective Date, and (iii) an additional \$5.0 million within 36 48 months of the Effective Date. In the case of (ii) and (iii), the Reorganized Debtors shall, in their business judgment, determine the timing of such payment based on whether the Reorganized Debtors have sufficient working capital to satisfy their business plan and make such payment, but in each case, the Reorganized Debtors shall make such payment no later than 24 months and 48 months from the Effective Date respectively. Notwithstanding the foregoing, until such time as the \$7.0 million payments in (ii) and (iii) herein are made, in the event that the Reorganized Debtors recover any amount on account of the Reorganized Debtors Causes of Action Interest, such amount shall be paid by the Reorganized Debtors to the Litigation Trust as an acceleration of such payment obligation.
- 6167. "GUC Interest" means the beneficial interests in (i) seventy percent (70%) of the litigation recoveries from the Causes of Action, net of litigation cost, (ii) one hundred (100%) of the recoveries of the Avoidance Claims, (ii) twenty-five percent (25%) of the Cure Cost Savings; and (iv) subject to such other terms agreed to by the Plan Proponents and the Creditors' Committee as may be set forth in the Litigation Trust Agreement, payment of five percent (5%) of net operating income on the fifth anniversary of the Effective Date if the

Reorganized Debtors achieve \$150.0 million of EBITDA on such anniversary, *provided*, *however*, that such payment set forth in (iv) shall not exceed \$7.5 million.

- with the Allowed Secured Guilds Claims, Allowed Guild Administrative Claims, Allowed Guild Priority Claims, or Allowed Guild General Unsecured Claims that shall be payable to each applicable Guild for the benefit of each applicable Guild-represented employee. Payments will be made to counsel for the Guilds. The Reorganized Debtors shall provide a designated payroll service (selected mutually by the Guilds and the Reorganized Debtors) with information concerning such payments. The payroll service shall prepare checks in the form and manner prescribed by each collective bargaining agreement. Guild counsel will forward the payable principal amounts, and the Reorganized Debtors shall fund the payroll process and applicable taxes. As an accommodation to the Reorganized Debtor, the Guilds shall forward such payments to the applicable Guild-represented employee.
- **6369. "Guilds"** means the DGA, SAG-AFTRA, and the WGA, with reference to their status as Secured Guilds or as Unsecured Union Entities.
- <u>70.</u> <u>"Heatherden Fee Claims" means the Professional Fee Claim, as defined in the 9019 Settlement Order.</u>
- **64**71. **"Holder"** means an Entity holding a Claim or Interest, as the context requires.
- **6572. "Impaired"** means, when used in reference to a Claim or an Interest, a Claim or an Interest that is impaired within the meaning of Bankruptcy Code § 1124.
- **6673. "Initial DIP Agent"** means Cortland Capital Market Services LLC, in its capacity as the initial administrative agent and collateral agent under the Initial DIP Credit Agreement.
- 67. "Initial DIP Claims" means any Claim of the Initial DIP Agent or the Initial DIP Lenders against a Debtor under or evidenced by (a) the Initial DIP Credit Agreement and (b) the Initial Final DIP Order.
- **68. "Initial DIP Credit Agreement"** means that certain debtor in possession financing. Agreement, dated as of July 30, 2015 (Dkt. No. 48, Ex. 2, as the same was subsequently, amended, supplemented or otherwise revised by the Court's Initial Final DIP Order and previously entered interim orders related thereto), among Relativity Media, LLC and each subsidiary thereof (as borrower), Relativity Holdings (as Guarantor), the Initial DIP Agent and the Initial DIP Lenders party thereto.
- **6974. "Initial DIP Lenders"** means, collectively, those entities identified as "Lenders" in the Initial DIP Credit Agreement and their respective permitted successors and assigns (solely in their capacity as "DIP Lenders" under the DIP Credit Agreement).
- 7075. "Initial Final DIP Order" means the Final Order Pursuant to Sections 105, 361, 362, 363, 364 and 507 of the Bankruptcy Code (I) Authorizing Debtors to Obtain Superpriority Secured Debtor In Possession Debtor-In- Possession Financing, (II) Authorizing

Debtors to Use Cash Collateral, (III) Granting Adequate Protection to the Cortland Parties, and (IV) Granting Related Relief (Dkt. No. 342).

- 71<u>76</u>. "Intercompany Claim" any Allowed Claim of any Debtor against another Debtor.
- **T277. "Intercompany Interest"** any Interest (a) of any Debtor in another Debtor or (b) of any Non-Debtor Affiliate in a Debtor, in each case, that arose prior to the Petition Date
- ratherest" means the rights of the Holders of stock, membership interests or partnership interests issued by a Debtor and outstanding immediately prior to the Petition Date, and any options, warrants or other rights with respect thereto, or any other instruments evidencing an ownership interest in a Debtor and the rights of any Entity to purchase or demand the issuance of any of the foregoing, including: (a) redemption, conversion, exchange, voting, participation and dividend and other distribution rights (including any rights in respect of accrued and unpaid dividends or other distributions); (b) liquidation preferences; (c) stock options and warrants; (d) interests in profit and loss; and (e) rights to information concerning the business and affairs of a Debtor.
- 74<u>79</u>. "Kavanaugh" means Ryan C. Kavanaugh, as CEO of the Debtors, and as Plan Proponent.
- **7580.** "**Liabilities**" means any and all Claims, obligations, suits, judgments, damages, demands, debts, rights, recovery actions, Causes of Action and liabilities, whether liquidated or unliquidated, fixed or contingent, matured or unmatured, known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, arising in law, equity or otherwise, that are based in whole or in part on any act, event, injury, omission, transaction or agreement.
- 76<u>81</u>. "Litigation Trust" means the litigation trust to be created on or after the Confirmation Date in accordance with the provisions of Article IX hereof and the Litigation Trust Agreement.
- **Trust Agreement**" means the Litigation Trust Agreement, substantially similar in form as Exhibit G attached hereto, pursuant to which the Litigation Trustee shall manage and administer the Litigation Trust Assets and distribute the net proceeds thereof, if any.
- 7883. "Litigation Trust Assets" means (a) initial funding of \$2.0 million Television Sale Committee Allocation, (b) \$500,000, which amount shall not be subject to repayment, to be funded on the Effective Date and an additional to-be-determined amount, which amount shall be subject to repayment, to be provided by the Reorganized Debtors to fund pursuit of litigation claims by the Litigation Trust, (c) the GUC Interest, and (d) the right to prosecute the Causes of Action in the name of the Reorganized Debtor.
- 7984. "Litigation Trust Beneficiaries" means the Holders of Allowed Claims in Class J receiving Class A Litigation Trust Beneficiary Units or Class B Litigation Trust Beneficiary Units.

- **8085.** "Litigation Trust Claims Reserve" means any Litigation Trust Assets allocable to or retained on account of, Disputed General Unsecured Claims, even if held in commingled accounts.
- **8186.** "Litigation Trust Interests" means the beneficial interests in the Litigation Trust allocable to certain Holders of Allowed Claims (and any transferee thereof) in accordance with the terms and conditions of Article IX of this Plan.
- **8287.** "Litigation Trustee" means the Person or Entity designated as the "Managing Trustee" of the Litigation Trust pursuant to the terms of the Litigation Trust Agreement.
- **88.** "Manchester Claims" means the claims of Manchester Securities against the Debtors under the Manchester Prepetition Credit Facility.
- 89. "Manchester Library Agreements" means each of the agreements, documents, and other instruments listed on Exhibit N attached hereto, in each case, as the same may have been amended, restated or modified from time to time.
- Securities"), Manchester Library Company LLC ("MLC"), Heatherden Holdings LLC, Heatherden Securities LLC, Heatherden Securities Corp., Beverly Blvd 2 Holdings LLC, Beverly Blvd 2 LLC, Elliott Management Corporation, Elliott Associates, L.P., Elliott Capital Advisors, L.P., Elliott International, L.P., Braxton Associates, Inc., and Elliott International Capital Advisors, Inc., and with respect to each such entity, such entity's present and former direct or indirect affiliates, parents, subsidiaries, general partners, limited partners, members, managers, investment funds, investment vehicles, investors, beneficiaries, transferees, successors and assigns, management companies, fund advisors, investment bankers, accountants, consultants, financial and other advisors, and the respective managers, partners, members, principals, advisory board members, attorneys, employees, agents, representatives, officers and directors of each of the foregoing in any capacity.
- **8391. "Manchester Prepetition Credit Facility"** means indebtedness under the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of May 30, 2012, between certain of the Debtors and Manchester Securities Corporation (as amended, supplemented, or modified from time to time) with an outstanding amount of approximately \$137.1 million.
- 84<u>92</u>. "Manchester DIP Claims" means any Claim of the Modified Successor DIP Agent or the Modified Successor DIP Lenders against a Debtor under or evidenced by (a) the Modified DIP Credit Agreement and (b) the Modified DIP Order, excluding the Heatherden Fee Claims.
- **8523. "Manchester Transactions"** means (i) the Manchester Prepetition Credit Facility pursuant to which the Manchester Parties assert an undersecured claim of \$137,078,557 as of the Petition Date plus accrued interest, and (ii) a May 11, 2011 membership interest transfer agreement among Relativity Holdings LLC, Heatherden Securities Corp., and Heatherden Holdings LLC.

- **86.** "Modified DIP Agent" means Heatherden Securities LLC ("Heatherden"), in its capacity as administrative agent and collateral agent under the Modified DIP Credit Agreement.
- 87. "Modified DIP Credit Agreement" means the Initial DIP Credit Agreement, dated as of July 30, 2015 as the same was subsequently, amended, supplemented or otherwise revised as set forth in the Modified DIP Order among Relativity Media, LLC and each subsidiary thereof (as borrower), Relativity Holdings (as Guarantor), the Modified DIP Agent and the Modified DIP Lenders party thereto.
- 88. "Modified DIP Lenders" means, collectively, those entities identified as "DIP Lenders" in the Modified DIP Credit Agreement and their respective permitted successors and assigns (solely intheir capacity as "DIP Lenders" under the Modified DIP Credit Agreement).
- 89<u>94</u>. "Modified DIP Order" means the *Amended and Restated Final Order Pursuant to Sections 105, 361, 362, 363, 364, And 507 of the Bankruptcy Code (I) Authorizing Debtors to Obtain Superpriority Secured Debtor-in-Possession Financing, (II) Authorizing Debtors to Use Cash Collateral, (III) Granting Adequate Protection to the Cortland Parties and Manchester Parties and (IV) Granting Related Relief* [Dkt. No. 931].
 - 9095. "MPIPHP" means the Motion Picture Industry Pension and Health Plans.
- <u>96.</u> <u>"Mutual Release Agreement"</u> means the Release Agreement in the form attached as Exhibit O, which form may not be altered, amended or modified absent consent of Manchester Securities, Kayanaugh, and Nicholas.
- 9197. "New Board of Managers" means the board of managers of Reorganized Relativity Holdings composed of individuals as set forth in Section III.G.2 hereof.
- 9298. "New Exit Financing Documents" means, collectively, the definitive documents, statements and filings that evidence the New P&A/Ultimates Facility.
- 9399. "New P&A/Ultimates Facility" means a financing facility or debt issuance that is entered into or issued by one or more of the Reorganized Debtors on the Effective Date, substantially similar in form as Exhibit F attached hereto, the proceeds of which shall be utilized to fund the ongoing operations of the Reorganized Debtors and shall not, without the consent of BidCothe Buyer, be utilized to refinance any existing indebtedness, including, without limitation, any indebtedness under the Modified DIP Credit Agreement, including without limitation, the Manchester DIP Claims.
- 94100. "New Securities and Documents" means the Reorganized Relativity Holdings Preferred Units, Reorganized Relativity Holdings Common Units, the BidCo Note, New Exit Financing Documents, and any and all other securities, notes, stock, instruments, certificates, and other documents or agreements required to be issued, executed or delivered pursuant to or in connection with this Plan.
 - 95101. "Nicholas" means Joseph Nicholas, individually, and as Plan Proponent.
- 96<u>102</u>. "Non-Debtor Affiliate" means any direct or indirect subsidiary of Relativity Holdings that is not a Debtor.

- 97<u>103</u>. "Non-Debtor Affiliate Claim" means any Claim held by a Non-Debtor Affiliate against a Debtor that arose prior to the Petition Date.
- 98<u>104</u>. "Notice and Claims Agent" means Donlin Recano & Company, Inc., in its capacity as noticing, claims and solicitation agent for the Debtors.
- 99105. "Ordinary Course Professionals Order" means any order entered by the Bankruptcy Court authorizing the Debtors to retain, employ and pay professionals and service providers, as specified in such order, which are not materially involved in the administration of the Chapter 11 Cases.
- 100106. "Other Secured Claim" means a Secured Claim that is not a TLA/TLB Secured Claim, Post-Release P&A Secured Claim, Production Loan Secured Claim, Ultimates Secured Claim, Secured Guilds Claim, or Vine/Verite Secured Claim.
- **101107. "P&A Funding Agreement"** means the Second Amended and Restated Funding Agreement, dated June 30, 2014, among certain of the Debtors (as borrowers), Macquarie US Trading LLC (as post-release agent), Macquarie Investments US Inc. (as post-release lender by assignment from the original post-release lender), and RKA (as pre-release lender and pre-release lender agent), as amended by the First Amendment, dated August 26, 2014.
- #Participation Agreements" means agreements that provide for, among other things, payments from future revenues to actors, directors, writers, producers and other entities based on prior work performed in connection with the motion pictures in the Debtors' film library, including producer royalties and fees payable for merchandising and music rights. For the avoidance of doubt, unless otherwise provided for herein, participations owed by the Debtors under Participation Agreements executed prior to the Petition Date, whether such participations are owed prior to or on and after the Effective Date, will be treated as prepetition claims against the Debtors because they arise under prepetition agreements and contracts that are not executory contracts.
- **103109. "Person"** shall have the meaning set forth in Bankruptcy Code § 101(41).
 - **104**110. **"Petition Date"** means July 30, 2015 for all of the Debtors.
- **"Plan"** means this plan of reorganization for the Debtors, and all Exhibits attached hereto or referenced herein, supplements, appendices, schedules, and the Plan Supplement, as the same may be amended, modified or supplemented.
- **106**112. **"Plan Co-Proponents"** means Kavanaugh, Nicholas, and the Debtors.
- ****Plan Co-Proponent Fee/Expense Claims**** means all of the reasonable and documented fees, costs and expenses of Kavanaugh and Nicholas incurred in connection with the Chapter 11 Cases.

- 108114. "Plan Supplement" means the compilation of documents and forms of documents as amended from time to time that constitute Exhibits to this Plan Filed with the Bankruptcy Court no later than seven days before the earlier of the (i) Voting Deadline and (ii) deadline for objections to Confirmation of this Plan (or such later date as may be approved by the Bankruptcy Courton January 12, 2016 at Docket Nos. 1238 and 1239 (as amended from time to time), including, without limitation, the following: (a) revised Relativity Holdings Certificate of Formation (or comparable constituent document); (b) Revised Relativity Holdings Operating Agreement (or comparable constituent document); (c) term sheet or agreement Agreement evidencing the New P&A/Ultimates Facility [to be provided by the lender to the New P&A/Ultimates Facility and filed on the docket prior to the Confirmation Hearing]; (d) list of the new board of managers of Reorganized Relativity Holdings: (e) updated list of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases to be rejected by the Debtors; (f) Litigation Trust Agreement; (g) form of Warrant Agreements; (h) form of Replacement P&A Note; (i) Formform of Replacement Production Loan Note; and (j) form of BidCo Note; (k) list of Manchester Library Agreements; (l) form of Mutual Release Agreement; and (m) Restructuring Transactions exhibit Exhibit, if any; provided, however, that in no event shall the form of Replacement P&A Note and the Formform of Replacement Production Loan Note, and form of BidCo Note be modified following the filing of the Plan Supplement without the respective counterparties' consent, or providing such counterparties with the opportunity to change their vote accepting the Plan; provided further that to the extent any Exhibit to this Plan pertains to transactions that directly impact the Manchester Parties, shall be subject to the approval of the Manchester Parties with respect to those transactions only, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed
- Secured Claims of Macquarie US Trading LLC (as agent) and/or Macquarie Investments US Inc. (as post-release lender by assignment from the original post-release lender) against a Debtor (i) under or evidenced by the P&A Funding Agreement or (ii) any subsequent post-release print and advertising loans made thereunder or in connection therewith. As of the Petition Date, the amount of the Post-Release P&A Secured Claims totaled \$32,880,208. As of October 31, 2015, the aggregate Post-Release P&A Secured Claim totaled \$26,818,821, plus interest, expenses, fees and professional fees, after taking into account a \$7.2 million paydown in October.
- Secured Claim of RKA (as pre-release lender and pre-release lender agent) against a Debtor (i) under or evidenced by the P&A Funding Agreement or (ii) any subsequent pre-release print and advertising loans made thereunder or in connection therewith. As of the Petition Date, the amount of the Pre-Release P&A Secured Claims totaled \$85,005,933 which was comprised of a \$28,657,280 claim against Armored Car Productions, LLC, a \$18,675,350 claim against DR Productions, LLC, a \$15,045,620 claim against RML Kidnap Films, LLC, a \$21,366,234 claim against RML Somnia Films, LLC, and a \$1,261,450 claim against RML Lazarus Films, LLC.
- "Prepetition Intercompany Claim" means any Claim of any Debtor against any other Debtor that arose prior to the Petition Date.
- ### 112118. "Priority Non-Tax Claim" means a Claim that is entitled to priority in payment pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 507(a) that is not an Administrative Claim or a Priority Tax Claim.

- **113**119. **"Priority Tax Claim"** means a Claim that is entitled to priority in payment pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 507(a)(8).
- #Pro Rata" means, when used in reference to a distribution of property to holders of Allowed Claims in a particular Class, a proportionate distribution of property so that the ratio of (a)(i) the amount of property distributed on account of an individual Allowed Claim to (ii) the amount of such individual Allowed Claim is the same as the ratio of (b)(i) the amount of property distributed to all Allowed Claims in the applicable Class to (ii) the total amount of all Allowed Claims in the applicable Class.
- **115121. "Production Loan Agreements"** means, collectively, the Armored Car Loan and Security Agreement and the DR Loan and Security Agreement.
- **Production Loan Settlement"** means the assumption of the relevant Production Loan Agreement, as modified to acknowledge that any and all defaults thereunder have been cured and otherwise satisfied, and as further modified to provide for a release date for Masterminds on or before March 31, 2017 and The Disappointments Room on or before September 30, 2016, as applicable.
- "Production Loan Secured Claims" means any Allowed Secured Claim of either (i) CIT Bank or (ii) Surefire Entertainment Capital, LLC against a Debtor under or evidenced by either of the Production Loan Agreements.
- 11 Cases pursuant to Bankruptcy Code §§ 327, 328, 363 or 1103 or any professional or other Entity seeking compensation or reimbursement of expenses in connection with the Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 503(b)(4); provided, that the term Professional shall exclude the professionals of (i) the Manchester Parties, (ii) the Buyer, and (iii) Cortland and the Cortland Lenders.
- **119125. "Professional Fee Segregated Account"** means an interest-bearing account to hold and maintain an amount of Cash equal to the Professional Fee Reserve Amount funded by the Debtors on the Effective Date solely for the purpose of paying all Allowed and unpaid Fee Claims.
- **120126. "Professional Fee Reserve Amount"** means the aggregate Fee Claims through the Effective Date as estimated in accordance with Section II.A.1.d(3) hereof.
- **121**127. **"Proof of Claim"** means a proof of claim filed with the Bankruptcy Court or the Notice and Claims Agent in connection with the Chapter 11 Cases.
- #Reinstated" means, unless this Plan specifies a particular method pursuant to which a Claim or Interest shall be Reinstated, (a) leaving unaltered the legal, equitable, and contractual rights to which a Claim or Interest so as to render such Claim or Interest Unimpaired; or (b) notwithstanding any contractual provisions or applicable law that entitles the Holder of a Claim or Interest to demand or receive accelerated payment of such Claim or Interest after the occurrence of a default, (i) curing any such default that occurred before or after the commencement of the applicable Chapter 11 Case, other than a default of a

kind specified in Bankruptcy Code § 365(b)(2) or of a kind that Bankruptcy Code § 365(b)(2) expressly does not require to be cured; (ii) reinstating the maturity of a Claim or Interest as such maturity existed before such default; (iii) compensating the Holder of a Claim or Interest for any damages incurred as a result of any reasonable reliance by such Holder on such contractual provision or such applicable law; (iv) if such Claim or Interest arises from any failure to perform a nonmonetary obligation, other than a default arising from failure to operate a nonresidential real property lease subject to Bankruptcy Code § 365(b)(1)(A), compensating the Holder of such Claim or Interest for any actual pecuniary loss incurred by such Holder as a result of such failure; and (v) not otherwise altering the legal, equitable or contractual rights to which a Claim or Interest entitles the Holder of such Claim or Interest.

- respective boards of managers and the members thereof each as of the Petition Date; (iii) the Creditors' Committee; (iv) the Manchester Securities Corporation, Manchester Library Company, and Heatherden Parties; (v) the lenders (the "Cortland Lenders") party to the Financing Agreement, dated as of May 30, 2012, but solely in their capacity as lenders, (vi) the Buyer, and, (vii) Cortland (not individually, but solely in its separate capacities as collateral agent and administrative agent under the Existing DIP Facility and collateral agent and administrative agent under the TLA/TLB Facility), and each of the foregoing's Representatives to the extent permitted under applicable law; provided, however, any release of Manchester Securities Corporation, Manchester Library Company, or Heatherden is subject to the resolution of any potential and/or actual Claims and/or Causes of Action against Manchester Securities Corporation and its affiliates identified and/or asserted by the Creditors' Committee.
- **124130. "Releasing Parties"** means (a) any Released Party, (b) any Holder of a Claim who voted to accept this Plan, and (c) any holder of a Claim who voted to reject this Plan but who affirmatively elected to provide releases by checking the appropriate box on the ballot form-; provided, however, that (i) any party deemed to accept this Plan by virtue of being Unimpaired is not a Releasing Party, (ii) the Releasing Parties shall not include the Manchester Parties. On the Effective Date the Manchester Parties, Kavanaugh, and Nicholas shall contemporaneously execute the Mutual Release Agreement.
- **Reorganized Debtors Causes of Action Interest**" means the beneficial interests in thirty percent (30%) of the litigation recoveries from the Causes of Action, net of litigation cost.
- **126**132. **"Relativity Holdings"** means Relativity Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
- **127**133. **"Reorganized"** means, (a) when used in reference to a particular Debtor, such Debtor on and after the Effective Date, and (b) when used in reference to the Debtors collectively, then all of the Debtors on and after the Effective Date.
- 128134. "Reorganized Relativity Holdings Common Units" means Common Units of Reorganized Relativity Holdings having the rights set forth in the Revised Relativity Holdings Operating Agreement, such Common Units to be initially authorized pursuant to this Plan as of the Effective Date, including such Common Units to be issued pursuant to this Plan.

- **129**135. "Reorganized Relativity Holdings Preferred Units" means convertible Class A Units of Reorganized Relativity Holdings having the rights set forth in the Revised Relativity Holdings Operating Agreement, such Class A Units to be initially authorized pursuant to this Plan as of the Effective Date, including such Class A Units to be issued pursuant to this Plan
- 130136. "Reorganized Relativity Holdings Warrants" means warrants of Reorganized Relativity Holdings to acquire Reorganized Relativity Holdings Common Units having the rights set forth in the relevant Warrant Agreements, such Warrants to be issued to Joseph Nicholas and Heatherden (or their respective Affiliates) pursuant to this Plan.
- "Replacement P&A Note" means a note bearing interest at a fixed rate equal to the prime 7 year Treasury Bill rate plus 3.01.5% payable over five three (53) years that manywill be issued by the Reorganized Debtors on the Effective Date to the holders of the Pre-Release P&A Secured Claims provided that the Pre-Release P&A Lenders vote to accept the Plan. The amount of a Replacement P&A Note shall be based on the amount of the Pre-Release P&A Secured Claim and issued by the Reorganized Debtor responsible therefor. Payment obligations under a Replacement P&A Note shall be: (i) subordinate to the liens of the New P&A/Ultimates Facility, or such other print and advertising facility or Supplemental Funding as defined in Exhibit K attached hereto, which may be used to fund P&A for one or more of the film titles: Masterminds, Kidnap, The Disappointments Room and Somnia, (ii) subject to the terms of the existing intercreditor agreements including with CIT, as Production Lender, with respect to *Masterminds* and *The Disappointments Room* and Macquarie [provided] that RKA's liens shall be deemed valid and perfected notwithstanding the Debtors' default(s) under its prepetition obligations], as Post-Release P&A Lender on Lazarus and (iii) subordinate to any applicable senior secured claims of the Guilds for residuals. Payment pursuant to the Replacement P&A Note shall be cross-collateralized between the four (4) films: Masterminds, Kidnap, The Disappointments Room and Somnia. To the extent that the Pre-Release P&A Lenders vote to reject the Plan, they will receive a note bearing interest at a fixed rate equal to the 7 year Treasury Bill rate plus 3.0%, but the payment obligations will not be crosscollateralized. A form of the Replacement P&A Note is attached hereto as Exhibit K for each of the 5 Replacement P&A Notes.
- interest at a fixed rate equal to the prime 7 Year Treasury Bill rate plus 3.0 % payable over fivethree (53) years that manymay be issued by the Reorganized Debtors on the Effective Date to the holders of the Production Loan Secured Claims. The amount of a Replacement Production Loan Note shall be based on the amount of the Production Loan Secured Claim and issued by the Debtor responsible therefor. Payment obligations under a Replacement Production Loan Note shall be: (i) subordinate to the liens of the New P&A/Ultimates Facility, or such other print and advertising facility or Supplemental Funding as defined in Exhibit K attached hereto, which may be used to fund P&A for one or more of the film titles: Masterminds and The Disappointments Room, (ii) subject to the terms of any existing intercreditor agreements including with RKA, as Pre-Release Lender, with respect to Masterminds and The Disappointments Room, and (iii) subordinate to any applicable senior secured claims of the Guilds for residuals. A form of the Replacement Production Loan Note is attached hereto as Exhibit L for each of the five (5) Replacement P&A Notes.

- **Representatives"** means, with respect to any Entity, any successor, officer, director, partner, shareholder, manager, member, management company, investment manager, affiliate, employee, agent, attorney, advisor, investment banker, financial advisor, accountant or other Professional of such Entity, and committee of which such Entity is a member, in each case, solely in such capacity, serving on or after the Petition Date.
- #Restructuring Transactions" means, collectively, those mergers, consolidations, conversions, restructurings, dispositions, liquidations or dissolutions that the Debtors determine to be necessary or appropriate to effect an organizational restructuring of their business or otherwise to simplify the overall organizational structure of the Reorganized Debtors, as described in greater detail in Section III.E.
- "Retained TLA/TLB Secured Claim" means that portion of the TLA/TLB Secured Claims, in the aggregate amount of \$60.0 million, that is held by the Buyer.
- **136**142. **"Revised Relativity Holdings Certificate of Formation"** means the certificate of formation, substantially similar in form as Exhibit B attached hereto.
- 137143. "Revised Relativity Holdings Operating Agreement" means the operating agreement, substantially similar in form as Exhibit C attached hereto-, which form, from the date hereof to the Effective Date, may not be altered, amended or modified absent consent of Heatherden, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed and which form, following the Effective Date, may only be modified consistent with its terms.
- **138**144. **"RKA"** means RKA Film Financing, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
- **139145. "RKA Causes of Action"** means any Claim, Avoidance Action, cause of action, controversy, right of setoff, cross claim, counterclaim, or recoupment and any claim on contracts or for breaches of duties imposed by law or in equity, demand, right, action, lien, indemnity, guaranty, suit, obligation, liability, damage, judgment, account, defense, power, privilege, license, and franchise of any kind or character whatsoever, known, unknown, fixed or contingent, matured or unmatured, suspected or unsuspected, liquidated or unliquidated, disputed or undisputed, secured or unsecured, assertable directly or derivatively, whether arising before, on, or after the Petition Date, in contract or in tort, in law or in equity, or pursuant to any other theory of law against RKA.
- **140**146. **"SAG-AFTRA"** means the Screen Actors Guild-American Federation of Television and Radio Artists, on behalf of itself and the Producer- Screen Actors Guild Pension and Health Plans.
- **141147. "Schedules"** means, collectively, the (a) schedules of assets, Liabilities and Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases and (b) statements of financial affairs, as each may be amended and supplemented from time to time, Filed by the Debtors pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 521.

- **142148. "Secured Claim"** means a Claim that is secured by a lien on property in which an Estate has an interest or that is subject to a valid right of setoff under Bankruptcy Code § 553, to the extent of the value of the Claim Holder's interest in such Estate's interest in such property or to the extent of the amount subject to such valid right of setoff, as applicable, as determined pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 506.
- **143149. "Secured Guilds"** means, collectively, (i) the DGA; (ii) the SAG-AFTRA; and (iii) the WGA (and individually, each a "**Secured Guild**").
- **144<u>150</u>. "Secured Guilds Claims"** means any Allowed Secured Claims of a Guild asserted against one or more of the Debtors.
- "Secured Tax Claim" means an Allowed Secured Claim arising out of a Debtor's liability for any Tax.
- **146<u>152</u>. "Securities Act"** means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.
- <u>153.</u> <u>"Side Letter"</u> means the side letter entered into between Kavanaugh and certain of the Manchester Parties in the form attached as Exhibit Q hereto, which form may not be altered, amended or modified absent consent of Heatherden in its sole discretion.
- 147<u>154</u>. "Stipulation of Amount and Nature of Claim" means a stipulation or other agreement between the applicable Debtor or Reorganized Debtor and a Holder of a Claim or Interest establishing the allowed amount or nature of such Claim or Interest that is (a) entered into in accordance with any Claim settlement procedures established by order of the Bankruptcy Court in these Chapter 11 Cases, (b) expressly permitted by this Plan or (c) approved by order of the Bankruptcy Court.
- arising from rescission of a purchase or sale of a security of the Debtors or an Affiliate, for damages arising from the purchase or sale of such a security, or for reimbursement or contribution allowed under Bankruptcy Code § 502 on account of such a Claim, (b) any other claim subject to subordination under Bankruptcy Code § 510, or (c) any claim addressed by Bankruptcy Code § 726(a)(3) (a)(4); provided, however, that Claim Nos. 279, 1539 and 1540, filed by the IRS, shall not be included in the definition of Subordinated Claim.
- **149<u>156</u>. "Subsidiary Debtor"** means any Debtor other than Relativity Holdings.
- 157. "Successor DIP Agent" means Heatherden Securities LLC ("Heatherden"), in its capacity as administrative agent and collateral agent under the DIP Credit Agreement.
- <u>158.</u> <u>"Successor DIP Lenders"</u> means Heatherden, in its capacity as "DIP Lenders" under the DIP Credit Agreement.

- 450159. "Tax" means: (a) any net income, alternative or add-on minimum, gross income, gross receipts, sales, use, ad valorem, value added, transfer, franchise, profits, license, property, environmental or other tax, assessment or charge of any kind whatsoever (together in each instance with any interest, penalty, addition to tax or additional amount) imposed by any federal, state, local or foreign taxing authority; or (b) any liability for payment of any amounts of the foregoing types as a result of being a member of an affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary group, or being a party to any agreement or arrangement whereby liability for payment of any such amounts is determined by reference to the liability of any other Entity.
- **151**160. **"Television Sale Committee Allocation"** means the \$2,000,000 held in a segregated account by counsel for the Creditor's Committee funded upon the consummation of the sale of the Debtors' television business.
- **TLA/TLB Secured Claims**" means any Allowed Secured Claim of the collateral and administrative agent or lenders against a Debtor under or evidenced by (a) the TLA/TLB Financing Agreement and (b) TLA/TLB Facility, as such TLA/TLB Secured Claim is now held collectively by (i) the Buyer in the amount of \$60.0 million and (ii) Kavanaugh and Nicholas in the approximate amount of \$165.0 million.
- **153162.** "TLA/TLB Facility" means secured indebtedness under the TLA/TLB Financing Agreement, consisting of a tranche A term loan and a tranche B term loan with an aggregate outstanding principal amount of approximately \$361,611,038 as of the Petition Date, plus accrued interest.
- 454<u>163</u>. "TLA/TLB Financing Agreement" means the Financing Agreement, dated as of May 30, 2012, among certain of the Debtors, the lenders party thereto, Cortland Capital Market Services LLC, as Collateral and Administrative Agent, and CB Agency Services, LLC, as origination agent (as amended, supplemented, or modified from time to time).
- Heach Media, LLC, (iii) Cliff Road Media, LLC, (iv) Einstein Rentals, LLC, (v) English Breakfast Media, LLC, (vi) Great Point Productions, LLC, (vii) Hummock Pond Properties, LLC, (viii) Long Pond Media, LLC, (ix) Madaket Publishing, LLC (f/k/a Broad Street Publishing, LLC), (x) Madaket Road Music, LLC (f/k/a Broad Street Music, LLC), (xi) Miacomet Media, LLC, (xii) Orange Street Media, LLC, (xiii) Pocomo Productions, LLC, (xiv) Relativity REAL, LLC d/b/a Relativity Television, (xv) Relativity TV, LLC, (xvi) Smith Point Productions, LLC, (xvii) Straight Wharf Productions, LLC, (xix) Tuckernuck Music, LLC, (xx) Tuckernuck Publishing, LLC and (xxi) Zero Point Enterprises, LLC.
- **156**165. "Ultimates Secured Claims" means any Allowed Secured Claim of the administrative agent or lenders against a Debtor under or evidenced by the Ultimates Credit Documents.
- **157166. "Ultimates Credit Documents"** means the (a) the Credit, Security, Guaranty and Pledge Agreement, dated as of September 25, 2012 (as the same may have been amended, restated, supplemented, or other otherwise modified) with certain of the Debtors as borrowers, CIT Bank, as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto and (b) all

other agreements, documents and instruments executed and/or delivered related thereto, including all security agreements, notes, guarantees, mortgages, Uniform Commercial Code financing statements, and all other related agreements, documents and instruments, including any fee letters, executed and/or delivered in connection therewith or related thereto.

- **158167. "Unimpaired"** means, when used in reference to a Claim or an Interest, a Claim or an Interest that is not Impaired within the meaning of Bankruptcy Code § 1124.
- **"Union Entities"** means the Guilds in their status as Secured Guilds, together with the Unsecured Union Entities.
- **160169. "Unsecured Union Entities"** means, collectively, (i) the MPIPHP; (ii) the American Federation of Musicians; (iii) the Laborers' International Union of North America; (iv) the Operative Plasterers' and Cement Masons' International Association; (v) the International Alliance of Theatrical Stage Employees, Moving Picture Technicians, Artists and Allied Crafts of the United States, Its Territories and Canada; (vi) the International Brotherhood of Teamsters; (vii) Equity (UK); and (viii) FMSMF; and (ix) the Secured Guilds to the extent any such Secured Guild has an Allowed General Unsecured Claim against any of the Debtors (and individually, each an **"Unsecured Union Entity"**).
- **"U.S. Trustee"** means the United States Trustee appointed under § 581 of title 28 of the United States Code to serve in the Southern District of New York.
- **162**171. **"Vine/Verite Secured Claims"** means any Allowed Secured Claim of Verite Capital Onshore Loan Fund LLC and/or Vine Film Finance Fund II LP against Yuma, Inc. and/or J & J Project, LLC under or evidenced by the Vine/Verite Loan Documents.
- **163**<u>172</u>. "Vine/Verite Loan Documents" means certain loan and security agreements entered into between Debtors Yuma, Inc. or J & J Project, LLC, as borrowers, and Verite Capital Onshore Loan Fund LLC, as lender, as were subsequently transferred to Vine Film Finance Fund II LP, in connection with the production of the films *3:10 To Yuma* and *The Forbidden Kingdom*.
- **164<u>173</u>. "Voting Deadline"** means 4:00 p.m. (Eastern time) on January ___, 2016, which is the deadline for submitting Ballots to accept or reject this Plan in accordance with Bankruptcy Code § 1126.
- **165**174. **"Warrant Agreements"** means the form of warrant agreements, substantially similar in form as Exhibit H attached hereto, which form may not be altered, amended or modified absent consent of Heatherden in its sole discretion.
- ****WGA**** means the Writers Guild of America West, Inc., for itself and on behalf of its affiliate Writers Guild of America East, Inc. and both on behalf of the Producer-Writers Guild of America Pension and Health Plans.

<u>176.</u> <u>"W&R Agreement"</u> means that certain Waiver and Release dated May 30, 2012, between Kavanaugh, certain Manchester Parties, Relativity Holdings LLC, Relativity Media, LLC, and Colbeck Capital Management, LLC.

B. Rules of Interpretation and Computation of Time

1. Rules of Interpretation

For purposes of this Plan, unless otherwise provided herein: (a) whenever it is appropriate from the context, each term, whether stated in the singular or the plural, includes both the singular and the plural; (b) unless otherwise provided in this Plan, any reference in this Plan to a contract, instrument, release or other agreement or document being in a particular form or on particular terms and conditions means that such document shall be substantially in such form or substantially on such terms and conditions; (c) any reference in this Plan to an existing document or Exhibit Filed or to be Filed means such document or Exhibit, as it may have been or may be amended, modified or supplemented pursuant to this Plan, Confirmation Order or otherwise; (d) any reference to an Entity as a Holder of a Claim or Interest includes that Entity's successors, assigns and affiliates; (e) all references in this Plan to Sections, Articles and Exhibits are references to Sections, Articles and Exhibits of or to this Plan; (f) the words "herein," "hereunder" and "hereto" refer to this Plan in its entirety rather than to a particular portion of this Plan; (g) captions and headings to Articles and Sections are inserted for convenience of reference only and are not intended to be a part of or to affect the interpretation of this Plan; (h) subject to the provisions of any contract, articles or certificates of formation, operating agreement, bylaws, codes of regulation, similar constituent documents, instrument, release or other agreement or document entered into or delivered in connection with this Plan, the rights and obligations arising under this Plan shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, federal law, including the Bankruptcy Code and the Bankruptcy Rules; and (i) the rules of construction set forth in Bankruptcy Code § 102 shall apply to the extent not inconsistent with any other provision of this Section I.B.1.

2. Computation of Time

In computing any period of time prescribed or allowed by this Plan, the provisions of Bankruptcy Rule 9006(a) shall apply.

3. Reference to Monetary Figures

All references in this Plan to monetary figures refer to the lawful currency of the United States of America, unless otherwise expressly provided.

II. CLASSIFICATION AND TREATMENT OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS

All Claims and Interests, except Administrative Claims and Priority Tax Claims, are placed in the Classes set forth below. In accordance with Bankruptcy Code § 1123(a)(1), Administrative Claims and Priority Tax Claims, as described in Section II.A, are not classified herein. A Claim or Interest is classified in a particular Class only to the extent that the Claim or Interest qualifies within the description of that Class and is classified in other Classes to the

extent that any remainder of the Claim or Interest qualifies within the description of such other Classes

A. Treatment of Unclassified Claims

1. Administrative Claims

a. Administrative Claims in General

Except as specified in this Section II.A. 1 and subject to the bar date provisions herein, unless otherwise agreed by the Holder of an Administrative Claim and the applicable Reorganized Debtor, or unless an order of the Bankruptcy Court provides otherwise, each Holder of an Allowed Administrative Claim (other than a Professional's Fee Claim and a Plan Co-Proponent Fee/Expense Claim) shall receive, in full satisfaction of its Administrative Claim, Cash equal to the Allowed amount of such Administrative Claim on either (i) the latest to occur of (A) the Effective Date (or as soon thereafter as practicable), (B) the date such Claim becomes an Allowed Administrative Claim, and (C) such other date as may be agreed upon by the Reorganized Debtors and the Holder of such Claim or (ii) on such other date as the Bankruptcy Court may order. For the avoidance of doubt, elaims arising under the Modified Manchester DIP Credit Agreement Claims are Allowed Administrative Claims. With respect to the Heatherden Fee Claims, the Manchester Parties have agreed to accept the Fee Notes, as described in Section III.G.5.

b. Statutory Fees

All fees payable pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1930 after the Effective Date shall be paid by the applicable Reorganized Debtor in accordance therewith until the earlier of the conversion or dismissal of the applicable Chapter 11 Case under Bankruptcy Code § 1112 or the closing of the applicable Chapter 11 Case pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 350(a).

c. Ordinary Course Postpetition Administrative Liabilities

Administrative Claims based on liabilities incurred by a Debtor in the ordinary course of its business, including Administrative Claims arising from or with respect to the sale of goods or provision of services on or after the Petition Date, Administrative Claims of governmental units for Taxes (including Tax audit Claims related to Tax years or portions thereof ending after the Petition Date), Administrative Claims arising under Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases, Administrative Claims of the Cortland Lenders and Cortland arising under the TLA/TLB Facility, and Administrative Claims in connection with Union Entity collective bargaining agreements, shall be paid by the applicable Reorganized Debtor without further action by the Holders of such Administrative Claims or further approval by the Bankruptcy Court (i) pursuant to the terms and conditions of the particular transaction giving rise to those Administrative Claims and (ii) in the case of Administrative Claims arising from Union Entity collective bargaining agreements, in accordance with the Guild Payroll Protocols, and, in the case of the Administrative Claims of the Cortland Lenders and Cortland, in accordance with the terms of the Final DIP Order at Dkt. No. 342931. Holders of the foregoing Claims shall not be required to File or serve any request for payment of such Administrative Claims.

d. **Professional Compensation**

(1) Final Fee Applications

Professionals or other Entities asserting a Fee Claim for services rendered before the Effective Date must File and serve on the Reorganized Debtors and such other Entities who are designated by the Bankruptcy Rules, the Fee Order, the Confirmation Order or other order of the Bankruptcy Court an application for final allowance of such Fee Claim no later than sixty (60) days after the Effective Date; *provided*, *however*, that any party who may receive compensation or reimbursement of expenses pursuant to the Ordinary Course Professionals Order may continue to receive such compensation and reimbursement of expenses for services rendered before the Effective Date pursuant to the Ordinary Course Professionals Order without further Bankruptcy Court review or approval (except as provided in the Ordinary Course Professionals Order). To the extent necessary, the Confirmation Order shall amend and supersede any previously entered order of the Bankruptcy Court regarding the payment of Fee Claims.

(2) Professional Fee Segregated Account

In accordance with Section -II.A.1.d(3) hereof, on the Effective Date, the Debtors shall establish and fund the Professional Fee Segregated Account with Cash equal to the aggregate Professional Fee Reserve Amount for all Professionals. The Professional Fee Segregated Account shall be maintained in trust for the Professionals. Such funds shall not be considered property of the Debtors' Estates. The amount of Fee Claims owing to the Professionals shall be paid in Cash to such Professionals from funds held in the Professional Fee Segregated Account when such Claims are Allowed by a Final Order. When all Allowed Professional Compensation Claims are paid in full in Cash, amounts remaining in the Professional Fee Segregated Account, if any, shall revert to the Reorganized Debtors.

(3) Professional Fee Reserve Amount

To receive payment for unbilled fees and expenses incurred through the Effective Date, the Professionals shallmay estimate their Fee Claims prior to and as of the Effective Date and shallmay deliver such estimate to the Debtors and counsel to the Creditors' Committee no later than five (5) days prior to the anticipated Effective Date; *provided*, that such estimate shall not be considered an admission with respect to the fees and expenses of such Professional. If a Professional does not provide an estimate, the Debtors may estimate the unbilled fees and expenses of such Professional. The total amount so estimated as of the Effective Date shall comprise the Professional Fee Reserve Amount.

e. Plan Co-Proponent Fee/Expense Claims

The Reorganized Debtor shall reimburse the Plan Co-Proponent Fee/Expense Claims incurred in connection with the Chapter 11 Cases.

f. Post-Effective Date Professionals' Fees and Expenses

Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Plan, on and after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors shall, in the ordinary course of business and without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court, pay in Cash the reasonable and documented fees and expenses of the Professionals or other fees and expenses incurred by the Reorganized Debtors on or after the Effective Date, in each case, related to implementation and consummation of this Plan. Upon the Effective Date, any requirement that Professionals comply with Bankruptcy Code §§ 327 - 331 and 1103 or any order of the Bankruptcy Court entered before the Effective Date governing the retention of, or compensation for services rendered by, Professionals after the Effective Date shall terminate, and the Reorganized Debtors may employ or pay any Professional in the ordinary course of business without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

g. Bar Dates for Administrative Claims

Except as otherwise provided herein, requests for payment of Administrative Claims (other than Fee Claims, and Administrative Claims based on Liabilities incurred by a Debtor in the ordinary course of its business as described in Section II.A. 1.c) must be Filed and served on the Reorganized Debtors pursuant to the procedures specified in the Confirmation Order and the notice of entry of the Confirmation Order no later than the Administrative Claims Bar Date. Holders of Administrative Claims that are required to, but do not, File and serve a request for payment of such Administrative Claims by such date shall be forever barred, estopped and enjoined from asserting such Administrative Claims against the Debtors or their property and such Administrative Claims shall be deemed discharged as of the Effective Date. Objections to such requests, if any, must be Filed and served on the Reorganized Debtors and the requesting party no later than the Administrative Claims Objection Deadline.

2. Payment of Priority Tax Claims

Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1129(a)(9)(C), and unless otherwise agreed by the Holder of a Priority Tax Claim and the Debtors, each Holder of an Allowed Priority Tax Claim shall receive at the option of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, in full satisfaction of its Allowed Priority Tax Claim, on account of and in full and complete settlement, release and discharge of such Claim, (i) Cash in an amount equal to the amount of such Allowed Priority Tax Claim payable on the Effective Date (or as reasonably practicable thereafter) or (ii) Cash in the aggregate amount of such Allowed Priority Tax Claim payable in annual equal installments commencing on the later of: (a) the Effective Date (or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter) and (b) the date such Priority Tax Claim becomes an Allowed Priority Tax Claim (or as soon as practicable thereafter); and, in each case, ending no later than five (5) years from the Petition Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Claim on account of any penalty arising with respect to or in connection with an Allowed Priority Tax Claim that does not compensate the Holder for actual pecuniary loss will be treated as a Subordinated Claim, and the Holder may not assess or attempt to collect such penalty from the Reorganized Debtors or their respective property.

B. Classification of Claims and Interests

1. General

Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code §§ 1122 and 1123, Claims and Interests are classified for voting and distribution pursuant to this Plan, as set forth herein. A Claim or Interest shall be deemed classified in a particular Class only to the extent that the Claim or Interest qualifies within the description of that Class and shall be deemed classified in a different Class to the extent that any remainder of such Claim or Interest qualifies within the description of such other Class. Holders of Allowed Claims may assert such Claims against each Debtor obligated with respect to such Claim, and such Claims shall be entitled to share in the recovery provided for the applicable Class of Claims against each obligated Debtor based upon the full Allowed amount of the Claim. Notwithstanding the foregoing, and except as otherwise specifically provided for herein, the Confirmation Order or other order of the Bankruptcy Court, or required by applicable bankruptcy law, in no event shall the aggregate value of all property received or retained under this Plan on account of an Allowed Claim exceed 100% of the underlying Allowed Claim.

Bankruptcy Code § 1129(a)(10) shall be satisfied for the purposes of Confirmation by acceptance of this Plan by an Impaired Class of Claims; *provided*, *however*, that in the event no Holder of a Claim with respect to a specific Class for a particular Debtor timely submits a Ballot in compliance with the Disclosure Statement Order and/or Solicitation Order indicating acceptance or rejection of this Plan, such Class will be deemed to have accepted this Plan. The Plan Proponents may seek Confirmation of this Plan pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1129(b) with respect to any rejecting Class of Claims or Interests.

For administrative convenience, this Plan assigns a number to each of the Debtors and a letter to each of the Classes of Claims against or Interests in the Debtors. For consistency, designated Classes of Claims or Interests are assigned the same letter across each of the Debtors. The numbers assigned to each Debtor are:

Debtor #	Debtor Name
1.	21 & Over Productions, LLC
2.	3 Days to Kill Productions, LLC
3.	A Perfect Getaway P.R., LLC
4.	A Perfect Getaway, LLC
5.	Armored Car Productions, LLC
6.	Best of Me Productions, LLC
7.	Black Or White Films, LLC
8.	Blackbird Productions, LLC
9.	Brant Point Productions, LLC
10.	Brick Mansions Acquisitions, LLC
11.	Brilliant Films, LLC
12.	Brothers Productions, LLC
13.	Brothers Servicing, LLC
14.	Catfish Productions, LLC

-26-

Debtor #	Debtor Name			
15.	Cine Productions, LLC			
16.	CinePost, LLC			
17.	Cisco Beach Media, LLC			
18.	Cliff Road Media, LLC			
19.	Den of Thieves Films, LLC			
20.	Don Jon Acquisitions, LLC			
21.	DR Productions, LLC			
22.	Einstein Rentals, LLC			
23.	English Breakfast Media, LLC			
24.	Furnace Films, LLC			
25.	Gotti Acquisitions, LLC			
26.	Great Point Productions, LLC			
27.	Guido Contini Films, LLC			
28.	Hooper Farm Music, LLC			
29.	Hooper Farm Publishing, LLC			
30.	Hummock Pond Properties, LLC			
31.	Hunter Killer La Productions, LLC			
32.	Hunter Killer Productions, LLC			
33.	In The Hat Productions, LLC			
34.	J&J Project, LLC			
35.	JGAG Acquisitions, LLC			
36.	Left Behind Acquisitions, LLC			
37.	Long Pond Media, LLC			
38.	Madaket Publishing, LLC			
39.	Madaket Road Music, LLC			
40.	Madvine RM, LLC			
41.	Malavita Productions, LLC			
42.	MB Productions, LLC			
43.	Merchant of Shanghai Productions, LLC			
44.	Miacomet Media LLC			
45.	Miracle Shot Productions, LLC			
46.	Most Wonderful Time Productions, LLC			
47.	Movie Productions, LLC			
48.	One Life Acquisitions, LLC			
49.	Orange Street Media, LLC			
50.	Out Of This World Productions, LLC			
51.	Paranoia Acquisitions, LLC			
52.	Phantom Acquisitions, LLC			
53.	Pocomo Productions, LLC			
54.	Relative Motion Music, LLC			
55.	Relative Velocity Music, LLC			
56.	Relativity Development, LLC			
57.	Relativity Fashion, LLC			
58.	Relativity Film Finance II, LLC			

<u>NAI-1500594528v25</u> -27-

D 1				
Debtor #	Debtor Name			
59.	Relativity Film Finance III, LLC			
60.	Relativity Film Finance, LLC			
61.	Relativity Films, LLC			
62.	Relativity Foreign, LLC			
63.	Relativity Holdings LLC			
64.	Relativity India Holdings, LLC			
65.	Relativity Jackson, LLC			
66.	Relativity Media LLC			
67.	Relativity Media Distribution, LLC			
68.	Relativity Media Films, LLC			
69.	Relativity Music Group, LLC			
70.	Relativity Production LLC			
71.	Relativity REAL, LLC			
72.	Relativity Rogue, LLC			
73.	Relativity Senator, LLC			
74.	Relativity Sky Land Asia Holdings, LLC			
75.	Relativity TV, LLC			
76.	Reveler Productions, LLC			
77.	RML Acquisitions I, LLC			
78.	RML Acquisitions II, LLC			
79.	RML Acquisitions III, LLC			
80.	RML Acquisitions IV, LLC			
81.	RML Acquisitions IX, LLC			
82.	RML Acquisitions V, LLC			
83.	RML Acquisitions VI, LLC			
84.	RML Acquisitions VII, LLC			
85.	RML Acquisitions VIII, LLC			
86.	RML Acquisitions X, LLC			
87.	RML Acquisitions XI, LLC			
88.	RML Acquisitions XII, LLC			
89.	RML Acquisitions XIII, LLC			
90.	RML Acquisitions XIV, LLC			
91.	RML Acquisitions XV, LLC			
92.	RML Bronze Films, LLC			
93.	RML Damascus Films, LLC			
94.	RML Damaseus Films, LLC			
95.	RML Desert Films, ELC RML Distribution Domestic, LLC			
96.	RML Distribution Domestic, ELC RML Distribution International, LLC			
97.	RML Distribution international, ELC RML Documentaries, LLC			
98.	RML Documentaries, LLC RML DR Films, LLC			
99.	RML Ecobar Films, LLC			
100.	RML Escobar Films LLC			
101.	RML Film Development, LLC			
102.	RML Films PR, LLC			

<u>NAI-1500594528v25</u> -28-

D 1 . //	In the M			
Debtor #	Debtor Name			
103.	RML Hector Films, LLC			
104.	RML Hillsong Films, LLC			
105.	RML IFWT Films, LLC			
106.	RML International Assets, LLC			
107.	RML Jackson, LLC			
108.	RML Kidnap Films, LLC			
109.	RML Lazarus Films, LLC			
110.	RML Nina Films, LLC			
111.	RML November Films, LLC			
112.	RML Oculus Films, LLC			
113.	RML Our Father Films, LLC			
114.	RML Romeo and Juliet Films, LLC			
115.	RML Scripture Films, LLC			
116.	RML Solace Films, LLC			
117.	RML Somnia Films, LLC			
118.	RML Timeless Productions, LLC			
119.	RML Turkeys Films, LLC			
120.	RML Very Good Girls Films, LLC			
121.	RML WIB Films, LLC			
122.	RMLDD Financing, LLC			
123.	Rogue Digital, LLC			
124.	Rogue Games, LLC			
125.	Roguelife LLC			
126.	Safe Haven Productions, LLC			
127.	Sanctum Films, LLC			
128.	Santa Claus Productions, LLC			
129.	Smith Point Productions, LLC			
130.	Snow White Productions, LLC			
131.	Spy Next Door, LLC			
132.	Story Development, LLC			
133.	Straight Wharf Productions, LLC			
134.	Strangers II, LLC			
135.	Stretch Armstrong Productions, LLC			
136.	Studio Merchandise, LLC			
137.	Summer Forever Productions, LLC			
138.	The Crow Productions, LLC			
139.	Totally Interns, LLC			
140.	Tribes of Palos Verdes Production, LLC			
141.	Tuckernuck Music, LLC			
142.	Tuckernuck Publishing, LLC			
143.	Wright Girls Films, LLC			
144.	Yuma, Inc.			
145.	Zero Point Enterprises, LLC			
110.	2010 I Ollit Dittorprises, DDC			

<u>NAI-1500594528v25</u> -29-

2. Identification of Classes of Claims Against and Interests in the

Debtors

The following table designates the Classes of Claims against and Interests in the Debtors and specifies which Classes are (a) Impaired or Unimpaired by this Plan, (b) entitled to vote to accept or reject this Plan in accordance with Bankruptcy Code § 1126 or (c) deemed to accept or reject this Plan.

Class	Designation	Impairment	Entitled to Vote
A.	Priority Non-Tax Claims	Unimpaired	Deemed to Accept
B.	TLA/TLB Secured Claims	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
C.	Pre-Release P&A Secured	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
	Claims		
D.	Post-Release P&A Secured	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
	Claims		
E.	Production Loan Secured	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
	Claims		
F.	Ultimates Secured Claims	Unimpaired	Deemed to Accept
G.	Secured Guilds Claims	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
H.	Vine/Verite Secured	Unimpaired	Deemed to Accept
	Claims		
I.	Other Secured Claims	Unimpaired	Deemed to Accept
J.	General Unsecured Claim	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
K.	Subordinated Claims	Impaired	Deemed to Reject
L.	Interests	Impaired	Deemed to Reject

C. Treatment of Classified Claims

1. Priority Non-Tax Claims (Class -A)

a. *Classification*: Classes A1 - A145 consist of all Priority Non-Tax Claims against the respective Debtors.

b. *Treatment*: On the later of (a) the Effective Date and (b) the date on which such Priority Non-Tax Claim becomes an Allowed Priority Non-Tax Claim, except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Priority Non-Tax Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, each Holder of an Allowed Priority Non-Tax Claim against a Debtor shall receive on account and in full and complete settlement, release and discharge of such Claim, at the Debtors' election, (i) Cash in the amount of such Allowed Priority Non-Tax Claim in accordance with Bankruptcy Code § 1129(a)(9) and/or (ii) such other treatment required to render such Claim unimpaired pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1124. All Allowed Priority Non-Tax Claims against the Debtors that are not due and payable on or before the Effective Date shall be paid by the Reorganized Debtors when such Claims become due and payable in the ordinary course of business in accordance with the terms thereof. All Priority Non-Tax Claims payable to the Guilds, if any, will be paid in accordance with the Guild Payroll Protocols.

c. *Voting*: Claims in Classes A1 - A145 are Unimpaired. Each Holder of an Allowed Claim in Classes A1 - A145 shall be deemed to have accepted this Plan and is, therefore, not entitled to vote.

2. TLA/TLB Secured Claims (Class B)

- a. *Classification*: Classes B1 B33, B35 B56, B58 B143, and B145 consist of all TLA/TLB Secured Claims against the respective Debtors.
- b. *Treatment*: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed TLA/TLB Secured Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, on the Effective Date, the Holders of Allowed TLA/TLB Secured Claims are entitled to receive 100% of the equity value of the Debtors. Holders of that portion of the Allowed TLA/TLB Secured Claims comprising the Retained TLA/TLB Secured Claim have agreed to less favorable treatment, and shall receive the BidCo Note in full and final satisfaction, release, and discharge of, and in exchange for, such Retained TLA/TLB Secured Claim. For the avoidance of doubt, the BidCo Note, to the extent paid down to \$30.0 million, will be subordinated to the New P&A/Ultimates Facility-, but subject to potential payments to the Buyer out of the proceeds of debt and equity capital raises, as set forth in the BidCo Note, Kavanaugh and Nicholas have agreed to receive Reorganized Relativity Holdings Preferred Units and such other treatment on account of approximately \$165.0 million of their TLA/TLB Secured Claims, which treatment is the subject of ongoing negotiations which the Debtors anticipate resolving and including included in the Revised Relativity Holdings Operating Agreement as set forth in Section III.B below.
- c. *Voting*: Claims in Classes B1 B33, B35 B56, B58 B143, and B145 are Impaired. Each Holder of an Allowed Claim in Classes B1 B33, B35 B56, B58 B143, and B145 is entitled to vote.

3. Pre-Release P&A Secured Claims (Class C)

- a. *Classification*: Classes C5, C21, C108, C109, and C117 consist of all Pre-Release Pre-Release P&A Secured Claims against the Debtors.
- b. *Treatment*: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Pre-Release P&A Secured Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, on or as soon as practicable after the Effective Date, RKA, as the Holder of the Allowed Pre-Release P&A Secured Claims, shall receive the following treatment: (i) If RKA votes to accept this Plan, the treatment as provided for in Exhibit I or in Exhibit K; or (ii) if RKA votes to reject this Plan, the five (5) Replacement P&A Notes provided for in Exhibit K at an interest rate equal to the Treasury Bill Rate plus 3.0%, but without the benefit of cross-collateralization, with a present value equal to the respective Allowed Pre-Release P&A Secured Claims.
- c. *Voting*: Claims in Classes C5, C21, C108, C109, and C117 are Impaired. Each Holder of an Allowed Claim in Classes C5, C21, C108, C109, and C117 is entitled to vote.

4. Post-Release P&A Claims Secured Claims (Class D)

- a. *Classification*: Classes -D8, D95, D109, and D121 and D122 consist of all Post-Release P&A Secured Claims against the Debtors.
- *Treatment*: On or as soon as practicable after the Effective Date. Reorganized Relativity Holdings shall Allow a claim in the approximately amount of \$26,818,821 (as of October 31, 2015 and as reduced in the ordinary course until the Effective Date), which such amount shall include, without limitation, includes postpetition interest through November 24, 2015), plus additional accrued interest after November 24, 2015, legal fees, costs, expenses and other outstanding obligations of Reorganized Relativity Holdings under the P&A Funding Agreement subject to documentation of a replacement credit agreement, which shall provide among other things for an extension of the maturity dates as compared to the pre-petition terms. Subject to and except for any applicable senior Guild lien, the obligation shall be secured by a first-priority security interest originally (i) cross-collateralized against Blackbird Productions, LLC and RML WIB Films, LLC and (ii) individually as against RML Lazarus Films, LLC; provided, however, that once amounts owing by RML Lazarus Films, LLC to RKA under the Pre-Release P&A Secured Claims are paid off in full, the obligation under this Class D shall be fully secured on a cross-collateralized basis against each of the three entities. Reorganized Relativity Holdings shall continue to distribute each Post-Release P&A Picture until the outstanding obligations are satisfied by payment in full in Cash in accordance with the terms of the replacement credit agreement which will make clear that the Classes D8, D109, and D121 lien shall apply only to the proceeds of the post-release films Woman in Black 2, Lazarus and Beyond the Lights, as applicable.
- c. *Voting*: Claims in Classes D8, D95, D109, and D121 and D122 are Impaired. Each Holder of an Allowed Claim in Classes D8, D95, D109, and D121 and D122 is entitled to vote.

5. Production Loan Secured Claims (Class E)

- a. *Classification*: Classes E5 and E21 consists of all Production Loan Secured Claims against the Debtors.
- b. *Treatment*: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Production Loan Secured Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, on or as soon as practicable after the Effective Date, each Holder of an Allowed Production Loan Secured Claim shall receive the following treatment: (i) If the Holders vote to accept this Plan, the Production Loan Settlement; or (ii) if the Holders vote to reject this Plan, the Replacement Production Loan Note with a present value equal to the respective Allowed Production Loan Secured Claim. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Plan is intended to affect or modify the Allowed Production Secured Claim Holder's rights under \(\begin{array}{c} \text{H}(vi)(D) (I) \text{ of Dkt. No. 931 in the Chapter 11 Cases.} \end{array}\)
- c. *Voting*: Claims in Classes E5 and E21 are Impaired. Each Holder of an Allowed Claim in Classes E5 and E21 shall be entitled to vote.

6. Ultimates Secured Claims (Class -F)

- a. *Classification*: Classes -F1, F2, F6, F7, F8, F10, F20,- F24, F41, F47, F51, F77 F83, F87, F95, F96, F99, F103, F109, F111, F112, F116, F119, F121 and F126 consists of all Ultimates Secured Claims against the Debtors.
- b. *Treatment*: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Ultimates Secured Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, on or as soon as practicable after the Effective Date, each Holder of an Allowed Ultimates Secured Claim shall receive payment in full (in Cash) of any such Allowed Ultimates Secured Claim in full and final satisfaction of their claim upon which payment any liens securing such claim shall be immediately released.
- c. *Voting*: Claims in Classes -F1, F2, F6, F7, F8, F10, F20, F24, F41, F47, F51, F77-F83, F87, F95, F96, F99, F103, F109, F111, F112, F116, F119, F121 and F126 are Unimpaired. Each Holder of an Allowed Claim in Classes F1, F2, F6, F7, F8, F10, F20, F24, F41, F47, F51, F77 F83, F87, F95, F96, F99, F103, F109, F111, F112, F116, F119, F121 and F126 shall be deemed to have accepted this Plan and is, therefore, not entitled to vote.

7. Secured Guilds Claims (Class -G)

- a. *Classification*: Classes -G1, G2, G6, G7, G8, G10, G20, G24, G41, G47, G51, G77–, G8378, G8780, G95, G96, G99, G103, G109, G111, G112, G116, G119, G121126 and G126130 consist of all Secured Guilds Claims against the Debtors.
- Treatment: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed b. Secured Guilds Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, each Holder of an Allowed Secured Guilds Claim shall receive (i) on the Effective Date or as soon thereafter as practicable, its pro rata share of \$6.65 million less what is received with respect to the Secured Guilds Claims prior to the Effective Date, and (ii) one (1) year after the Effective Date or as soon as practicable thereafter, payment in full (including applicable interest and collection costs, including but not limited to attorneys fees, as specified in each applicable security agreement) on account of the remaining balance of such Allowed Secured Guilds Claim; provided, however, that if the Guilds and the Reorganized Debtor have not agreed to the amount of remaining Allowed Guild Secured Claims within 180 days after the Effective Date, the parties will refer this issue to arbitration pursuant to the Guild collective bargaining agreements; provided, further however, that the Guilds shall retain any pre-petition liens, but which will continue to secure post-confirmation performance under the CBA Assumption Agreements and the Allowed Secured Guilds Claims. All payments to the Guilds in connection with the Allowed Secured Guilds Claims shall be payable in accordance with the Guild Payroll Protocols.
- c. *Voting:* Claims in Classes -G1, G2, G6, G7, G8, G10, G20, G24, G41, G47, G51, G77–, G8378, G8780, G95, G96, G99, G103, G109, G111, G112, G116, G119, G121126 and G126130 are Impaired. Each Holder of an Allowed Claim in Classes G1, G2, G6, G7, G8, G10, G20, G24, G41, G47, G51, G77–, G8378, G8780, G95, G96, G99, G103, G109, G111, G112, G116, G119, G121126 and G126130 is entitled to vote.

8. Vine/Verite Secured Claims (Class H)

- a. *Classification*: Classes -H34 and H144 and consists of all Vine/Verite Secured Claims against the Debtors.
- b. *Treatment*: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Vine/Verite Secured Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, on or as soon as practicable after the Effective Date, each Holder of an Allowed Vine/Verite Secured Claim shall receive the following treatment at the option of the Plan Proponents: (i) such Allowed Secured Claim shall be Reinstated; or (ii) satisfaction of any such Allowed Secured Claim by delivering the collateral securing any such Allowed Secured Claim.
- c. *Voting*: Claims in Classes -H34 and H144 are Unimpaired. Each Holder of an Allowed Claim in Classes H34 and H144 shall be deemed to have accepted this Plan and is, therefore, not entitled to vote.

9. Other Secured Claims (Class I)

- a. *Classification*: Classes I1 I145 consists of all Other Secured Claims against the Debtors.
- b. *Treatment*: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Other Secured Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, on or as soon as practicable after the Effective Date, each Holder of an Allowed Other Secured Claim shall receive the following treatment at the option of the Plan Proponents: (i) such Allowed Secured Claim shall be Reinstated; (ii) payment in full (in Cash) of any such Allowed Secured Claim; or (iii) satisfaction of any such Allowed Secured Claim by delivering the collateral securing any such Allowed Secured Claim.
- c. *Voting*: Claims in Classes -I1 I145 are Unimpaired. Each Holder of an Allowed Claim in Classes I1 I145 shall be deemed to have accepted this Plan and is, therefore, not entitled to vote.

10. General Unsecured Claims (Class J)

- a. *Classification*: Classes -J1 J145 consist of all General Unsecured Claims against the Debtors.
- b. *Treatment*: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, on the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors shall be deemed substantively consolidated for plan purposes only, and each Holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim in Classes -J1 J145 shall receive, subject to the terms of this Plan, in full satisfaction, settlement, release and discharge of, and in exchange for, such Claim, interests representing its Pro Rata share of (i) the Guaranteed GUC Payment and (ii) the GUC Interest; *provided*, *however*, that the sum of the Guaranteed GUC Payment and the GUC Interest shall not exceed par. For the avoidance of doubt, all intercompany claims of the Debtors shall be deemed disallowed as part of the deemed substantive consolidation of the Debtors. Subject to the Committee's investigation of In accordance with the 9019 Settlement Order, the

Manchester Transactions, claims arising under the Manchester Prepetition Credit Facility Claims are Allowed in the amount of \$137,000,000 and are General Unsecured Claims. As part of the 9019

Settlement Order, Manchester Securities has agreed to accept less favorable treatment for the Manchester Claims as provided therein, which less favorable treatment shall consist of Manchester Securities receiving Warrants as set forth in Section III.C. and the waivers of distributions by Manchester Securities set forth in the Settlement Agreement (as defined in the 9019 Settlement Order). The Reorganized Debtors and the Litigation Trust will meet and confer in order to coordinate GUC Distributable Value and Litigation Trust Interests with the Guild Payroll Protocols. In addition, the Guilds agree that notwithstanding the CBA Assumption Agreements and Bankruptcy Code § 1113 and any other applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, any unsecured pre-petition residuals owed by any of the Debtors will be treated as General Unsecured Claims except to the extent, if any, they may constitute Allowed Priority Non-Tax Claims

c. *Voting*: Claims in Classes J1 - J145 are Impaired. Each Holder of an Allowed Claim in Classes J1 - J145 is entitled to vote.

11. Subordinated Claims (Class -K)

- a. Classification: Classes -K1 K145 consist of all Subordinated Claims
- b. *Treatment*: No property shall be distributed to or retained by the Holders of Subordinated Claims, and such Claims shall be extinguished on the Effective Date. Holders of Subordinated Claims shall not receive any distribution pursuant to this Plan.
- c. *Voting*: Claims in Classes -K1 K145 are Impaired. Each Holder of an Allowed Claim in Classes K1 K145 shall be deemed to have rejected this Plan and, therefore, is not entitled to vote.

12. Treatment of Interests in all Debtors (Class L)

- a. *Classification*: Classes -L1 L145 consists of all Interests in the Debtors.
- b. *Treatment*: Holders of Interests in the Debtors shall retain no property under this Plan.
- c. *Voting*: Interests in Classes -L1 L145 are Impaired. Each Holder of an Allowed Interest in Relativity Holdings in Classes L1 L145 shall be deemed to have rejected this Plan and, therefore, is not entitled to vote.
 - **D.** Special Provision Regarding Prepetition Intercompany Claims

For purposes of distributions under this Plan, Prepetition Intercompany Claims shall be deemed disallowed as part of the deemed substantive consolidation of the Debtors.

E. Special Provision Governing Unimpaired Claims

Except as otherwise provided in this Plan, nothing under this Plan will affect the Debtors' or the Reorganized Debtors' rights regarding any Unimpaired Claim, including all rights regarding legal and equitable defenses to or setoffs or recoupments against any such Unimpaired Claim.

F. Postpetition Interest on General Unsecured Claims

Except as required by applicable bankruptcy law, postpetition interest will not accrue or be payable on account of any General Unsecured Claim.

G. Insurance

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, if any Allowed Claim is covered by an insurance policy, such Claim will first be paid from proceeds of such insurance policy, with the balance, if any, treated in accordance with the provisions of this Plan governing the Class applicable to such Claim.

III. MEANS OF IMPLEMENTATION

A. Issuance of Reorganized Relativity Holdings Preferred Units

On the Effective Date, Reorganized Relativity Holdings Preferred Units shall be authorized as set forth in the Operating Agreement. Reorganized Relativity Holdings shall issue, pursuant to the treatment provided for in this Plan, Reorganized Relativity Holdings Preferred Units to each of Nicholas and Kavanaugh. The rights of holders of Reorganized Relativity Holdings Preferred Units shall be set forth in the Revised Relativity Holdings Operating Agreement.

Each distribution and issuance of the Reorganized Relativity Holdings Preferred Units under this Plan shall be governed by the terms and conditions set forth in this Plan applicable to such distribution or issuance and by the terms and conditions of the instruments evidencing or relating to such distribution or issuance, which terms and conditions shall bind each Entity receiving such distribution or issuance.

On the Effective Date, Reorganized Holdings will be authorized to and shall issue or execute and deliver, as applicable, the Reorganized Relativity Holdings Preferred Units and the New Securities and Documents (including, without limitation, in connection with a new equity raise), in each case, without further notice to or order of the Bankruptcy Court, act or action under applicable law, regulation, order, or rule or the vote, consent, authorization or approval of any Entity.

The issuance or execution and delivery of the New Securities and Documents, as applicable, and the distribution thereof under this Plan shall be exempt from registration under applicable securities laws pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1145(a) and/or any other applicable exemptions. Without limiting the effect of Bankruptcy Code § 1145, all documents, agreements, and instruments entered into and delivered on or as of the Effective Date contemplated by or in

furtherance of this Plan shall become and shall remain effective and binding in accordance with their respective terms and conditions upon the parties thereto, in each case, without further notice to or order of the Bankruptcy Court, act or action under applicable law, regulation, order, or rule or the vote, consent, authorization or approval of any Entity (other than as expressly required by such applicable agreement).

B. Issuance of Reorganized Relativity Holdings Common Units

On the Effective Date, Reorganized Relativity Holdings Common Units shall be authorized as set forth in the Operating Agreement. Reorganized Relativity Holdings shall issue, pursuant to the treatment provided for in this Plan, Reorganized Relativity Holdings Common Units to each of Nicholas and Kavanaugh. Any shares not necessary to satisfy obligations under this Plan shall have the status of authorized but not issued shares of Reorganized Relativity Holdings. The rights of holders of Reorganized Relativity Holdings Common Units shall be set forth in the Revised Relativity Holdings Operating Agreement.

Each distribution and issuance of the Reorganized Relativity Holdings Common Units under this Plan shall be governed by the terms and conditions set forth in this Plan applicable to such distribution or issuance and by the terms and conditions of the instruments evidencing or relating to such distribution or issuance, which terms and conditions shall bind each Entity receiving such distribution or issuance.

On the Effective Date, each of the applicable Reorganized Debtors will be authorized to and shall issue or execute and deliver, as applicable, the Reorganized Relativity Holdings Common Units and the New Securities and Documents (including, without limitation, in connection with a new equity raise), in each case, without further notice to or order of the Bankruptcy Court, act or action under applicable law, regulation, order, or rule or the vote, consent, authorization or approval of any Entity.

The issuance or execution and delivery of the New Securities and Documents, as applicable, and the distribution thereof under this Plan shall be exempt from registration under applicable securities laws pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1145(a) and/or any other applicable exemptions. Without limiting the effect of Bankruptcy Code § 1145, all documents, agreements, and instruments entered into and delivered on or as of the Effective Date contemplated by or in furtherance of this Plan shall become and shall remain effective and binding in accordance with their respective terms and conditions upon the parties thereto, in each case, without further notice to or order of the Bankruptcy Court, act or action under applicable law, regulation, order, or rule or the vote, consent, authorization or approval of any Entity (other than as expressly required by such applicable agreement).

C. Issuance of Reorganized Relativity Holdings Warrants

On the Effective Date, Reorganized Relativity Holdings shall issue Reorganized Relativity Holdings Warrants to each of Nicholas and Heatherden (or their respective Affiliates) with such terms and conditions set forth in their respective Warrant Agreements.

On the Effective Date, Reorganized Relativity Holdings will be authorized to and shall issue or execute and deliver, as applicable, the Reorganized Relativity Holdings Warrants

and the New Securities and Documents (including, without limitation, in connection with a new equity raise), in each case, without further notice to or order of the Bankruptcy Court, act or action under applicable law, regulation, order, or rule or the vote, consent, authorization or approval of any Entity.

The issuance or execution and delivery of the New Securities and Documents, as applicable, and the distribution thereof under this Plan shall be exempt from registration under applicable securities laws pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1145(a) and/or any other applicable exemptions. Without limiting the effect of Bankruptcy Code § 1145, all documents, agreements, and instruments entered into and delivered on or as of the Effective Date contemplated by or in furtherance of this Plan shall become and shall remain effective and binding in accordance with their respective terms and conditions upon the parties thereto, in each case, without further notice to or order of the Bankruptcy Court, act or action under applicable law, regulation, order, or rule or the vote, consent, authorization or approval of any Entity (other than as expressly required by such applicable agreement).

D. Continued Corporate Existence and Vesting of Assets in the Reorganized Debtors

Except as otherwise provided herein (including with respect to the Restructuring Transactions described in Section -III.E.1: (1) as of the Effective Date, Reorganized Relativity Holdings shall exist as a separate legal entity, with all organizational powers in accordance with the laws of the state of Delaware and the certificates of formation and operating agreement, appended hereto as Exhibit B and Exhibit C, respectively; (2) subject to the Restructuring Transactions, each of the Debtors shall, as a Reorganized Debtor, continue to exist after the Effective Date as a separate legal entity, with all of the powers of such a legal entity under applicable law and without prejudice to any right to alter or terminate such existence (whether by merger, conversion, dissolution or otherwise) under applicable law; and (3) on the Effective Date, all property of the Estate of a Debtor, the Causes of Action, and any property acquired by a Debtor or Reorganized Debtor under this Plan, shall vest, subject to the Restructuring Transactions, in the applicable Reorganized Debtors, free and clear of all Claims, liens, charges, other encumbrances, Interests and other interests. On and after the Effective Date, each Reorganized Debtor may operate its business and may use, acquire and dispose of property and compromise or settle any Claims, Interests or the RKA Causes of Action without supervision or approval by the Bankruptcy Court and free of any restrictions of the Bankruptcy Code or Bankruptcy Rules, other than those restrictions expressly imposed by this Plan or the Confirmation Order. Without limiting the foregoing, each Reorganized Debtor may pay the charges that it incurs on or after the Effective Date for appropriate Professionals' fees, disbursements, expenses or related support services (including fees relating to the preparation of Professional fee applications) without application to, or the approval of, the Bankruptcy Court.

E. Restructuring Transactions

1. Restructuring Transactions Generally

On or after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors shall undertake such Restructuring Transactions as may be necessary or appropriate to effect, in accordance with applicable non-bankruptcy law, a restructuring of the Debtors' or Reorganized Debtors'

respective business or simplify the overall organizational structure of the Reorganized Debtors, including but not limited to resolving intercompany claims, all to the extent not inconsistent with any other terms of this Plan, including any such Restructuring Transactions described in any Restructuring Transactions documents, including the Restructuring Transactions Exhibit, if any, to be filed with this Plan Supplement within the Debtors' discretion.

Without limiting the foregoing, unless otherwise provided by the terms of a Restructuring Transaction, all such Restructuring Transactions will be deemed to occur on the Effective Date and may include one or more mergers, conversions, or consolidations, restructurings, dispositions, liquidations or dissolutions, as may be determined by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors to be necessary or appropriate.

The actions taken by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, to effect the Restructuring Transactions may include: (i) the execution, delivery, adoption, and/or amendment of appropriate agreements or other documents of merger, conversion, consolidation, restructuring, disposition, liquidation or dissolution containing terms that are consistent with the terms of this Plan, the Restructuring Transactions documents, and any ancillary documents and that satisfy the applicable requirements of applicable state law and any other terms to which the applicable Entities may agree; (ii) the execution, delivery, adoption, and/or amendment of appropriate instruments of transfer, assignment, assumption or delegation of any asset, property, right, liability, debt, or obligation on terms consistent with the terms of this Plan, the Disclosure Statement, the Restructuring Transactions documents, and any ancillary documents and having other terms for which the applicable Entities may agree; (iii) the filing of appropriate certificates or articles of incorporation, reincorporation, formation, conversion, merger, consolidation, dissolution or change in corporate form pursuant to applicable state law; (iv) the cancellation of shares, membership interests and warrants; and (v) all other actions that the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, determine to be necessary, desirable, or appropriate to implement, effectuate, and consummate this Plan or the Restructuring Transactions contemplated hereby, including making filings or recordings that may be required by applicable state law in connection with the Restructuring Transactions. Any such transactions may be effected on or subsequent to the Effective Date without any further action by the equityholders or directors of any of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors.

2. Obligations of Any Successor Entity in a Restructuring Transaction

The Restructuring Transactions may result in substantially all of the respective assets, properties, rights, liabilities, duties, and obligations of certain of the Reorganized Debtors vesting in one or more surviving, resulting, or acquiring entities. In any case in which the surviving, resulting, or acquiring entity in any such transaction is a successor to a Reorganized Debtor, such surviving, resulting, or acquiring entity will perform the obligations of the applicable Reorganized Debtor pursuant to this Plan to pay or otherwise satisfy the Allowed Claims against such Reorganized Debtor, except as provided in this Plan or in any contract, instrument or other agreement or document effecting a disposition to such surviving, resulting or acquiring corporation, which may provide that another Reorganized Debtor will perform such obligations. For the avoidance of doubt, no Restructuring Transaction shall have the effect of substantively consolidating the assets and liabilities of any Debtor or Reorganized Debtor that is

party to a Production Loan Agreement (or related agreements) on the one hand with the assets and liabilities of any other Person or Entity on the other hand.

F. Sources of Cash for Plan Distributions

The Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, are authorized to execute and deliver any documents necessary or appropriate to obtain Cash for funding this Plan. All consideration necessary for the Reorganized Debtors to make payments or distributions pursuant hereto shall be obtained through a combination of one or more of the following: (a) Cash on hand of the Debtors, including Cash from business operations, or distributions from Non-Debtor Affiliates; (b) proceeds of the sale of assets; (c) the New P&A/Ultimates Facility; (d) the proceeds of any tax refunds and the RKA Causes of Action; (e) the proceeds of any equity raise; and (f) any other means of financing or funding that the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors determine is necessary or appropriate. Further, the Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors shall be entitled to transfer funds between and among themselves as they determine to be necessary or appropriate to enable the Reorganized Debtors to satisfy their obligations under this Plan. Except as set forth herein, any changes in intercompany account balances resulting from such transfers shall be accounted for and settled in accordance with the Debtors' historical intercompany account settlement practices and shall not violate the terms of this Plan or any orders entered by the Bankruptcy Court with respect to the Debtors' cash management system.

G. Corporate Governance, Managers and Officers, Employment-Related Agreements and Compensation Programs; Other Agreements

1. Certificates of Formation and Operating Agreement

As of the Effective Date, the certificate of formation and the operating agreement (or comparable constituent documents) of Reorganized Relativity Holdings shall be substantially in the forms appended hereto as Exhibit B and Exhibit C, respectively. The certificate of formation and operating agreement (or comparable constituent documents) of each Reorganized Debtor, among other things, shall prohibit the issuance of nonvoting equity securities to the extent required by Bankruptcy Code § 1123(a)(6). After the Effective Date, each Reorganized Debtor may amend and restate its certificate of formation or operating agreement (or comparable constituent documents) as permitted by applicable non-bankruptcy law, subject to the terms and conditions of such constituent documents. On the Effective Date, or as soon thereafter as is practicable, each Reorganized Debtor shall file such certificate of formation (or comparable constituent documents) with the secretary of state or jurisdiction or similar office of the state or jurisdiction in which such Reorganized Debtor is incorporated or organized, to the extent required by and in accordance with the applicable corporate law of such state.

2. Managers and Officers of the Reorganized Debtors

In accordance with Bankruptcy Code § 1129(a)(5), from and after the Effective Date, the initial officers and directors of Reorganized Relativity Holdings shall be comprised of the individuals identified in a disclosure to be Filed as part of the Plan Supplement. The directors for the boards of managers/directors of the direct and indirect subsidiaries of Reorganized Relativity Holdings shall be identified and selected by the New Board of Managers.

NAI-1500594528v25 -40-

3. Employment-Related Agreements and Compensation Programs

Except as otherwise provided herein, as of the Effective Date, each of the Reorganized Debtors shall have authority to: (i) maintain, reinstate, amend or revise existing employment, retirement, welfare, incentive, severance, indemnification and other agreements with its active and retired directors, officers and employees, subject to the terms and conditions of any such agreement and applicable non-bankruptcy law; and (ii) enter into new employment, retirement, welfare, incentive, severance, indemnification and other agreements for active and retired employees.

On the Effective Date, Reorganized Relativity shall assume the existing employment plans and employment agreements, as the same may be modified, other than those identified on Exhibit E as designated for rejection.

On or after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors shall continue to administer and pay the Claims arising before the Petition Date under the Debtors' workers' compensation programs in accordance with their prepetition practices and procedures.

4. Other Matters

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Plan, no provision in any contract, agreement or other document with the Debtors that is rendered unenforceable against the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors pursuant to Bankruptcy Code §§ 541(c), 363(11) or 365(e)(1), or any analogous decisional law, shall be enforceable against the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors as a result of this Plan.

5. Payment of Manchester Fees Heatherden Fee Claims

If and to the extent Relativity shall not have paid, prior to the Effective Date, all of the fees, expenses, and other amounts payable to Manchester or Heatherden, whether incurred prepetition or postpetition, including without limitation all amounts paid for legal and other professional fees and expenses of Manchester and Heatherden for O'Melveny & Myers LLP, Ropes & Gray LLP, and Moelis & Company, then all such unpaid fees, expenses and other amounts shall be paid to Manchester and Heatherden on the Effective Date of this Plan; <u>provided</u> that such fees and expenses incurred between October 26, 2015 and January 31, 2016, shall be subject to a budget in an aggregate amount of \$3,750,000 for such period; <u>provided</u>, that the budget shall not limit fees and expenses related to a litigation or investigation of Manchester or Heatherden.

In accordance with the 9019 Settlement Order, the Debtors shall issue to Heatherden on the Effective Date two unsecured notes (each a "Fee Note" and collectively, the "Fee Notes") in the form attached as Exhibit P on account of the Heatherden Fee Claims. Each Fee Note shall be for a principal amount of \$2,875,000. One Fee Note shall have a maturity date of August 17, 2016, and the other Fee Note shall have a maturity date of February 17, 2017. For the avoidance of doubt, the Heatherden Fee Claims shall not be subject to the requirements of Sections II.A.1.d (Professional Compensation), II.A.1.f (Post-Effective Date Professionals' Fees and Expenses), or II.A.1.g (Bar Dates for Administrative Claims).

6. Transactions Effective as of the Effective Date

Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1142 and the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act and any comparable provisions of the business corporation or limited liability company law of any other state or jurisdiction the following shall occur and be effective as of the Effective Date, if no such other date is specified in such other documents, and shall be authorized and approved in all respects and for all purposes without any requirement of further action by the members or managers of the Debtors or any of the Reorganized Debtors: (a) the Restructuring Transactions; (b) the adoption of new or amended and restated certificates of formation and operating agreements (or comparable constituent documents) for each Reorganized Debtor; (c) the initial selection of managers and officers for each Reorganized Debtor; (d) the distribution of Cash and other property pursuant to this Plan; (e) the authorization and issuance of Reorganized Relativity Holdings Common Units pursuant to this Plan; (f) the entry into and performance of the New Exit Financing Documents; (g) any amendments to any of the credit agreements; (h) the adoption, execution, delivery and implementation of all contracts, leases, instruments, releases and other agreements or documents related to any of the foregoing; (i) the adoption, execution and implementation of employment, retirement and indemnification agreements, incentive compensation programs, retirement income plans, welfare benefit plans and other employee plans and related agreements; and (i) any other matters provided for under this Plan involving the organizational structure of the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors or organizational action to be taken by or required of a Debtor or Reorganized Debtor.

H. New P&A/Ultimates Facility

On the Effective Date, one or more of the Reorganized Debtors shall be authorized to consummate the New P&A/Ultimates Facility and to execute, deliver and enter into the New Exit Financing Documents, and any related agreements or filings without the need for any further corporate or other organizational action and without further action by the Holders of Claims or Interests, and the New Exit Financing Documents and any related agreements or filings shall be executed and delivered and the applicable Reorganized Debtors shall enter into the New P&A/Ultimates Facility and be permitted to incur or issue the indebtedness available thereunder.

Any final material terms of the New P&A/Ultimates Facility shall be included in the Plan Supplement.

I. Preservation of Causes of Action

Except as provided in this Plan or in any contract, instrument, release, or other agreement entered into, or delivered in connection with, or assumed by this Plan (including, for the avoidance of doubt, pursuant to Section -X.E and X.F), in accordance with Bankruptcy Code § 1123(b) and to the fullest extent possible under applicable law, (i) the Reorganized Debtors will retain the Causes of Action and the RKA Causes of Action, (ii) only the Reorganized Debtors will have the right to enforce and prosecute the RKA Causes of Action, and (iii) the Reorganized Debtors shall grant to the Litigation Trust the sole right to enforce and prosecute the Causes of Action in the name of the Reorganized Debtor, whether such Causes of Action arose before or after the Petition Date, including any actions specifically enumerated in Exhibit J.

-42-

The Reorganized Debtors' and Litigation Trust's rights to commence, prosecute, or settle such RKA Causes of Action and Causes of Action, respectively, shall be preserved notwithstanding the occurrence of the Effective Date. The Reorganized Debtors or their successors, and/or the Litigation Trust, may pursue, or not pursue, such RKA Causes of Action and Causes of Action, as applicable, as they deem appropriate in their discretion.

No Person or Entity may rely on the absence of a specific reference in this Plan, the Plan Supplement, or the Disclosure Statement to any Causes of Action against them as any indication that the Litigation Trust will not pursue any and all available Causes of Action against them. Except with respect to Causes of Action as to which the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors have released any Person or Entity on or prior to the Effective Date (pursuant to the Debtor Release or otherwise), the Reorganized Debtors and the Litigation Trust, as applicable, expressly reserve all rights to prosecute any and all Causes of Action against any Person or Entity, except as otherwise expressly provided in this Plan.

J. Reinstatement and Continuation of Insurance Policies

From and after the Effective Date, each of the Debtors' insurance policies in existence as of the Effective Date will be reinstated and continued in accordance with their terms and, to the extent applicable, will be deemed assumed by the applicable Reorganized Debtor pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 365 and Section -IV.A of this Plan. Nothing in this Plan will affect, impair or prejudice the rights of the insurance carriers or the Reorganized Debtors under the insurance policies in any manner, and such insurance carriers and Reorganized Debtors will retain all rights and defenses under such insurance policies, and such insurance policies shall apply to, and be enforceable by and against, the Reorganized Debtors in the same manner and according to the same terms and practices applicable to the Debtors, as existed prior to the Effective Date.

K. Entry into CBA Assumption Agreements

On the Effective Date, the applicable Reorganized Debtors shall enter into the CBACB A Assumption Agreements.

L. Cancellation and Surrender of Instruments, Securities and Other Documentation

On the Effective Date and except as otherwise specifically provided for in this Plan, (i) the obligations of the Debtors under any other certificate, share, note, purchase right, or other instrument or document directly or indirectly evidencing or creating any indebtedness or obligation of, or ownership interest, equity, or profits interest in, the Debtors or any warrants, options, or other securities exercisable or exchangeable for, or convertible into, debt, equity, ownership, or profits interests in the Debtors giving rise to any Claim or Interest (except the Intercompany Interests), will be cancelled as to the Debtors, and the Reorganized Debtors will have no continuing obligations thereunder; (ii) the obligations of the Debtors under the Modified DIP Credit Agreement will be fully released, settled, and compromised as to the Debtors, and the Reorganized Debtors will have no continuing obligations thereunder Manchester DIP Claim shall be paid in full in Cash (from sources other than the New P&A/Ultimates Facility) on the Effective Date; and (iii) the obligations of the Debtors pursuant, relating, or pertaining to any agreements, indentures, certificates of designation, bylaws, or certificate or articles of incorporation/formation or similar

NAI-1500594528v25 -43-

documents governing the shares, units, certificates, notes, purchase rights, options, warrants, or other instruments or documents evidencing or creating any indebtedness or obligation of the Debtors will be fully released, settled, and compromised except as expressly provided herein.

With respect to any agreement (including, without limitation, any applicable credit agreement) that governs the rights of the Holder of a Claim or Interest and will be cancelled hereunder, and notwithstanding the occurrence of the Effective Date, such agreement will continue in effect solely for purposes of allowing such Holders to receive distributions under this Plan as provided herein.

M. Release of Liens

Except as otherwise provided in this Plan or in any contract, instrument, release or other agreement or document entered into or delivered in connection with this Plan, on the Effective Date and consistent with the treatment provided for Claims and Interests in Section -II, all mortgages, deeds of trust, liens or other security interests, including any liens granted as adequate protection against the property of any Estate, shall be fully released and discharged, and all of the right, title and interest of any Holder of such mortgages, deeds of trust, liens or other security interests, including any rights to any collateral thereunder, shall revert to the applicable Reorganized Debtor and its successors and assigns. As of the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors shall be authorized to execute and file on behalf of creditors Form UCC-3 termination statements, mortgage releases or such other forms as may be necessary or appropriate to implement the provisions of this Section III.M.

N. Effectuating Documents; Further Transactions

On and after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors, and the officers and members of the boards of managers or directors thereof, are authorized to and may issue, execute, deliver, file, or record such contracts, securities, instruments, releases, and other agreements or documents and take such actions as may be necessary or appropriate to effectuate, implement and further evidence the terms and conditions of this Plan, the Restructuring Transactions, the Reorganized Relativity Holdings Preferred Units, the Reorganized Relativity Holdings Common Units issued pursuant to this Plan, the New P&A/Ultimates Facility authorized pursuant to this Plan (including, but not limited to, the New Exit Financing Documents), and any amendments to any of the Debtors' credit agreements, in each case, in the name of and on behalf of the Reorganized Debtors, without the need for any approvals, authorization or consents except those expressly required pursuant to this Plan.

O. Transfer of Collateral Encumbered by Vine/Verite Secured Claims

Notwithstanding the treatment of the Allowed Vine/Verite Secured Claims set forth in Section II.C.8 herein and the occurrence of the Effective Date, Debtors J & J Project, LLC and Yuma, Inc. shall make reasonable best efforts for a period of up to sixty (60) days following the Effective Date to work collaboratively with Vine Film Finance Fund II, L.P. to implement a transfer of the collateral encumbered by the Vine/Verite Secured Claims to Vine Film Finance Fund II, L.P., free and clear of any claims, liens, security interests, encumbrances, pledges, or interests of junior creditors or interest holders, including through a potential transfer

<u>under Bankruptcy Code § 363 as part of the Chapter 11 Cases or through an agreed upon</u> foreclosure under state law.

IV. TREATMENT OF EXECUTORY CONTRACTS AND UNEXPIRED LEASES

A. Assumption and Rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases

On the Effective Date, except as otherwise provided herein, each of the Debtors' Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases not previously assumed or rejected pursuant to an order of the Bankruptcy Court shall be deemed assumed as of the Effective Date in accordance with the provisions and requirements of Bankruptcy Code §§ 365 and 1123 except any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease (1) identified on Exhibit <u>EE-1</u> to this Plan (which shall be Filed as part of the Plan Supplement, and as may be amended) as an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease designated for rejection or identified on Exhibit E-3 to this Plan (as may be amended) as an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease designated as terminated, (2) which is the subject of a pending objection as to cure or assumability of such Executory Contract(s) or Unexpired Lease(s), (3) which is the subject of a separate motion or notice to assume or reject Filed by the Debtors and pending as of the Effective Date, (4) that previously expired or terminated pursuant to its own terms, or (5) that was previously assumed by any of the Debtors. In the event that an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease is the subject of a pending objection, at any time (i) on or before the Effective Date, the Debtors reserve the right to supplement the list of rejected contracts on Exhibit <u>EE-1</u> or (ii) after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors reserve the right to supplement the list of rejected contracts on Exhibit EE-1.

Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 365, Participation Agreements for yet to be released films are executory contracts and, as such, shall be assumed by the Reorganized Debtors as of the Effective Date.

To the extent not previously assumed, the Manchester Library Agreements shall be deemed assumed as of the Effective Date in accordance with the provisions and requirements of Bankruptcy Code §§ 365 and 1123. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan, the Manchester Library Agreements shall be deemed assumed on the Effective Date without determining, but not waiving, Manchester Library's rights to any cure payments for monetary defaults in respect of the Manchester Library Agreements pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 365(b)(1), subject to the following sentence. Manchester Library's rights to seek payment in full of any cure amount against the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors are expressly preserved, and the rights of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors to contest or defend such rights are likewise preserved.

Entry of the Confirmation Order by the Bankruptcy Court shall constitute an order approving the assumptions or rejections of such Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases as set forth in this Plan, all pursuant to Bankruptcy Code §§ 365(a) and 1123. Each Executory Contract and Unexpired Lease assumed pursuant to this Plan or by Bankruptcy Court order, and not assigned to a third party by previous order of the Bankruptcy Court on or prior to the Effective Date, shall revest in, and be fully enforceable by, the applicable contracting Reorganized Debtor in accordance with its terms, except as such terms may have been modified by order of the Bankruptcy Court. To the maximum extent permitted by law, to the extent any

NAI-1500594528v25 -45-

provision in any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease assumed pursuant to this Plan restricts or prevents, or purports to restrict or prevent, or is breached or deemed breached by, the assumption of such Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease (including, without limitation, any "change of control" provision), then such provision shall be deemed modified such that the transactions contemplated by this Plan shall not entitle the counterparty thereto to terminate such Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease or to exercise any other default-related rights with respect thereto. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Plan, the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, reserve the right to alter, amend, modify, or supplement Exhibit E-2 or E-3 hereto in their discretion prior to the Effective Date on no less than five (5) business days' notice to the counterparty thereto.

B. Cure of Defaults for Assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases

Any monetary defaults under each Executory Contract and Unexpired Lease to be assumed pursuant to this Plan shall be satisfied, pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 365(b)(1), by payment of the default amount in Cash on the Effective Date, subject to the limitation described below, or on such other terms as the parties to such Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases may otherwise agree. In the event of a dispute regarding (1) the amount of any payments to cure such a default, (2) the ability of the Reorganized Debtors or any assignee to provide "adequate assurance of future performance" (within the meaning of Bankruptcy Code § 365) under the Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease to be assumed, or (3) any other matter pertaining to assumption, the cure payments required by Bankruptcy Code § 365(b)(1) shall be made following the entry of a Final Order or orders resolving the dispute and approving the assumption.

No later than the date on which the Plan Supplement is Filed, to the extent not previously Filed with the Bankruptcy Court and served on affected counterparties, the Debtors shall provide for notices of proposed assumption and proposed cure amounts to be sent to applicable Executory Contract and Unexpired Lease counterparties, together with procedures for objecting thereto and resolution of disputes by the Bankruptcy Court. Any objection by a contract or lease counterparty to a proposed assumption (but not related to cure amount) must be Filed, served, and actually received by the Debtors by the date on which objections to Confirmation are due (or such other date as may be provided in the applicable assumption notice). Any counterparty to an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease that fails to object timely to the proposed assumption shall be deemed to have assented to such assumption. For the avoidance of doubt, as ordered by the Bankruptcy Court in these Chapter 11 Cases (Dkt. No. 369), failure of the non-Debtor counterparty previously served with a cure notice to have filed an objection or raised an informal objection with Debtors' counsel has resulted in a deemed waiver to object to, contest, condition or otherwise restrict the assumption of the noticed assumed contracts or lease and otherwise forever barred the non-Debtor counterparty from objecting to the amount of the cure payment. Every non-Debtor counterparty may, however, object as to adequate assurance of future performance of the Reorganized Debtors.

Assumption of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease pursuant to this Plan or otherwise shall result in the full release and satisfaction of any Claims or defaults, whether monetary or nonmonetary, including defaults of provisions restricting the change in control or ownership interest composition or other bankruptcy-related defaults, arising under any assumed

<u>NAI-1500594528v25</u> -46-

Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease at any time prior to the effective date of assumption. Any Proofs of Claim filed with respect to an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease that has been assumed shall be deemed disallowed and expunged without further notice to or action, order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

C. Claims Based on Rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases

Unless otherwise provided by a Bankruptcy Court order, any Proofs of Claim asserting Claims arising from the rejection of the Debtors' Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases pursuant to this Plan or otherwise must be filed with the Notice and Claims Agent within 30 days after the date of entry of an order of the Bankruptcy Court (including the Confirmation Order) approving such rejection. Any Proofs of Claim arising from the rejection of the Debtors' Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases that are not timely filed shall be disallowed automatically, forever barred from assertion, and shall not be enforceable against any Reorganized Debtor without the need for any objection by the Reorganized Debtors or further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court. All Allowed Claims arising from the rejection of the Debtors' Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases shall constitute General Unsecured Claims and shall be treated in accordance with Section -II.C.10.

The Plan Proponents reserve the right to object to, settle, compromise or otherwise resolve any Claim Filed on account of a rejected Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease.

D. Contracts and Leases Entered Into After the Petition Date

Contracts and leases entered into after the Petition Date by any Debtor, including any Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases assumed by such Debtor, shall be performed by the Debtor or Reorganized Debtor liable thereunder in the ordinary course of its business. Accordingly, such contracts and leases (including any assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases) shall survive and remain unaffected by entry of the Confirmation Order.

E. Reservation of Rights

Neither the exclusion nor inclusion of any contract or lease in the Plan Supplement, nor anything contained in this Plan, nor the Debtors' delivery of a notice of proposed assumption and proposed cure amount to applicable contract and lease counterparties shall constitute an admission by the Debtors that any such contract or lease is in fact an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease or that any Reorganized Debtor has any liability thereunder. If there is a dispute regarding whether a contract or lease is or was executory or unexpired at the time of assumption or rejection, the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, shall have 30 days following entry of a Final Order resolving such dispute to alter their treatment of such contract or lease.

F. Pre-Existing Obligations to the Debtors Under Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases

Rejection of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease pursuant to this Plan or otherwise shall not constitute a termination of pre-existing obligations owed to the Debtors or

Reorganized Debtors under such Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases. Notwithstanding any applicable non-bankruptcy law to the contrary, the Debtors and Reorganized Debtors expressly reserve and do not waive any right to receive, or any continuing obligation of a counterparty to provide, warranties, indemnifications or continued maintenance obligations on goods previously purchased by the contracting Debtors or Reorganized Debtors from counterparties to rejected Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases.

G. Certain Compensation and Benefit Programs

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Plan, all contracts, agreements, policies, programs and plans in existence on the Petition Date that provided for the issuance of Interests in any of the Debtors to current or former employees or directors of the Debtors are, to the extent not previously terminated or rejected by the Debtors, to be treated as Class K Subordinated Claims and shall be rejected or otherwise terminated as of the Effective Date without any further action of the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors or any order of the Court, any unvested Interests granted under any such agreements, policies, programs and plans in addition to any Interests granted under such agreements previously terminated or rejected by the Debtors to the extent not previously cancelled shall be cancelled pursuant to Section III.K of this Plan. Objections to the treatment of these plans or the Claims for rejection or termination damages arising from the rejection or termination of any such plans, if any, must be submitted and resolved in accordance with the procedures and subject to the conditions for objections to Confirmation. If any such objection is not timely Filed and served before the deadline set for objections to this Plan, each participant in or counterparty to any agreement described in this Section IV.G shall be forever barred from (1) objecting to the rejection or termination provided hereunder, and shall be precluded from being heard at the Confirmation Hearing with respect to such objection; (2) asserting against any Reorganized Debtor, or its property, any default existing as of the Effective Date or any counterclaim, defense, setoff or any other interest asserted or assertable against the Debtors; and (3) imposing or charging against any Reorganized Debtor any accelerations, assignment fees, increases or any other fees as a result of any rejection pursuant to this Section IV G

H. Obligations to Insure and Indemnify Directors, Officers and Employees

Any and all managers/directors and officers liability and fiduciary insurance or tail policies in existence as of the Effective Date shall be reinstated and continued in accordance with their terms and, to the extent applicable, shall be deemed assumed or assumed and assigned by the applicable Debtor or Reorganized Debtor, pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 365 and Section IV.A of this Plan. Each insurance carrier under such policies shall continue to honor their coverage obligation, if any, and administer the policies with respect to the Reorganized Debtors in the same manner and according to the same terms, conditions, and practices applicable to the Debtors prior to the Effective Date.

The applicable Reorganized Debtor shall only be obligated to indemnify any Person who is serving or has served as one of the Debtors' directors, officers, managers, employees or consultants at any time from and after the Petition Date for any losses, claims, costs, damages or Liabilities resulting from such Person's service in such a capacity at any time from and after the Petition Date or as a director, officer, managers or employee of a Non-Debtor

-48-

Affiliate at any time from and after the Petition Date, to the extent provided in the applicable certificates of incorporation or formation, by-laws or similar constituent documents, by statutory law or by written agreement, policies or procedures of or with such Debtor. Accordingly, such indemnification obligations shall survive and be unaffected by entry of the Confirmation Order.

I. Reservation of Rights

Neither the exclusion nor inclusion of any contract or lease in the Plan Supplement, nor anything contained in this Plan, shall constitute an admission by the Debtors that any such contract or lease is in fact an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease or that the Reorganized Debtors have any liability thereunder.

V. PROVISIONS GOVERNING DISTRIBUTIONS

A. Distributions for Allowed Claims as of the Effective Date

Except as otherwise provided in this Section V, distributions to be made on the Effective Date to Holders of Allowed Claims as provided by Section II or this Section V shall be deemed made on the Effective Date if made on the Effective Date or as promptly thereafter as practicable by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable.

B. Undeliverable Distributions

In the event that any distribution to any Holder is returned as undeliverable, no distribution to such Holder shall be made unless and until the Reorganized Debtors, the Litigation Trust or the Guild counsel (as applicable) has determined the then current address of such Holder, at which time such distribution shall be made to such Holder without interest; provided, however, that such Distribution shall be deemed unclaimed property under Bankruptcy Code § 347(b) at the expiration of the latter of six (6) months from (i) the Effective Date or (ii) Allowance of such claim. After such date, all unclaimed property shall become available cash ("Available Cash") for distribution to all other Holders of Litigation Trust Interests (notwithstanding any applicable federal or state escheat, abandoned, or unclaimed property laws to the contrary), and the Claim of any Holder to such unclaimed property shall be released and forever barred from assertion against such Debtor and its Estate.

C. Compliance with Tax Requirements

In connection with this Plan and all instruments issued in connection herewith and distributed hereunder, to the extent applicable, the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, the Litigation Trust, or any other party issuing any instruments or making any distributions under this Plan shall comply with all applicable Tax withholding and reporting requirements imposed on them by any governmental unit, and all distributions pursuant to this Plan and all related agreements shall be subject to such withholding and reporting requirements. Each of the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, and the Litigation Trust, as applicable, shall be authorized to take any actions that may be necessary or appropriate to comply with such withholding and reporting requirements, including applying a portion of any Cash distribution to be made under this Plan to pay applicable Tax withholding. In the case of a non-Cash distribution that is subject to withholding, the distributing party may withhold an appropriate portion of such distributed

NAI-1500594528v25 -49-

property and sell such withheld property to generate Cash necessary to pay over the withholding tax. Any amounts withheld pursuant to the immediately preceding sentence shall be deemed to have been distributed and received by the applicable recipient for all purposes of this Plan. For the avoidance of doubt, the employer shall pay the "employer share" of any applicable employment taxes. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan, each Holder of an Allowed Claim receiving a distribution pursuant to this Plan shall have the sole and exclusive responsibility for the satisfying and paying of any Tax obligations imposed on it by any governmental unit on account of such distribution, including income, withholding and other Tax obligations. Any party issuing any instrument or making any distribution pursuant to this Plan has the right, but not the obligation, to not make a distribution until such Holder has made arrangements satisfactory to the issuing or disbursing party for the payment of any tax obligations.

Any party entitled to receive any property as an issuance or distribution under this Plan shall be required, if so requested, to deliver to the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, the Litigation Trust or any other party issuing any instruments or making any distributions under this Plan (or such other Entity designated by any of the foregoing), as applicable, an IRS Form W-9 or (if the payee is a foreign Entity) an IRS Form W-8BEN, IRS Form W-8BEN-E, or such other IRS Form W-8, as applicable, unless such Entity is exempt under the Internal Revenue Code and so notifies the making the distribution. If a properly completed IRS Form W-9 or IRS Form W-8, as appropriate, is not delivered to the distributing party (or such other Entity), and the Holder fails to comply with the requirement to deliver the IRS Form W-9 or IRS Form W-8 within the 180 days prescribed in Section IX.B.2 above, such distribution shall be deemed undeliverable.

D. Distribution Record Date

- 1. The Debtor or Reorganized Debtors will have no obligation to recognize the transfer, or the sale, of any participation in, any Claim that occurs after the close of business on the Distribution Record Date and will be entitled for all purposes herein to recognize and make distributions only to those holders of Allowed Claims that are holders of such Claims, or participants therein, as of the close of business on the Distribution Record Date.
- 2. Except as otherwise provided in a Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court, the transferees of Claims that are transferred pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 3001 on or prior to the Distribution Record Date will be treated as the holders of such Claims for all purposes, notwithstanding that any period provided by Bankruptcy Rule 3001 for objecting to such transfer has not expired by the Distribution Record Date.

E. Setoffs

Except with respect to claims of a Debtor or Reorganized Debtor released pursuant to this Plan or any contract, instrument, release or other agreement or document entered into or delivered in connection with this Plan, the Reorganized Debtors or the Litigation Trust, as applicable, may, pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 553 or applicable non-bankruptcy law, set off against any Claim and the payments or distributions to be made on account of the Claims, rights and Causes of Action of any nature that the applicable Reorganized Debtor or Litigation Trust may hold against the Holder of the Claim; *provided*, *however*, that the failure to effect a setoff

NAI-1500594528v25 -50-

shall not constitute a waiver or release by the applicable Reorganized Debtor or Litigation Trust of any Claims, rights and Causes of Action that the Reorganized Debtor or Litigation Trust may possess against the Holder of a Claim.

F. Distributions to Holders of Disputed Claims

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan, (1) no payments or distributions will be made on account of a Disputed Claim until such Claim becomes an Allowed Claim, if ever and (2) except as otherwise agreed to by the relevant parties, no partial payments and no partial distributions shall be made with respect to a Disputed Claim until all such disputes in connection with such Disputed Claim have been resolved by settlement or Final Order.

To the extent that a Disputed Claim ultimately becomes an Allowed Claim, distributions (if any) shall be made to the Holder of such Allowed Claim in accordance with the provisions of this Plan. As soon as practicable after the date that the order or judgment of the Bankruptcy Court allowing any Disputed Claim becomes a Final Order, the Holder of such Claim shall receive the distribution (if any) to which such Holder is entitled under this Plan as of the Effective Date, without any interest to be paid on account of such Claim unless required under applicable bankruptcy law. Distributions made after the Effective Date to Holders of Disputed Claims that are not Allowed Claims as of the Effective Date but which later become Allowed Claims shall be deemed to have been made on the Effective Date.

G. Allocation Between Principal and Accrued Interest

Except as otherwise provided in this Plan, the aggregate consideration paid to Holders with respect to their Allowed Claims shall be treated pursuant to this Plan as allocated first to the principal amount of such Allowed Claims (to the extent thereof as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes) and, thereafter, to interest and the remaining portion, if any, of such Allowed Claims.

VI. DISPUTED, CONTINGENT AND UNLIQUIDATED CLAIMS

A. Allowance of Claims

After the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors and/or the Litigation Trust, as applicable, shall have and retain any and all rights and defenses the Debtors had with respect to any Claim immediately prior to the Effective Date, except with respect to any Claim deemed Allowed under this Plan. Except as expressly provided in this Plan or in any order entered in the Chapter 11 Cases prior to the Effective Date (including the Confirmation Order), no Claim shall become an Allowed Claim unless and until such Claim is deemed Allowed under this Plan or the Bankruptcy Code or the Bankruptcy Court has entered a Final Order (including the Confirmation Order) in the Chapter 11 Cases allowing such Claim. All settled Claims approved prior to the Effective Date pursuant to a Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 9019 or otherwise shall be binding on all parties.

Any Claim that has been listed in the Schedules as disputed, contingent or unliquidated, and for which no Proof of Claim has been timely filed, is not considered Allowed

and shall be expunged without further action and without any further notice to or action, order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

B. Prosecution of Objections to Claims

Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Plan, the Debtors, prior to the Effective Date, and the Reorganized Debtors or the Litigation Trust, as applicable, after the Effective Date, shall have the sole authority: (1) to File, withdraw or litigate to judgment, objections to Claims; (2) to settle or compromise any Disputed Claim without any further notice to or action, order or approval by the Bankruptcy Court; and (3) to administer and adjust the claims register to reflect any such settlements or compromises without any further notice to or action, order or approval by the Bankruptcy Court.

C. Estimation of Claims

The Debtors, prior to the Effective Date, and the Reorganized Debtors or the Litigation Trust, as applicable, after the Effective Date, may (but are not required to) at any time request that the Bankruptcy Court estimate any Claim that is contingent or unliquidated pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 502(c) for any reason, regardless of whether any party previously has objected to such Claim or whether the Bankruptcy Court has ruled on any such objection. The Bankruptcy Court shall retain jurisdiction to estimate any such Claim, including during the litigation of any objection to any Claim or during the appeal relating to such objection. In the event that the Bankruptcy Court estimates any contingent or unliquidated Claim, that estimated amount shall constitute a maximum limitation on such Claim for all purposes under this Plan (including for purposes of distributions), and the relevant Reorganized Debtor may elect to pursue any supplemental proceedings to object to any ultimate distribution on such Claim or Interest.

D. Expungement or Adjustment to Claims Without Objection

Any Claim that has been paid or satisfied, or any Claim that has been amended or superseded, may be adjusted or expunged on the claims register by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, without a claim objection having to be Filed and without any further notice to or action, order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

E. Deadline to File Objections to Claims

The Reorganized Debtors and/or Liquidating Trust, as applicable, may object to any Claims not previously Allowed by an order of the Bankruptcy Court or pursuant to this Plan prior to the Claims Objection Bar Date.

F. Disallowance of Certain Claims

EXCEPT AS PROVIDED HEREIN, IN AN ORDER OF THE BANKRUPTCY COURT OR OTHERWISE AGREED, ANY AND ALL PROOFS OF CLAIM FILED AFTER THE CLAIMS BAR DATE SHALL BE DEEMED DISALLOWED AND EXPUNGED AS OF THE EFFECTIVE DATE WITHOUT ANY FURTHER NOTICE TO OR ACTION, ORDER OR APPROVAL OF THE

BANKRUPTCY COURT, AND HOLDERS OF SUCH CLAIMS MAY NOT RECEIVE ANY DISTRIBUTIONS ON ACCOUNT OF SUCH CLAIMS.

G. Offer of Judgment

The Reorganized Debtors are authorized to serve upon a Holder of a Disputed Claim an offer to allow judgment to be taken on account of such Disputed Claim, and, pursuant to Bankruptcy Rules 7068 and 9014, Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 68 shall apply to such offer of judgment. To the extent the Holder of a Disputed Claim must pay the costs incurred by the Reorganized Debtors after the making of such offer, the Reorganized Debtors are entitled to set off such amounts against the amount of any distribution to be paid to such Holder without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

H. Amendments to Claims

On or after the Effective Date, except as provided herein, a Claim may not be filed or amended without the prior authorization of the Bankruptcy Court or the Reorganized Debtors, and, to the extent such prior authorization is not received, any such new or amended Claim filed shall be deemed disallowed in full and expunged without any further action.

VII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO CONSUMMATION OF THIS PLAN

A. Conditions to the Effective Date

The Effective Date shall not occur, and this Plan shall not be consummated unless and until the following conditions have been satisfied or duly waived pursuant to Section -VII.B:

- 1. All documents and agreements necessary to consummate this Plan shall have been effected or executed.
- **2.** The Bankruptcy Court shall have entered the Confirmation Order, and the Confirmation Order shall be (i) a Final Order and (ii) in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Plan Proponents.
- **3.** Receipt of required governmental approvals (if any) and any and all other steps necessary to consummate the Debtors' proposed restructuring in any applicable jurisdictions have been received and/or effectuated.
- 4. All other documents and agreements necessary to implement this Plan on the Effective Date that are required to be in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Plan Proponents shall have been executed and delivered and all other actions required to be taken in connection with the Effective Date shall have occurred.
 - <u>5.</u> The Manchester DIP Claims shall have been paid in full in Cash.
- <u>6.</u> <u>The Fee Notes required by Section III.G.5 on the Effective Date shall have been executed and delivered to Heatherden.</u>

<u>7.</u> <u>Kavanaugh shall have executed and delivered the Side Letter to</u>

Heatherden.

<u>8.</u> <u>Any Additional Effective Date Payments shall have been paid in full in </u>

Cash.

52. All statutory fees and obligations then due and payable to the Office of the United States Trustee shall have been paid and satisfied in full.

B. Waiver of Conditions to Effective Date

The conditions to the Effective Date may be waived in whole or part at any time by the Plan Proponents, without an order of the Bankruptcy Court; *provided*, that (i) the conditions in VII.A.5, VII.A.6, and VII.A.7 may not be waived absent consent of Manchester Securities in its sole discretion and (ii) the condition in Section VII.A.8 may not be waived absent consent of the Buyer.

C. Effects of Nonoccurrence of Conditions to the Effective Date

If the Effective Date does not occur, then (i) this Plan will be null and void in all respects; (ii) any settlement or compromise embodied in this Plan (including the fixing or limiting to an amount certain of any Claim or Interest or Class of Claims or Interests), assumption or rejection of Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases effected by this Plan, and any document or agreement executed pursuant to this Plan, will be deemed null and void; and (iii) nothing contained in this Plan or the Disclosure Statement will (a) constitute a waiver or release of any Claims or Interests, (b) prejudice in any manner the rights of the Debtors or any other Person or Entity, or (c) constitute an admission, acknowledgement, offer, or undertaking of any sort by the Debtors or any other Person or Entity.

VIII. NON-CONSENSUAL CONFIRMATION NON-CONSENSUAL CONFIRMATION

In the event that any Impaired Class of Claims or Interests rejects this Plan, the Plan Proponents reserve the right, without any delay in the occurrence of the Confirmation Hearing or Effective Date, to (A) request that the Bankruptcy Court confirm this Plan in accordance with Bankruptcy Code § 1129(b) with respect to such non-accepting Class, in which case this Plan shall constitute a motion for such relief and/or (B) amend this Plan in accordance with Section XII. A.

IX. THE LITIGATION TRUST

A. Litigation Trust Agreement

On or before the Effective Date, the Plan Proponents and the Litigation Trustee shall execute the Litigation Trust Agreement, and shall take all other necessary steps to establish the Litigation Trust and the Litigation Trust Interests therein, which shall be for the benefit of the Litigation Trust Beneficiaries and the Reorganized Debtors, as provided in Section -II.C. 10 herein, whether their Claims are Allowed before, on or after the Effective Date. The Litigation Trust Agreement shall provide that any and all distributions of the Litigation Trust Assets will be

made solely by the Litigation Trustee, in accordance with the authority provided to him/her in the Litigation Trust Agreement. The Litigation Trust Agreement may provide powers, duties, and authorities in addition to those explicitly stated herein, but only to the extent that such powers, duties, and authorities do not affect the status of the Litigation Trust as a "liquidating trust," to the extent provided herein, for United States federal income tax purposes.

B. Purpose of the Litigation Trust

The Litigation Trust shall be established for the sole purpose of liquidating and distributing its assets, in accordance with Treasury Regulation § 301.7701-4(d), with no objective to continue or engage in the conduct of a trade or business.

C. Litigation Trust Assets

On the Effective Date, the Debtors shall transfer all of the Litigation Trust Assets, and the Creditors' Committee shall transfer the Television Sale Committee Allocation, to the Litigation Trust. The Litigation Trust Assets may be transferred subject to certain liabilities, as provided in this Plan or the Litigation Trust Agreement. Such transfer shall be exempt from any stamp, real estate transfer, mortgage reporting, sales, use or other similar Tax, pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1146(a). Upon delivery of the Litigation Trust Assets to the Litigation Trust, the Debtors and their predecessors, successors and assigns, and each other Entity released pursuant to Article X herein shall be discharged and released from all liability with respect to the delivery of such distributions.

D. Administration of the Litigation Trust

The Litigation Trust shall be administered by the Litigation Trustee according to the Litigation Trust Agreement and this Plan. In the event of any inconsistency between this Plan and the Litigation Trust Agreement, the Litigation Trust Agreement shall govern.

E. The Litigation Trustee

In the event the Litigation Trustee dies, is terminated, or resigns for any reason, a successor shall be designated in accordance with the Litigation Trust Agreement; *provided*, *however*, that under no circumstance shall the Litigation Trustee be a director or officer with respect to any Affiliate of the Litigation Trust.

F. Role of the Litigation Trustee

In furtherance of and consistent with the purpose of the Litigation Trust and this Plan, and subject to the terms of the Confirmation Order, this Plan and the Litigation Trust Agreement, the Litigation Trustee shall, among other things, have the following rights, powers and duties: (i) to hold, manage, convert to Cash, and distribute the Litigation Trust Assets, including prosecuting and resolving the Claims belonging to the Litigation Trust, (ii) to hold the Litigation Trust Assets for the benefit of the Litigation Trust Beneficiaries and the Reorganized Debtors, whether their Claims are Allowed on or after the Effective Date, (iii) in the Litigation Trustee's reasonable business judgment, to investigate, prosecute, settle and/or abandon rights, any litigation that may constitute Litigation Trust Assets, or the Causes of Action, and (iv) to file

-55-

all tax and regulatory forms, returns, reports, and other documents required with respect to the Litigation Trust.

G. Transferability of Litigation Trust Interests

The Litigation Trust Interests shall not be transferable or assignable except by will, intestate succession or operation of law.

H. Cash

The Litigation Trustee may invest Cash (including any earnings thereon or proceeds therefrom) as permitted by Bankruptcy Code § 345; *provided*, *however*, that such investments are investments permitted to be made by a liquidating trust within the meaning of Treasury Regulation § 301.7701-4(d), as reflected therein, or under applicable IRS guidelines, rulings, or other controlling authorities.

I. Distribution of Litigation Trust Assets/Litigation Trust Claims Reserve

The Litigation Trustee shall make distributions from the net proceeds of the Litigation Trust Assets to the holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims Litigation Trust Beneficiaries on account of their Litigation Trust Interests, at such time and in such amounts as determined by the Litigation Trustee in accordance with the authority provided to him/her in the Litigation Trust Agreement; provided that once the aggregate distributions to the Class A Litigation Trust Beneficiaries reach \$35,000,000 (which amounts shall include all amounts allocable to or retained on account of Disputed General Unsecured Claims), the Class B Litigation Trust Beneficiaries will receive, pro rata with the Class A Litigation Trust Beneficiaries, any distributions from the Litigation Trust thereafter. The proceeds of the Litigation Trust Assets to be distributed will not include (i) Cash reserved pursuant to the Litigation Trust Agreement to fund the activities of the Litigation Trust, (ii) such amounts as are allocable to or retained on account of Disputed General Unsecured Claims in accordance with this Section IX.I, and (iii) such additional amounts as are reasonably necessary to (A) meet contingent liabilities and to maintain the value of the Litigation Trust Assets during liquidation. (B) pay reasonable incurred or anticipated expenses (including, but not limited to, any Taxes imposed on or payable by the Litigation Trust or in respect of the Litigation Trust Assets), or (C) as are necessary to satisfy other liabilities incurred or anticipated by the Litigation Trust in accordance with this Plan, or the Litigation Trust Agreement.

Each such Distribution in the aggregate shall be in an amount not less than \$100,000 of Available Cash. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Litigation Trustee may determine, in its sole discretion (i) that the Disbursing Agenta disbursing agent shall make a Distribution that is less than \$100,000 in the aggregate of Available Cash, or (ii) that the Disbursing Agenta disbursing agent shall not make a Distribution to the Holder of a Claim on the basis that the Litigation Trustee has not yet determined whether to object to such Claim and such Claim shall be treated as a Disputed Claim for purposes of Distributions distributions under this Plan until the Litigation Trustee (x) determines not to object to such Claim (or the Claims Objection Bar Date has passed), (y) agrees with the Holder of such Claim to Allow such

Claim in an agreed upon amount or (z) objects to such Claim, or objects to the Holder of such Claim's request for allowance of such Claim, and such Claim is Allowed by a Final Order.

On each date of <u>Distribution distribution</u>, the Litigation Trustee shall only distribute Cash to the <u>Holder of an Allowed Claim Litigation Trust Beneficiary</u> if the amount of Cash to be distributed on account of such Claim is greater than or equal to \$100 in the aggregate unless a request therefor is made in writing to the Litigation Trustee. Any distributions withheld because they are below \$100 with respect to any particular holder of an Allowed Claim will be aggregated and distributed when the aggregate amount exceeds \$100 or on the final distribution date of the Litigation Trust.

1. Amounts Retained on Account of Disputed Claims

From and after the Effective Date, and until such time as all Disputed Claims have been compromised and settled or determined by order of the Bankruptcy Court, the Litigation Trustee shall retain for the benefit of each holder of a Disputed Claim, Litigation Trust Interests (and the Cash attributable thereto), in an amount equal to the distributions which would have been made to the holder of such Disputed Claim if it were an Allowed Claim in an amount equal to the lesser of (i) the Disputed Claim Amount, (ii) the amount in which the Disputed Claim shall be estimated by the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 502 for purposes of allowance, which amount, unless otherwise ordered by the Bankruptcy Court, shall constitute and represent the maximum amount in which such Claim may ultimately become an Allowed Claim or (iii) such other amount as may be agreed upon by the holder of such Disputed Claim and the Reorganized Debtors. Except as otherwise provided in this Plan, Holders of Claims shall not be entitled to interest, dividends, or accruals on the Distributions distributions provided for in this Plan, regardless of whether such Distributions distributions are delivered on or at any time after the Effective Date. No payments or distribution shall be made with respect to all or any portion of any Disputed Claim pending the entire resolution thereof by Final Order.

2. Allowance of Disputed Claims

At such time as a Disputed Claim becomes an Allowed Claim, the Litigation Trustee shall distribute to the Holder thereof the distributions, if any, to which such Holder is then entitled under this Plan together, with any interest that has accrued on the amount of Cash, but only to the extent that such interest is attributable to the amount of the Allowed Claim. Such distribution, if any, shall be made as soon as practicable after an order or judgment of the Bankruptcy Court is entered allowing such Disputed Claim becomes a Final Order but in no event more than sixty (60) days thereafter (net of any expenses, including any taxes imposed on or with respect to the Litigation Trust Claims Reserve relating to such Claim).

J. Costs and Expenses of the Litigation Trust

The reasonable costs and expenses of the Litigation Trust, including the fees and expenses of the Litigation Trustee and its retained professionals and any applicable insurance policies required by the Litigation Trust, shall be paid solely from the Litigation Trust Assets.

K. Compensation of the Litigation Trustee

The individual(s) serving as or comprising the Litigation Trustee shall be entitled to reasonable compensation in an amount consistent with that of similar functionaries in similar roles, the payment of which shall not be subject to the approval of the Bankruptcy Court and be made solely from the assets of the Litigation Trust.

L. Retention of Professionals/Employees by the Litigation Trustee

The Litigation Trustee may retain and compensate attorneys, other professionals, and employees to assist in its duties as Litigation Trustee on such terms as the Litigation Trustee deems appropriate without Bankruptcy Court approval.

M. Federal Income Tax Treatment of the Litigation Trust

The Litigation Trust generally is intended to be treated for United States federal income Tax purposes, (i) in part as a grantor trust that is a liquidating trust within the meaning of Treasury Regulations § 301.7701-4(d), with no objective to continue or engage in the conduct of a trade or business, and (ii) in part as one or more disputed ownership funds within the meaning of Treasury Regulations § 1.468B-9(b)(1). For United States federal income tax purposes, the transfer of the Litigation Trust Assets to the Litigation Trust will be treated as a transfer of the Litigation Trust Assets from the Debtors to the Litigation Trust Beneficiaries, followed by the Litigation Trust Beneficiaries will thereafter be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as the grantors and deemed owners of their respective shares of the Litigation Trust Assets. The Litigation Trust Beneficiaries shall include in their annual taxable incomes, and pay tax to the extent due on, their allocable shares of each item of income, gain, deduction, loss and credit, and all other such items shall be allocated by the Litigation Trustee to the Litigation Trust Beneficiaries using any reasonable allocation method.

The Litigation Trustee will be required by the Litigation Trust Agreement to file income Tax returns for the Litigation Trust as a grantor trust of the Litigation Trust Beneficiaries (and file separate returns for the disputed ownership fund(s) pursuant to Treasury Regulations § 1.468B-9(b)(1) and pay all Taxes owed on any net income or gain of the disputed ownership fund(s), on a current basis from Litigation Trust Assets). In addition, the Litigation Trust Agreement will require consistent valuation by the Litigation Trustee and the Litigation Trust Beneficiaries, for all federal income Tax and reporting purposes, of any property held by the Litigation Trust. The Litigation Trust Agreement will provide that termination of the trust will occur no later than five years after the Effective Date, unless the Bankruptcy Court approves an extension based upon a finding that such an extension is necessary for the Litigation Trust to complete its liquidating purpose. The Litigation Trust Agreement also will limit the investment powers of the Litigation Trustee in accordance with IRS Rev. Proc. 94-45 and will require the Litigation Trust to distribute at least annually to the Litigation Trust Beneficiaries (as such may have been determined at such time) its net income (net of any payment of or provision for Taxes), except for amounts retained as reasonably necessary to maintain the value of the Litigation Trust Assets.

N. Indemnification of Litigation Trustee

The Litigation Trustee or the individual(s) comprising the Litigation Trustee, as the case may be, and the Litigation Trustee's employees, agents and professionals, shall not be liable to the Litigation Trust Beneficiaries or the Reorganized Debtor for actions taken or omitted in their capacity, except those acts that are determined in a Final Order to have constituted willful misconduct or gross negligence, and each shall be entitled to indemnification and reimbursement for fees and expenses in defending any and all actions or inactions in their capacity, except for any actions or inactions involving willful misconduct or gross negligence. Any indemnification claim of the Litigation Trustee (and the other parties entitled to indemnification under this subsection) shall be satisfied solely from the Litigation Trust Assets and shall be entitled to a priority distribution therefrom, ahead of the Litigation Trust Interests and any other claim to or interest in such assets. The Litigation Trustee shall be entitled to rely, in good faith, on the advice of their retained professionals.

O. Privileges and Obligation to Respond to Ongoing Investigations

All attorney-work privileges, work product protections and other immunities or protections from disclosure held by the Debtors shall be transferred, assigned, and delivered to the Litigation Trust, without waiver, and shall vest in the Litigation Trustee solely in its capacity as such (and any other individual the Litigation Trustee may designate, as well as any other individual designated in the Litigation Trust Agreement). Pursuant to Federal Rule of Evidence 502(d), no Privileges shall be waived by disclosure to the Litigation Trustee of the Debtors' information subject to attorney-client privileges, work product protections, or other immunities or protections from disclosure.

X. EFFECT OF CONFIRMATION

A. Dissolution of Official Committees

Except to the extent provided herein, upon the Effective Date, the current and former members of the Creditors' Committee and any other creditor, equity or other committee appointed in the Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1102, and their respective officers, employees, counsel, advisors and agents, shall be released and discharged of and from all further authority, duties, responsibilities and obligations related to and arising from and in connection with the Chapter 11 Cases; provided, however, that following the Effective Date the Creditors' Committee shall continue in existence and have standing and a right to be heard for the following limited purposes: (1) Claims and/or applications for compensation by Professionals and requests for allowance of Administrative Claims for substantial contribution pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 503(b)(3)(D); (2) any appeals to which the Creditors' Committee is a party; (3) any adversary proceedings or contested matters as of the Effective Date to which the Creditors' Committee is a party; and (4) responding to creditor inquiries for sixty (60) days following the Effective Date. Following the completion of the Creditors' Committee's remaining duties set forth above, the Creditors' Committee shall be dissolved, and the retention or employment of the Creditors' Committee's respective attorneys, accountants and other agents shall terminate. As discussed in Section III.I above, the Litigation Trust shall have the authority to prosecute and settle the Causes of Action after the Effective Date.

B. Discharge of Claims and Interests

Except as provided in this Plan or in the Confirmation Order, the rights afforded under this Plan and the treatment of Claims and Interests under this Plan shall be in exchange for and in complete satisfaction, discharge and release of all Claims and Interests arising or existing on or before the Effective Date, including any interest accrued on Claims from and after the Petition Date. From and after the Effective Date, the Debtors shall be discharged from any and all Claims and Interests that arose or existed prior to the Effective Date, subject to the obligations of the Debtors under this Plan.

C. Injunctions

AS OF THE EFFECTIVE DATE, EXCEPT WITH RESPECT TO THE OBLIGATIONS OF THE REORGANIZED DEBTORS UNDER THIS PLAN OR THE CONFIRMATION ORDER, ALL ENTITIES THAT HAVE HELD, CURRENTLY HOLD OR MAY HOLD ANY CLAIMS OR INTERESTS, OBLIGATIONS, SUITS, JUDGMENTS, DAMAGES, DEMANDS, DEBTS, RIGHTS, CAUSES OF ACTION OR LIABILITIES THAT ARE WAIVED, DISCHARGED OR RELEASED UNDER THIS PLAN SHALL BE PERMANENTLY ENJOINED FROM TAKING ANY OF THE FOLLOWING ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS AGAINST THE DEBTORS, THE REORGANIZED DEBTORS, THE RELEASED PARTIES (TO THE EXTENT THE RELEASED PARTIES ARE RELEASED BY A RELEASING PARTY) OR ANY OF THEIR RESPECTIVE ASSETS OR PROPERTY ON ACCOUNT OF ANY SUCH WAIVED, DISCHARGED OR RELEASED CLAIMS, OBLIGATIONS, SUITS, JUDGMENTS, DAMAGES, DEMANDS, DEBTS, RIGHTS, CAUSES OF ACTION OR LIABILITIES: (1) COMMENCING OR CONTINUING IN ANY MANNER ANY ACTION OR OTHER PROCEEDING; (2) ENFORCING, LEVYING, ATTACHING, COLLECTING OR RECOVERING IN ANY MANNER ANY JUDGMENT, AWARD, DECREE OR ORDER; (3) CREATING, PERFECTING OR ENFORCING ANY LIEN OR ENCUMBRANCE; (4) ASSERTING ANY RIGHT OF SETOFF, SUBROGATION OR RECOUPMENT OF ANY KIND AGAINST ANY DEBT, LIABILITY OR OBLIGATION DUE TO ANY DEBTOR, REORGANIZED DEBTOR OR RELEASED PARTY; AND (5) COMMENCING OR CONTINUING ANY ACTION, IN ANY MANNER, IN ANY PLACE TO ASSERT ANY CLAIM WAIVED, DISCHARGED OR RELEASED UNDER THIS PLAN OR THAT DOES NOT OTHERWISE COMPLY WITH OR IS INCONSISTENT WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THIS PLAN.

EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY PROVIDED IN THIS PLAN, THE
CONFIRMATION ORDER, OR A SEPARATE ORDER OF THE BANKRUPTCY
COURT, OR AS AGREED TO BY A HOLDER OF A CLAIM OR INTEREST AND THE
REORGANIZED DEBTORS (ON BEHALF OF THE TV DEBTORS), ALL ENTITIES
(OTHER THAN THE DEBTORS) WHO HAVE HELD, HOLD OR MAY HOLD
CLAIMS AGAINST OR INTERESTS IN ANY OR ALL OF THE TV DEBTORS
(WHETHER PROOF OF SUCH CLAIMS OR INTERESTS HAS BEEN FILED OR
NOT), ALONG WITH THEIR RESPECTIVE PRESENT OR FORMER EMPLOYEES,
AGENTS, OFFICERS, DIRECTORS OR PRINCIPALS, ARE PERMANENTLY
ENJOINED, ON AND AFTER THE EFFECTIVE DATE, SOLELY WITH RESPECT TO

ANY CLAIMS OR INTERESTS THAT ARE TREATED PURSUANT TO THIS PLAN, FROM (I) COMMENCING, CONDUCTING, OR CONTINUING IN ANY MANNER. DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, ANY SUIT, ACTION, OR OTHER PROCEEDING OF ANY KIND (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY PROCEEDING IN A JUDICIAL, ARBITRAL, ADMINISTRATIVE OR OTHER FORUM) AGAINST OR AFFECTING THE PROPERTY OF THE DEBTORS, (II) ENFORCING, LEVYING, ATTACHING (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY PREJUDGMENT ATTACHMENT), COLLECTING, OR OTHERWISE RECOVERING BY ANY MANNER OR MEANS, WHETHER DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, ANY JUDGMENT, AWARD, DECREE, OR ORDER AGAINST THE PROPERTY OF ANY OF THE DEBTORS, (III) CREATING, PERFECTING, OR OTHERWISE ENFORCING IN ANY MANNER DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, ANY ENCUMBRANCE OF ANY KIND AGAINST THE PROPERTY OF ANY OF THE DEBTORS, (IV) ASSERTING ANY RIGHT OF SETOFF, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, AGAINST ANY OBLIGATION DUE OF ANY OF THE DEBTORS, EXCEPT AS CONTEMPLATED OR ALLOWED BY THIS PLAN; (V) ACTING OR PROCEEDING IN ANY MANNER, IN ANY PLACE WHATSOEVER, THAT DOES NOT CONFORM TO OR COMPLY WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THIS PLAN; AND (VI) TAKING ANY ACTIONS TO INTERFERE WITH THE IMPLEMENTATION OR CONSUMMATION OF THIS PLAN.

AS OF THE EFFECTIVE DATE, EXCEPT WITH RESPECT TO THE OBLIGATIONS OF THE REORGANIZED DEBTORS UNDER THIS PLAN OR THE CONFIRMATION ORDER, ALL ENTITIES THAT HAVE HELD, CURRENTLY HOLD OR MAY HOLD ANY CLAIMS OR INTERESTS, OBLIGATIONS, SUITS, JUDGMENTS, DAMAGES, DEMANDS, DEBTS, RIGHTS, CAUSES OF ACTION OR LIABILITIES THAT ARE WAIVED, DISCHARGED OR RELEASED UNDER THIS PLAN-SHALL BE PERMANENTLY ENJOINED FROM TAKING ANY OF THE FOLLOWING ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS AGAINST THE DEBTORS, THE REORGANIZED DEBTORS, THE RELEASED PARTIES (TO THE EXTENT THE RELEASED PARTIES ARE RELEASED BY A RELEASING PARTY) OR ANY OF THEIR RESPECTIVE ASSETS OR PROPERTY ON ACCOUNT OF ANY SUCH WAIVED, DISCHARGED OR RELEASED CLAIMS, OBLIGATIONS, SUITS, JUDGMENTS, DAMAGES, DEMANDS, DEBTS, RIGHTS, CAUSES OF ACTION OR LIABILITIES: (1) COMMENCING OR CONTINUING IN ANY MANNER ANY ACTION OR OTHER PROCEEDING; (2) ENFORCING, LEVYING, ATTACHING, COLLECTING OR RECOVERING IN ANY MANNER ANY JUDGMENT, AWARD, DECREE OR ORDER; (3) CREATING, PERFECTING OR ENFORCING ANY LIEN OR ENCUMBRANCE; (4) ASSERTING ANY RIGHT OF SETOFF, SUBROGATION OR RECOUPMENT OF ANY KIND AGAINST ANY DEBT, LIABILITY OR OBLIGATION DUE TO ANY DEBTOR, REORGANIZED DEBTOR OR RELEASED PARTY: AND (5) COMMENCING OR CONTINUING ANY ACTION, IN ANY MANNER, IN ANY PLACE TO ASSERT ANY CLAIM WAIVED. DISCHARGED OR RELEASED UNDER THIS PLAN OR THAT DOES NOT OTHERWISE COMPLY-WITH OR IS INCONSISTENT WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THIS PLAN.

EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY PROVIDED IN THIS PLAN, THE CONFIRMATION ORDER, OR A SEPARATE ORDER OF THE BANKRUPTCY COURT, OR AS AGREED TO BY A HOLDER OF A CLAIM OR INTEREST AND THE REORGANIZED DEBTORS (ON BEHALF OF THE TV DEBTORS), ALL ENTITIES (OTHER THAN THE DEBTORS) WHO HAVE HELD, HOLD OR MAY HOLD CLAIMS AGAINST OR INTERESTS IN ANY OR ALL OF THE TV DEBTORS (WHETHER PROOF OF SUCH CLAIMS OR INTERESTS HAS BEEN FILED OR NOT), ALONG WITH THEIR RESPECTIVE PRESENT OR FORMER EMPLOYEES, AGENTS, OFFICERS, DIRECTORS OR PRINCIPALS, ARE PERMANENTLY ENJOINED, ON AND AFTER THE EFFECTIVE DATE, SOLELY WITH RESPECT TO ANY CLAIMS OR INTERESTS THAT ARE TREATED PURSUANT TO THIS PLAN, FROM (I) COMMENCING, CONDUCTING, OR CONTINUING IN ANY MANNER, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, ANY SUIT, ACTION, OR OTHER PROCEEDING OF ANY KIND (INCLUDING, WITHOUT

LIMITATION, ANY PROCEEDING IN A JUDICIAL, ARBITRAL, ADMINISTRATIVE OR OTHER FORUM) AGAINST OR AFFECTING THE PROPERTY OF THE DEBTORS, (II) ENFORCING, LEVYING, ATTACHING (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY PREJUDGMENT ATTACHMENT), COLLECTING, OR OTHERWISE RECOVERING BY ANY MANNER OR MEANS, WHETHER DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, ANY JUDGMENT, AWARD, DECREE, OR ORDER AGAINST THE PROPERTY OF ANY OF THE DEBTORS, (III) CREATING, PERFECTING, OR OTHERWISE ENFORCING IN ANY MANNER DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, ANY ENCUMBRANCE OF ANY KIND AGAINST THE PROPERTY OF ANY OF THE DEBTORS, (IV) ASSERTING ANY RIGHT OF SETOFF, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, AGAINST ANY OBLIGATION DUE OF ANY OF THE DEBTORS, EXCEPT AS CONTEMPLATED OR ALLOWED BY THIS PLAN; (V) ACTING OR PROCEEDING IN ANY MANNER, IN ANY PLACE WHATSOEVER, THAT DOES NOT CONFORM TO OR COMPLY WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THIS PLAN; AND (VI) TAKING ANY ACTIONS TO INTERFERE WITH THE IMPLEMENTATION OR CONSUMMATION OF THIS PLAN.

D. Exculpation

FROM AND AFTER THE EFFECTIVE DATE, THE EXCULPATED PARTIES, THE DEBTORS AND THE REORGANIZED DEBTORS SHALL NEITHER HAVE NOR INCUR ANY LIABILITY TO ANY ENTITY, AND NO HOLDER OF A CLAIM OR INTEREST, NO OTHER PARTY IN INTEREST AND NONE OF THEIR RESPECTIVE REPRESENTATIVES SHALL HAVE ANY RIGHT OF ACTION-AGAINST ANY DEBTOR, REORGANIZED DEBTOR, EXCULPATED PARTY OR ANY OF THEIR RESPECTIVE REPRESENTATIVES FOR ANY ACT TAKEN OR OMITTED TO BE TAKEN BEFORE THE EFFECTIVE DATE IN CONNECTION WITH, RELATED TO OR ARISING OUT OF THE CHAPTER 11 CASES, THE DEBTORS IN POSSESSION OR THE NEGOTIATION, CONSIDERATION, FORMULATION, PREPARATION, DISSEMINATION, IMPLEMENTATION, CONFIRMATION OR CONSUMMATION OF THIS PLAN, THE EXHIBITS, THE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT, ANY AMENDMENTS TO ANY OF THE FOREGOING OR ANY OTHER TRANSACTIONS PROPOSED IN CONNECTION WITH THE CHAPTER 11 CASES OR ANY CONTRACT, INSTRUMENT, RELEASE OR OTHER AGREEMENT OR DOCUMENT CREATED OR ENTERED INTO OR ANY OTHER ACT-TAKEN OR OMITTED TO BE TAKEN IN CONNECTION THEREWITH OR IN CONNECTION WITH-ANY OTHER OBLIGATIONS ARISING UNDER THIS PLAN OR THE OBLIGATIONS ASSUMED HEREUNDER; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT THE FOREGOING PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION the liability of any Entity that would otherwise result from the (1) :ct onD shall have no effe.X failure to perform or pay any obligation or liability under THIS PLAN OR ANY CONTRACT. INSTRUMENT, RELEASE OR OTHER AGREEMENT OR DOCUMENT PREVIOUSLY ASSUMED OR TO BE ENTERED INTO OR DELIVERED IN CONNECTION WITH THIS PLAN OR (2) THE LIABILITY OF ANY EXCULPATED PARTY THAT WOULD OTHERWISE RESULT FROM ANY ACT-OR OMISSION OF SUCH EXCULPATED PARTY TO THE EXTENT THAT SUCH ACT OR OMISSION IS DETERMINED IN A FINAL ORDER TO HAVE CONSTITUTED GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT (INCLUDING FRAUD).

FROM AND AFTER THE EFFECTIVE DATE, THE EXCULPATED PARTIES, THE DEBTORS AND THE REORGANIZED DEBTORS SHALL NEITHER HAVE NOR INCUR ANY LIABILITY TO ANY ENTITY, AND NO HOLDER OF A CLAIM OR INTEREST, NO OTHER PARTY IN INTEREST AND NONE OF THEIR RESPECTIVE REPRESENTATIVES SHALL HAVE ANY RIGHT OF ACTION AGAINST ANY DEBTOR, REORGANIZED DEBTOR, EXCULPATED PARTY OR ANY OF THEIR RESPECTIVE REPRESENTATIVES FOR ANY ACT TAKEN OR OMITTED TO BE TAKEN BEFORE THE EFFECTIVE DATE IN CONNECTION WITH, RELATED TO OR ARISING OUT OF THE CHAPTER 11 CASES, THE DEBTORS IN POSSESSION OR THE NEGOTIATION, CONSIDERATION, FORMULATION, PREPARATION, DISSEMINATION, IMPLEMENTATION, CONFIRMATION OR CONSUMMATION OF THIS PLAN, THE EXHIBITS, THE

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT, ANY AMENDMENTS TO ANY OF THE FOREGOING OR ANY OTHER TRANSACTIONS PROPOSED IN CONNECTION WITH THE CHAPTER 11 CASES OR ANY CONTRACT, INSTRUMENT, RELEASE OR OTHER AGREEMENT OR DOCUMENT CREATED OR ENTERED INTO OR ANY OTHER ACT TAKEN OR OMITTED TO BE TAKEN IN CONNECTION THEREWITH OR IN CONNECTION WITH ANY OTHER OBLIGATIONS ARISING UNDER THIS PLAN OR THE OBLIGATIONS ASSUMED HEREUNDER; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT THE FOREGOING PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION X.D SHALL HAVE NO EFFECT ON: (1) THE LIABILITY OF ANY ENTITY THAT WOULD OTHERWISE RESULT FROM THE FAILURE TO PERFORM OR PAY ANY OBLIGATION OR LIABILITY UNDER THIS PLAN OR ANY CONTRACT, INSTRUMENT, RELEASE OR OTHER AGREEMENT OR DOCUMENT PREVIOUSLY ASSUMED OR TO BE ENTERED INTO OR DELIVERED IN CONNECTION WITH THIS PLAN OR (2) THE LIABILITY OF ANY EXCULPATED PARTY THAT WOULD OTHERWISE RESULT FROM ANY ACT OR OMISSION OF SUCH EXCULPATED PARTY TO THE EXTENT THAT SUCH ACT OR OMISSION IS DETERMINED IN A FINAL ORDER TO HAVE CONSTITUTED GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT (INCLUDING FRAUD).

E. Debtor Release

WITHOUT LIMITING ANY OTHER APPLICABLE PROVISIONS OF, OR RELEASES CONTAINED IN, THIS PLAN, AS OF THE EFFECTIVE DATE, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, THE DEBTORS AND THE REORGANIZED DEBTORS, ON BEHALF OF THEMSELVES AND THEIR AFFILIATES, THE ESTATES AND THEIR RESPECTIVE SUCCESSORS, ASSIGNS AND ANY AND ALL ENTITIES WHO MAY PURPORT TO CLAIM BY, THROUGH, FOR OR BECAUSE OF THEM, SHALL FOREVER RELEASE, WAIVE AND DISCHARGE ALL LIABILITIES THAT THEY HAVE, HAD OR MAY HAVE AGAINST A DEBTOR, THE ESTATES, ANY RELEASED PARTY WITH RESPECT TO THE CHAPTER 11 CASES, THE NEGOTIATION, CONSIDERATION, FORMULATION, PREPARATION, DISSEMINATION, IMPLEMENTATION, CONFIRMATION OR CONSUMMATION OF THIS PLAN, THE EXHIBITS, THE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT, ANY AMENDMENTS THERETO, THE DIP CREDIT AGREEMENT, THE INITIAL DIP ORDER, THE MODIFIED DIP ORDER, ANY OF THE NEW SECURITIES AND DOCUMENTS, THE RESTRUCTURING TRANSACTIONS OR ANY OTHER TRANSACTIONS PROPOSED IN CONNECTION WITH THE CHAPTER 11 CASES OR ANY CONTRACT, INSTRUMENT, RELEASE OR OTHER AGREEMENT OR DOCUMENT CREATED OR ENTERED INTO OR ANY OTHER ACT TAKEN OR OMITTED TO BE TAKEN IN CONNECTION THEREWITH OR IN CONNECTION WITH ANY OTHER OBLIGATIONS ARISING UNDER THIS PLAN OR THE OBLIGATIONS ASSUMED HEREUNDER; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT THE FOREGOING PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION X.E SHALL NOT AFFECT (A) THE LIABILITY OF ANY RELEASED PARTY THAT OTHERWISE WOULD RESULT FROM ANY ACT OR OMISSION TO THE EXTENT THAT ACT OR OMISSION SUBSEQUENTLY IS DETERMINED IN A FINAL ORDER TO HAVE CONSTITUTED GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT (INCLUDING

FRAUD), (B) ANY RIGHTS TO ENFORCE THIS PLAN OR THE OTHER CONTRACTS, INSTRUMENTS, RELEASES, AGREEMENTS OR DOCUMENTS PREVIOUSLY ASSUMED OR TO BE TO BE ENTERED INTO OR DELIVERED IN CONNECTION WITH THIS PLAN, (C) EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS PLAN, ANY OBJECTIONS BY THE DEBTORS OR THE REORGANIZED DEBTORS TO CLAIMS OR INTERESTS FILED BY ANY ENTITY AGAINST ANY DEBTOR AND/OR THE ESTATES, INCLUDING RIGHTS OF SETOFF, REFUND OR OTHER ADJUSTMENTS, (D) THE RIGHTS OF THE DEBTORS TO ASSERT ANY APPLICABLE DEFENSES IN LITIGATION OR OTHER PROCEEDINGS WITH THEIR EMPLOYEES (INCLUDING THE RIGHTS TO SEEK SANCTIONS, FEES AND OTHER COSTS) AND (E) ANY CLAIM OF THE DEBTORS OR REORGANIZED DEBTORS, INCLUDING (BUT NOT LIMITED TO) CROSS-CLAIMS OR COUNTERCLAIMS OR OTHER CAUSES OF ACTION AGAINST EMPLOYEES OR OTHER PARTIES, ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO ACTIONS FOR PERSONAL INJURY, WRONGFUL DEATH, PROPERTY DAMAGE, PRODUCTS LIABILITY OR SIMILAR LEGAL THEORIES OF RECOVERY TO WHICH THE DEBTORS OR REORGANIZED DEBTORS ARE A PARTY.

ENTRY OF THE CONFIRMATION ORDER SHALL CONSTITUTE THE BANKRUPTCY COURT'S APPROVAL, PURSUANT TO BANKRUPTCY RULE 9019, OF THE DEBTOR RELEASE, WHICH INCLUDES BY REFERENCE EACH OF THE RELATED PROVISIONS AND DEFINITIONS CONTAINED HEREIN, AND, FURTHER, SHALL CONSTITUTE THE BANKRUPTCY COURT'S FINDING THAT THE DEBTOR RELEASE IS: (1) IN EXCHANGE FOR THE GOOD AND VALUABLE CONSIDERATION PROVIDED BY THE RELEASED PARTIES; (2) A GOOD FAITH SETTLEMENT AND COMPROMISE OF THE CLAIMS RELEASED BY THE DEBTOR RELEASE; (3) IN THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE DEBTORS AND ALL HOLDERS OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS; (4) FAIR, EQUITABLE AND REASONABLE; (5) GIVEN AND MADE AFTER DUE NOTICE AND OPPORTUNITY FOR HEARING; AND (6) A BAR TO ANY OF THE RELEASING PARTIES ASSERTING ANY CLAIM OR CAUSES OF ACTION RELEASED PURSUANT TO THE DEBTOR RELEASE. NOTHING HEREIN SHALL ABROGATE APPLICABLE ATTORNEY DISCIPLINARY RULES.

WITHOUT LIMITING ANY OTHER APPLICABLE PROVISIONS OF, OR RELEASES CONTAINED IN, THIS PLAN, AS OF THE EFFECTIVE DATE, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, THE DEBTORS AND THE REORGANIZED DEBTORS, ON BEHALF OF THEMSELVES AND THEIR AFFILIATES, THE ESTATES AND THEIR RESPECTIVE SUCCESSORS, ASSIGNS AND ANY AND ALL ENTITIES WHO MAY PURPORT TO CLAIM BY, THROUGH, FOR ORBECAUSE OF THEM, SHALL FOREVER RELEASE, WAIVE AND DISCHARGE ALL LIABILITIES THAT THEY HAVE, HAD OR MAY HAVE AGAINST A DEBTOR, THE ESTATES, ANY RELEASED PARTY WITH RESPECT TO THE CHAPTER 11 CASES, THE NEGOTIATION, CONSIDERATION, FORMULATION, PREPARATION, DISSEMINATION, IMPLEMENTATION, CONFIRMATION OR CONSUMMATION OF THIS PLAN, THE EXHIBITS, THE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT, ANY AMENDMENTS THERETO, THE INITIAL DIP CREDIT AGREEMENT, THE INITIAL DIP ORDER, THE MODIFIED DIP CREDIT AGREEMENT, THE MODIFIED DIP ORDER, ANY OF THE NEW SECURITIES AND DOCUMENTS, THE RESTRUCTURING TRANSACTIONS OR ANY OTHER TRANSACTIONS PROPOSED IN CONNECTION WITH THE CHAPTER 11 CASES OR ANY CONTRACT, INSTRUMENT, RELEASE OR OTHER AGREEMENT OR DOCUMENT CREATED OR

-64-

ENTERED INTO OR ANY OTHER ACT TAKEN OR OMITTED TO BE TAKEN IN CONNECTION THEREWITH OR IN CONNECTION WITH ANY OTHER OBLIGATIONS ARISING UNDER THIS PLAN OR THE OBLIGATIONS ASSUMED HEREUNDER; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT THE FOREGOING PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION E shall not affec. XT (A) THE LIABILITY OF ANY RELEASED PARTY THAT OTHERWISE WOULD RESULT FROM ANY ACT OR OMISSION TO THE EXTENT THAT ACT OR OMISSION SUBSEQUENTLY IS DETERMINED IN A FINAL ORDER TO HAVE CONSTITUTED GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT (INCLUDING FRAUD), (B) ANY RIGHTS TO ENFORCE THIS PLAN OR THE OTHER CONTRACTS, INSTRUMENTS, RELEASES. AGREEMENTS OR DOCUMENTS PREVIOUSLY ASSUMED OR TO BE TO BE ENTERED INTO OR DELIVERED IN CONNECTION WITH THIS PLAN, (C) EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS PLAN, ANY OBJECTIONS BY THE DEBTORS OR THE REORGANIZED DEBTORS TO CLAIMS OR INTERESTS FILED BY ANY ENTITY AGAINST ANY DEBTOR AND/OR THE ESTATES, INCLUDING RIGHTS OF SETOFF, REFUND OR OTHER ADJUSTMENTS, (D) THE RIGHTS OF THE DEBTORS TO ASSERT ANY APPLICABLE DEFENSES IN LITIGATION OR OTHER PROCEEDINGS WITH THEIR EMPLOYEES (INCLUDING THE RIGHTS TO SEEK SANCTIONS, FEES AND OTHER COSTS) AND (E) ANY CLAIM OF THE DEBTORS OR REORGANIZED DEBTORS, INCLUDING (BUT NOT LIMITED TO) CROSS CLAIMS OR COUNTERCLAIMS OR OTHER CAUSES OF ACTION AGAINST EMPLOYEES OR OTHER PARTIES, ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO ACTIONS FOR PERSONAL INJURY, WRONGFUL DEATH, PROPERTY DAMAGE, PRODUCTS LIABILITY OR SIMILAR LEGAL THEORIES OF RECOVERY TO WHICH THE DEBTORS OR REORGANIZED DEBTORS ARE A PARTY.

ENTRY OF THE CONFIRMATION ORDER SHALL CONSTITUTE THE BANKRUPTCY COURT'S APPROVAL, PURSUANT TO BANKRUPTCY RULE 9019, OF THE DEBTOR RELEASE, WHICH INCLUDES BY REFERENCE EACH OF THE RELATED PROVISIONS AND DEFINITIONS CONTAINED HEREIN, AND, FURTHER, SHALL CONSTITUTE THE BANKRUPTCY COURT'S FINDING THAT THE DEBTOR RELEASE IS: (1) IN EXCHANGE FOR THE GOOD AND VALUABLE CONSIDERATION PROVIDED BY THE RELEASED PARTIES; (2) A GOOD FAITH SETTLEMENT AND COMPROMISE OF THE CLAIMS RELEASED BY THE DEBTOR RELEASE; (3) IN THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE DEBTORS AND ALL HOLDERS OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS; (4) FAIR, EQUITABLE AND REASONABLE; (5) GIVEN AND MADE AFTER DUE NOTICE AND OPPORTUNITY FOR HEARING; AND (6) A BAR TO ANY OF THE RELEASING PARTIES ASSERTING ANY CLAIMOR CAUSES OF ACTION RELEASED PURSUANT TO THE DEBTOR RELEASE. NOTHING HEREIN SHALL ABROGATE APPLICABLE ATTORNEY DISCIPLINARY RULES.

F. Third Party Release

WITHOUT LIMITING ANY OTHER APPLICABLE PROVISIONS OF, OR RELEASES CONTAINED IN, THIS PLAN, AS OF THE EFFECTIVE DATE, IN CONSIDERATION FOR THE OBLIGATIONS OF THE DEBTORS AND THE REORGANIZED DEBTORS UNDER THIS PLAN AND THE CONSIDERATION AND OTHER CONTRACTS, INSTRUMENTS, RELEASES, AGREEMENTS OR DOCUMENTS TO BE ENTERED INTO OR DELIVERED IN CONNECTION WITH THIS PLAN, EACH RELEASING PARTY SHALL BE DEEMED TO HAVE FOREVER RELEASED AND COVENANTED WITH THE RELEASED PARTIES TO FOREVER RELEASE, WAIVE AND DISCHARGE ALL LIABILITIES IN ANY WAY THAT SUCH ENTITY HAS, HAD OR MAY HAVE AGAINST ANY RELEASED PARTY (WHICH RELEASE SHALL BE IN ADDITION TO THE DISCHARGE OF CLAIMS AND TERMINATION OF INTERESTS PROVIDED HEREIN AND UNDER THE CONFIRMATION ORDER AND THE BANKRUPTCY CODE), IN EACH CASE, RELATING TO A DEBTOR, THE ESTATES, THE CHAPTER 11 CASES, THE NEGOTIATION, CONSIDERATION, FORMULATION, PREPARATION,

DISSEMINATION, IMPLEMENTATION, CONFIRMATION OR CONSUMMATION THIS PLAN, THE EXHIBITS, THE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT, ANY AMENDMENTS THERETO, THE DIP CREDIT AGREEMENT, THE INITIAL DIP ORDER, THE MODIFIED DIP ORDER, ANY OF THE NEW SECURITIES AND DOCUMENTS, THE RESTRUCTURING TRANSACTIONS OR ANY OTHER TRANSACTIONS IN CONNECTION WITH THE CHAPTER 11 CASES OR ANY CONTRACT, INSTRUMENT, RELEASE OR OTHER AGREEMENT OR DOCUMENT CREATED OR ENTERED INTO OR ANY OTHER ACT TAKEN OR OMITTED TO BE TAKEN IN CONNECTION THEREWITH OR IN CONNECTION WITH ANY OTHER OBLIGATIONS ARISING UNDER THIS PLAN OR THE OBLIGATIONS ASSUMED HEREUNDER; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT THE FOREGOING PROVISION OF THIS SECTION X.F SHALL HAVE NO EFFECT ON: (A) THE LIABILITY OF ANY ENTITY THAT WOULD OTHERWISE RESULT FROM THE FAILURE TO PERFORM OR PAY ANY OBLIGATION OR LIABILITY UNDER THIS PLAN OR ANY CONTRACT, INSTRUMENT, RELEASE OR OTHER AGREEMENT OR DOCUMENT PREVIOUSLY ASSUMED OR TO BE ENTERED INTO OR DELIVERED IN CONNECTION WITH THIS PLAN; (B) THE LIABILITY OF ANY RELEASED PARTY THAT WOULD OTHERWISE RESULT FROM ANY ACT OR OMISSION OF SUCH RELEASED PARTY TO THE EXTENT THAT SUCH ACT OR OMISSION IS DETERMINED IN A FINAL ORDER TO HAVE CONSTITUTED GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT (INCLUDING FRAUD); (C) ANY NON-RELEASING PARTY; (D) [THE UNION ENTITIES SOLELY WITH RESPECT TO MANCHESTER SECURITIES, HEATHERDEN OR OTHER AFFILIATED ENTITIES: OR (E) THE OBLIGATIONS OF KAVANAUGH TO CERTAIN MANCHESTER PARTIES UNDER THE W&R AGREEMENT.

ENTRY OF THE CONFIRMATION ORDER BY THE BANKRUPTCY COURT SHALL CONSTITUTE AN ORDER APPROVING THE ASSUMPTIONS OR REJECTIONS OF SUCH EXECUTORY CONTRACTS AND UNEXPIRED LEASES AS SET FORTH IN THIS PLAN, ALL PURSUANT TO BANKRUPTCY RULE 9019, OF THE THIRD PARTY RELEASE, WHICH INCLUDES BY REFERENCE EACH OF THE RELATED PROVISIONS AND DEFINITIONS CONTAINED HEREIN, AND, FURTHER, SHALL CONSTITUTE THE BANKRUPTCY COURT'S FINDING THAT THE THIRD PARTY RELEASE IS: (1) IN EXCHANGE FOR THE GOOD AND VALUABLE CONSIDERATION PROVIDED BY THE RELEASED PARTIES; (2) A GOOD FAITH SETTLEMENT AND COMPROMISE OF THE CLAIMS RELEASED BY THE THIRD PARTY RELEASE; (3) IN THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE DEBTORS AND ALL HOLDERS OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS; (4) FAIR, EQUITABLE AND REASONABLE; (5) GIVEN AND MADE AFTER DUE NOTICE AND OPPORTUNITY FOR HEARING; AND (6) A BAR TO ANY OF THE RELEASING PARTIES ASSERTING ANY CLAIM OR CAUSES OF ACTION RELEASED PURSUANT TO THE THIRD PARTY RELEASE. NOTHING HEREIN SHALL ABROGATE APPLICABLE ATTORNEY DISCIPLINARY RULES.

WITHOUT LIMITING ANY OTHER APPLICABLE PROVISIONS OF, OR RELEASES CONTAINED IN, THIS PLAN, AS OF THE EFFECTIVE DATE, IN CONSIDERATION FOR THE OBLIGATIONS OF THE DEBTORS AND THE REORGANIZED DEBTORS UNDER THIS PLAN AND

THE CONSIDERATION AND OTHER CONTRACTS, INSTRUMENTS, RELEASES, AGREEMENTS OR DOCUMENTS TO BE ENTERED INTO OR DELIVERED IN CONNECTION WITH THIS PLAN, EACH-RELEASING PARTIES SHALL BE DEEMED TO HAVE FOREVER RELEASED AND COVENANTED WITH THE RELEASED PARTIES TO FOREVER RELEASE, WAIVE AND DISCHARGE ALL LIABILITIES IN ANY WAY THAT SUCH ENTITY HAS, HAD OR MAY HAVE AGAINST ANY RELEASED PARTY (WHICH RELEASE SHALL BE IN ADDITION TO THE DISCHARGE OF CLAIMS AND TERMINATION OF INTERESTS PROVIDED HEREIN AND UNDER THE CONFIRMATION ORDER AND THE BANKRUPTCY CODE), IN EACH CASE, RELATING TO A DEBTOR, THE ESTATES, THE CHAPTER 11 CASES, THE NEGOTIATION, CONSIDERATION, FORMULATION, PREPARATION, DISSEMINATION, IMPLEMENTATION, CONFIRMATION OR CONSUMMATION THIS PLAN, THE EXHIBITS, THE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT, ANY AMENDMENTS THERETO, THE INITIAL DIP CREDIT AGREEMENT, THE INITIAL DIP ORDER, THE MODIFIED DIP CREDIT AGREEMENT, THE MODIFIED DIP ORDER, ANY OF THE NEW SECURITIES AND DOCUMENTS, THE RESTRUCTURING TRANSACTIONS OR ANY OTHER TRANSACTIONS IN CONNECTION WITH THE CHAPTER 11 CASES OR ANY CONTRACT, INSTRUMENT, RELEASE OR OTHER AGREEMENT OR DOCUMENT CREATED OR ENTERED INTO OR ANY OTHER ACT TAKEN OR OMITTED TO BE TAKEN IN CONNECTION THEREWITH OR IN CONNECTION WITH ANY OTHER OBLIGATIONS ARISING UNDER THIS PLAN OR THE OBLIGATIONS ASSUMED HEREUNDER; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT THE FOREGOING PROVISION OF THIS SECTION F shall have no .X the liability of any Entity tha (a) :effect on T WOULD OTHERWISE RESULT FROM THE FAILURE TO PERFORM OR PAY ANY OBLIGATION OR LIABILITY UNDER THIS PLAN OR ANY CONTRACT, INSTRUMENT, RELEASE OR OTHER AGREEMENT OR DOCUMENT PREVIOUSLY ASSUMED OR TO BE ENTERED INTO OR DELIVERED IN CONNECTION WITH THIS PLAN; (B) THE LIABILITY OF ANY RELEASED PARTY THAT WOULD OTHERWISE RESULT FROM ANY ACT OR OMISSION OF SUCH RELEASED PARTY TO THE EXTENT THAT SUCH ACT OR OMISSION IS DETERMINED IN A FINAL ORDER TO HAVE CONSTITUTED GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT (INCLUDING FRAUD); (C) ANY NON-RELEASING PARTY; OR (D) THE UNION ENTITIES SOLELY WITH RESPECT TO MANCHESTER, HEATHERDEN OR OTHER AFFILIATED ENTITIES.

ENTRY OF THE CONFIRMATION ORDER BY THE BANKRUPTCY COURT SHALL CONSTITUTE AN ORDER APPROVING THE ASSUMPTIONS OR REJECTIONS OF SUCH EXECUTORY CONTRACTS AND UNEXPIRED LEASES AS SET FORTH IN THIS PLAN, ALL PURSUANT TO BANKRUPTCY RULE 9019, OF THE THIRD PARTY RELEASE, WHICH INCLUDES BY REFERENCE EACH OF THE RELATED PROVISIONS AND DEFINITIONS CONTAINED HEREIN, AND, FURTHER, SHALL CONSTITUTE THE BANKRUPTCY COURT'S FINDING THAT THE THIRD PARTY RELEASE IS: (1) IN EXCHANGE FOR THE GOOD AND VALUABLE CONSIDERATION PROVIDED BY THE RELEASED PARTIES; (2) A GOOD FAITH SETTLEMENT AND COMPROMISE OF THE CLAIMS RELEASED BY THE THIRD PARTY RELEASE; (3) IN THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE DEBTORS AND ALL HOLDERS OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS; (4) FAIR, EQUITABLE AND REASONABLE; (5) GIVEN AND MADE AFTER DUE NOTICE AND OPPORTUNITY FOR HEARING; AND (6) A BAR TO ANY OF THE RELEASING PARTIES ASSERTING ANY CLAIM OR CAUSES OF ACTION RELEASED PURSUANT TO THE THIRD PARTY RELEASE. NOTHING HEREIN SHALL ABROGATE APPLICABLE ATTORNEY DISCIPLINARY RULES.

G. Votes Solicited in Good Faith

The Plan Proponents have, and upon confirmation of this Plan shall be deemed to have, solicited acceptances of this Plan in good faith and in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code. The Plan Proponents (and each of their respective affiliates, agents, directors, officers, members, employees, advisors, and attorneys) have participated in good faith and in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code in the offer and issuance of the securities offered and sold under this Plan and therefore have not, and on account of such offer and issuance will not be, liable at any time for the violation of any

NAI-1500594528v25 -67-

applicable law, rule, or regulation governing the solicitation of acceptances or rejections of this Plan or the offer or issuance of the securities offered and distributed under this Plan.

XI. RETENTION OF JURISDICTION

Notwithstanding the entry of the Confirmation Order and the occurrence of the Effective Date, the Bankruptcy Court shall retain such jurisdiction over the Chapter 11 Cases after the Effective Date as is legally permissible, including jurisdiction to:

- (1) Allow, disallow, estimate, determine, liquidate, reduce, classify, reclassify, estimate or establish the priority or secured or unsecured status of any Claim or Interest, including the resolution of any request for payment of any Administrative Claim and the resolution of any objections to the amount, allowance, priority or classification of Claims or Interests;
- (2) Grant or deny any applications for allowance of compensation or reimbursement of expenses authorized pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code or this Plan for periods ending on or before the Effective Date;
- (3) Resolve any matters related to the assumption, assumption and assignment or rejection of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease to which any Debtor is a party or with respect to which any Debtor or Reorganized Debtor may be liable and to hear, determine and, if necessary, liquidate any Claims arising therefrom;
- (4) Ensure that distributions to Holders of Claims are accomplished pursuant to the provisions of this Plan;
- (5) Decide or resolve any motions, adversary proceedings, contested or litigated matters and any other matters and grant or deny any applications Filed in the Bankruptcy Court involving any Debtor or any Reorganized Debtor that may be pending on the Effective Date or brought thereafter;
- (6) Enter such orders as may be necessary or appropriate to implement or consummate the provisions of this Plan and all contracts, instruments, releases and other agreements or documents entered into or delivered in connection with this Plan, the Disclosure Statement or the Confirmation Order;
- (7) Resolve any cases, controversies, suits or disputes that may arise in connection with the consummation, interpretation or enforcement of this Plan or any contract, instrument, release or other agreement or document that is entered into or delivered pursuant to this Plan or any Entity's rights arising from or obligations incurred in connection with this Plan or such documents, *provided*, *however* that such retention of jurisdiction shall not extend to the New P&A/Ultimates Facility or other indebtedness documents on and after the Effective Date;
- (8) Modify this Plan before or after the Effective Date pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1127; modify the Confirmation Order or any contract, instrument, release or other agreement or document entered into or delivered in connection with this Plan, the Disclosure Statement or the Confirmation Order; or remedy any defect or omission or reconcile any

inconsistency in any Bankruptcy Court order, this Plan, the Disclosure Statement, the Confirmation Order or any contract, instrument, release or other agreement or document entered into, delivered or created in connection with this Plan, the Disclosure Statement or the Confirmation Order, in such manner as may be necessary or appropriate to consummate this Plan:

- (9) Hear and determine any matter, case, controversy, suit, dispute, RKA Causes of Action, or Causes of Action regarding the existence, nature and scope of the releases, injunctions, and exculpation provided under this Plan, and issue injunctions, enforce the injunctions contained in this Plan and the Confirmation Order, enter and implement other orders or take such other actions as may be necessary or appropriate to implement, enforce or restrain interference by any Entity with respect to the consummation, implementation or enforcement of this Plan or the Confirmation Order, including the releases, injunctions, and exculpation provided under this Plan;
- (10) Enter and implement such orders as are necessary or appropriate if the Confirmation Order is for any reason or in any respect modified, stayed, reversed, revoked or vacated or distributions pursuant to this Plan are enjoined or stayed;
- (11) Determine any other matters that may arise in connection with or relate to this Plan, the Disclosure Statement, the Confirmation Order or any contract, instrument, release or other agreement or document entered into or delivered in connection with this Plan, the Disclosure Statement or the Confirmation Order;
- (12) Enforce, clarify or modify any orders previously entered by the Bankruptcy Court in the Chapter 11 Cases;
 - (13) Enter a final decree closing the Chapter 11 Cases;
- (14) Determine matters concerning state, local and federal Taxes in accordance with Bankruptcy Code §§ 346, 505 and 1146, including any Disputed Claims for Taxes;
- (15) As contemplated in Article III of the Plan, enter such orders as may be necessary or appropriate to implement or consummate any agreement between Vine Film Finance Fund II, L.P. and Debtors J & J Project, LLC and Yuma, Inc. with respect to a transfer of (including under Bankruptcy Code § 363) or foreclosure on the collateral encumbered by the Vine/Verite Secured Claims.
 - (1516) Recover all assets of the Debtors and their Estates, wherever located; and
- (1617) Hear any other matter over which with the Bankruptcy Court has jurisdiction.

If the Bankruptcy Court abstains from exercising, or declines to exercise, jurisdiction or is otherwise without jurisdiction over any matter, including the matters set forth in Section XI, the provisions of this Section XI shall have no effect upon and shall not control, prohibit or limit the exercise of jurisdiction by any other court having jurisdiction with respect to such matter.

XII. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

A. Amendment or Modification of this Plan

Subject to the restrictions on modifications set forth in Bankruptcy Code § 1127, the Plan Proponents reserve the right to alter, amend or modify this Plan before its substantial consummation; provided any such alterations, amendments or modifications are in form and substance reasonably acceptable to each of the Plan Proponents; provided, further, that any such alterations, amendments or modifications regarding any Section of this Plan that impacts the Manchester Parties and/or the Buyer, including, without limitation, Sections I (Defined Terms, Rules of Interpretation and Computation of Time), II.A (Treatment of Unclassified Claims), II.C.9 (Other Secured Claims (Class I)), II.C.10 (General Unsecured Claims (Class J)), III.G.5 (Payment of Heatherden Fee Claims), VII (Conditions Precedent to Consummation of this Plan), X.D (Exculpation), X.E (Debtor Release), X.F (Third Party Release), XII.A (Amendment or Modification of this Plan), and/or XII.I (Severability), are in form and substance acceptable to Manchester Securities or the Buyer, as the case may be, in its sole discretion. Prior to the Effective Date, the Plan Proponents may make appropriate technical adjustments and modifications to this Plan without further order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court. Holders of Claims (other than the Manchester Parties and the Buver) that have accepted this Plan shall be deemed to have accepted this Plan, as amended, modified, or supplemented, if the proposed amendment, modification, or supplement does not materially and adversely change the treatment of the Claim of such Holder; provided, however, that any Holders of Claims who were deemed to accept this Plan because such Claims were Unimpaired shall continue to be deemed to accept this Plan only if, after giving effect to such amendment, modification, or supplement, such Claims continue to be Unimpaired.

B. Revocation of this Plan

The Plan Proponents reserve the right to revoke or withdraw this Plan as to any or all of the Debtors prior to the Confirmation Date or at the Confirmation Hearing. If the Plan Proponents revoke or withdraw this Plan as to any or all of the Debtors, or if Confirmation as to any or all of the Debtors does not occur, then this Plan shall be null and void in all respects with respect to such Debtors for whom this Plan has been revoked or withdrawn, and nothing contained in this Plan shall: (1) prejudice in any manner the rights of any such Debtor(s) or any other party in interest with respect to such Debtor(s); or (2) constitute an admission of any sort by any such Debtor(s) or any other party in interest with respect to such Debtor(s). The revocation or withdrawal of this Plan with respect to one or more Debtors shall not require the re-solicitation of this Plan with respect to the remaining Debtors.

C. Conversion or Dismissal of Certain of the Chapter 11 Cases

If the requisite Classes do not vote to accept this Plan or the Bankruptcy Court does not confirm this Plan, the Plan Proponents reserve the right to have any Debtor's Chapter 11 Case dismissed or converted, or to liquidate or dissolve any Debtor under applicable non-bankruptcy procedure or chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code.

<u>NAI-1500594528v25</u> -70-

D. Inconsistency

In the event of any inconsistency among this Plan, the Disclosure Statement, or any exhibit or schedule to the Disclosure Statement, the provisions of this Plan shall govern.

E. Exhibits / Schedules

All exhibits and schedules to this Plan, including the Plan Supplement, are incorporated into and constitute a part of this Plan as if set forth herein.

F. Bankruptcy Code § 1145 Exemption

To the maximum extent provided by Bankruptcy Code § 1145(a), the Reorganized Relativity Holdings Preferred Units and Reorganized Relativity Holdings Common Units issued under this Plan shall be exempt from registration under the Securities Act and any state's securities law registration requirements and all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder

G. Exemption from Transfer Taxes

Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1146(a), the issuance, transfer, or exchange of notes or equity securities under or in connection with this Plan, including the Reorganized Relativity Holdings Preferred Units and Reorganized Relativity Holdings Common Units issued pursuant to this Plan, the creation of any mortgage, deed of trust or other security interest, the making or assignment of any lease or sublease, or the making or delivery of any deed or other instrument of transfer under, in furtherance of, or in connection with this Plan, including any merger agreements or agreements of consolidation, deeds, bills of sale or assignments executed in connection with any of the transactions contemplated under this Plan (including, without limitation, the New P&A/Ultimates Facility, the Restructuring Transactions, and the creation of the Litigation Trust), shall not be subject to any stamp, real estate transfer, mortgage recording, or other similar tax.

H. Request for Expedited Determination of Taxes

Reorganized Relativity Holdings or any Reorganized Debtor may request an expedited determination under Bankruptcy Code § 505(b) with respect to tax returns filed, or to be filed, on behalf of the Debtors for any and all taxable periods ending after the Petition Date through, and including, the Effective Date.

I. Severability

If prior to the entry of the Confirmation Order, any term or provision of this Plan is determined by the Bankruptcy Court to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, the Bankruptcy Court may, at the request of the Plan Proponents (such request, to the extent it has a direct impact on Manchester Securities and/or the Buyer, to be made with the approval of Manchester Securities and/or the Buyer, as the case may be, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), alter and interpret such term or provision to the extent necessary to render it valid or enforceable to the maximum extent practicable, consistent with the original

-71-

purpose of the term or provision held to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, and such term or provision shall then be applicable as so altered or interpreted. Notwithstanding any such holding, alteration or interpretation, the remaining terms and provisions of this Plan shall remain in full force and effect and shall in no way be affected, impaired or invalidated by such holding, alteration or interpretation. The Confirmation Order shall constitute a judicial determination and shall provide that each term and provision of this Plan, as it may have been altered or interpreted in accordance with the foregoing, is valid and enforceable pursuant to its terms.

J. Governing Law

Except to the extent that (1) the Bankruptcy Code or other federal law is applicable or (2) an exhibit or schedule to this Plan or the Disclosure Statement or any agreement entered into with respect to any of the Restructuring Transactions provides otherwise (in which case the governing law specified therein shall be applicable to such exhibit, schedule or agreement), the rights, duties, and obligations arising under this Plan shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to the principles of conflict of laws that would require application of the laws of another jurisdiction.

K. No Admissions

If the Effective Date does not occur, this Plan shall be null and void in all respects, and nothing contained in this Plan shall (1) constitute a waiver or release of any claims by or against, or any interests in, any of the Debtors or any other Entity, (2) prejudice in any manner the rights of any of the Debtors or any other Entity, or (3) constitute an admission of any sort by any of the Debtors or any other Entity.

L. Successors and Assigns

The rights, benefits and obligations of any Entity named or referred to in this Plan shall be binding on, and shall inure to the benefit of, any heir, executor, administrator, successor or assign of such Entity.

M. Service of Documents

To be effective, any pleading, notice or other document required by this Plan or the Confirmation Order to be served on or delivered to counsel to the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors and the Creditors' Committee must be sent by overnight delivery service, facsimile transmission, courier service or messenger to:

Attorneys for the Plan Co-Proponent and	Attorneys for the Manchester Parties
Debtors	
JONES DAY	O'MELVENY & MYERS LLP
Richard L. Wynne, Esq.	Evan M. Jones
Bennett L. Spiegel, Esq.	Daniel S. Shamah
Lori Sinanyan, Esq. (admitted pro hac vice)	400 South Hope Street
222 East 41st Street	Los Angeles, CA 90071
New York, NY 10017	Telephone: (213) 430-6236

Tel: (212) 326-3939 Facsimile: (213) 430-6407

Fax: (212) 755-7306

- and --

SHEPPARD MULLIN RICHTER & HAMPTON LLP Craig A. Wolfe, Esq.

Malani J. Cademartori, Esq. Blanka K. Wolfe, Esq. 30 Rockefeller Plaza New York, NY 10112 Tel: (212) 653-8700 ROPES & GRAY LLP Keith H. Wofford James A. Wright III

1211 Avenue of the Americas New York, NY 10036-8704 Telephone: (212) 596-9000 Facsimile: (212) 596-9090

SHEPPARD MULLIN RICHTER &

<u>HAMPTON LLP</u> <u>Craig A. Wolfe, Esq.</u>

Fax: (212) 653 8701

Malani J. Cademartori, Esq. Blanka K. Wolfe, Esq. 30 Rockefeller Plaza
New York, NY 10112
Tel: (212) 653-8700
Fax: (212) 653-8701

ROPES & GRAY LLP

Keith H. Wofford

James A. Wright III

1211 Avenue of the Americas New York, NY 10036-8704 Telephone: (212) 596-9000 Facsimile: (212) 596-9090

Attorneys for Plan Co-Proponent Kavanaugh

SKADDEN, ARPS, SLATE, MEAGHER & FLOM-

SKADDEN, ARPS, SLATE, MEAGHER & FLOM LLP

Van C. Durrer II David C. Eisman

300 South Grand Avenue, Suite 3400

Los Angeles, California 90071 Telephone: (213) 687-5000 Facsimile: (213) 687-5600 SKADDEN, ARPS, SLATE, MEAGHER & FLOM LLP

SKADDEN, ARPS, SLATE, MEAGHER & FLOM-

LLP

Shana Elberg 4 Times Square

New York, New York 10036 Telephone: (212) 735-3000 Facsimile: (212) 735-2000

United States Trustee

OFFICE OF THE UNITED STATES

TRUSTEE Serene Nakano Susan D. Golden

201 Varick Street, Room 1006 New York, New York 10014 Telephone: (212) 510-0500 Facsimile: (212) 668-2255

Attorneys for Plan Co-Proponent Nicholas Michael A. Cramarosso

TAFT STETTINIUS & HOLLISTER LLP

Attorneys for the Creditors' Committee TOGUT, SEGAL & SEGAL LLP

Albert Togut Frank Oswald

One Penn Plaza, Suite 3335 New York, NY 10119 Telephone: (212) 594-5000 Facsimile: (212) 967-4258

-73-

111 E. Wacker Drive, Suite 2800	
Chicago, Illinois 60601-3713	
Telephone: (312) 527-4000	
Facsimile: (312) 275-7558	

XIII. CONFIRMATION REQUEST

The Plan Proponents request Confirmation of this Plan pursuant to Bankruptcy Code § 1129.

Dated: December 17,	Respectfully submitted,
2015	

Dated: January 30, 2015 Respectfully submitted,

Relativity Holdings, LLC, on its own behalf and on behalf of each affiliate Debtor

By: /s/ Ryan Kavanaugh
Name: Ryan Kavanaugh
Title: Chief Executive Officer of
Relativity Holdings, LLC.

		Relativity Holdings, LLC.
	By:-	<u>/s/ Ryan Kavanaugh</u>
	Name:	Ryan Kavanaugh
	Title: JONES DAY	Chief Executive Officer of Relativity Holdings,
	Richard L. Wynne	LLC.SHEPPARD MULLIN RICHTER
	Bennett L. Spiegel	<u>& HAMPTON LLP</u>
	Lori Sinanyan (admitted pro	Craig A. Wolfe
	hac vice)	Malani J. Cademartori
	222 East 41st Street	Blanka K. Wolfe
	New York, New York 10017	30 Rockefeller Plaza
	Telephone: (212) 326-3939	New York, New York
	Facsimile: (212) 755-7306	<u>Telephone: (212) 653-8700</u>
		Facsimile: (212) 653-8701
	ATTORNEYS FOR THE	
	PLAN CO-PROPONENT,	ATTORNEYS FOR THE DEBTORS
	DEBTORS AND DEBTORS IN	AND DEBTORS IN POSSESSION
	POSSESSION	
SKADDEN ARPS S	LATE, MEAGHER & FLOM	TAFT STETTINIUS & HOLLISTER

SKADDEN, ARPS, SLATE, MEAGHER & FLOM
LLP

TAFT STETTINIUS & HOLLIS
LLP

NAI-1500594528v25 -74-

Van C. Durrer II
Shana Elberg
4 Times Square
New York, New York 10036
Telephone: (212) 735-3000
Facsimile: (212) 735-2000

Michael A. Cramarosso
111 E. Wacker Drive, Suite 2800
Chicago, Illinois 60601-3713
Telephone: (312) 527-4000
Facsimile: (312) 275-7558

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAN CO-PROPONENT NICHOLAS

JONES DAY Richard L. Wynne Craig.

Richard L. Wynne

Bennett L. Spiegel

Lori Sinanyan (admitted pro hac vice)

222 East 41st Street

New York, New York 10017

Telephone: (212) 326-3939

Facsimile: (212) 755-7306

Craig.

Malan

Blank

30 Ro

New Y

Telephone: (212) 326-3939

Facsimile: (212) 755-7306

ATTORNEYS FOR THE PLAN CO PROPONENT, DEBTORS AND DEBTORS IN POSSESSION DEBT

SKADDEN, ARPS, SLATE, MEAGHER & FLOM LLP Van C. Durrer II Shana Elberg 4 Times Severe

4 Times Square
New York, New York 10036
Telephone: (212) 735-3000
Facsin

Facsimile: (212) 735-2000

ATT(
ATTORNEYS FOR THE PLAN CO PROPONENT NICE

KAVANAUGH

ATTORNEYS FOR THE PLAN CO-PROPONENT KAVANAUGH

-75-

EXHIBIT A
LIST OF DEBTORS

1 21 & Over Productions, LLC 7796 2 3 Days to Kill Productions, LLC 5747 3 A Perfect Getaway P.R., LLC 9252 4 A Perfect Getaway, LLC 3939 5 Armored Car Productions, LLC 2750 6 Best of Me Productions, LLC 1490 7 Black Or White Films, LLC 6718 8 Blackbird Productions, LLC 8037 9 Brant Point Productions, LLC 9994 10. Brick Mansions Acquisitions, LLC 3910 11. Brilliant Films, LLC 9448 12. Brothers Productions, LLC 9930 13. Brothers Servicing, LLC 5849 14. Catfish Productions, LLC 7728 15. Cine Productions, LLC 8359 16. CinePost, LLC 8621 17. Cisco Beach Media, LLC 7065 19. Den of Thieves Films, LLC 7951 20. Don Jon Acquisitions, LLC 7951 21. DR Productions, LLC 7803
3. A Perfect Getaway P.R., LLC 9252 4. A Perfect Getaway, LLC 3939 5. Armored Car Productions, LLC 2750 6. Best of Me Productions, LLC 14490 7. Black Or White Films, LLC 6718 8. Blackbird Productions, LLC 8037 9. Brant Point Productions, LLC 9994 10. Brick Mansions Acquisitions, LLC 3910 11. Brilliant Films, LLC 0448 12. Brothers Productions, LLC 9930 13. Brothers Servicing, LLC 5849 14. Catfish Productions, LLC 7728 15. Cine Productions, LLC 8359 16. CinePost, LLC 8440 17. Cisco Beach Media, LLC 8621 18. Cliff Road Media, LLC 7065 19. Den of Thieves Films, LLC 7951
3. A Perfect Getaway P.R., LLC 9252 4. A Perfect Getaway, LLC 3939 5. Armored Car Productions, LLC 2750 6. Best of Me Productions, LLC 14490 7. Black Or White Films, LLC 6718 8. Blackbird Productions, LLC 8037 9. Brant Point Productions, LLC 9994 10. Brick Mansions Acquisitions, LLC 3910 11. Brilliant Films, LLC 0448 12. Brothers Productions, LLC 9930 13. Brothers Servicing, LLC 5849 14. Catfish Productions, LLC 7728 15. Cine Productions, LLC 8359 16. CinePost, LLC 8440 17. Cisco Beach Media, LLC 8621 18. Cliff Road Media, LLC 7065 19. Den of Thieves Films, LLC 7951
4. A Perfect Getaway, LLC 3939 5. Armored Car Productions, LLC 2750 6. Best of Me Productions, LLC 1490 7. Black Or White Films, LLC 6718 8. Blackbird Productions, LLC 8037 9. Brant Point Productions, LLC 9994 10. Brick Mansions Acquisitions, LLC 3910 11. Brilliant Films, LLC 0448 12. Brothers Productions, LLC 9930 13. Brothers Servicing, LLC 5849 14. Catfish Productions, LLC 7728 15. Cine Productions, LLC 8359 16. CinePost, LLC 8440 17. Cisco Beach Media, LLC 8621 18. Cliff Road Media, LLC 7065 19. Den of Thieves Films, LLC 3046 20. Don Jon Acquisitions, LLC 7951
5 Armored Car Productions, LLC 2750 6 Best of Me Productions, LLC 1490 7 Black Or White Films, LLC 6718 8 Blackbird Productions, LLC 8037 9 Brant Point Productions, LLC 9994 10. Brick Mansions Acquisitions, LLC 3910 11. Brilliant Films, LLC 0448 12. Brothers Productions, LLC 9930 13. Brothers Servicing, LLC 5849 14. Catfish Productions, LLC 7728 15. Cine Productions, LLC 8359 16. CinePost, LLC 8440 17. Cisco Beach Media, LLC 8621 18. Cliff Road Media, LLC 7065 19. Den of Thieves Films, LLC 7951
6 Best of Me Productions, LLC 1490 7 Black Or White Films, LLC 6718 8 Blackbird Productions, LLC 8037 9 Brant Point Productions, LLC 9994 10. Brick Mansions Acquisitions, LLC 3910 11. Brilliant Films, LLC 0448 12. Brothers Productions, LLC 9930 13. Brothers Servicing, LLC 5849 14. Catfish Productions, LLC 7728 15. Cine Productions, LLC 8359 16. CinePost, LLC 8440 17. Cisco Beach Media, LLC 8621 18. Cliff Road Media, LLC 7065 19. Den of Thieves Films, LLC 3046 20. Don Jon Acquisitions, LLC 7951
7. Black Or White Films, LLC 6718 8. Blackbird Productions, LLC 8037 9. Brant Point Productions, LLC 9994 10. Brick Mansions Acquisitions, LLC 3910 11. Brilliant Films, LLC 0448 12. Brothers Productions, LLC 9930 13. Brothers Servicing, LLC 5849 14. Catfish Productions, LLC 7728 15. Cine Productions, LLC 8359 16. CinePost, LLC 8440 17. Cisco Beach Media, LLC 8621 18. Cliff Road Media, LLC 7065 19. Den of Thieves Films, LLC 3046 20. Don Jon Acquisitions, LLC 7951
8. Blackbird Productions, LLC 8037 9. Brant Point Productions, LLC 9994 10. Brick Mansions Acquisitions, LLC 3910 11. Brilliant Films, LLC 0448 12. Brothers Productions, LLC 9930 13. Brothers Servicing, LLC 5849 14. Catfish Productions, LLC 7728 15. Cine Productions, LLC 8359 16. CinePost, LLC 8440 17. Cisco Beach Media, LLC 8621 18. Cliff Road Media, LLC 7065 19. Den of Thieves Films, LLC 3046 20. Don Jon Acquisitions, LLC 7951
9. Brant Point Productions, LLC 9994 10. Brick Mansions Acquisitions, LLC 3910 11. Brilliant Films, LLC 0448 12. Brothers Productions, LLC 9930 13. Brothers Servicing, LLC 5849 14. Catfish Productions, LLC 7728 15. Cine Productions, LLC 8359 16. CinePost, LLC 8440 17. Cisco Beach Media, LLC 8621 18. Cliff Road Media, LLC 7065 19. Den of Thieves Films, LLC 3046 20. Don Jon Acquisitions, LLC 7951
10. Brick Mansions Acquisitions, LLC 3910 11. Brilliant Films, LLC 0448 12. Brothers Productions, LLC 9930 13. Brothers Servicing, LLC 5849 14. Catfish Productions, LLC 7728 15. Cine Productions, LLC 8359 16. CinePost, LLC 8440 17. Cisco Beach Media, LLC 8621 18. Cliff Road Media, LLC 7065 19. Den of Thieves Films, LLC 3046 20. Don Jon Acquisitions, LLC 7951
11. Brilliant Films, LLC 0448 12. Brothers Productions, LLC 9930 13. Brothers Servicing, LLC 5849 14. Catfish Productions, LLC 7728 15. Cine Productions, LLC 8359 16. CinePost, LLC 8440 17. Cisco Beach Media, LLC 8621 18. Cliff Road Media, LLC 7065 19. Den of Thieves Films, LLC 3046 20. Don Jon Acquisitions, LLC 7951
12. Brothers Productions, LLC 9930 13. Brothers Servicing, LLC 5849 14. Catfish Productions, LLC 7728 15. Cine Productions, LLC 8359 16. CinePost, LLC 8440 17. Cisco Beach Media, LLC 8621 18. Cliff Road Media, LLC 7065 19. Den of Thieves Films, LLC 3046 20. Don Jon Acquisitions, LLC 7951
13. Brothers Servicing, LLC 5849 14. Catfish Productions, LLC 7728 15. Cine Productions, LLC 8359 16. CinePost, LLC 8440 17. Cisco Beach Media, LLC 8621 18. Cliff Road Media, LLC 7065 19. Den of Thieves Films, LLC 3046 20. Don Jon Acquisitions, LLC 7951
14. Catfish Productions, LLC 7728 15. Cine Productions, LLC 8359 16. CinePost, LLC 8440 17. Cisco Beach Media, LLC 8621 18. Cliff Road Media, LLC 7065 19. Den of Thieves Films, LLC 3046 20. Don Jon Acquisitions, LLC 7951
15. Cine Productions, LLC 8359 16. CinePost, LLC 8440 17. Cisco Beach Media, LLC 8621 18. Cliff Road Media, LLC 7065 19. Den of Thieves Films, LLC 3046 20. Don Jon Acquisitions, LLC 7951
16. CinePost, LLC 8440 17. Cisco Beach Media, LLC 8621 18. Cliff Road Media, LLC 7065 19. Den of Thieves Films, LLC 3046 20. Don Jon Acquisitions, LLC 7951
17. Cisco Beach Media, LLC 8621 18. -Cliff Road Media, LLC 7065 19. Den of Thieves Films, LLC 3046 20. -Don Jon Acquisitions, LLC 7951
18. Cliff Road Media, LLC 7065 19. Den of Thieves Films, LLC 3046 20. Don Jon Acquisitions, LLC 7951
19. Den of Thieves Films, LLC 3046 20. Don Jon Acquisitions, LLC 7951
20. Don Jon Acquisitions, LLC 7951
* /
21. DR Productions, LLC 7803
·
22. Einstein Rentals, LLC 5861
23. English Breakfast Media, LLC 2240
24. Furnace Films, LLC 3558
25. Gotti Acquisitions, LLC 6562
26. Great Point Productions, LLC 5813
27. Guido Contini Films, LLC 1031
28. Hooper Farm Music, LLC 3773
29. Hooper Farm Publishing, LLC 3762
30. Hummock Pond Properties, LLC 9862
31. Hunter Killer La Productions, LLC 1939
32. Hunter Killer Productions, LLC 3130
33. In The Hat Productions, LLC 3140
34. J&J Project, LLC 1832
35. JGAG Acquisitions, LLC- 9221
36. Left Behind Acquisitions, LLC 1367
37. Long Pond Media, LLC- 7197
38. Madaket Publishing, LLC 9356
39. Madaket Road Music, LLC 9352
,
,
41. Malavita Productions, LLC 8636
42. MB Productions, LLC 4477
43. Merchant of Shanghai Productions, LLC 7002
44. Miacomet Media LLC 7371
45. Miracle Shot Productions, LLC 0015
46. Most Wonderful Time Productions, LLC 0426
47. Movie Productions, LLC 9860
48. One Life Acquisitions, LLC 9061
49. Orange Street Media, LLC 3089
50. Out Of This World Productions, LLC 2322
51. Paranoia Acquisitions, LLC 8747

#	Debtor	Last Four Digits of Tax ID Number
52.	-Phantom Acquisitions, LLC-	6381
53.	Pocomo Productions, LLC	1069
54.	Relative Motion Music, LLC	8016
55.	Relative Velocity Music, LLC	7169
56.	Relativity Development, LLC	5296
57.	Relativity Fashion, LLC	4571
58.	Relativity Film Finance II, LLC	9082
59.	Relativity Film Finance III, LLC	8893
60.	Relativity Film Finance, LLC	2127
61.	Relativity Films, LLC	5464
62.	Relativity Foreign, LLC	8993
63.	Relativity Holdings LLC	7052
64.	Relativity India Holdings, LLC	8921
65.	Relativity Jackson, LLC	6116
	Relativity Media LLC - Relativity Media LLC	0844
66.	•	
67.	Relativity Media Distribution, LLC	0264
68.	Relativity Media Films, LLC	1574
69.	Relativity Music Group, LLC	9540
70.	Relativity Production LLC	7891
71.	Relativity REAL, LLC	1653
72.	Relativity Rogue, LLC	3333
73.	-Relativity Senator, LLC	9044
74.	-Relativity Sky Land Asia Holdings, LLC-	9582
75.	-Relativity TV, LLC	0227
76.	-Reveler Productions, LLC-	2191
77.	-RML Acquisitions I, LLC	9406
78.	-RML Acquisitions II, LLC-	9810
79.	RML Acquisitions III, LLC	9116
80.	RML Acquisitions IV, LLC	4 997
81.	RML Acquisitions IX, LLC	4410
82.	RML Acquisitions V, LLC	9532
83.	RML Acquisitions VI, LLC	9640
84.	RML Acquisitions VII, LLC	7747
85.	RML Acquisitions VIII, LLC	7459
86.	RML Acquisitions X, LLC	1009
87.	RML Acquisitions XI, LLC	2651
88.	RML Acquisitions XII, LLC	4226
89.	RML Acquisitions XIII, LLC	9 614
90.	RML Acquisitions XIV, LLC	1910
91.	RML Acquisitions XV, LLC	5518
92.	RML Bronze Films, LLC	8636
93.	RML Damascus Films, LLC	6024
93. 94.	-RML Desert Films, LLC-	4564
	RML Distribution Domestic, LLC	4304 6528
95.	RML Distribution International, LLC	
96.	,	7796 7001
97.	RML DOCUMEntaries, LLC	7991
98.	RML DR Films, LLC	0022
99.	RML Echo Films, LLC	4656
100.	RML Escobar Films LLC	0123
101.	-RML Film Development, LLC	3567
102.	-RML Films PR, LLC-	1662
103.	RML Hector Films, LLC	6054

#	Debtor	Last Four Digits of Tax ID Number
104.	RML Hillsong Films, LLC	3539
105.	RML IFWT Films, LLC	1255
106.	RML International Assets, LLC	1910
107.	RML Jackson, LLC	1081
108.	RML Kidnap Films, LLC	2708
109.	RML Lazarus Films, LLC	0107
110.	RML Nina Films, LLC	0495
111.	RML November Films, LLC	9701
112.	RML Oculus Films, LLC	2596
113.	RML Our Father Films, LLC	6485
114.	RML Romeo and Juliet Films, LLC	9509
115.	RML Scripture Films, LLC	7845
116.	RML Solace Films, LLC	5125
117.	RML Somnia Films, LLC	7195
118.	RML Timeless Productions, LLC	1996
119.	RML Turkeys Films, LLC	8898
120.	RML Very Good Girls Films, LLC	3685
121.	RML WIB Films, LLC	0102
122.	RMLDD Financing, LLC	9114
123.	Rogue Digital, LLC	5578
124.	Rogue Games, LLC	4812
125.	Roguelife LLC	3442
126.	-Safe Haven Productions, LLC-	6550
127.	-Sanctum Films, LLC-	7736
128.	-Santa Claus Productions, LLC	7398
129.	-Smith Point Productions, LLC	9118
130.	Snow White Productions, LLC	3175
131.	Spy Next Door, LLC	3043
132.	-Story Development, LLC-	0677
133.	-Straight Wharf Productions, LLC-	5858
134.	-Strangers II, LLC	6152
135.	-Stretch Armstrong Productions, LLC	0213
136.	-Studio Merchandise, LLC-	5738
137.	Summer Forever Productions, LLC	9211
138.	-The Crow Productions, LLC	6707
139.	-Totally Interns, LLC-	9980
140.	-Tribes of Palos Verdes Production, LLC	6638
141.	-Tuckernuck Music, LLC-	8713
142.	-Tuckernuck Publishing, LLC-	3960
143.	-Wright Girls Films, LLC	9639
144.	Yuma, Inc.	1669
145.	-Zero Point Enterprises, LLC-	9558

15-11989-mew Doc 1499 Filed 01/30/16 Entered 01/30/16 05:34:57 Main Document Pg 170 of 200

EXHIBIT E EXECUTORY CONTRACTS AND UNEXPIRED LEASES TO BE REJECTED

15-11989-mew Doc 1499 Filed 01/30/16 Entered 01/30/16 05:34:57 Main Document Pg 171 of 200

		FILM / TV SHOW CONTRACT	DATE OF CONTRACT,		NAME OF RELATIVITY ENTITY PARTY TO
NAME OF COUNTERPARTY	TITLE OF CONTRACT	RELATES TO	IF ANY	DOC. ID	AGREEMENT
Terminated International Output or Distribu	ution Agreements				
Tanweer Films FZ, LLC	Output Distribution Agreement		3/24/2014	20394	RML Distribution International, LLC
Tanweer Films FZ, LLC	Tanweer/ Relativity Output Agreement		2/1/2013	20391	RML Distribution International, LLC
Tanweer Films FZ, LLC	Output Distribution Agreement	"Best of Me" "Loomis Fargo"	2/1/2013	20377	RML Distribution International, LLC
Cancelled, Unsigned or Otherwise Terminat	ted Contracts				
Dreamgold Group Corp.	Distribution License Agreement	Dreamgold swem-Latin America	2/28/2014	1107	Relativity Foreign, LLC
KRISCO MEDIA FZC	TRANSMISSION REPORT	MOJAVE. MAN ON CARRION ROAD.		23987	Relativity Foreign, LLC
KRISCO MEDIAFZC	LETTER REGARDING TERMINATIOPN NOTICE WITH RESPECT TO MOJAVE/INDIA (THE TERRITORY)	MOJAVE	8/11/2014	3007	Relativity Foreign, LLC
W2MEDIA B.V.	PICTURE CERTIFICATE	UNTITLED AMORED CAR PROJECT	7/4/2008	23006	Relativity Media Distribution, LLC
Operations					
PGI	Customer Service Order			23690	Relativity Media, LLC
TalentWise Solutions LLC	Sales Order Form		12/14/2011	41	Relativity Media, LLC
Distribution					
Overture Films	Sargoy Stein Rosen & Shapiro Letter & Retainer Agreement			3133	Relativity Media, LLC
PENN, SCHOEN, BERLAND ASSOCIATES, LLC (D/B/A VERITES)	AGREEMENT			23697	RML Distribution Domestic, LLC
<u>Other</u>					
Danone Waters of America, Inc.	Strategic Branding & Marketing Agreement		12/31/2013	2706	Relativity Media, LLC

Terminated Em	ployment Agreeme				
LAST NAME	FIRST NAME TITLE		DEPARTMENT	CONTRACT EXPIRATION DATE	LAST DAY OF EMPLOYMENT
Adelman	Jason	VP Strategic Partnerships	Joint Venture - Madvine	9/2/2015	7/29/2015
Al va re z	Matt	EVP, Production/President, Multicultural	Production	8/10/2015	10/15/2015
Bevins	Chris	Design Director, M3 Fashion Accelerator	Relativity Fashion	10/12/2015	7/29/2015
Bowen	Robert	President, Music	Music	12/31/2015	10/27/2015
Brenner	Robbie	President, Production & President, 278 Films	Production	2/23/2017	9/18/2015
Brodie	Matthew	EVP, Acquistions	Production	5/31/2016	12/4/2015
Compton	Matthew	VP, Information Technology	IT	2/17/2015	10/6/2015
Courtin	Angela	Chief Marketing Officer	Relativity Digital Corp Ops	6/30/2017	7/29/2015
Dolfi	Martin James	Fashion Agent	Relativity Fashion	9/15/2016	7/29/2015
Fairbourn	Zoe	SVP Strategic Partnership	Joint Venture - Madvine	1/6/2015	7/29/2015
Galano	Laurette	SVP, Marketing Partnerships	International	At Will	7/29/2015
Goldberg	Lauren	EVP, Corporate Affairs/Deputy General Counsel	Legal - Corporate	2/4/2015	10/21/2015
Goldman	Colin	Editor in Chief	Relativity Digital Corp Ops	2/17/2016	7/29/2015
Grossbach	Mitchell	President	Relativity Fashion	9/15/2016	7/29/2015
Horvath	Sean	President, Strategic Partnerships	Joint Venture - Madvine	11/9/2016	7/29/2015
Hunt	Matthew Leslie	Fashion Agent	Relativity Fashion	9/15/2016	7/29/2015
Matthews	Andrew	Chief Financial Officer	Finance and Accounting	4/7/2016	10/5/2015
Monti	Christian	SVP, International Sales	International	8/4/2015	7/29/2015
Shamo	Greg	Co-Chief Operating Officer	Operations	2/10/2017	10/13/2015
Walters	Нарру	Co-President RML & CEO, Relativity Sports	Operations	6/2/2019	7/29/2015
Wilcox	Dylan	SVP, Acquisitions	Production	10/14/2014	7/29/2015

EXHIBIT I

PROPOSED ALTERNATIVE PLAN TREATMENT FOR RKA

Summary report:				
Litéra® Change-Pro TDC 7.5.0.96 Document comparison done on 1/30/2016				
1:16:16 AM				
Style name: JD Color With Moves				
Intelligent Table Comparison: Inactive				
Original DMS:iw://NAI/NAI/1500594528/20				
Modified DMS: iw://NAI/NAI/1500594528/25				
Changes:				
Add	511			
Delete	933			
Move From	5			
Move To	5			
<u>Table Insert</u>	4			
Table Delete	9			
Table moves to	0			
Table moves from	0			
Embedded Graphics (Visio, ChemDraw, Images etc.)	2			
Embedded Excel	0			
Format Changes	0			
Total Changes:	1469			

Non-Exclusive Schedule of Retained Causes of Action¹

NOTICE: THE LISTING OF ANY PERSONS OR ENTITIES BELOW SHALL NOT BE CONSTRUED TO IMPLY THAT THE REORGANIZED DEBTORS OR ANY PARTY INTEND TO ASSERT A CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST SUCH PERSONS OR ENTITIES. RATHER, THE LISTING IS INTENDED AS A PRESERVATION OF RIGHTS WITH RESPECT TO THOSE PERSONS OR ENTITIES IN ORDER TO EFFECTUATE RELEASES IDENTIFIED IN THE PLAN², TO PRESERVE ONGOING CONTRACTUAL RIGHTS ON A BILATERAL BASIS, AND, IN CERTAIN CASES, TO PRESERVE POSSIBLE CLAIMS WHICH REMAIN UNDER INVESTIGATION AND WHICH MAY BE PROSECUTED BY THE RELATIVITY LITIGATION TRUST. IF YOU HAVE ANY QUESTIONS REGARDING THIS SCHEDULE, PLEASE CONTACT DEBTORS' CO-COUNSEL, LORI SINANYAN AT LSINANYAN@JONESDAY.COM.

Nothing in this Exhibit J will preserve any claim that is released by: (i) the Settlement Agreement between the Debtors and the Manchester Parties; (ii) the Settlement Agreement between the Committee and the Creditor Parties (as defined in such Settlement Agreement), once approved by the Bankruptcy Court; or (iii) the DIP Agreement.

Without limiting any relevant provision of the Plan, or any of the reservations or retentions of rights set forth in this schedule, the Debtors expressly reserve and retain, and may enforce, waive, settle and/or compromise any and all of its rights against the following Persons and Entities with respect to (a) any and all actions, causes of action, controversies, liabilities, obligations, rights, suits, damages, judgments, claims, and demands whatsoever, whether known or unknown, reduced to judgment, liquidated or unliquidated, fixed or contingent, matured or unmatured, disputed or undisputed, secured or unsecured, assertable directly or derivatively, existing or hereafter arising, in law, equity, or otherwise, based in whole or in part upon any act or omission or other event occurring prior to the Effective Date, (b) claims and causes of action under sections 502(d), 510, 544, 545, 547, 548, 549(a), 549(c), 549(d), 550, 551 and 553 of the Bankruptcy Code and (c) any other avoidance or similar claims or actions under the Bankruptcy Code or under similar or related state or federal statutes or common law:

- 1. 42West LLC Finance Dept
- 2. AAA SIGN & SAFETY PRODUCTS
- 3. Abadan Co., Inc.
- 4. ACTION FORCE SECURITY
- 5. ALL MEDIA MUSIC GROUP, INC
- 6. Allied Integrated Marketing
- 7. Alvarez, Matt

The failure to identify any Person or Entity in this Non-Exclusive Schedule shall not constitute a waiver of any right or claim in favor of the Debtors or their estates.

The listing of a Person or Entity is expressly intended to include subsidiaries, parents, affiliates and responsible persons with respect to such Person or Entity as if such subsidiaries, parents, affiliates and responsible persons had been listed on this schedule.

NAI-1500778302v2

1

2

3

This Schedule does not include any persons who will become a Released Party pursuant to Article X.E of the Plan on the Effective Date. To the extent that a Released Party is listed, it is for the purpose of ensuring that the release may be enforced.

15-11989-mew Doc 1499 Filed 01/30/16 Entered 01/30/16 05:34:57 Main Document Pg 175 of 200

- 8. American Broadcasting Company, Inc.
- 9. American Hi Definition Inc
- 10. American Multi-Cinema Inc.
- 11. Ampco System Parking
- 12. ANTIQUE MARKET PLACE
- 13. ARCH 9 FILMS
- 14. AT&T Mobility 2
- 15. Atlas Entertainment
- 16. Avatar Labs
- 17. Backstage
- 18. Baker Street Investors, LLC
- 19. BankDirect Capital Finance
- 20. Beckman, Jason
- 21. Bev/Early, LLC
- 22. Beverly Blvd 2 Holdings LLC
- 23. Beverly Place, LP
- 24. BIG MACHINE RECORDS LLC
- 25. Blumhouse Entertainment, Inc.
- 26. BMG Rights Management, LLC
- 27. BRACELAND INTERNATIONAL, LLC
- 28. BRCR Consulting, Inc.
- 29. Brigade Marketing, LLC
- 30. BROADWAY VIDEO ENTERTAINMENT
- 31. Brunswick Group, LLC
- 32. BUGS BUNNY INC
- 33. Burkle, Ron
- 34. C.A.P.S, LLC
- 35. Carat USA
- 36. CASAROTTORAMSAY & ASSOCIATES LTD
- 37. CAST & CREW PRODUCTION SERVICE
- 38. CATFISH PICTURE COMPANY LLC
- 39. CB Agency Services LLC
- 40. Cinemark USA Inc
- 41. CIT Bank, N.A. fka OneWest Bank, N.A.
- 42. CO-OP GRIP AND LIGHTING
- 43. Colbeck Beverages LLC
- 44. Colbeck Capital Management
- 45. Colbeck Partners IV, LLC
- 46. Colodne, Jason
- 47. Columbia Property Trust fso Columbia REIT 315 Park Ave.
- 48. COMEN VFX, LLC
- 49. Concept Arts Studios, Inc.
- 50. CROW PRODUCTIONS LLC

15-11989-mew Doc 1499 Filed 01/30/16 Entered 01/30/16 05:34:57 Main Document Pg 176 of 200

- 51. Current Entertainment
- 52. CUT TIME CLEARANCE, LLC
- 53. DAX PFT, LLC
- 54. Deluxe Digital Cinema, Inc.
- 55. Deluxe Digital Media Management dba Media Vu
- 56. DETARSIO PRODUCTIONS INC
- 57. Deutsch, Josh
- 58. Digital Media Management, Inc.
- 59. Draven Productions, LTD
- 60. DreamWorks Animation L.L.C.
- 61. DVS InteleStream
- 62. EINSTEIN RENTALS, LLC
- 63. Eleventh Hour
- 64. ELINA PRODUCTIONS, INC
- 65. Elliott Associates, L.P.
- 66. Elliott Capital Advisors, L.P.
- 67. Elliott Management
- 68. Elliott Management Corporation
- 69. Elliott International, L.P.
- 70. JS/DF Partners, LLC, c/o Level Four
- 71. EMILYCO, INC
- 72. ENDGAME VFX INC
- 73. ENTERACTIVE SOLUTIONS GROUP, INC.
- 74. Entertainment One U.S. LP
- 75. EST 19XX Films, LLC
- 76. EuropaCorp Films USA, Inc.
- 77. Europacorp SA
- 78. Exclusive Media Group Holdings, Inc.
- 79. Fanology, LLC
- 80. FILM THIS PRODUCTION SVC INC
- 81. Filmmaker Production Services, LLC
- 82. Fintage CAM
- 83. Fishbowl, LLC
- 84. Freeway Entertainment Kft
- 85. FTI Consulting, Inc.
- 86. FULL THROTTLE FILMS, INC.
- 87. GAS PROPERTIES, LLC
- 88. GD BRO, LLC
- 89. GDC Digital Cinema Network USA
- 90. GDI Information Technology Consulting
- 91. GEORGIA FILM CATERERS, LLC
- 92. Gina Wade Creative
- 93. GOLD PICTURES, INC.

15-11989-mew Doc 1499 Filed 01/30/16 Entered 01/30/16 05:34:57 Main Document Pg 177 of 200

- 94. Gold Pictures, Inc. fso Jeffrey P. Maynard
- 95. Gray Matter
- 96. Grossbach, Mitch
- 97. GRX Electric, Corp.
- 98. Gunnell Properties, ACLP
- 99. Habory Pictures, LLC
- 100. Heatherden Securities LLC
- 101. Hiltzik Strategies
- 102. HOLLYWOOD TRUCKS GEORGIA, LLC
- 103. Hurwitz Entertainment Company, Inc., The
- 104. Iconisus, Inc.
- 105. ICS METAL TRANSPORT LLC
- 106. IDSL Kidnap
- 107. Ignition Creative LLC
- 108. Ignition Print
- 109. ILLUMINATION DYNAMICS, INC.
- 110. IMG Models, LLC fka IMG Models, Inc.
- 111. Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
- 112. Industry Edge, LLC fso Steven Rubenstein, The
- 113. INDUSTRY WEST COMMERCE CENTER, LLC
- 114. Insight Creative Media Inc
- 115. J & R FILM COMPANY
- 116. J&R Film Company dba Moviola Digital
- 117. JMOATL, LLC
- 118. JUSTICE OUTLAW INC
- 119. K & L ASSOCIATES, LLC
- 120. K-Jam Productions, Inc.
- 121. Kasima LLC
- 122. Kings Lane Films, LLC fso John M. Bennett
- 123. KNB EFX GROUP, INC
- 124. Kushner, Brian
- 125. LA Libations LLC
- 126. LADY A ENTERTAINMENT, LLC
- 127. Lady A'd Productions, Inc.
- 128. Lam, Terence
- 129. Lambert, Christophe
- 130. LAPIDUS, ROOT & SACHAROW, LLP
- 131. Lars Windhorst
- 132. Liquid Soul Media, LLC
- 133. Lithographix Inc
- 134. LMB Holdings Limited
- 135. Loeb & Loeb, LLP
- 136. LSQ Funding Group, LLC

15-11989-mew Doc 1499 Filed 01/30/16 Entered 01/30/16 05:34:57 Main Document Pg 178 of 200

- 137. M3 Fashion Accelerator GP, LLC
- 138. MAIN STATION, INC.
- 139. Make It Rain, LLC dba Ninja Tracks
- 140. Mammoth Advertising LLC
- 141. Manhattan Construction Group
- 142. Maple Plaza
- 143. MARK WILLIAMS DESIGN ASSOCIATES
- 144. Market Force Information Inc Attn: CMS AR
- 145. MarketCast, LLC
- 146. Massive Marketing
- 147. Matthews, Andrew
- 148. McCafferty & Co. Productions
- 149. Merrill Communications, LLC
- 150. Mnuchin, Steven
- 151. Mob Scene LLC
- 152. mOcean Pictures LLC
- 153. Molinare TV & Film, Ltd.
- 154. MOSO Enterprises fso Momir Stojnovic
- 155. MTwo, LLC
- 156. Murray Studios
- 157. New York Media, LLC
- 158. NGHT, LLC
- 159. NICK HAWK PRODUCTIONS LLC
- 160. Nielsen NRG, Inc.
- 161. OCEANAIR INC
- 162. ON-CAMERA AUDIENCES, INC
- 163. PACIFIC POST RENTALS INC
- 164. Pacific Theatres Exhibition dba Arclight
- 165. Palisades Mediagroup
- 166. Paradigm Associates
- 167. Paradigm Talent Agency
- 168. PAYEES ENTERTAINMENT LP
- 169. Penske Business Media, LLC dba Variety Media
- 170. Picture Production Company
- 171. Pragmatic Pictures, Inc. fso Macrland Hawkins, Jr.
- 172. PREMIER LUXURY SUITES, INC
- 173. Procope Consulting, LLC
- 174. Pure Brands LLC
- 175. QUIXOTE STUDIOS, LLC
- 176. Raskin Law, LLP dba Raskin | Anderson Law
- 177. Red Cloud, LLC
- 178. Relativity B4U Limited (Mauritius)
- 179. Relativity Baseball, LLC

15-11989-mew Doc 1499 Filed 01/30/16 Entered 01/30/16 05:34:57 Main Document Pg 179 of 200

- 180. Relativity Basketball, LLC
- 181. Relativity Education Performing Arts, LLC
- 182. Relativity Education Specialized Media, LLC
- 183. Relativity Education, LLC
- 184. Relativity Educational Filmmaking, LLC
- 185. Relativity EuropaCorp Distribution, LLC
- 186. Relativity Football, LLC
- 187. Relativity Managers & Broadcasters, LLC
- 188. Relativity NEXT, LLC
- 189. Relativity School of Dance, LLC
- 190. Relativity School of EDM, LLC
- 191. Relativity School of Sport Photography, LLC
- 192. Relativity School of Video Blogging, LLC
- 193. Relativity Sports Enterprises, LLC
- 194. Relativity Sports Management, LLC
- 195. Relativity Sports, LLC
- 196. RELIANCE ENTERTAINMENT PRODUCTIONS 5 LTD
- 197. Rentrak Corporation
- 198. Resevoir Media Management, Inc.
- 199. RESTOVATE LTD
- 200. RETHINK VFX, INC.
- 201. REVEK ENTERTINMENT, LLC
- 202. RKA Film Financing, LLC
- 203. RML DD Licensing I
- 204. RS Operations, LLC
- 205. Rubrio Pictures
- 206. SANDAIR, INC
- 207. Sargent-Disc Ltd.
- 208. Say Media, Inc.
- 209. Schaeffer, Luke
- 210. Screen Engine, LLC
- 211. Seismic Productions
- 212. Select Music, LLC
- 213. SEM EVENTS,LLC, CLASSIC TENTS & EVENTS
- 214. Shamo, Gregory
- 215. SIMPLY SYMON, LLC
- 216. Sky Land (Beijing) Film-Television Culture Development Ltd.
- 217. Sky Land Entertainment Ltd. (BVI)
- 218. SKYVIEW ENTERTAINMENT, INC.
- 219. SOMNYO FILMS
- 220. SONY ATV\MUSIC PUBLISHING LLC
- 221. Sony Electronics Inc.
- 222. SOUNDTRACK NEW YORK

15-11989-mew Doc 1499 Filed 01/30/16 Entered 01/30/16 05:34:57 Main Document Pg 180 of 200

- 223. SOUTHERN DEMOLITION AND ENRIVONMENTAL
- 224. SS KS, LLC dba Sunshine Sachs & Associates West
- 225. ST IVES PRODUCTIONS INC
- 226. Stichting Freeway Custody
- 227. Stone Management
- 228. STONY CREEK, INC
- 229. Story Pictures, LLC
- 230. STUDIO ART AND TECHNOLOGY
- 231. Sunnu Boy Entertainment, LLC
- 232. Technicolor
- 233. Technicolor Cinema Distribution
- 234. Technicolor Creative Services USA Inc.
- 235. Technicolor Digital Cinema
- 236. Terry Hines & Associates
- 237. The 1992 Diane Warren Trust dba Realsongs
- 238. The Geffen Company fso Jason Geffen
- 239. The Weinstein Co
- 240. TOP DOG TALENT AGENCY
- 241. Trebor Productions, Inc
- 242. TREBOR PRODUCTIONS, INC.
- 243. TrustedSec, LLC
- 244. Twentieth Century Fox Film Corp dba Fox Entertainment
- 245. U.S. PROTECTIVE SERVICES
- 246. Urban NYC
- 247. Verizon Wireless
- 248. VII Peaks Capital, LLC
- 249. Vinciquerra, Anthony
- 250. Wall Group LA, LLC, The
- 251. Wallace, Benjamin
- 252. Walters, Happy
- 253. Warner Bros. Pictures
- 254. WAXYLU FILMS, INC
- 255. WHClune, Inc.
- 256. WILDFIRE
- 257. Wildfire Studios, LLC
- 258. WINSTON GREGORY, INC.
- 259. Workshop Creative LLC
- 260. Wrap News, Inc., The
- 261. WSM POST, LLC
- 262. YC Athletics
- 263. YC Relativity LLC
- 264. You Only Live Once Films, LLC
- 265. ZANELLITIVITY MUSIC, INC.

15-11989-mew Doc 1499 Filed 01/30/16 Entered 01/30/16 05:34:57 Main Document Pg 181 of 200

266. Zentana Productions, Inc.

267. ZERO POINT ENTERPRISES, LLC

EXHIBIT 3

Non-Exclusive Schedule of Retained Causes of Action Exhibit J

Non-Exclusive Schedule of Retained Causes of Action¹

NOTICE: THE LISTING OF ANY PERSONS OR ENTITIES BELOW SHALL NOT BE CONSTRUED TO IMPLY THAT THE REORGANIZED DEBTORS OR ANY PARTY INTEND TO ASSERT A CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST SUCH PERSONS OR ENTITIES. RATHER, THE LISTING IS INTENDED AS A PRESERVATION OF RIGHTS WITH RESPECT TO THOSE PERSONS OR ENTITIES IN ORDER TO EFFECTUATE RELEASES IDENTIFIED IN THE PLAN², TO PRESERVE ONGOING CONTRACTUAL RIGHTS ON A BILATERAL BASIS, AND, IN CERTAIN CASES, TO PRESERVE POSSIBLE CLAIMS WHICH REMAIN UNDER INVESTIGATION AND WHICH MAY BE PROSECUTED BY THE RELATIVITY LITIGATION TRUST. IF YOU HAVE ANY QUESTIONS REGARDING THIS SCHEDULE, PLEASE CONTACT DEBTORS' CO-COUNSEL, LORI SINANYAN AT LSINANYAN@JONESDAY.COM.

Nothing in this Exhibit J will preserve any claim that is released by: (i) the Settlement Agreement between the Debtors and the Manchester Parties; (ii) the Settlement Agreement between the Committee and the Creditor Parties (as defined in such Settlement Agreement), once approved by the Bankruptcy Court; or (iii) the DIP Agreement.

Without limiting any relevant provision of the Plan, or any of the reservations or retentions of rights set forth in this schedule, the Debtors expressly reserve and retain, and may enforce, waive, settle and/or compromise any and all of its rights against the following Persons and Entities with respect to (a) any and all actions, causes of action, controversies, liabilities, obligations, rights, suits, damages, judgments, claims, and demands whatsoever, whether known or unknown, reduced to judgment, liquidated or unliquidated, fixed or contingent, matured or unmatured, disputed or undisputed, secured or unsecured, assertable directly or derivatively, existing or hereafter arising, in law, equity, or otherwise, based in whole or in part upon any act or omission or other event occurring prior to the Effective Date, (b) claims and causes of action under sections 502(d), 510, 544, 545, 547, 548, 549(a), 549(c), 549(d), 550, 551 and 553 of the Bankruptcy Code and (c) any other avoidance or similar claims or actions under the Bankruptcy Code or under similar or related state or federal statutes or common law:

- 1. 42West LLC Finance Dept
- 2. AAA SIGN & SAFETY PRODUCTS
- 3. Abadan Co., Inc.
- 4. ACTION FORCE SECURITY
- 5. ALL MEDIA MUSIC GROUP, INC
- 6. Allied Integrated Marketing
- 7. Alvarez, Matt

The failure to identify any Person or Entity in this Non-Exclusive Schedule shall not constitute a waiver of any right or claim in favor of the Debtors or their estates.

NAI-1500778302v2

1

2

3

This Schedule does not include any persons who will become a Released Party pursuant to Article X.E of the Plan on the Effective Date. To the extent that a Released Party is listed, it is for the purpose of ensuring that the release may be enforced.

The listing of a Person or Entity is expressly intended to include subsidiaries, parents, affiliates and responsible persons with respect to such Person or Entity as if such subsidiaries, parents, affiliates and responsible persons had been listed on this schedule.

15-11989-mew Doc 1499 Filed 01/30/16 Entered 01/30/16 05:34:57 Main Document Pg 184 of 200

- 8. American Broadcasting Company, Inc.
- 9. American Hi Definition Inc
- 10. American Multi-Cinema Inc.
- 11. Ampco System Parking
- 12. ANTIQUE MARKET PLACE
- 13. ARCH 9 FILMS
- 14. AT&T Mobility 2
- 15. Atlas Entertainment
- 16. Avatar Labs
- 17. Backstage
- 18. Baker Street Investors, LLC
- 19. BankDirect Capital Finance
- 20. Beckman, Jason
- 21. Bev/Early, LLC
- 22. Beverly Blvd 2 Holdings LLC
- 23. Beverly Place, LP
- 24. BIG MACHINE RECORDS LLC
- 25. Blumhouse Entertainment, Inc.
- 26. BMG Rights Management, LLC
- 27. BRACELAND INTERNATIONAL, LLC
- 28. BRCR Consulting, Inc.
- 29. Brigade Marketing, LLC
- 30. BROADWAY VIDEO ENTERTAINMENT
- 31. Brunswick Group, LLC
- 32. BUGS BUNNY INC
- 33. Burkle, Ron
- 34. C.A.P.S, LLC
- 35. Carat USA
- 36. CASAROTTORAMSAY & ASSOCIATES LTD
- 37. CAST & CREW PRODUCTION SERVICE
- 38. CATFISH PICTURE COMPANY LLC
- 39. CB Agency Services LLC
- 40. Cinemark USA Inc
- 41. CIT Bank, N.A. fka OneWest Bank, N.A.
- 42. CO-OP GRIP AND LIGHTING
- 43. Colbeck Beverages LLC
- 44. Colbeck Capital Management
- 45. Colbeck Partners IV, LLC
- 46. Colodne, Jason
- 47. Columbia Property Trust fso Columbia REIT 315 Park Ave.
- 48. COMEN VFX, LLC
- 49. Concept Arts Studios, Inc.
- 50. CROW PRODUCTIONS LLC

15-11989-mew Doc 1499 Filed 01/30/16 Entered 01/30/16 05:34:57 Main Document Pg 185 of 200

- 51. Current Entertainment
- 52. CUT TIME CLEARANCE, LLC
- 53. DAX PFT, LLC
- 54. Deluxe Digital Cinema, Inc.
- 55. Deluxe Digital Media Management dba Media Vu
- 56. DETARSIO PRODUCTIONS INC
- 57. Deutsch, Josh
- 58. Digital Media Management, Inc.
- 59. Draven Productions, LTD
- 60. DreamWorks Animation L.L.C.
- 61. DVS InteleStream
- 62. EINSTEIN RENTALS, LLC
- 63. Eleventh Hour
- 64. ELINA PRODUCTIONS, INC
- 65. Elliott Associates, L.P.
- 66. Elliott Capital Advisors, L.P.
- 67. Elliott Management
- 68. Elliott Management Corporation
- 69. Elliott International, L.P.
- 70. JS/DF Partners, LLC, c/o Level Four
- 71. EMILYCO, INC
- 72. ENDGAME VFX INC
- 73. ENTERACTIVE SOLUTIONS GROUP, INC.
- 74. Entertainment One U.S. LP
- 75. EST 19XX Films, LLC
- 76. EuropaCorp Films USA, Inc.
- 77. Europacorp SA
- 78. Exclusive Media Group Holdings, Inc.
- 79. Fanology, LLC
- 80. FILM THIS PRODUCTION SVC INC
- 81. Filmmaker Production Services, LLC
- 82. Fintage CAM
- 83. Fishbowl, LLC
- 84. Freeway Entertainment Kft
- 85. FTI Consulting, Inc.
- 86. FULL THROTTLE FILMS, INC.
- 87. GAS PROPERTIES, LLC
- 88. GD BRO, LLC
- 89. GDC Digital Cinema Network USA
- 90. GDI Information Technology Consulting
- 91. GEORGIA FILM CATERERS, LLC
- 92. Gina Wade Creative
- 93. GOLD PICTURES, INC.

15-11989-mew Doc 1499 Filed 01/30/16 Entered 01/30/16 05:34:57 Main Document Pg 186 of 200

- 94. Gold Pictures, Inc. fso Jeffrey P. Maynard
- 95. Gray Matter
- 96. Grossbach, Mitch
- 97. GRX Electric, Corp.
- 98. Gunnell Properties, ACLP
- 99. Habory Pictures, LLC
- 100. Heatherden Securities LLC
- 101. Hiltzik Strategies
- 102. HOLLYWOOD TRUCKS GEORGIA, LLC
- 103. Hurwitz Entertainment Company, Inc., The
- 104. Iconisus, Inc.
- 105. ICS METAL TRANSPORT LLC
- 106. IDSL Kidnap
- 107. Ignition Creative LLC
- 108. Ignition Print
- 109. ILLUMINATION DYNAMICS, INC.
- 110. IMG Models, LLC fka IMG Models, Inc.
- 111. Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
- 112. Industry Edge, LLC fso Steven Rubenstein, The
- 113. INDUSTRY WEST COMMERCE CENTER, LLC
- 114. Insight Creative Media Inc
- 115. J & R FILM COMPANY
- 116. J&R Film Company dba Moviola Digital
- 117. JMOATL, LLC
- 118. JUSTICE OUTLAW INC
- 119. K & L ASSOCIATES, LLC
- 120. K-Jam Productions, Inc.
- 121. Kasima LLC
- 122. Kings Lane Films, LLC fso John M. Bennett
- 123. KNB EFX GROUP, INC
- 124. Kushner, Brian
- 125. LA Libations LLC
- 126. LADY A ENTERTAINMENT, LLC
- 127. Lady A'd Productions, Inc.
- 128. Lam, Terence
- 129. Lambert, Christophe
- 130. LAPIDUS, ROOT & SACHAROW, LLP
- 131. Lars Windhorst
- 132. Liquid Soul Media, LLC
- 133. Lithographix Inc
- 134. LMB Holdings Limited
- 135. Loeb & Loeb, LLP
- 136. LSQ Funding Group, LLC

15-11989-mew Doc 1499 Filed 01/30/16 Entered 01/30/16 05:34:57 Main Document Pg 187 of 200

- 137. M3 Fashion Accelerator GP, LLC
- 138. MAIN STATION, INC.
- 139. Make It Rain, LLC dba Ninja Tracks
- 140. Mammoth Advertising LLC
- 141. Manhattan Construction Group
- 142. Maple Plaza
- 143. MARK WILLIAMS DESIGN ASSOCIATES
- 144. Market Force Information Inc Attn: CMS AR
- 145. MarketCast, LLC
- 146. Massive Marketing
- 147. Matthews, Andrew
- 148. McCafferty & Co. Productions
- 149. Merrill Communications, LLC
- 150. Mnuchin, Steven
- 151. Mob Scene LLC
- 152. mOcean Pictures LLC
- 153. Molinare TV & Film, Ltd.
- 154. MOSO Enterprises fso Momir Stojnovic
- 155. MTwo, LLC
- 156. Murray Studios
- 157. New York Media, LLC
- 158. NGHT, LLC
- 159. NICK HAWK PRODUCTIONS LLC
- 160. Nielsen NRG, Inc.
- 161. OCEANAIR INC
- 162. ON-CAMERA AUDIENCES, INC
- 163. PACIFIC POST RENTALS INC
- 164. Pacific Theatres Exhibition dba Arclight
- 165. Palisades Mediagroup
- 166. Paradigm Associates
- 167. Paradigm Talent Agency
- 168. PAYEES ENTERTAINMENT LP
- 169. Penske Business Media, LLC dba Variety Media
- 170. Picture Production Company
- 171. Pragmatic Pictures, Inc. fso Macrland Hawkins, Jr.
- 172. PREMIER LUXURY SUITES, INC
- 173. Procope Consulting, LLC
- 174. Pure Brands LLC
- 175. QUIXOTE STUDIOS, LLC
- 176. Raskin Law, LLP dba Raskin | Anderson Law
- 177. Red Cloud, LLC
- 178. Relativity B4U Limited (Mauritius)
- 179. Relativity Baseball, LLC

15-11989-mew Doc 1499 Filed 01/30/16 Entered 01/30/16 05:34:57 Main Document Pg 188 of 200

- 180. Relativity Basketball, LLC
- 181. Relativity Education Performing Arts, LLC
- 182. Relativity Education Specialized Media, LLC
- 183. Relativity Education, LLC
- 184. Relativity Educational Filmmaking, LLC
- 185. Relativity EuropaCorp Distribution, LLC
- 186. Relativity Football, LLC
- 187. Relativity Managers & Broadcasters, LLC
- 188. Relativity NEXT, LLC
- 189. Relativity School of Dance, LLC
- 190. Relativity School of EDM, LLC
- 191. Relativity School of Sport Photography, LLC
- 192. Relativity School of Video Blogging, LLC
- 193. Relativity Sports Enterprises, LLC
- 194. Relativity Sports Management, LLC
- 195. Relativity Sports, LLC
- 196. RELIANCE ENTERTAINMENT PRODUCTIONS 5 LTD
- 197. Rentrak Corporation
- 198. Resevoir Media Management, Inc.
- 199. RESTOVATE LTD
- 200. RETHINK VFX, INC.
- 201. REVEK ENTERTINMENT, LLC
- 202. RKA Film Financing, LLC
- 203. RML DD Licensing I
- 204. RS Operations, LLC
- 205. Rubrio Pictures
- 206. SANDAIR, INC
- 207. Sargent-Disc Ltd.
- 208. Say Media, Inc.
- 209. Schaeffer, Luke
- 210. Screen Engine, LLC
- 211. Seismic Productions
- 212. Select Music, LLC
- 213. SEM EVENTS,LLC, CLASSIC TENTS & EVENTS
- 214. Shamo, Gregory
- 215. SIMPLY SYMON, LLC
- 216. Sky Land (Beijing) Film-Television Culture Development Ltd.
- 217. Sky Land Entertainment Ltd. (BVI)
- 218. SKYVIEW ENTERTAINMENT, INC.
- 219. SOMNYO FILMS
- 220. SONY ATV\MUSIC PUBLISHING LLC
- 221. Sony Electronics Inc.
- 222. SOUNDTRACK NEW YORK

15-11989-mew Doc 1499 Filed 01/30/16 Entered 01/30/16 05:34:57 Main Document Pg 189 of 200

- 223. SOUTHERN DEMOLITION AND ENRIVONMENTAL
- 224. SS KS, LLC dba Sunshine Sachs & Associates West
- 225. ST IVES PRODUCTIONS INC
- 226. Stichting Freeway Custody
- 227. Stone Management
- 228. STONY CREEK, INC
- 229. Story Pictures, LLC
- 230. STUDIO ART AND TECHNOLOGY
- 231. Sunnu Boy Entertainment, LLC
- 232. Technicolor
- 233. Technicolor Cinema Distribution
- 234. Technicolor Creative Services USA Inc.
- 235. Technicolor Digital Cinema
- 236. Terry Hines & Associates
- 237. The 1992 Diane Warren Trust dba Realsongs
- 238. The Geffen Company fso Jason Geffen
- 239. The Weinstein Co
- 240. TOP DOG TALENT AGENCY
- 241. Trebor Productions, Inc
- 242. TREBOR PRODUCTIONS, INC.
- 243. TrustedSec, LLC
- 244. Twentieth Century Fox Film Corp dba Fox Entertainment
- 245. U.S. PROTECTIVE SERVICES
- 246. Urban NYC
- 247. Verizon Wireless
- 248. VII Peaks Capital, LLC
- 249. Vinciquerra, Anthony
- 250. Wall Group LA, LLC, The
- 251. Wallace, Benjamin
- 252. Walters, Happy
- 253. Warner Bros. Pictures
- 254. WAXYLU FILMS, INC
- 255. WHClune, Inc.
- 256. WILDFIRE
- 257. Wildfire Studios, LLC
- 258. WINSTON GREGORY, INC.
- 259. Workshop Creative LLC
- 260. Wrap News, Inc., The
- 261. WSM POST, LLC
- 262. YC Athletics
- 263. YC Relativity LLC
- 264. You Only Live Once Films, LLC
- 265. ZANELLITIVITY MUSIC, INC.

15-11989-mew Doc 1499 Filed 01/30/16 Entered 01/30/16 05:34:57 Main Document Pg 190 of 200

266. Zentana Productions, Inc.

267. ZERO POINT ENTERPRISES, LLC

15-11989-mew Doc 1499 Filed 01/30/16 Entered 01/30/16 05:34:57 Main Document Pg 191 of 200

EXHIBIT 4

Blackline of Non-Exclusive Schedule of Retained Causes of Action Exhibit J Against Schedule Filed on January 12, 2016 (at Dkt. No. 1246)

Non-Exclusive Schedule of Retained Causes of Action¹

NOTICE: THE LISTING OF ANY PERSONS OR ENTITIES BELOW SHALL NOT BE CONSTRUED TO IMPLY THAT THE REORGANIZED DEBTORS OR ANY PARTY INTEND TO ASSERT A CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST SUCH PERSONS OR ENTITIES. RATHER, THE LISTING IS INTENDED AS A PRESERVATION OF RIGHTS WITH RESPECT TO THOSE PERSONS OR ENTITIES IN ORDER TO EFFECTUATE RELEASES IDENTIFIED IN THE PLAN², TO PRESERVE ONGOING CONTRACTUAL RIGHTS ON A BILATERAL BASIS, AND, IN CERTAIN CASES, TO PRESERVE POSSIBLE CLAIMS WHICH REMAIN UNDER INVESTIGATION AND WHICH MAY BE PROSECUTED BY THE RELATIVITY LITIGATION TRUST.³ IF YOU HAVE ANY QUESTIONS REGARDING THIS SCHEDULE, PLEASE CONTACT DEBTORS' CO-COUNSEL, LORI SINANYAN AT LSINANYAN@JONESDAY.COM.

Nothing in this Exhibit J will preserve any claim that is released by: (i) the Settlement

Agreement between the Debtors and the Manchester Parties; (ii) the Settlement Agreement

between the Committee and the Creditor Parties (as defined in such Settlement Agreement), once
approved by the Bankruptcy Court; or (iii) the DIP Agreement.

Without limiting any relevant provision of the Plan, or any of the reservations or retentions of rights set forth in this schedule, the Debtors expressly reserve and retain, and may enforce, waive, settle and/or compromise any and all of its rights against the following Persons and Entities with respect to (a) any and all actions, causes of action, controversies, liabilities, obligations, rights, suits, damages, judgments, claims, and demands whatsoever, whether known or unknown, reduced to judgment, liquidated or unliquidated, fixed or contingent, matured or unmatured, disputed or undisputed, secured or unsecured, assertable directly or derivatively, existing or hereafter arising, in law, equity, or otherwise, based in whole or in part upon any act or omission or other event occurring prior to the Effective Date, (b) claims and causes of action under sections 502(d), 510, 544, 545, 547, 548, 549(a), 549(c), 549(d), 550, 551 and 553 of the Bankruptcy Code and (c) any other avoidance or similar claims or actions under the Bankruptcy Code or under similar or related state or federal statutes or common law:

- 1. 42West LLC Finance Dept
- 2. AAA SIGN & SAFETY PRODUCTS
- 3. Abadan Co., Inc.
- 4. ACTION FORCE SECURITY
- 5. ALL MEDIA MUSIC GROUP, INC
- 6. Allied Integrated Marketing
- 7. Alvarez, Matt

The failure to identify any Person or Entity in this Non-Exclusive Schedule shall not constitute a waiver of any right or claim in favor of the Debtors or their estates.

The listing of a Person or Entity is expressly intended to include subsidiaries, parents, affiliates and responsible persons with respect to such Person or Entity as if such subsidiaries, parents, affiliates and responsible persons had been listed on this schedule.

NAI-1500778302v42

1

This Schedule does not include any persons who will become a Released Party pursuant to Article X.E of the Plan on the Effective Date. To the extent that a Released Party is listed, it is for the purpose of ensuring that the release may be enforced.

15-11989-mew Doc 1499 Filed 01/30/16 Entered 01/30/16 05:34:57 Main Document Pg 193 of 200

- 8. American Broadcasting Company, Inc.
- 9. American Hi Definition Inc
- 10. American Multi-Cinema Inc.
- 11. Ampco System Parking
- 12. ANTIQUE MARKET PLACE
- 13. ARCH 9 FILMS
- 14. AT&T Mobility 2
- 15. Atlas Entertainment
- 16. Avatar Labs
- 17. Backstage
- 18. Baker Street Investors, LLC
- 19. BankDirect Capital Finance
- 20. Beckman, Jason
- 21. Bev/Early, LLC
- 22. Beverly Blvd 2 Holdings LLC
- 23. Beverly Place, LP
- 24. BIG MACHINE RECORDS LLC
- 25. Blumhouse Entertainment, Inc.
- 26. BMG Rights Management, LLC
- 27. BRACELAND INTERNATIONAL, LLC
- 28. BRCR Consulting, Inc.
- 29. Brigade Marketing, LLC
- 30. BROADWAY VIDEO ENTERTAINMENT
- 31. Brunswick Group, LLC
- 32. BUGS BUNNY INC
- 33. Burkle, Ron
- 34. C.A.P.S, LLC
- 35. Carat USA
- 36. CASAROTTORAMSAY & ASSOCIATES LTD
- 37. CAST & CREW PRODUCTION SERVICE
- 38. CATFISH PICTURE COMPANY LLC
- 39. CB Agency Services LLC
- 40. Cinemark USA Inc
- 41. CIT Bank, N.A. fka OneWest Bank, N.A.
- 42. CO-OP GRIP AND LIGHTING
- 43. Colbeck Beverages LLC
- 44. Colbeck Capital Management
- 45. Colbeck Partners IV, LLC
- 46. Colodne, Jason
- 47. Columbia Property Trust fso Columbia REIT 315 Park Ave.
- 48. COMEN VFX, LLC
- 49. Concept Arts Studios, Inc.
- 50. CROW PRODUCTIONS LLC

- 51. Current Entertainment
- 52. CUT TIME CLEARANCE, LLC
- 53. DAX PFT, LLC
- 54. Deluxe Digital Cinema, Inc.
- 55. Deluxe Digital Media Management dba Media Vu
- 56. DETARSIO PRODUCTIONS INC
- 57. Deutsch, Josh
- 58. Digital Media Management, Inc.
- 59. Draven Productions, LTD
- 60. DreamWorks Animation L.L.C.
- 61. DVS InteleStream
- 62. EINSTEIN RENTALS, LLC
- 63. Eleventh Hour
- 64. ELINA PRODUCTIONS, INC
- 65. Elliott Associates, L.P.
- 66. Elliott Capital Advisors, L.P.
- 67. Elliott Management
- 68. Elliott Management Corporation
- 69. Elliott International, L.P.
- 70. JS/DF Partners, LLC, c/o Level Four
- 71. EMILYCO, INC
- 72. ENDGAME VFX INC
- 73. ENTERACTIVE SOLUTIONS GROUP, INC.
- 74. Entertainment One U.S. LP
- 75. EST 19XX Films, LLC
- 76. EuropaCorp Films USA, Inc.
- 77. Europacorp SA
- 78. Exclusive Media Group Holdings, Inc.
- 79. Fanology, LLC
- 80. FILM THIS PRODUCTION SVC INC
- 81. Filmmaker Production Services, LLC
- 82. Fintage CAM
- 83. Fishbowl, LLC
- 84.
- 8584. Freeway Entertainment K ft
- 8685. FTI Consulting, Inc.
- 8786. FULL THROTTLE FILMS, INC.
- 8887. GAS PROPERTIES, LLC
- 8988. GD BRO, LLC
- 9089. GDC Digital Cinema Network USA
- 9490. GDI Information Technology Consulting
- 9291. GEORGIA FILM CATERERS, LLC
- 9392. Gina Wade Creative

9493. GOLD PICTURES, INC. 9594. Gold Pictures, Inc. fso Jeffrey P. Maynard 9695. Gray Matter 9796. Grossbach, Mitch 9897. GRX Electric, Corp. 9998. Gunnell Properties, ACLP 10099. Habory Pictures, LLC 101 100. Heatherden Securities LLC 102101. Hiltzik Strategies 103102. HOLLYWOOD TRUCKS GEORGIA, LLC 104103. Hurwitz Entertainment Company, Inc., The 105104. Iconisus, Inc. **106**105.ICS METAL TRANSPORT LLC 107106. IDSL Kidnap 108107. Ignition Creative LLC 109108. Ignition Print 110109. ILLUMINATION DYNAMICS, INC. 111110.IMG Models, LLC fka IMG Models, Inc. 112111. Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited 113112. Industry Edge, LLC fso Steven Rubenstein, The 114113.INDUSTRY WEST COMMERCE CENTER, LLC **115**114. Insight Creative Media Inc **116**115.J & R FILM COMPANY 417116. J&R Film Company dba Moviola Digital 118117. JMOATL, LLC **119**118. JUSTICE OUTLAW INC **120**119. K & L ASSOCIATES, LLC 121120. K-Jam Productions, Inc. 122121. Kasima LLC 123122. Kings Lane Films, LLC fso John M. Bennett 124123.KNB EFX GROUP, INC 125124. Kushner, Brian 126125.LA Libations LLC 127126.LADY A ENTERTAINMENT, LLC 128127. Lady A'd Productions, Inc. 129128. Lam, Terence 130129. Lambert, Christophe 131130. LAPIDUS, ROOT & SACHAROW, LLP 132. 133131.Lars Windhorst 134132. Liquid Soul Media, LLC 135 133. Lithographix Inc 136134.LMB Holdings Limited

```
137135. Loeb & Loeb, LLP
138136.LSQ Funding Group, LLC
139137. M3 Fashion Accelerator GP, LLC
140138. MAIN STATION, INC.
141139 Make It Rain, LLC dba Ninja Tracks
142140. Mammoth Advertising LLC
<del>143.</del>
<del>144.</del>
145141. Manhattan Construction Group
146142. Maple Plaza
147143. MARK WILLIAMS DESIGN ASSOCIATES
148144. Market Force Information Inc Attn: CMS AR
149145. MarketCast, LLC
150146. Massive Marketing
151147. Matthews, Andrew
452148. McCafferty & Co. Productions
453149. Merrill Communications, LLC
154150. Mnuchin, Steven
155151. Mob Scene LLC
156152. mOcean Pictures LLC
157153. Molinare TV & Film, Ltd.
158154. MOSO Enterprises fso Momir Stojnovic
159155. MTwo, LLC
160156. Murray Studios
161 157. New York Media, LLC
<del>162</del>158.NGHT, LLC
163159. NICK HAWK PRODUCTIONS LLC
164160. Nielsen NRG, Inc.
165161.OCEANAIR INC
166162.ON-CAMERA AUDIENCES, INC
167163.PACIFIC POST RENTALS INC
168164. Pacific Theatres Exhibition dba Arclight
169165. Palisades Mediagroup
170166. Paradigm Associates
171167. Paradigm Talent Agency
172168. PAYEES ENTERTAINMENT LP
173169. Penske Business Media, LLC dba Variety Media
174170. Picture Production Company
175171. Pragmatic Pictures, Inc. fso Macrland Hawkins, Jr.
176172. PREMIER LUXURY SUITES, INC
177173. Procope Consulting, LLC
178174. Pure Brands LLC
179175. QUIXOTE STUDIOS, LLC
```

```
180176. Raskin Law, LLP dba Raskin | Anderson Law
181177. Red Cloud, LLC
182178. Relativity B4U Limited (Mauritius)
183179. Relativity Baseball, LLC
184180. Relativity Basketball, LLC
185181. Relativity Education Performing Arts, LLC
186182. Relativity Education Specialized Media, LLC
187183. Relativity Education, LLC
188184. Relativity Educational Filmmaking, LLC
189185. Relativity EuropaCorp Distribution, LLC
190186. Relativity Football, LLC
191187. Relativity Managers & Broadcasters, LLC
192188. Relativity NEXT, LLC
193189. Relativity School of Dance, LLC
194190. Relativity School of EDM, LLC
195191. Relativity School of Sport Photography, LLC
196192. Relativity School of Video Blogging, LLC
197193. Relativity Sports Enterprises, LLC
198194. Relativity Sports Management, LLC
199195. Relativity Sports, LLC
200196. RELIANCE ENTERTAINMENT PRODUCTIONS 5 LTD
201197. Rentrak Corporation
202198. Resevoir Media Management, Inc.
203199. RESTOVATE LTD
204200.RETHINK VFX, INC.
205201. REVEK ENTERTINMENT, LLC
206202. RKA Film Financing, LLC
207203. RML DD Licensing I
208204. RS Operations, LLC
209205. Rubrio Pictures
210206. SANDAIR, INC
211207. Sargent-Disc Ltd.
212208. Say Media, Inc.
213209. Schaeffer, Luke
214210. Screen Engine, LLC
215211. Seismic Productions
216212. Select Music, LLC
217213. SEM EVENTS, LLC, CLASSIC TENTS & EVENTS
218214. Shamo, Gregory
219215. SIMPLY SYMON, LLC
220216. Sky Land (Beijing) Film-Television Culture Development Ltd.
221217. Sky Land Entertainment Ltd. (BVI)
222218. SKYVIEW ENTERTAINMENT, INC.
```

```
223219. SOMNYO FILMS
224220. SONY ATV\MUSIC PUBLISHING LLC
225221. Sony Electronics Inc.
226222. SOUNDTRACK NEW YORK
227223. SOUTHERN DEMOLITION AND ENRIVONMENTAL
228224.SS KS. LLC dba Sunshine Sachs & Associates West
229225. ST IVES PRODUCTIONS INC
<del>230.</del>
231226. Stichting Freeway Custody
232227. Stone Management
233228. STONY CREEK, INC
234229. Story Pictures, LLC
235230. STUDIO ART AND TECHNOLOGY
236231. Sunnu Boy Entertainment, LLC
             Technicolor
<del>237.</del>
       232.
238233. Technicolor Cinema Distribution
239234. Technicolor Creative Services USA Inc.
240235. Technicolor Digital Cinema
241236. Terry Hines & Associates
242237. The 1992 Diane Warren Trust dba Realsongs
243238. The Geffen Company fso Jason Geffen
244239. The Weinstein Co
245
246240. TOP DOG TALENT AGENCY
247241. Trebor Productions, Inc.
248242. TREBOR PRODUCTIONS, INC.
249243. TrustedSec, LLC
250244. Twentieth Century Fox Film Corp dba Fox Entertainment
251245. U.S. PROTECTIVE SERVICES
252246. Urban NYC
253247. Verizon Wireless
254248. VII Peaks Capital, LLC
255249. Vinciquerra, Anthony
256250. Wall Group LA, LLC, The
257251. Wallace, Benjamin
258252. Walters, Happy
259253. Warner Bros. Pictures
260254. WAXYLU FILMS, INC
261255. WHC lune, Inc
<del>262</del>256. WILDFIRE
263257. Wildfire Studios, LLC
264258. WINSTON GREGORY, INC.
265259. Workshop Creative LLC
```

- 266260. Wrap News, Inc., The 267261. WSM POST, LLC
- 268262. YC Athletics
- 269263. YC Relativity LLC
- 270264. You Only Live Once Films, LLC
- 271265. ZANELLITIVITY MUSIC, INC.
- 272266. Zentana Productions, Inc.
- 273267.ZERO POINT ENTERPRISES, LLC

Summary report:				
Lité ra® Change-Pro TDC 7.5.0.96 Document comparison done on 1/30/2016				
1:46:02 AM				
Style name: JD Color With Moves				
Intelligent Table Comparison: Inactive				
Original DMS:iw://NAI/NAI/N500778302/1				
Modified DMS: iw://NAI/NAI/1500778302/2				
Changes:				
Add	187			
Delete	186			
Move From	0			
Move To	0			
Table Insert	0			
Table Delete	6			
Table moves to	0			
Table moves from	0			
Embedded Graphics (Visio, ChemDraw, Images etc.)	0			
Embedded Excel	0			
Format Changes 0				
Total Changes:	379			